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New Evidence on the Cuban Missile Crisis:
More Documents from the Russian Archives

by James G. Hershberg
The Cuban Missile Crisis of October 1962 continues to exert an intense fascination on historians, political scientists, journalists, and

the general public, and—as apparently the world’s closest brush to thermonuclear war—is likely to continue to do so.  Over the past
decade, the study of this crisis has expanded to encompass a major influx of new sources and perspectives, primarily stemming from the
declassification of new U.S. (and British) documents, but also the addition of Soviet and then Cuban archival materials and perspec-
tives—a process expedited by international scholarly projects as well as the anti-communist upheavals that led to the (partial) opening of
Russian archives.1

The Cold War International History Project Bulletin has previously reported on various new findings regarding the crisis—known
to Russians as the “Caribbean Crisis” and Cubans as the “October Crisis”—particularly in issue no. 5 (Spring 1995), which featured an
extensive compilation of translated documents from the Russian Foreign Ministry archives in Moscow.2

In this issue, the Bulletin presents more translated materials from that repository—the Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian Federation
(AVPRF)—documenting various aspects of Soviet policy during the events of the fall of 1962.  Most were declassified by Soviet/Russian
authorities in 1991-1992 and provided to NHK Japanese television in connection with a documentary on the Cuban Missile Crisis aired
to mark the 30th anniversary of the event in October 1992; Prof. Philip Brenner (American University), one of the consultants to the
show, in turn, subsequently gave copies of the documents to CWIHP and the National Security Archive—a non-governmental research
institute and declassified documents repository based at George Washington University—where they are now deposited and available for
research. That collection also contains photocopies of some of the same documents that were separately obtained from AVPRF by
Raymond L. Garthoff (Brookings Institution) with the Archive’s assistance.

The translations into English came primarily from two sources.  Many of the AVPRF documents obtained by NHK were translated
by Vladimir Zaemsky of the Russian Foreign Ministry, who granted permission for their use here.  For most of the rest of the documents,
the Bulletin is grateful to Philip Zelikow, Associate Professor of Public Policy at Harvard University, and Harvard’s Center for Science
and International Affairs, for commissioning translations from John Henriksen of Harvard.  (Prof. Zelikow, the co-author, with Condoleezza
Rice, of Germany Unified and Europe Transformed: A Study in Statecraft (Harvard University Press, 1995), is currently involved with
two Cuban Missile Crisis-related publication projects, a revision of Graham Allison’s Essence of Decision: Explaining the Cuban Missile
Crisis, originally published in 1970, and, with Prof. Ernest R. May of Harvard, an edited compilation of transcripts of declassified tape
recordings of “Excomm” meetings involving President John F. Kennedy and senior advisors during the crisis, which were recently
released by the Kennedy Library in Boston.)  In addition, Vladislav M. Zubok, a Russian scholar based at the National Security Archive,
translated the records of the two conversations of Soviet Politburo member Anastas Mikoyan (with U Thant and John McCloy) in New
York on 1 November 1962, and CWIHP Director David Wolff translated a conversation between Mikoyan and Robert Kennedy.

The translations themselves are broken into three sections: 1) before the crisis, 14 September-21 October 1962 (although for Kennedy
and his advisors the crisis began on October 16, when the president was informed that a U.S. U-2 spy plane had photographed evidence
of Soviet missile sites under construction in Cuba, for the Soviets the crisis only started on October 22, when Kennedy announced the
discovery and the American blockade of Cuba in a televised address); 2) the crisis itself, 22-28 October 1962 (from Kennedy’s speech to
Moscow’s announcement of its agreement to withdraw the missiles under United Nations supervision in exchange for Washington’s
lifting of the blockade, its pledge not to attack Cuba, and its private assurance that American Jupiter missiles in Turkey would shortly also
be removed); and 3) the aftermath, 28 October-10 December 1962 (which included a period of wrangling between Washington and
Moscow—and between Moscow and Havana—over the crisis’ settlement, especially over the terms of U.N. inspection of the missile
removal and the inclusion of Soviet IL-28 bombers in the weapons to be pulled out, which was not finally nailed down, permitting the
blockade to be lifted, until November 20).

For the most part, unfortunately, these materials shed little light on the actual process of decision-making at the highest levels of the
Kremlin, and minutes or notes of the discussions among Soviet leader Nikita S. Khrushchev and his associates during the crisis have still
not emerged.3  The Russian Foreign Ministry documents did include top-level correspondence between Khrushchev and Kennedy, and
between Khrushchev and Castro, but these have already been published elsewhere4 and are omitted from the selection below, as are other
documents containing material already available to researchers, such as translations of press reports, correspondence between Khrushchev
and U.N. Secretary U Thant (and between Khrushchev and British philosopher Bertrand Russell), and cables to Soviet diplomats circu-
lating or reiterating public Soviet positions.

Nevertheless, the Russian archival materials presented here make fascinating reading for anyone interested in the missile crisis, in
Soviet or Cuban foreign policy, in crisis politics or diplomacy generally, in some of the leading characters involved in the drama (such as
Robert Kennedy, Fidel Castro, Mikoyan, and U Thant), or in reassessing the accuracy and efficacy of American policy and perceptions
during perhaps the Cold War’s most perilous passages.  For the most part, they consist of Soviet cables from three diplomatic venues
(with occasional instructions from “the center,” or Moscow):
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* the Soviet Embassy in Washington, D.C., including reports from the USSR’s newly-arrived ambassador to the United States,
Anatoly F. Dobrynin, on the situation in Washington and his meetings with leading personages, and from Soviet Foreign Minister Andrei
Gromyko on his conversation with Kennedy on October 18;

* the United Nations in New York, from which USSR ambassador Valerian Zorin reported on debates in the Security Council, and on
contacts with other delegates and U.N. officials, and then more senior Soviet officials sent to handle the diplomacy of the settlement, such
as Deputy Foreign Minister Vasily V. Kuznetsov and Mikoyan, reported on their negotiations with U.S. negotiators John J. McCloy and
Adlai Stevenson as well as conversations with U Thant;

* and the Soviet Embassy in Havana, from which USSR Ambassador Aleksandr Alekseev reported on Cuban developments, includ-
ing the fervor gripping the country when it seemed war might be imminent, the leadership’s angry reaction when Khrushchev accepted
Kennedy’s request to withdraw the missiles without advance consultation with Castro, and the difficult conversations which ensued as
Soviet officials, in particular Mikoyan, tried to mollify the upset Cubans and at the same time secure Havana’s acquiescence to the
measures Moscow had accepted in order to resolve the crisis.

The fact that almost all of the documents below came from the Foreign Ministry archive should induce some caution among readers
seeking an understanding of Soviet policy regarding the crisis. Not surprisingly, for instance, they illuminate diplomatic aspects of the
events far more than, for instance, either military or intelligence aspects. In fact, the Russian Defense Ministry has declassified a substan-
tial amount of material on “Operation Anadyr”—the code-name for the Soviet missile deployment to Cuba—and other military actions
related to the crisis, and the Bulletin plans to present some of those materials, with translation, annotation, and commentary by Mark
Kramer (Harvard University), in a future issue.5  As for Soviet intelligence archives, these have not been opened to researchers except on
a highly selective basis; however, a book scheduled for publication in 1997 by Aleksandr Fursenko and Timothy Naftali is expected to
draw on these sources.  Finally, as noted above, documentation on decision-making at the highest level of the Central Committee of the
Communist Party of the Soviet Union (CC CPSU) remains classified, presumably in the Archive of the President, Russian Federation
(APRF).

It is not possible to provide a comprehensive commentary on the significance of the documents, both because of space limitations
and also because they may be used by researchers for so many different purposes—not only historians of the Cold War but political
scientists, specialists in bureaucratic politics, nuclear theory, and “crisis management,” psychologists, specialists in U.S., Soviet, and
Cuban foreign policy, biographers of key figures, and many others have looked to the Cuban Missile Crisis for answers and illumination.
Best read in conjunction with the other Russian documents published in Bulletin 5 and elsewhere, as well as American materials, the
documents below are offered merely as useful raw primary source material rather than as evidence for any particular interpretation.
Nevertheless, some preliminary reactions can be offered on a few issues.

Pre-Crisis U.S. Military and Covert Policies Toward Cuba

One issue of vital importance during the run-up to the crisis on which the documents here (and in Bulletin 5) provide some evidence
is the question of how the Soviets perceived the Kennedy Administration’s policies and actions toward Cuba, particularly Washington’s
covert operations against the Castro regime and the likelihood that it would take more direct military action.  They clearly show that
Moscow’s representatives noted, and blamed the United States government in general and the Central Intelligence Agency in particular
for, what it called the “piratical raids” by anti-Castro Cuban exile groups being carried out with U.S. support against the island.  Although
one does not find specific references to “Operation Mongoose”—the code-name for the massive CIA covert operation undertaken with
the aim of toppling Castro after the failure of the Bay of Pigs invasion in April 1961—the reports of Ambassador Alekseev in Havana and
Ambassador Dobrynin in Washington in September and early October 1962 show that Moscow had no doubt as to who was responsible
for what the former called the “landing of counter-revolutionary bands of spies and arms” and “constant acts of provocation.”6  Dobrynin’s
cable of 15 October, for instance, lays out the role of the CIA in supporting actions of the exile group “Alpha 66.”

However, the documents suggest that the Soviets had only a general knowledge of “Operation Mongoose”—although Soviet mili-
tary intelligence (GRU) archives might well contain more detailed reports—and Moscow remained uncertain as to the significance of the
American support of the harassment operations—i.e., whether they presaged a direct U.S. military intervention to overthrow Castro—
right up to the eve of the crisis.  As the crisis approached, however, Soviet officials appeared to feel more assured that U.S. military action
against Cuba was not imminent (which to those in the know in Moscow signified that the secret deployment of missiles could proceed
safely).  In a document published in Bulletin 5, Foreign Minister Gromyko, in fact, cabled Moscow after meeting Kennedy on October 18
in the Oval Office—unaware that the American already knew about the Soviet missile bases in Cuba—that “Everything we know about
the position of the USA government on the Cuban question allows us to conclude that the overall situation is completely satisfactory...There
is reason to believe that the USA is not preparing an intervention and has put its money” on economic sanctions.7

The actual Soviet record of the Gromyko-Kennedy conversation, excerpted here, offers readers a chance to follow in detail this
duplicity-filled conversation, in which neither man told the other the most important fact in the situation under discussion.  Gromyko
dutifully criticized Washington for its actions against Cuba, and acknowledged only that Moscow was providing Cuba with “exclusively
defensive armaments” which could not “represent a threat to anybody.”  Kennedy, for his part, with the U-2 photographs of the Soviet
missile bases in Cuba under construction lying in his desk drawer, told Gromyko that the United States “take[s] on trust” Soviet state-
ments about the defensive character of the weapons it was shipping to Castro but reiterated his public warnings that “were it otherwise,
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the gravest issues would arise.” While stressing that the situation had taken a turn for the worse since July as a result of Moscow’s
stepping-up of military aid to Cuba—calling the situation “perhaps the most dangerous since the end of the Second World War”—
Kennedy made no mention of the missiles.

After reading the account of the conversation, it is hard to explain Gromyko’s smug assessment that the situation was “completely
satisfactory,” other than as a spectacular case of wishful thinking (or a blase memo to mask a more candid assessment relayed through
other channels).  It is clear, from his repeated statements of concern, that Kennedy was trying to caution Moscow to rethink its adventure
without tipping his cards—and perhaps even signalling a possible way out of the crisis that had (so far as Moscow knew) not even begun.
Repeatedly assuring Gromyko that the United States had “no intentions to launch an aggression against Cuba,” Kennedy noted pointedly
that, “If Mr. Khrushchev addressed me on this issue, we could give him corresponding assurances on that score,” and repeated the offer
twice later in the conversation.  A little more than a week later, of course, after the world had been brought to the brink, precisely such a
declaration from Kennedy would give Khrushchev the fig leaf he needed to swallow his pride and accept the removal of Soviet missiles
from Cuba.

The Russian documents reveal nothing new on the issue of whether, in fact, the Kennedy Administration had been moving toward
taking military action against Cuba even before it discovered the existence of the Soviet nuclear-capable missiles on the island in mid-
October.  In a previous publication, the current author presented evidence that the U.S. government and military undertook serious
contingency planning, and even some preliminary redeployments, in September and the first two weeks of October 1962 toward the
objective of achieving, by October 20, “maximum readiness” for either an air strike against or invasion of Cuba, or both, although the
article remained agnostic on the issue of whether Kennedy had actually made a decision to attack Cuba or simply wanted the option
available.8  Recently, a potentially crucial, yet still problematic, piece of evidence from American archives has surfaced to suggest that,
literally on the eve of the crisis, the Kennedy Administration was not on the verge of imminent military action against Cuba.

At issue is a recently declassified purported fragment of notes of a conversation on the afternoon of Monday, 15 October 1962,
between Secretary of Defense Robert S. McNamara and the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, Gen. Maxwell D. Taylor.  (At that
point, the U-2 photographs taken over Cuba the previous day had not yet been identified as revealing Soviet missile sites under construc-
tion, a development that would take place only later that afternoon and evening and be reported to the president the following morning,
October 16.)  During a discussion of contingency plans concerning Cuba, the Joint Chiefs of Staff (JCS) minutes—obtained by the
National Security Archive through the Freedom of Information Act—paraphrase McNamara as saying: “President wants no military
action within the next three months, but he can’t be sure as he does not control events. For instance, aerial photos made available this
morning show 68 boxes on ships that are not believed to be Il-28s and cannot be identified. However, the probabilities are strongly
against military action in the next 30 days.”9  Similarly, a recently-declassified JCS historical report prepared in 1981 evidently relies on
those notes in stating (without citation) that in their meeting on October 15, “the Secretary [McNamara] said that President Kennedy
wanted, if possible, to avoid military measures against Cuba during the next three months.”10

If accurate, the notes would certainly constitute a strong piece of evidence against the hypothesis that the Kennedy Administration
believed it was headed toward, let alone desired, a military confrontation with Cuba in the immediate future, just before news of the
missiles.  The evidence is problematic, however, due to an unfortunate case of destruction of historical evidence by the JCS that appar-
ently makes it impossible to evaluate the context or provenance of McNamara’s reported remarks (see footnote for details).11

Berlin and Cuba

One issue which has long intrigued students of the crisis is the nature of its connection, if any, to the simmering U.S.-Soviet
confrontation over Berlin—which had quieted somewhat since the erection of the Berlin Wall in August 1961 and the Checkpoint Charlie
confrontation between Soviet and U.S. tanks two months later, but remained unfinished business and a potential flashpoint.  Given the
centrality of Berlin and Germany to the Cold War in Europe, in fact, some U.S. officials jumped to the conclusion upon the discovery of
Soviet missiles in Cuba that their deployment was actually a Khrushchevian gambit to distract American attention and energy from
Berlin, where Moscow might make its next move.  Indeed, during the crisis, a special subcommittee of the White House “Excomm”
(Executive Committee) was formed, under the chairmanship of Paul H. Nitze, specifically to assess the situation in Berlin in the event
that the crisis spread there, perhaps if the Kremlin applied renewed pressure there in response to U.S. threats or use of military force
against Cuba.

Some evidence has surfaced to show that at least some Soviet officials did suggest the option of opening up a Berlin front in
response to Kennedy’s speech announcing the blockade of Cuba on October 22.  In a toughly-worded cable the next day, Ambassador
Dobrynin cabled an analysis from Washington recommending an “appropriate rebuff” that might include “hinting to Kennedy in no
uncertain terms about the possibility of repressions against the Western powers in West Berlin (as a first step, the organization of a
blockade of ground routes, leaving out for the time being air routes so as not to give grounds for a quick confrontation).”12  Deputy
Foreign Minister Vasily Kuznetsov also suggested that Khrushchev respond with a troop build-up around Berlin.13 Years later, in his
smuggled-out memoirs, Khrushchev blustered that during the crisis, “The Americans knew that if Russian blood were shed in Cuba,
American blood would be shed in Germany.”14  But in fact Khrushchev acted cautiously with regard to Berlin and rejected suggestions
to mass Soviet forces around the city.

Instead, a different Berlin connection seems to emerge from the Russian documents—that Soviet leaders had,  in September and
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early October 1962, deliberately floated the idea of an imminent intensive diplomatic effort (or possibly a renewed superpower show-
down) on Berlin, to take place in late November after the U.S. Congressional mid-term elections, in order to distract American attention
from Cuba long enough to allow Moscow to complete its secret missile deployment.  Such is, at any rate, the strategy that Anastas
Mikoyan privately described to Fidel Castro and the Cuban leadership on 4 November 1962 (published in Bulletin 5) as the one the
Kremlin had followed in the weeks and months preceding the crisis: “We let the Americans know that we wanted to solve the question of
Berlin in the nearest future.  This was done in order to distract their attention away from Cuba.  So, we used a diversionary maneuver. In
reality, we had no intention of resolving the Berlin question at that time.”15  In the memorandum of the Gromyko-Kennedy conversation
on October 18, one can see the Soviet Foreign Minister dangling the Berlin bait, suggesting that a summit meeting between Kennedy and
Khrushchev take place in the United States “in the second half of November”—when Khrushchev would attend a session of the U.N.
General Assembly—”in order to discuss the issues that separate [the USA and USSR] and first of all the questions of the German peace
treaty and West Berlin.”16  Gromyko’s message, in turn, came on the heels of a letter from Khrushchev to Kennedy dated 28 September
1962 threatening to sign a German peace treaty—the same vow that had triggered the Berlin Crisis in November 1958, for it implied an
agreement between Moscow and East Berlin that would cut off Western access to West Berlin—but grandly (and ominously) informing
Kennedy that in deference to the passions of American domestic politics, “we decided to put the German problem, so to say, on ice until
the end of the elections” and will “do nothing with regard to West Berlin until the elections ... [afterwards], apparently in the second half
of November, it would be necessary in our opinion to continue the dialogue.”17  “Some sort of crisis relating to Berlin is clearly brewing
now, and we will have to see whether we can surmount it without recourse to military action,” Dobrynin quoted Kennedy as saying in a
background meeting with reporters on October 16 in a cable to Moscow three days later.18  On the same day, with evident satisfaction,
Gromyko reported to the CPSU CC after his conversation with Kennedy that in recent days “the sharpness of the anti-Cuban campaign in
the USA has subsided somewhat while the sharpness of the West Berlin question has stood out all the more.  Newspapers bleat about the
approaching crisis vis-a-vis West Berlin, the impending in the very near future of a [Soviet treaty] with the GDR, and so on.”  Gromyko
even detected a White House-inspired propaganda campaign “to divert public attention from the Cuba issue.”19

Only afterward did Mikoyan, at least, realize that at the October 18 encounter Kennedy had been playing along with Gromyko just
as Gromyko had been deceiving him—as soon as they discovered the missiles, he related to Castro, they “began crying about Berlin,” and
both the Soviet Union and United States were talking about the Berlin Crisis but simultaneously knew that the real crisis was about to
erupt in Cuba.20

Soviet Perceptions of Washington During the Crisis

While evidence (such as Politburo minutes) necessary to judge the evolution of Kremlin perceptions of Kennedy during the crisis is
still lacking, and intelligence assessments remain off-limits, the reports of USSR Ambassador in Washington Dobrynin between 22 and
28 October that have emerged thus far raise some interesting questions about the accuracy and impact of Soviet reporting on its “main
enemy” at a critical moment.  How is one to evaluate, for example, a cable sent over Dobrynin’s name on 25 October 1962 relaying gossip
around the bar of the Washington Press Club at 3 o’clock in the morning to the effect that Kennedy had “supposedly taken a decision to
invade Cuba” that night or the next one?  Of similarly questionable accuracy was Dobrynin’s “line-up” of hawks and doves within the
Kennedy Administration as reported (without giving sources) in a cable of 25 October—listing Robert Kennedy, McNamara, National
Security Adviser McGeorge Bundy and the military as the most ardent supporters of an attack on Cuba, and Secretary of State Dean G.
Rusk and Treasury Secretary Douglas Dillon as holding a more “restrained” and “cautious” position; actually, although almost all mem-
bers of the Excomm shifted their positions during the “13 Days” of the crisis, some more than once, Robert Kennedy and McNamara had
been among the less militant, preferring a blockade to an immediate airstrike, while Dillon had more frequently sympathized with
military action. Perhaps most interesting, though, in this assessment is the Soviet diplomat’s jaundiced view of John F. Kennedy, who is
described as a “hot-tempered gambler” who might be tempted into an “adventurist step” because his reputation, political future, and 1964
re-election had been put at stake.21

Many other interesting details emerge from Dobrynin’s accounts—above all the evolution of his back-channel relationship with
Robert F. Kennedy, the president’s brother and Attorney General (see box)—but perhaps most interesting are the possibilities such
documents offer for reassessing with far more precision how nuclear adversaries perceive (and misperceive) each other during crises.

At the United Nations

 The documents from the United Nations also permit a much fuller analysis of the difficult U.S.-Soviet negotiations in New York to
work out the terms to resolve the crisis, particularly in combination with the large amount of American documents on the talks between
McCloy and various Soviet envoys that have been declassified by the State Department in recent years.22  Issues dealt with at length
include the terms of verifying the withdrawal of Soviet missiles from Cuba, haggling over which Soviet weapons should be removed
under the rubric of “offensive” weapons, and a good deal of give-and-take over the basic divisions between the United States and Cuba.
One dog that did not bark in New York City was that of U.S. withdrawal of Jupiter missiles from Turkey—a subject that was covered in
a special understanding reached between Robert Kennedy and Dobrynin in Washington—and one finds (on November 1) a firm instruc-
tion from Gromyko in Moscow to “Comrades” Kuznetsov and Zorin “not in any circumstances” to touch on the Turkish issue (despite its
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having been raised only days earlier in Khrushchev’s public October 27 letter to Kennedy), “since it is the subject of direct negotiations
between Washington and Moscow.”

The documents also permit a far fuller analysis of the role of the United Nations, and particularly Acting Secretary General U Thant,
in trying to navigate a delicate neutral role between the superpowers and actively seeking a United Nations role in the resolution of the
crisis.  Writing both Khrushchev and Kennedy to propose compromise measures to assuage the crisis, traveling to Cuba to seek Castro’s
approval for UN inspection of the missile removals, negotiating with Mikoyan, Kuznetsov, and Zorin over the mechanisms to conclude
the dispute, U Thant emerges as a fuller figure, particularly as the Soviets courted his support (by backing his inspection plan) even at the
price of additional tensions with Havana.

Soviet-Cuban (and Khrushchev-Castro) Tensions

The reports of Soviet envoys’ reports dealing with Cuba, particularly those of USSR ambassador Alekseev in Havana, add to the
emerging story of differences between Khrushchev and Castro that has long been known of in general but which became far more vivid
and concrete with the appearance, first, of the third volume of Khrushchev’s posthumously-published tape-recorded memoirs in 1990,23

followed by the release later that year of the Castro-Khrushchev correspondence at the height of the crisis,24 and finally, in January 1992,
with the holding of an oral history conference on the crisis in Havana with Castro’s enthusiastic participation.25

From a peak of ostensible revolutionary solidarity in the early days of the crisis, Soviet-Cuban ties became strained as the crisis wore
on by a series of disagreements—from Moscow’s concern that Cuban zeal (reflected in the shooting down of an American U-2 plane on
October 27) might provoke a U.S. invasion, to Khrushchev’s belief (hotly disputed by Castro) that the Cuban leader had advocated a
recourse to nuclear war (if the U.S. attacked Cuba) in his cable to Khrushchev on October 26, to Khrushchev’s failure to consult with
Castro before agreeing to Kennedy’s terms for withdrawing the missiles on October 28, to a dispute over whether to permit UN inspec-
tion of Soviet ships in Cuban ports to verify the withdrawal of missiles, to a Cuban anger over Moscow’s succumbing to Washington’s
demand to pull out Soviet IL-28 bombers as well as the nuclear missiles.

The alarming reports received by Moscow from its envoy in Havana helped lead Khrushchev to dispatch his trusted trouble-shooter,

MORE ON BOBBY AND THE CUBAN MISSILE CRISIS

by Jim Hershberg
In accounts of the Cuban Missile Crisis, Robert F. Kennedy—the Attorney General and brother to President John F.

Kennedy—has occupied a singular place, and not merely because his posthumously-published memoir, Thirteen Days,
became a best-selling (and sometimes controversial) account of the crisis as well as a unique portrait of what it felt like to
be a high-level decision-maker looking down the gun barrel of nuclear war.1  RFK also garners special attention for his key
role at two particular points in the crisis.  One came early on, in the secret debates in the White House “Excomm” (Execu-
tive Committee) after the missiles were discovered in mid-October, when he ardently opposed a surprise U.S. air strike
against the sites under construction in Cuba, likening such an action to Pearl Harbor (“I now know how Tojo felt,” he noted
at one point in the debate) and condemning it as morally unworthy; the argument helped turn the tide in the debate away
from an air strike and toward a blockade or “quarantine,” which Kennedy announced to the world on October 22.  The
second key moment came at the climax of the crisis, on Saturday evening, October 27, with Moscow and Washington
seemingly on a collision course, when Robert Kennedy met secretly with Dobrynin at the Justice Department and the two
men hammered out the terms of a secret arrangement whereby the Attorney General conveyed his brother’s oral pledge that
Washington would quickly pull its Jupiter missiles out of Turkey, as Khrushchev had publicly proposed earlier that day, so
long as the Soviets removed their own missiles from Cuba and kept quiet about the Turkish aspect of the deal.2

Recently-released Russian archival documents, published in English translation in the Cold War International History
Project Bulletin (the present issue and no. 5, Spring 1995), shed additional light on Robert F. Kennedy’s actions during the
crisis, particularly his back-channel contacts with Soviet ambassador Dobrynin.  This article seeks to note briefly some of
these new findings, and also appends Robert F. Kennedy’s own declassified memorandum of the controversial 27 October
1962 encounter with Dobrynin to supplement the Dobrynin’s version (and other accounts) published in the Bulletin in early
1995.3  (The Bulletin thanks Prof. Peter Roman of Duquesne University for providing this document.)

First worth noting from Dobrynin’s cables is his initial impression of Robert Kennedy as a hardliner and “hot-head,”
driven by political ambition, liable to support impulsive actions, and hardly a character one would predict that Dobrynin
would end up collaborating with to resolve the crisis.  This is not altogether surprising given the contentiousness of the
issues, the combativeness of Robert Kennedy’s personality, and the fact that President Kennedy had used his brother to
transmit personally to Dobrynin on 4 September 1962 a strong message of concern regarding Soviet military aid to Cuba.
Moreover, in Dobrynin’s cabled report of his first meeting with Robert Kennedy during the crisis, late on the evening of
October 23 (the night after the president’s speech), RFK’s deep anger and sense of personal betrayal toward Khrushchev

continued on page 344
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Anastas Mikoyan, to smooth the Cubans’ ruffled feathers, and the Soviet records of Mikoyan’s conversations with Cuban leaders in early
November 1962, published in Bulletin 5, dramatically reveal the emotional rift which had emerged between the two communist allies.26

(Cuban authorities subsequently released their own minutes of two of those conversations, which are printed below; see box.)
The Alekseev cables printed in the current Bulletin, when read in conjunction with the other sources noted above (particularly the

Castro-Khrushchev correspondence) helps show how these tensions developed.   On October 23 and 25, as the crisis mounted, Alekseev
sent highly positive reports on the Cuban people’s “calm,” confidence, and preparedness for military confrontation, even noting that the
imminent danger had prompted a “special business-like efficiency and energy” that had even dispelled the “ostentation and verbosity that
are characteristic of Cubans.”  In the second of the aforementioned cables, however, a glimmer of disagreement appears when Alekseev
states that Castro “approves of our policy of not giving in to provocations, and [avoiding] unnecessary conflicts,” yet at the same time
“expressed a belief in the necessity of shooting down one or two piratic American [reconnaissance] planes over Cuban territory.”  An-
other potential disagreement begins to surface when U Thant explores using Cuban President Oswaldo Dorticos’ proposal to the UN
General Assembly of October 8—in which the Cuban said a guaranteed U.S. pledge of non-aggression against Cuba would remove the
need for Cuban military preparations; while Moscow echoed this formulation in Khrushchev’s secret October 26 letter to Kennedy, the
Cubans were now deeply distrustful that such a promise could be trusted.

By October 27, a new fissure had opened up over Khrushchev’s public letter that day to Kennedy, which for the first time raised the
possibility of a trade of Soviet missiles in Cuba for U.S. Jupiter missiles in Turkey—an idea raised without regard to the sensibilities of
the Cubans, who thought they had an iron-clad agreement with Moscow to deploy the missiles that could not be “swapped” for American
missiles elsewhere in the world.  When Gromyko dispatched a message to Castro through the Soviet Embassy in Havana informing him
that it would be “advisable” for him to quickly endorse Khrushchev’s letter to Kennedy, Castro responded via Alekseev complimenting
Khrushchev’s “great diplomatic skill” but also noting that it had provoked “symptoms of a certain confusion in various sectors of the
Cuban population and among some members of the military,” who were asking “whether it constitutes a rejection by the USSR of its
former obligations.”  Castro also defended the downing of the American U-2 that day, brushing aside Alekseev’s admonition not to
“aggravate the situation and initiate provocations.”

On the following day, October 28, Cuban anger deepened as Moscow and Washington settled the crisis over their heads, and to add
insult to injury Moscow began pressuring Castro to agree to allow United Nations inspectors to examine the Soviet missile sites on the
island to verify that work had stopped.  “Confusion and bewilderment are reigning inside the Cuban leadership” as a result of Khrushchev’s
agreement to dismantle the missiles, Dorticos told Alekseev, adding that “under the present conditions of great patriotic enthusiasm of our
people this report would be perceived by the infinitely electrified masses as a cold shower.”  Alekseev’s excuses that technical problems
had delayed the sending to Havana of an advance copy of Khrushchev’s letter to Kennedy—which had been read out over Moscow Radio
before Castro (let alone Kennedy) received a copy—made hardly a dent in the “picture of incomprehension” painted by another senior
official, Carlos Rafael Rodriguez.

In subsequent days, as Castro and Khrushchev jousted in their correspondence and Cuban forces continued to fire on American U-
2 planes, the Soviets implored the Cubans to display “self-restraint” and not take actions that could “give the aggressors a pretext to
blame our side,” and vainly reiterated that “we consider it necessary” to satisfy U Thant’s desire to have the UN conduct on-site inspec-
tions on Cuban territory—a demand Castro and the Cuban leadership angrily rejected in an open show of defiance.

But it was Khrushchev’s letter of October 30 that sent Castro’s anger to an even higher pitch; in it the Soviet leader acknowl-
edged that “some Cubans” wished that he had not declared his willingness to withdraw the nuclear missiles, but that the alternative
would have been to “be carried away by certain passionate sectors of the population and [to have] refused to come to a reasonable
settlement with the U.S. government,” leading to a war in which millions would have died; Khrushchev also said he had viewed
Castro’s cable of October 26 “with extreme alarm,” considering “incorrect” its proposal that the Soviet Union “be the first to launch a
nuclear strike against the territory of the enemy [in response to a non-nuclear U.S. invasion of Cuba] ... Rather than a simple strike, it
would have been the start of thermonuclear war.”27

Reading the letter “attentively,” as described in Alekseev’s report of the meeting (printed below), Castro had only two, terse
responses: there were not merely “some” Cuban comrades who failed to understand Khrushchev’s position, “but the whole Cuban
people”—and as for the second item, Castro denied proposing that Khrushchev be “the first in delivering a blow against the adversary
territory,” only in the event that Cuba had been attacked and Cubans and Soviets were dying together; perhaps Khrushchev misunder-
stood or the translation was in error.  Alekseev, unfazed, not only defended the translation but made it clear that Khrushchev had
understood him all too well—”even in this case [of aggression],” the Soviet envoy admonished Castro, “it is hardly possible merely to
approach mechanically such an important issue and to use nuclear arms without looking for other means.”  The message: just as West
Europeans had cause to wonder whether Americans would “trade New York for Hamburg,” linking local to strategic deterrence, the
Cubans were sadly mistaken if they believed Moscow was ready to undertake global thermonuclear war—with the suicidal conse-
quences that entailed—in defense of the Cuban Revolution.

1  Books that have appeared on the crisis in English in recent years incorporating newly-available evidence include: James G. Blight and David A. Welch,

On the Brink: Americans and Soviets Reexamine the Cuban Missile Crisis, 2nd ed. (New York: Noonday, 1990); James G. Blight, Bruce J. Allyn, and

David A. Welch, Cuba On the Brink: Castro, the Missile Crisis, and the Soviet Collapse (New York: Pantheon, 1993); James A. Nathan, ed., The Cuban

Missile Crisis Revisited (New York: St. Martin’s Press, 1992); Laurence Chang and Peter Kornbluh, eds., The Cuban Missile Crisis, 1962: A National
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Security Archive Documents Reader (New York: New Press, 1992); Robert Smith Thompson, The Missiles of October: The Declassified Story of John F.

Kennedy and the Cuban Missile Crisis (New York: Simon & Schuster, 1992); Mary S. McAuliffe, ed., CIA Documents on the Cuban Missile Crisis
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pp. 2-4; in Cold War International History Project Bulletin 3 (Fall 1993), see Mark Kramer, “Tactical Nuclear Weapons, Soviet Command Authority, and
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3  Although it appears that verbatim records of meetings of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of the Soviet Union (CC CPSU) Politburo may
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4  For Kennedy-Khrushchev correspondence, see FRUS, 1961-1963, vol. VI: Kennedy-Khrushchev Exchanges, cited above, which includes many ex-

changes during the missile crisis declassified by the U.S. government in 1991 in response to a Freedom of Information Act filed by the National Security

Archive; these were first published in a special Spring 1992 issue of Problems of Communism.  Correspondence between Castro and Khrushchev during

the crisis was published in November 1990 in the Cuban Communist Party newspaper Granma; an English translation can be found in an appendix of

Blight, Allyn, and Welch, Cuba On the Brink, 474-491.
5  On the Soviet military during the crisis, see Gribkov and Smith, Operation ANADYR, cited above; Soviet military evidence on the crisis was also

presented in a conference in Moscow in September 1994 organized by the then-head of the Russian Archival Service, R. Pikhoia.
6  See Alekseev to Foreign Ministry, 7 September 1962, in CWIHP Bulletin 5 (Spring 1995), 63.
7  Telegram from Gromyko to Foreign Ministry, 19 October 1962, CWIHP Bulletin 5 (Spring 1995), 66-67.
8  James G. Hershberg, “Before `The Missiles of October’: Did Kennedy Plan a Military Strike Against Cuba?” in Nathan, ed., The Cuban Missile Crisis

Revisited, 237-280, a slightly revised version of an article that appeared in Diplomatic History 14 (Spring 1990), 163-198.
9  “Notes Taken from Transcripts of Meetings of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, October-November 1962, dealing with the Cuban Missile Crisis (handwritten

notes were made in 1976 and typed in 1993),” released under the Freedom of Information Act, copy made available by National Security Archive.
10  Historical Division, Joint Secretariat, Joint Chiefs of Staff, April 1981, “Joint Chiefs of Staff Special Historical Study: The Joint Chiefs of Staff and US

Military Responses to the Threat of Castro’s Cuba,” pp. 11-12; the report, formerly Top Secret, was declassified on 7 May 1996 and released under the

Freedom of Information Act; a copy was made available courtesy of the National Security Archive.
11  In correspondence between the JCS and the National Archives in 1993, subsequently obtained and made available to CWIHP by William Burr of the

National Security Archive, the JCS acknowledged that in August 1974, the Secretary, JCS had decided to destroy systematically all transcripts of JCS

meetings between 1947 and 1974, as well as subsequent meetings after a six-month waiting period. (August 1974 was, coincidentally or not, the month

that Richard M. Nixon resigned the presidency in part, many said, due to his failure to destroy the Watergate tapes.)  This reason given for this action was

that the transcripts “did not constitute official minutes of the meetings but were merely working papers reflecting the reporter’s version of events.”  In

1978, the JCS communication to the National Archives noted, “The practice of recording the meetings terminated in August of 1978 and all materials were

subsequently destroyed.”

The only exception to this destruction of records, it was reported, was that the JCS History Office took “notes (approximately 30 typed pages) from

selected transcripts relating to the Cuban Missile Crisis and various other crises through the October 1973 Arab-Israeli war”—hence the notation on the

top of the Cuban Missile Crisis notes in which the McNamara quotation appears that they were “handwritten notes were made in 1976 and typed in 1993.”

The letter from the JCS to the National Archives reads as follows:

The Joint Staff

Washington, D.C. 20318-0400
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January 25, 1993

Mr. James J. Hastings

Director

Records Appraisal and Disposition Division

National Archives

Washington, DC 20408

Dear Mr. Hastings:

This responds to your letter seeking information concerning the destruction of recorded minutes of the meetings of the Joint Chiefs of Staff referred

to in an article by the Deputy Chief of the Joint Staff History Office which you forwarded me as an enclosure.

The minutes of the meetings of the Joint Chiefs of Staff were recorded in various forms from 1947 to 1978. In August of 1974 the Secretary, Joint

Chiefs of Staff determined that the transcripts generated did not constitute official minutes of the meetings but were merely working papers reflecting the

reporter’s version of events.  Accordingly, the Secretary ordered the destruction of virtually all transcripts over six months old after screening for historical

significance.  He also directed that all future minutes/transcripts, with minor exceptions, would be destroyed at the six month point.  The practice of

recording the meetings terminated in August of 1978 and all materials were subsequently destroyed.  However, it should be noted all of these actions were

taken prior to approval of the first Joint Chiefs of Staff records disposition schedule by the Archivists of the United States on 11 December 1980.

The Joint Staff History Office did take notes (approximately 30 typed pages) from selected transcripts relating to the Cuban Missile Crisis and

various other crises through the October 1973 Arab-Israeli war.  The Joint Staff concurs with your determination that these notes are records under File

Number 00-1 of JAI 5760.2F and will accession them into the National Archives at the appropriate time.

Any further questions you have regarding this matter may be directed to Mr. Sterling Smith on (703) 697-6906.

Sincerely,

/s/ EDMUND F. McBRIDE
Chief, Documents Division

Joint Secretariat
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RUSSIAN DOCUMENTS
ON THE

CUBAN MISSILE CRISIS

I. BEFORE THE CRISIS:
14 SEPTEMBER-21 OCTOBER 1962

M. Zakharov and S. P. Ivanov to
 N.S. Khrushchev, 14 September 1962

Personal memorandum to N. S. Khrushchev

The USA is conducting intensive air
and naval patrols around Cuba, giving spe-
cial attention to the reconnaissance of So-
viet vessels.

The head of the Cuban counterrevolu-
tionaries, Juan Manuel Salvat, announced
in a press conference on September 7 that
any vessel sailing under a Communist flag
in Cuban territorial waters, regardless of its
nationality, will be considered a military tar-
get and subject to attack without warning.

At present, Soviet vessels approaching
the island of Cuba are systematically sub-
jected to air-patrols by USA planes. In Sep-
tember of this year as many as 50 cases were
recorded of Soviet vessels being air-pa-
trolled. The patrols were carried out at criti-
cally dangerous altitudes (50-100 meters).

With the aim of ensuring the safety of
our vessels from acts of piracy on the part
of Americans and Cuban counterrevolution-
aries, we ask to authorize the following:

1. On every transport vessel bound for
Cuba with personnel and arms for one unit
(of a formation), to place for self-defense,
above and beyond each ship’s own arma-
ments, two 23 mm. anti-aircraft combina-
tion gun-mounts with a reserve supply of 2
complements (2,400 missiles) for each gun-
mount. These gun-mounts are found on the
arms of the airborne-landing forces, and they
are a powerful strategic tool both for air tar-
gets at distances of up to 2,500 meters at
heights of up to 1,500 meters, as well as for
light-armoured naval targets at distances of
up to 2,000 meters. On practice shootings
the gun-mount has penetrated armour-plat-
ing 25 mm. thick. The gun-mount requires
a three-man crew. All in all it is necessary
to arm 34 vessels.

2. To confirm instructions given to the
captain of the vessel and the head of the
military echelon regarding the defense of
transport vessels crossing the sea against
acts of piracy committed by airplanes, ships,

and submarines belonging to the USA and
to the Cuban counterrevolutionaries.

M. Zakharov
S. P. Ivanov

14  September 1962

[Source: Central Archive of the Ministry of
Defense (TsAMO), Moscow; copy provided
to CWIHP by R. Pikhoia at September 1994
Moscow Conference, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Hendriksen, Harvard Uni-
versity.]

Cable from USSR Ambassador to the
USA A.F. Dobrynin to Soviet Foreign

Ministry, 15 October 1962

According to separate confidential re-
ports, the piratic raids by the so-called “Al-
pha 66” group on the Cuban coast and on
several vessels near Cuba are being carried
out not from a base on the American main-
land, but rather directly from the sea, from
American landing ships carrying the corre-
sponding cutters. The crews of these cut-
ters are dispatched directly onto these ships
by helicopters in the possession of the Cu-
ban members of the group “Alpha 66,” who
are based in Miami, Puerto Rico, and the
Yucatan.

The American ships carrying these cut-
ters maintain a constant readiness for mili-
tary action, and meticulously care for the
technical condition of the cutters, perform-
ing repairs in the case of damage. During
this time, the American instructors on these
ships direct the training, both tactical and
otherwise, of the Cuban crews who carry
out operations directly on the cutters.

This sort of tactic allows the Ameri-
can forces to assert that the cutters belong-
ing to the “Alpha 66” group are not acting
from a base within USA territory, but from
some “unknown bases.” As far as the Ameri-
can vessels carrying the cutters are con-
cerned, the Central Intelligence Agency of
the USA, which to judge from all available
information is directing all these operations,
is counting on the fact that detecting and
identifying this sort of vessel will not be
easy, since there is a lively traffic of Ameri-
can vessels between Florida and the Ameri-
can base Guantanamo in Cuba.

15.X.62  A. DOBRYNIN

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Cable from USSR Ambassador to the
USA A.F. Dobrynin to Soviet Foreign

Ministry, 19 October 1962

At a closed conference taking place on
16 October for the editors and leading cor-
respondents of the American press, radio,
and television, to provide information on the
evaluation of the current international situ-
ation and the USA’s official position in it,
President Kennedy spoke. This speech was
given exclusively for the personal edifica-
tion of those present, and it was denied all
publication rights.

The content of the President’s speech
came down to the following.

The government’s duty is to seek out
global solutions to the global problems fac-
ing the USA. There was once a time when
war could be seen as an acceptable exten-
sion of politics, but nuclear war in its ex-
treme form cannot be seen as such, since it
would lead to huge destruction and the loss
of millions of lives in the countries taking
part in it.  The USA must learn to accept
and live in the current conditions of direct
confrontation between the USA and the
USSR, and between Communism’s strivings
for expansion and the USA’s strivings to
support the sort of alignment of forces that
allows the free nations to thrive, and that
allows the USA in particular to safeguard
its own interests. In similar situations ear-
lier, the result of such confrontation has al-
ways been war—but now the question is
how we can get through this period without
war and, especially importantly, without
nuclear war.

Some sort of crisis relating to Berlin is
clearly brewing now, and we will have to
see whether we can surmount it without re-
course to military action. There are no signs
that the Russians are preparing to soften their
demands with regard to Berlin;  they want
us either to get out of there, or to share with
them our rights in West Berlin. They would
like to start a chain reaction that would ulti-
mately lead to the elimination of American
positions in West Berlin and many other
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places. The USA is determined not to let this
happen. It cannot be allowed to occur. The
West’s presence in Berlin and its access to
the city represent, as before, vitally impor-
tant interests, and no concessions with re-
gard to them can or will be made to Soviet
pressure, whatever form that pressure may
take. The problem now consists of the fact
that we both have locked horns [in confron-
tation—ed.].

Nuclear war may be an irrational phe-
nomenon, but there is more to it than this,
since recognizing it as irrational does not
necessarily signify being saved from it. If
both sides come to the negotiating table with
an absolute certainty that the other side will
in no circumstances have recourse to nuclear
war, then that would be one of the surest
paths toward such a war, because one side
or the other could go one step further and
apply a pressure beyond what the other side
is able to put up with, and for all intents and
purposes we would be heading for catastro-
phe.

In government circles there is a feel-
ing that we quite possibly have some diffi-
cult weeks and months ahead of us due to
Berlin, and that a crisis of the first order may
arise before Christmas.

With Cuba the situation is different.
Berlin is a vitally important issue for both
sides, and the fundamental positions of both
sides with regard to it remain inflexible.
Latin American is another vitally important
region. Berlin and Latin America are two
dangerous regions. No [U.S.] military ac-
tions concerning Cuba could be or should
be undertaken until there are signs of overt
Cuban aggression against the countries of
the Western hemisphere. Cuba should be and
is now under close observation, and the USA
has been kept informed of what is happen-
ing there. The USA’s policy consists, as be-
fore, in ensuring that the maintenance of
Cuba be as expensive as possible both for
the USSR and for Castro’s regime. It ap-
pears unlikely that the USSR could afford
to invest funds in Cuba that would be suffi-
cient to meet Cuba’s actual and long-term
needs. Only the USA alone had a billion-
dollar trade with Cuba before the Castro
revolution.

According to the American govern-
ment’s calculations, there are currently in
Cuba around five thousand Russian military
specialists. One must suppose that the Rus-
sians are sufficiently experienced people to

understand that the military equipment
which they are supplying to Cuba, or can
supply in the future, would make little dif-
ference if the USA were to consider itself
forced to take military action against it. They
have enough experience as well in East
Germany and the Eastern European coun-
tries to recognize the limits of their capaci-
ties to revitalize and strengthen the Cuban
economy, especially bearing in mind the
distances involved. Meanwhile the Latin
American countries have taken measures
towards isolating Cuba and condemning to
failure the Communists’ attempts to spread
their system throughout the other countries
of the Western hemisphere.

There can be no talk of a recognition
by the United States of some Cuban gov-
ernment in exile, since that step could free
the current Cuban regime from the obliga-
tions fixed by treaty toward Guantanamo
base and American citizens in Cuba.

There can be no deal struck with the
USSR regarding its renunciation of bases
in Cuba in exchange for the USA’s renun-
ciation of bases in other parts of the world
(in Turkey, for example). It is necessary to
treat Cuba in such a way as to advance our
cause in the general battle into which the
USA has been drawn. The strategy and tac-
tics of the USA should be defined by con-
siderations of the defense of its vital inter-
ests and its security not only in connection
with the Cuban situation, but also in con-
nection with other more serious threats.

The preceding is communicated by
way of information.

19.X.62    A. DOBRYNIN

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Cable from Soviet Foreign Minister
Gromyko on 18 October 1962 meeting
with President Kennedy, 20 October

1962 (excerpts)

During the meeting with President
Kennedy at the White House on 18 October
I transmitted to him, his spouse and other
members of his family regards from the head

of the Soviet government N.S. Khrushchev
and from Nina Petrovna.

Kennedy expressed his gratitude to
N.S. Khrushchev for the regards.

Further I said that I would like to give
an account of the Soviet government policy
on a number of important issues.

[section deleted—trans.]
Now I would like to expound the So-

viet government’s position on the Cuban
issue and the USSR’s assessment of the ac-
tions of the USA.

The Soviet government stands for the
peaceful coexistence of states with differ-
ent social systems, against the interference
of one state into the internal affairs of oth-
ers, against the intervention of large states
into the affairs of small countries.  Liter-
ally, that is the core of the Soviet Union’s
foreign policy.

It is well known to you, Mr. President,
the attitude of the Soviet government and
personally of N.S. Khrushchev toward the
dangerous developments connected with the
USA administration position on the issue of
Cuba.  An unrestrained anti-Cuban cam-
paign has been going on in the USA for a
long time and apparently there is a definite
USA administration policy behind it.  Right
now the USA are making an attempt to
blockade Cuban trade with other states.
There is talk about a possibility of actions
of organized policy in this region under the
USA aegis.

But all of this amounts to a path that
can lead to grave consequences, to a mis-
fortune for all mankind, and we are confi-
dent that such an outcome is not desired by
any people, including the people of the USA.

The USA administration for some rea-
son considers that the Cubans must solve
their domestic affairs not at their discretion,
but at the discretion of the USA.  But on
what grounds?  Cuba belongs to the Cuban
people, not to the USA or any other state.
And since it is so, then why are the state-
ments made in the USA calling for an inva-
sion of Cuba?  What do the USA need Cuba
for?

Who can in earnest believe that Cuba
represents a threat to the USA?  If we speak
about dimensions and resources of the two
countries - the USA and Cuba - then it is
clear that they are a giant and a baby.  The
flagrant groundlessness of such charges
against Cuba is obvious.

Cuba does not represent, and cannot
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represent, any threat to the countries of Latin
America.  It is strange to think as if small
Cuba can encroach on the independence of
either this or that country of Latin America.
Cuban leaders and personally Fidel Castro
have declared more than once in front of
the whole world and in a most solemn man-
ner that Cuba does not intend to impose their
system, that they firmly favor the non-in-
terference of states into the internal affairs
of each other.

The people who call for an aggression
against Cuba allege that, they say, it is not
sufficient to have those statements of the
Cuban government, though those statements
are supported by deeds.  But by that what-
ever aggressive action or adventure can be
justified.  Solutions of almost all the inter-
national issues are results, you know, of
statements, dictums, or negotiations be-
tween states, in the course of which corre-
sponding governments give an account of
their positions on either these or those ques-
tions, as for example takes place now dur-
ing the conversations that we have with the
USA administration.  But does the USA ad-
ministration not believe the statements of
the Cuban government?  Really, is it not
convincing when the Cuban government
officially declares its aspiration to settle all
disputed questions with the USA adminis-
tration by means of negotiations?  In this
regard may be quoted the well-known state-
ment made by Mr. [Oswaldo] Dorticos,
President of the Republic of Cuba, during
the current session of the UN General As-
sembly, a statement of which the USA Presi-
dent is undoubtedly aware.1

The Cubans want to make secure their
own home, their independence.  They ap-
peal for reason, for conscience.  They call
on the USA to renounce encroachments
upon the independence of Cuba, to estab-
lish normal relations with the Cuban state.

The question is: Is it worthwhile to
whip up a campaign and organize different
sorts of hostile activity around Cuba and at
the same time inimical actions against those
states which maintain good relations with
Cuba, respect its independence, and lend
Cuba a helping hand at a difficult moment?
Is it not a destruction of international law,
of the UN principles and purposes?

Is it possible, Mr. President, for the
Soviet Union, taking into account all of this,
to sit cross-handed and to be a detached
onlooker?  You say that you like frankness.

Giving an account of the Soviet government
position frankly as well, I would like to
stress that nowadays is not the middle of
the XIX century, is not the time of colonial
partition and not the times when a victim of
aggression could raise its voice only weeks
and months after an assault.  American
statesmen frequently declare that the USA
is a great power.  This is correct, the USA is
a great power, a rich and strong power.  And
what kind of power is the Soviet Union?

You know that N.S. Khrushchev was
positively impressed by your realistic state-
ment during the Vienna meeting about the
equality of forces of the two powers—the
USSR and USA.  But insofar as it is so, in-
asmuch as the USSR is also a great and
strong power it cannot be a mere spectator
while there is appearing a threat of unleash-
ing a large war either in connection with the
Cuban issue or [with a] situation in what-
ever other region of the world.

You are very well aware of the Soviet
government attitude toward such an action
of the USA, as the decision about the draft
of 150 thousand reservists.2  The Soviet
government is convinced that if both of our
countries favor a lessening of international
tension and a solution of unsettled interna-
tional problems, then such steps should be
avoided because they are intended for sharp-
ening the international situation.

If it came to the worst, if a war began,
certainly, a mobilization of an additional 150
thousand reservists to the USA armed forces
would not have significance.  And undoubt-
edly you are very well aware of this.  For
the present is not the year 1812 when Na-
poleon was setting all his hopes upon the
number of soldiers, of sabres and cannons.
Neither is it 1941, when Hitler was relying
upon his mass armies, automatic rifles, and
tanks.  Today life and and military equip-
ment have made a large step forward.
Nowadays the situation is quite different and
it would be better not to rely on armaments
while solving disputed problems.

So far as the aid of the Soviet Union to
Cuba is concerned, the Soviet government
has declared and I have been instructed to
reaffirm it once more, our aid pursues ex-
clusively the object of rendering Cuba as-
sistance to its defensive capacity and devel-
opment of its peaceful economy.  Neither
industry nor agriculture in Cuba, neither
land-improvement works nor training of the
Cuban personnel carried out by the Soviet

specialists to teach them to use some defen-
sive types of armaments, can represent a
threat to anybody.  Had it been otherwise,
the Soviet government would never be in-
volved in such aid.  And such an approach
applies to any country.

The example of Laos convincingly il-
lustrates this.  If the Soviet Union were con-
ducting another policy, not the present one,
then the situation in Laos would be differ-
ent.  For the Soviet Union and its friends
seem to have more possibility to influence
the situation in Laos than the USA.  But we
were trying to achieve an agreement because
we cannot step aside from the main prin-
ciples of our foreign policy designed for
lessening international tension, for undoing
knots of still existing contradictions between
powers, for the peaceful solution of un-
settled international problems.  And in this
regard our policy is unvarying.

Here is the position and views of the
Soviet government on the Cuban issue.  The
Soviet government calls on you and the USA
administration not to permit whatever steps
are incompatible with the interests of peace
and the lessening of international tension,
with the UN principles which have been
solemnly signed both by the USSR and the
USA.  We call on you to ensure that in this
issue too the policies of the two largest pow-
ers pursue the object of peace and only of
peace.

Having listened to our statement,
Kennedy said that he was glad to hear the
reference to the settlement of the Laotian
problem.  We believe, he continued, that the
Soviet Union really acts precisely in the way
which you are describing, and just as the
USA the USSR is endeavoring to comply
with its commitments.

Regarding the Cuban issue I [Kennedy]
must say that really it became grave only
this summer.  Until then the Cuban ques-
tion had been pushed by us to the back-
ground.  True, Americans had a certain opin-
ion about the present Cuban government and
refugees from Cuba were exciting public
opinion against that government.  But the
USA administration had no intentions to
launch an aggression against Cuba.  Sud-
denly, Mr. Khrushchev, without notifying
me, began to increase at a brisk pace sup-
plies of armaments to Cuba, although there
was no threat on our side that could cause
such a necessity.  If Mr. Khrushchev ad-
dressed me on this issue, we could give him



COLD WAR INTERNATIONAL HISTORY PROJECT BULLETIN  281

corresponding assurances on that score.  The
build-up of the Cuban military might has
badly impressed the American people and
the USA congress.  As President I was try-
ing to calm public opinion and I have de-
clared that, taking into account the kind of
aid rendered by the Soviet Union to Cuba,
we must keep cool and self-controlled.  But
I was not able to find a satisfactory expla-
nation for those actions of the Soviet Union.

Kennedy said later, that the Soviet
Union is aware of the American opinion re-
garding the present regime in Cuba.  We
consider that it would be better if there were
another government.  But we do not have
any intentions to attack Cuba.

You are saying that we have established
a blockade around Cuba, but that is not the
case.  We have only taken the decision that
the ships, after bringing cargo to Cuba, will
be barred entry to the American ports to pick
up freight.

The actions of the Soviet Union create
a very complicated situation and I don’t
know where the whole thing can bring us.
The present situation is, perhaps, the most
dangerous since the end of the Second World
War.  We, certainly, take on trust statements
of the Soviet Union about the sort of arma-
ments supplied by you to Cuba.  As Presi-
dent I am trying to restrain those people in
the USA who are favoring an invasion of
Cuba.  For example, last Sunday in one of
my speeches I declared against one of the
American senators, who had previously sup-
ported such an invasion.3

I repeat, a very dangerous situation has
nevertheless arisen regarding this issue and
I don’t know what can be the outcome.

I answered Kennedy that once there
was an attempt to organize an invasion of
Cuba and it is known what was the end of
the affair.4 From different official statements
and your own statements, Mr. President,
everybody know what were the circum-
stances and how that invasion was arranged.
Everybody knows also that the USA admin-
istration needs only to move a finger and no
Cuban exiles, nor those who support them
in the USA and some countries of the Car-
ibbean, would dare launch any adventure
against Cuba.

At this moment Kennedy put in a re-
mark that he had already had an exchange
of opinions with N.S. Khrushchev on the
issue of the invasion of Cuba in 1961 and
had said that it was a mistake.

I should be glad, Kennedy stressed, to
give assurances that an invasion would not
be repeated neither on the part of Cuban
refugees, nor on the part of the USA armed
forces.

But the issue is, Kennedy said, that as
a result of the USSR government’s action
in July of the current year the situation sud-
denly has changed for the worse.

Proceeding with the previous idea, I
said that for the Cuban government the vi-
tal issue is the question what is to be done
next.  The question comes to the following:
either they will stay unprepared to repulse
new attempts at invasion or they must un-
dertake steps to ensure their country from
attack, take care of their defense.  We have
already said that the Soviet government has
responded to the call of Cuba for help only
because that appeal had the aim of provid-
ing Cubans with bread and removing the
threat hanging over Cuba by strengthening
its defensive capacity.  Regarding help, ren-
dered by the Soviet Union, in the use of
some exclusively defensive armaments, by
no means can it be seen as a threat to the
USA.  If, I repeat, the situation were differ-
ent the Soviet government never would have
gone along with such an aid.

Kennedy said that, to make things com-
pletely clear on this issue, he would like to
announce once more that the USA do not
have any intentions to invade Cuba.  Nev-
ertheless, intensified armaments supplies to
Cuba on the part of the Soviet Union, which
began in July of the current year, have com-
plicated the situation greatly and made it
more dangerous.

My intention, Kennedy stressed, con-
sists in preventing any actions that could
lead to war, so long as those actions would
not be occasioned by some activty of the
Soviet Union or Cuba. In order to confirm
that the USA administration believes the
declarations of the Soviet government about
the defensive character of the armaments
supplied to Cuba, Kennedy read the follow-
ing passage from his statement on the Cu-
ban issue of 4 September 1962:

“Information has reached this Govern-
ment in the last four days from a variety of
sources which established without a doubt
that the Soviets have provided the Cuban
Government with a number of anti-aircraft
defense missiles with a slant range of
twenty-five miles similar to early models of
our “Nike” [missile].

Along with these missiles, the Soviets
are apparently supplying the extensive ra-
dar and other electronic equipment which
is required for their operation.

We can also confirm the presence of
several Soviet-made motor torpedo boats
carrying ship-to-ship missiles having a range
of 15 miles.

The number of Soviet military techni-
cians now known to be in Cuba or en route—
approximately 3,500—is consistent with
assistance in setting up and learning to use
this equipment.

As I stated last week, we shall continue
to make information available as fast as it is
obtained and properly verified.

There is no evidence of any organized
combat force in Cuba from any Soviet bloc
country; of military base provided to Rus-
sia; of a violation of the 1934 treaty relating
to Guantanamo; of the presence of offen-
sive ground-to-ground missiles; or of other
significant offensive capability either in
Cuban hands or under Soviet direction and
guidance.

Were it to be otherwise, the gravest is-
sues would arise.”

That is our position on this issue, said
Kennedy, and in this way it has been ex-
pounded by our Attorney General, Robert
Kennedy, in his conversation with the So-
viet Ambassador.5  From that position I was
proceeding last Sunday when I was voicing
the aforementioned statement.  Thus, in all
my actions I proceed with due regard for
statements of the Soviet Union that the ar-
maments supplied to Cuba have an exclu-
sively defensive character.

I [Gromyko] said in conclusion that
from the corresponding statements of the
Soviet government, including the statement
delivered to the President today, the USA
administration has a clear view of policy of
the Soviet Union on the Cuban issue and
also of our assessment of the USA policy
and actions regarding Cuba.  I had the task
of giving the President an account of all of
it.

[section deleted—trans.]
Fourth.  After the exchange of opin-

ions on the issue of the [atomic] tests I
broached the subject of the main principles
of foreign policy of the USSR and the ne-
cessity to proceed from the thesis that dif-
ference of ideologies need not be an obstacle
to peaceful cooperation between the USSR
and the USA.  According to the instructions,
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received before departure, the question of a
possible meeting of the heads of the two
powers has been touched upon.

The Soviet government, as before, is
building its foreign policy on the recogni-
tion of that indisputable concept that differ-
ence in ideologies, to which our states ad-
here, need not be a barrier to their peaceful
coexistence and cooperation in the interests
of strengthening the peace.  You and we, as
it was underlined more than once by N.S.
Khrushchev, are human beings and you have
your own ideology, and you are well aware
of our attitude towards it.  The USSR is a
socialist state, and is building communism.
We are guided by communist ideology.  Who
will gain the victory in the end—this ques-
tion must be solved not by the force of ar-
maments, but by the way of peaceful com-
petition and we, the communists, have urged
this since the days of Lenin.

We resolutely condemn the calls to
solve ideological disputes by the force of
armaments.  A competition in economics,
in satisfying the material and spiritual re-
quirements of the peope—that is the field
where in a historic, peaceful “battle,” with-
out use of armaments, must be solved the
question of which ideology would prevail
and which one would quit the stage of his-
tory.  On behalf of the Soviet government I
would like to reaffirm that [position] once
more because it is one of the main principles
of the foreign policy of the Soviet Union.

In conclusion I would like to say the
following:

The Head of the Soviet government
N.S. Khrushchev has entrusted me to con-
vey to you that his opinion is that it would
apparently be useful to have a meeting be-
tween the Head of the Soviet government
and the USA President in order to discuss
the issues that separate us and first of all the
questions of the German peace treaty and
West Berlin.

If N.S. Khrushchev has the opportu-
nity, he will arrive in New York in the sec-
ond half of November in order to attend the
session of the UN General Assembly.  Thus,
we are speaking about a possibility of his
arrival in the USA after the elections to Con-
gress.  Kennedy said that in the case of N.S.
Khrushchev coming to the USA he would
be glad to meet him once more.  Neverthe-
less, he said, it would be erroneous to speak
about the only point of the agenda of this
meeting - to discuss “the Berlin problem and

the signing of the German peace treaty,”
because there are others who are also inter-
ested in discussing those questions besides
our two countries.  If Mr. Khrushchev comes
to the General Assembly I would be glad to
discuss with him questions that we are in-
terested in without any formal agenda and
without picking out any concrete issue that
must be discussed.

I thanked the President for the conver-
sation during which we have discussed ques-
tions that represent interests for both coun-
tries, concerning important aspects of the
foreign policies of the USSR and the USA.
I also underlined the view of the Soviet gov-
ernment that it would be a great historic
achievement if the USSR and the USA come
to terms over those questions that divide us.

Kennedy responded that he agrees with
that remark.  As I have already told Mr.
Khrushchev, the USA is a large and rich
country.  The Soviet Union is also a large
and rich country.  Each of our countries has
a lot of things to do inside our countries. As
to the outcome of the competition between
the, which I hope will be a peaceful one,
history will decide it.  On Mr. Khrushchev,
as the head of the Soviet government, and
on me, as the USA President, rests enormous
responsibility and we have no right to al-
low any actions that can lead to a collision.

During the last 9 months while I am
holding the post of President we were seek-
ing by all means to settle relations between
our two countries.  We have reached some
success on the Laotian issue.  We were as-
piring to reach agreements both on Berlin
and German problems.  Unfortunately we
didn’t manage to do it.

As to Cuba I cannot understand what
has happened in July of this year, particu-
larly taking into account statements made
by Mr. Khrushchev that he understands the
basis of the USA approach.  In spite of suc-
cess achieved on the Laotian question, the
situation around the Cuban issue is becom-
ing more and more complicated.

In conclusion Kennedy transmitted his
regards to N.S. Khrushchev and expressed
gratitude for receiving the USA Ambassa-
dor in Moscow Mr. [Foy] Kohler and sev-
eral American representatives who had vis-
ited the Soviet Union.

For my part I assured the President
once more that the policy of the Soviet
Union always has been and remains directed
at strengthening peace and the elimination

of differences in the relations among all
countries, above all in relations between the
USSR and the USA, with whom the Soviet
Union wants to live in peace and friendship.

[This policy] also applies to the Cu-
ban issue, which was not invented by the
Soviet Union, it applies to the question of
signing the German peace treaty and nor-
malization on its basis of the situation in
West Berlin and it applies to all the other
issues that separate our two countries.  Our
policy is the policy of peace, friendship, the
policy of removing differences by peaceful
means.

In conclusion I promised to convey the
regards from the President to the Head of
the Soviet government N.S. Khrushchev and
expressed confidence that he would accept
it with pleasure.

The conversation lasted 2 hours and 20
minutes.  There were present: on the Ameri-
can side - Rusk, Thompson, Hillenbrandt
and Akalovsky, on the Soviet side -
Semenov, Dobrynin, and Sukhodrev.

A. GROMYKO
20/10/1962

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by Vladimir Zaemsky.]

II. THE CRISIS: 22-28 OCTOBER 1962

Telegram from Soviet representative to
the United Nations V. A. Zorin to USSR

Foreign Ministry, 22 October 1962

22 October 1962

On the evening of 22 October, during
Kennedy’s speech, the United States sent
me, as chair of the Security Council, a letter
demanding an urgent convocation of the
Security Council for a discussion of the “se-
rious threat to the security of the Western
hemisphere, and to peace throughout the
whole world, posed by continuing and grow-
ing foreign intervention in the Caribbean
basin.” In oral communication, the Ameri-
cans called for a convocation of the Secu-
rity Council on 23 October at 10:30 a.m.
Eastern Standard Time.

[U.S. Ambassador to the U.N. Adlai]
Stevenson’s letter reiterated the points made
by Kennedy in his radio and television
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speech. Appended to the letter was the draft
of a resolution which in its main strategic
part runs as follows:

“The Security Council...
1. Demands, as a temporary measure,

in accordance with Article 40 of the Char-
ter, the immediate dismantling and removal
from Cuba of all ballistic missiles and other
armaments used for offensive purposes.

2. Authorizes and requests  the acting
secretary general to dispatch to Cuba a corps
of UN observers to ensure fulfillment of this
resolution and to deliver a report.

3. Demands the cessation of quaran-
tine measures directed against military de-
liveries to Cuba after the UN has been as-
sured of the fulfillment of Point 1.

4. Strongly recommends that the
United States of America and the Union of
Soviet Socialist Republics immediately dis-
cuss the issue of measures to be taken to
eliminate the currently existing threat to the
security of the Western hemisphere and to
peace throughout the world, and to deliver
a report on this to the Security Council.”

We will forward the text of Stevenson’s
letter and the draft of the resolution to the
Ministry of Foreign Affairs by teletype.

The United States’ formulation of the
imaginary threat posed by Cuba and the
USSR is clearly aimed at concealing and
justifying to public opinion the USA’s uni-
laterally imposed military blockade of Cuba,
which is an overtly aggressive act. In light
of this, the demand for convening the Secu-
rity Council is put forth after the USA has
in fact established a blockade and under-
taken a series of other aggressive actions
against revolutionary Cuba. Thus the Ameri-
cans have presented the Security Council,
as they have done in the past, with a fait
accompli.

Before consulting with the other mem-
bers of the Security Council on the time for
convening the meeting of the Council, we
met with the Cuban representative and had
a preliminary discussion of the possibility
of Cuba’s submitting to Council an exami-
nation of the issue of the USA’s aggressive
actions against Cuba.

The Cuban representative is conferring
with his government on this issue.

We will undertake measures toward
initiating the meeting of the Council no ear-
lier than 3:00 p.m. Eastern Standard Time
on 23 October, although pressure from the
Western majority of Council members for

its immediate convocation has already been
exerted.

We will provide supplementary infor-
mation on our position in the Security Coun-
cil.

22.X.62  V. ZORIN

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen.]

Telegram from Soviet Ambassador to
Cuba A.I. Alekseev to USSR Foreign

Ministry, 23 October 1962

23 October

Raul Castro has announced that in re-
sponse to Kennedy’s threat, the Cuban gov-
ernment would make a decision regarding
the mobilization of all subdivisions of the
popular militia.

All in all, 350,000 persons will be
mobilized.

The full mobilization of this group will
take 72 hours.

The forces of the military units in this
group (105,000 persons) have been brought
to military readiness, and are occupying
departure positions.

The mass labor organizations are de-
voting all their energy to helping the army
and to replacing workers in businesses.

The mobilization will prove to be a new
and heavy burden for the Cuban economy,
given that the maintenance of the army will
cost the country up to one million pesos per
day, not counting losses from reductions in
production connected with the transfer of
significant numbers of workers to the army.

Tomorrow at 12:00 noon, Fidel Castro
will deliver a television and radio address
to the Cuban people.

Commenting on Kennedy’s speech,
Raul Castro said that it was undoubtedly
aimed at American voters and at the Latin
American governments that still have dip-
lomatic ties with Cuba.

Castro thinks that, under this pressure,
a whole series of these governments, if not
all of them, will break off relations with
Cuba.

The Cuban government, said Castro,
is firmly and resolutely behind the nation’s
military spirit and the unity of its people in
its resistance to the aggressor.

The Cuban leaders are awaiting the
Soviet government’s reaction to Kennedy’s
announcement, and are placing their hopes
on the wisdom of our decisions.

Castro said that the USSR, which is
surrounded by American bases, has strong
arguments to marshal in response to
Kennedy, and may enter negotiations with
him. With regard to the UN observers who
are now being sent to Cuba by the USA, we
as a sovereign nation will never admit them
onto our soil.

A complete calm and certainty domi-
nate Cuba’s leading officials and army com-
manders, just as they do the popular masses.

To avoid provocations, the troops have
been given orders to open fire on enemy air-
planes and ships only in cases when the en-
emy has initiated attack first.

According to Castro, the Americans
have denied Cuban workers access to
Guantanamo base.

All American civilian planes have been
prohibited from flying over Cuba and from
approaching its shores.

A radio interception has also been re-
ceived which prohibits American ships from
conducting negotiations with the bases on
open channels.

All new facts will be immediately com-
municated.

23.X.62     ALEKSEEV

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen.]

Telegram from Soviet delegate to the
United Nations V. A. Zorin to USSR
Foreign Ministry, 23 October 1962

23 October 1962

As chairman of the Security Council, I
have been sent a letter by the Cuban del-
egate to the UN, [Mario Garcia-]
Inchaustegi, in agreement with his govern-
ment, demanding an urgent convocation of
the Council to discuss the USA’s aggressive
actions and its blockade of Cuba as acts of
war.

According to Inchaustegi, the Cuban
minister of foreign affairs, [Raul] Roa, may
arrive in New York to take part in the
Council’s examination of this issue. In con-
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nection with this we are taking steps to make
the convocation of the Council contingent
on Roa’s arrival. Nevertheless it can be ex-
pected that the Council meeting will have
to be convened (given the demands of the
Western majority of the Council’s members)
on 23 October of this year at 3:00 p.m. East-
ern Standard Time.

During the examination of the issue in
the Council, we will declare our objections
to the misleading American formulation of
it. Bearing in mind the Cubans’ demand for
entering on the agenda the issue of USA
aggressions that they introduced, it can be
expected that the affair will come down to
entering American as well as Cuban state-
ments on the Council’s agenda.

In examining the affair in its essence,
guided by the Soviet government’s most
recent announcements on the Cuban ques-
tion, we will point out that the USA’s ag-
gressions against Cuba cannot be evaluated
as anything other than a provocation push-
ing the world to the verge of nuclear war.
We will demand a condemnation of the USA
aggressions, the immediate cessation of the
blockade they have declared and all infrac-
tions of maritime freedom; and an immedi-
ate end to all forms of intervention in the
domestic affairs of the Republic of Cuba.

We will also propose that the USA gov-
ernment immediately enter into direct ne-
gotiations with the Cuban government on
the settling of its conflicts with Cuba though
peaceful means, as suggested by Dorticos
in his speech in the UN General Assembly.
In coordination with the Cuban delegation,
we will introduce a draft resolution that in-
cludes the above-mentioned points.

We will of course vote against the
American draft resolution.

We will take action as indicated above,
unless we receive other instructions before
the meeting of the Council begins.

It is not impossible that, when both
draft resolutions are vetoed, the USA will
then propose that the Council vote on trans-
ferring the issue to the General Assembly.

23.X.62    V. ZORIN
[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Telegram from Soviet delegate to the
United Nations V. A. Zorin to USSR
Foreign Ministry, 23 October 1962

23 October 1962

On 23 October at 4:00 p.m., under the
chairmanship of the USSR delegate, a meet-
ing of the Security Council took place, on
the agenda of which was our issue of the
violation of the UN Charter and the threat
to peace on the part of the USA.

Attention paid to this meeting was
enormous:  the assembly hall was filled to
capacity, and virtually all the representatives
of the Anglo-American bloc of the UN were
present.

On approving the agenda we made a
declaration in which made note of the false
nature of the USA’s address to the Security
Council, which was a clumsy attempt to
conceal the USA’s aggressions. We declared
that, in reality, there were some pressing is-
sues to be brought before the Council by
the USSR and Cuba: concerning violations
of the UN Charter and the USA’s threat to
peace, and concerning USA aggressions
against Cuba.

After that the agenda was approved
without objections from the Council mem-
bers.

The text of the Soviet government’s
declaration on Cuba was distributed as an
official UN document,  and also as a press
release.

The first to speak was Stevenson (reg-
istered on the list of speakers yesterday, at
the time of Kennedy’s radio speech). In his
long speech, which was marked by dema-
goguery and hypocrisy, Stevenson tried in
various ways to justify the unprecedented
actions of the USA government, the naval
blockade of Cuba imposed by the United
States, and the acts of piracy on the open
sea. Unable to adduce any facts with which
to prove the presence of a Cuban threat,
Stevenson instead fell into a lengthy descrip-
tion of the post-war history of international
relations,  attempting to depict in a distorted
manner the foreign policy of the Soviet
Union and the other socialist states. In con-
clusion he formally presented the American
draft resolution (relayed to the Ministry of
Foreign Affairs by teletype on 22 October).
We will teletype the full text of Stevenson’s
speech to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs.

The next speaker was the Cuban del-
egate Garcia-Inchaustegi, who delivered a
clear speech exposing the provocative ac-
tions of the USA against Cuba, and declar-
ing the the steadfast determination of the
Cuban people to take up arms, if necessary,
to defend their revoluionary achievements.
The Cuban delegate demanded the imme-
diate revocation of the measures announced
by Kennedy. Characteristically, the Cuban’s
speech was greeted with friendly applause
from the audience.

We will teletype the full text of the
Cuban’s speech as well.

After that we gave a speech with a dec-
laration in accordance with your number
1197, and introduced a draft resolution. An
account of the spech was transmitted by
TASS. We are teletyping the full text to the
Ministry of Foreign Affairs.

The next meeting has been set for to-
morrow, 24 October, at 9:00 a.m. Eastern
Standard Time.

In the course of the day we have had
conversations with a series of delegates from
African and Asian countries, including del-
egates from the United Arab Republic,
Ghana, Ceylon, Iraq, Afghanistan, Syria,
and others. All of these countries share a
serious anxiety about the situation created
by the USA’s actions. All of them recognize
the clear illegality of the USA’s actions.
They do not yet, however, show sufficient
determination to take any concrete steps.
Thus, for example, the delegate from the
United Arab Republic initially made much
of the unofficial Council draft resolution
calling for the respective parties to remove
the blockade and to end arms stockpiling in
Cuba. When we categorically rejected this
proposal because it essentially replicated
one of the USA’s basic ideas—revoking the
blockade after the cessation of arms deliv-
eries to the Cubans—the neutral parties pre-
pared another draft resolution.

This draft makes the following stipu-
lations:

1. To call upon all interested parties to
abstain from any actions which could di-
rectly or indirectly aggravate the situation,
and to work towards returning the Carib-
bean area to the condition it was in before
22 October;

2. To request that the acting Secretary
General immediately discuss with the inter-
ested parties direct measures to be taken for
removing the current threat to the general
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peace.
3.  To call upon the interested parties

to carry out this resolution immediately, and
to cooperate with the acting Secretary Gen-
eral in the fulfillment of this aim.

4. To ask the acting Secretary General
to report to the Security Council on the ful-
fillment of the second point.

We remarked that even this draft is not
fully satisfactory, in part because it does not
even indicate (in clear and unambiguous
terms) that the USA’s declared blockade of
Cuba must be immediately ended.

This evening, after the Security Coun-
cil meeting, the delegates from neutral Asian
and African countries will hold a meeting
to discuss the general policy that it would
be most advisable for them to follow with
regard to this issue. In the course of
tomorrow’s meeting we will decisively de-
fend the position laid out in our draft reso-
lution, and will exert pressure on the neutrals
to do the same.

23.X.62    V. ZORIN

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Telegram from Soviet delegate to the
United Nations V. A. Zorin to USSR

Foreign Ministry, 25 October 1962, on
UN Security Council Meeting of

24 October 1962

25 October 1962

On 24 October speeches were deliv-
ered in the Security Council by the delegates
from Venezuela, England, Rumania, Ireland,
France, Chile, the United Arab Republic,
Ghana, and also by U Thant.

Comrade [Deputy Foreign Minister
Mircea] Malitza, the delegate from Ruma-
nia, fully supported the Soviet Union’s for-
mulation of the issue of the USA violation
of the UN Charter and the USA threat to
peace, and supports with equal conviction
the Security Council draft resolution intro-
duced by the Soviet Union.

The speech of the English delegate, [Sir
Patrick] Dean, supported the false accusa-

tions of the Soviet Union’s alleged installa-
tion in Cuba of offensive nuclear missile
weaponry, the accusations by means of
which the USA is trying to justify its ag-
gressions against Cuba (we are teletyping
the full text of the speech). Dean asserted
that the only way to restore peace and trust
is to remove from Cuban territory the “of-
fensive missiles.” It is revealing that Dean
tried as hard as he could to get around the
question of the naval blockade imposed by
the USA on Cuba.

Declaring England’s support for the
American draft resolution, Dean at the same
time expressed his thoughts on the neces-
sity of negotiations between the interested
parties.

The French delegate [Roger] Seydoux
also supported the American draft resolu-
tion, representing it as allegedly furthering
the interests of a peaceful settlement of the
conflict. Like Dean, he reiterated the false
assertions by the USA of the allegedly of-
fensive nature of the armaments supplied by
the Soviet Union to Cuba (we are teletyping
the full text).

In the speeches by the delegates from
Venezuela and Chile, support was given to
the justification of the resolution, approved
under pressure from the USA, of the Orga-
nization of American States, which is op-
posed to Cuba. They asserted, following
USA crib-notes, that the Soviet arms in Cuba
upset the balance of power in the Western
hemisphere, and constitute a threat to the
security of the nations of this area. The del-
egates from Venezuela and Chile declared
their support for the American draft resolu-
tion.

The delegate from Ireland, [Minister
for External Affairs Frank] Aiken, recogniz-
ing the right of the Cuban nation to decide
its own fate and to take measures to guaran-
tee its defense capabilities, expressed regret
at the same time concerning the fact that the
weaponry installed in Cuba represents huge
nuclear forces that threaten the neighboring
countries. Aiken appealed for a peaceful
settlement by means of negotiations. He
declined to express his position with regard
to both the American and the Soviet draft
resolutions.

The delegates from the United Arab
Republic, [Mahmoud] Riad, and from
Ghana, [Alex] Quaison-Sackey, pointed out
that they are approaching the issue at hand
in light of the principles established by the

UN Charter and by the Bandung and
Belgrade conferences of nonaligned nations
(we are teletyping the full texts of these
speeches). Proceeding from these principles,
the delegates from the United Arab Repub-
lic and Ghana defended the right of Cuba to
choose its own political regime, and to carry
out the necessary defense measures for safe-
guarding its political freedom and territo-
rial integrity.

In the speeches of both delegates, doubt
was expressed about the reliability and well-
groundedness of the American assertions
about the allegedly offensive character of
the weaponry installed in it. Quaison-Sackey
recalled with regard to this the fabrication
by USA intelligence of false information
that has already been used in the past for
justifying aggressive actions against Cuba.

The delegates from the United Arab
Republic and Ghana declared that they can-
not justify the USA actions aimed at estab-
lishing a blockade of Cuba. They both em-
phasized that these actions by the USA con-
stitute a violation of the principle of mari-
time freedom, and pose a serious threat to
peace and general security. In their speeches,
they noted the fact that the USA took its
unilateral actions behind the back of the
Security Council.

The delegates of the United Arab Re-
public and Ghana have appealed to the par-
ties involved—the USA, the USSR, and
Cuba—to resolve the conflict through
peaceful negotiations, and have jointly in-
troduced a draft resolution (transmitted by
teletype).

The last to speak at today’s meeting
was the acting Secretary General of the UN,
U Thant, who read the text of messages he
sent today to Comrade N.S. Khrushchev and
to Kennedy. In these messages, U Thant pro-
posed that for a period of two to three weeks
“all arms provisioning in Cuba be voluntar-
ily suspended, and that all quarantine activ-
ity be suspended by the opposing party.”  U
Thant expressed his support for the proposal
that the interested parties meet during this
period and discuss the situation. He, U
Thant, is willing to provide all necessary
services for this purpose, and is at the dis-
posal of the parties involved.

Having learned in the afternoon of the
content of the message to the USSR and the
USA prepared by U Thant, we told him that
we considered it incorrect and wrong-
headed of the acting Secretary General to
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place on the same level a party on one hand
that has taken provocative actions and im-
posed a naval blockade, and on the other
hand parties that have been engaging in nor-
mal shipping activity and taking lawful
measures for safeguarding their countries’
defense. We emphasized that the acting Sec-
retary General’s most urgent obligation is
to exert necessary pressure on the govern-
ment of the USA to make them lift the ille-
gal blockade of the Cuban coast, and end
their acts of piracy that violate maritime
freedom.

Nevertheless, U Thant did not change
the content of his messages. The text of U
Thant’s message to Comrade N.S.
Khrushchev has been teletyped to the Min-
istry of Foreign Affairs.

Throughout the entire day, delegations
from the neutral countries of Asia and Af-
rica worked on a draft resolution for the
Security Council. We have repeatedly met
with the delegates from the United Arab
Republic, Ghana, and other countries, ex-
plaining to them the necessity of including
in the Council resolution a clear demand that
the USA lift its naval blockade and cease its
other provocative actions against Cuba.

The draft resolution introduced by the
delegates from the United Arab Republic
and Ghana (the text of which has been
teletyped) nevertheless does not mention
this directly. The draft resolution proposes
that the acting General Secretary reach an
agreement without delay with the immedi-
ately interested parties regarding the steps
that must urgently be taken to remove the
present threat to peace and to normalize the
Caribbean situation, and it appeals to the
interested parties to “refrain during this pe-
riod from any actions which could directly
or indirectly aggravate the present situa-
tion.”

Although the formulation of this last
point is vague, the interpretation offered in
the United Arab Republic and Ghanaian
delgates’ speeches, and the whole tenor of
their speeches, nevertheless clearly indicate
that the gist of that formulation is a demand
for the revocation of the measures an-
nounced by Kennedy. Despite the shortcom-
ings of the draft, it must be noted that, if
approved, it would significantly limit the
USA’s capacity to carry out the blockade and
its other aggressions against Cuba.

We are also taking into account that, if
the matter is transferred to the Assembly, it

will be difficult to count on the approval of
a better resolution, since at present a major-
ity of the Afro-Asian group supports the
draft put forth by the United Arab Republic
and Ghana.

Proceeding from this point, and bear-
ing in mind the Cuban government’s views,
we believe that it is possible, when the
United Arab Republic and Ghanaian draft
resolution is voted on, that we, after issuing
a statement of its shortcomings and weak-
nesses, might abstain from voting on it if it
can be passed without our votes (that is,
without the votes of the delegates from the
USSR and Romania), and vote in favor of it
if it fails to win the necessary number of
votes without our support.

We do not rule out the possibility that
Ghana and the United Arab Republic may
alter their draft resolution, reducing it to an
appeal to the interested parties to conduct
immediate negotiations towards a settlement
of the Caribbean crisis that threatens the
general peace. In voting on such a resolu-
tion we will, having voiced our views on its
shortcomings, take a similar position: in
other words, we will abstain from voting if
the resolution can be approved without our
votes, and we will vote in favor of it if it
would not pass without the votes of the
USSR and Romania.

In the event that none of the resolu-
tions is approved by the Council, then ob-
viously an extraordinary special session of
the Assembly will have to be convened,
which we will not object to.

We will act as outlined above unless
we receive other instructions.

The Council meeting will be held on
25 October at 4:00 p.m. local time, when
the vote on the resolution will also take
place.

It would be valuable if for this occa-
sion we had the text of the official response
to U Thant’s message to N. S. Khrushchev,
if such a response has been made by that
time.

According to available information, the
USA will respond to U Thant’s message in
the next few hours.

25.X.62  V. ZORIN

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-

lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Cable from Soviet Ambassador to the
USA A. Dobrynin to USSR Foreign

Ministry, 25 October 1962

This night (around 3 o’clock in the
morning Washington time) our journalist
[half-line deleted—ed.] was at the bar of the
press club of Washington where usually
many correspondents gather.

Barman6 approached him [one line
deleted—ed.] and whispered that he had
overheard a conversation of two prominent
American journalists (Donovan7 and [War-
ren] Rogers) that the President had suppos-
edly taken a decision to invade Cuba today
or tomorrow night.

Our correspondent also had an oppor-
tunity to talk to Rogers, a correspondent of
the “New York Herald Tribune,” perma-
nently accredited to the Pentagon.  He con-
firmed that report.

[Half-line deleted—ed.] there is infor-
mation that an order has been issued to bring
the armed forces into maximum battle readi-
ness including readiness to repulse nuclear
attack.

We are taking steps to check this in-
formation.

25/X/62 A. DOBRYNIN

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by Vladimir Zaemsky.]

Telegram from Soviet Ambassador to
Cuba A.I. Alekseev to USSR Foreign

Ministry, 25 October 1962

25 October

The domestic situation in Cuba with
regard to the USA provocations continues
to remain calm and confident. The mobili-
zation of the popular militia and the station-
ing of military units have been successfully
completed. The industrial and commercial
centers of the country are operating nor-
mally.

A special business-like efficiency and
energy can be observed among the Cuban
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leaders and people. At meetings and gath-
erings there is almost no trace of the osten-
tation and verbosity that are characteristic
of Cubans. The awareness of an immediate
threat has brought the Cuban people even
closer, and has strengthened their hatred of
American imperialism.

The Soviet Union’s authority has
climbed to unprecedented heights. The ac-
tions of the USSR government in its defense
of Cuba are completely convincing the
people of the failure of the American provo-
cations. The whole country is preparing to
rebuff the aggressors. Committees for the
defense of the revolution are establishing,
in every city neighborhood, in factories, on
the national estates and institutions,  first-
aid brigades offering immediate help to the
wounded. Volunteer brigades are on the alert
for profiteers, and are prohibiting the pur-
chase of excessive quantities of goods in
stores.

Militia observation posts have been
placed on all streets. There are no signs of
panic, and no false alarmist rumors are be-
ing spread.

The domestic counterrevolution has
fallen completely silent, and has not yet
shown any signs of activity.

The nation is anxiously awaiting the
first clashes between Soviet steamers and
the American ships constituting the block-
ade.

The arrival yesterday and today of two
Soviet steamers in Cuban ports without se-
rious complications was met with great re-
lief.

Secretary General U Thant’s appeal,
and Comrade N.S. Khrushchev’s response
to it and to Bertrand Russell, were com-
mented upon here as events of the greatest
importance.

Meanwhile the radio and newspapers
attribute great significance to [Soviet De-
fense Minister] Marshal R.Ya. Malinsky’s
speech.

Moreover, Fidel Castro finds great sig-
nificance in the emergence of a movement
for solidarity with Cuba, especially in the
countries of Latin America.

It is his view that the USA’s current
insane actions against Cuba provide firm
ground for the further expansion of this
movement, which will be able to force the
Americans to rethink their plans.

He approves of our policy of not giv-
ing in to provocations, and of the possibile

avoidance of unnecessary conflicts. Castro,
for example, approves of the fact that sev-
eral of our vessels have turned back from
their courses, and thus have not given occa-
sion for any major conflicts.

At the same time Castro, in the course
of conversations with our military experts,
has expressed a belief in the necessity of
shooting down one or two piratic American
planes over Cuban territory.

Unverifiable information has been re-
ceived by us and the Czechs from unverifi-
able sources on the possibility of an inter-
ventionist landing or a bombing of Cuban
military targets on 26-27 October. The lead-
ership has taken this information into con-
sideration, but is not taking it very seriously.

The situation in the Soviet colony is
normal. All necessary measures have been
taken for a possible exacerbation of the situ-
ation.

25.X.62  ALEKSEEV

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Cable from Soviet Ambassador to the
USA A. Dobrynin to Soviet Foreign

Ministry, 25 October 1962

The situation in Washington remains
tense and complicated.  At the same time,
today in political and diplomatic circles and
in the comments of American press, radio,
and television, began appearing rays of hope
for a peaceful settlement of the Cuban issue
and they are related to the quiet, restrained
behavior of the Soviet government and its
readiness for negotiations with the USA (it
is necessary to mention that the Embassy is
receiving quite a number of cables and let-
ters from ordinary Americans in which they
express their gratitude to the Soviet govern-
ment and N.S. Khrushchev for their posi-
tion in the current situation).

Nevertheless, prevailing here are the
expectations for further mounting of crisis
in the relations between the USA and the
USSR over Cuba.  In addition to our previ-
ous considerations currently we would like
to say the following:

1. It is becoming daily stronger the

opinion that steps undertaken by the
Kennedy administration regarding Cuba had
been dictated by the desire to stop the gen-
erally unfavorable for the USA develop-
ments in the world and to try to reestablish
the status-quo which had existed at the mo-
ment of the meeting between N.S.
Khrushchev and Kennedy in Vienna last
year.  Risk, entailed with these steps made
by Kennedy’s administration, is outweighed,
in his view, by those unfavorable conse-
quences for the USA military-strategic situ-
ation, which would appear in the case of the
placing in Cuba of Soviet medium and long-
range missiles.

2. Regarding how far the Kennedy ad-
ministration is ready to go against Cuba, the
following impression has been forming.

Judging from available data, the ad-
ministration sets itself, as a minimal aim,
the object of not allowing the emplacement
in Cuba the aforementioned missile launch-
ers.  Meanwhile, according to some sources,
whose reports still need additional check-
ing, the possibility is discussed—in case of
not achieving that aim by other means—to
destroy the missile launchers in Cuba un-
der construction by a massive air-raid of
American aviation.  It is necessary to men-
tion that, according to all reports, the Ameri-
cans are not aware of exact numbers and
kinds of our missile weapons in Cuba.  This
circumstance makes them rather nervous.

3. The most militant line in the USA
administration still is held by [Attorney
General] R. Kennedy, [Secretary of Defense
Robert S.] McNamara, [National Security
Adviser McGeorge] Bundy and military
men, who insist on a firm approach with the
purpose of destroying the missile bases in
Cuba, not even stopping at invasion of the
island.  [Secretary of State Dean] Rusk and
[Secretary of the Treasury Douglas] Dillon
are now holding a somewhat restrained and
more cautious position, though they also
favor continued pressure upon us.

In this regard the course of the discus-
sion inside the administration of the
President’s response to U Thant’s appeal [of
October 24; see above] seems significant.
According to our information, the first group
was insisting on a categorical rejection of
that appeal.  Such an answer had been al-
ready elaborated and it was even supposed
to be transmitted to the largest information
agencies.  But at the last moment (around
12 o’clock midnight) the President inclined
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to the current, more flexible, [version] pre-
pared by Rusk.

The President is vacillating right now,
but, judging from everything, especially the
principal direction of USA policy, he is
heeding the first group, particularly, his
brother.  A certain danger of the situation is
that the President has largely engaged him-
self before the public opinion of America
and not only America.  In essence, he, as a
hot-tempered gambler, has put at stake his
reputation as a statesman and politician, and
thus his prospects for re-election in 1964,
what—being an ambitious man—he pas-
sionately seeks.  This is why it is not pos-
sible to exclude completely the possibility
that he can, especially taking into consider-
ation his circle, undertake such an
adventurist step as an invasion of Cuba.

4. Of course, it is difficult to draw a
final conclusion whether there will be such
an invasion or not.  In the “war of nerves”,
which now is going on, the elements of
disinformation, for sure, can play a role.  In
this regard it is necessary to mention that
the USA administration has undertaken un-
usual measures of control over the press.  In
essence an unofficial censorship has been
introduced in great measure.  Immediate
“conducting” [guidance—ed.] of the press
on the part of the Kennedy administration
has been strengthened.  For example, ac-
cording to confidential data, today Rusk has
summoned the most important American
journalists and told [them] that that the ten-
dency [that has] just appeared in some pa-
pers to show some decrease of tension (in
connection with the first Soviet tanker which
has passed through the blockade) did not
meet the requirements of the moment and
the real state of affairs.  The USA adminis-
tration as before is fully resolved to achieve
by “whatever means” the liquidation of the
missile bases in Cuba,—underscored Rusk.
He also refuted several reports about USA
readiness to “exchange” Soviet bases in
Cuba for American bases in other countries,
for example in Turkey (in this regard Rusk
criticized today’s article by [Walter]
Lippmann).

5. Apparently, in order to force the at-
mosphere, there are transmitted (on radio,
TV and through the press) reports from dif-
ferent states about bringing to full readiness
the systems of civil defense, antinuclear
shelters, about food and emergency pur-
chases by the population.

Members of the diplomatic corps who
in these days have visited other parts of the
country, relate that at the beginning many
people in those locations, especially in the
western states, perceived Kennedy’s speech
of October 22 as a pre-election maneuver,
but now the mood has changed.  People,
among them those who even not long ago
were saying that it was “necessary to do
something to Castro,” now are badly fright-
ened about what may be the outcome.

Noticeably fewer people can be seen
on Washington streets.  Government offices
are working until late at night.  Preoccupa-
tion over the possibility of a major war is
sensed in business circles too, and it is re-
flected in sharp ups and downs of actions
on the New York stock exchange.

African embassies warned their stu-
dents at American universities to be ready
for evacuation home.

6. In general it is necessary to say that
different sources in the journalist and dip-
lomatic corps in Washington agree that cur-
rently the probability of a USA armed in-
tervention against Cuba is great.  They con-
sider that the Kennedy administration needs
only a plausible excuse to “justify” such an
action.  In this regard it calls attention to the
strong underlining (in the evening edition
papers and radio transmissions) of the as-
sertions as if in Cuba the construction of
missile sites is rapidly proceeding.

The majority of sources agree that the
nearest future days will be most critical, in-
sofar as they consider that if the USA finds
themselves [itself] involved in negotiations
or diplomatic discussions of the whole is-
sue, then it will be difficult to carry out an
invasion because of political considerations.
In this regard, as it is recognized nearly by
everybody here, a very important role is
played by the self-possessed and construc-
tive position of the Soviet government,
which is restraining futher broadening of the
conflict, restraining the hottest heads in
Washington.

25/X/62 A. DOBRYNIN

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by Vladimir Zaemsky.]

Telgram from Soviet delegate to the
United Nations V. A. Zorin to USSR
Foreign Ministry, 25 October 1962

25 October 1962

We have been informed that U Thant
has declared his intention to meet succes-
sively with the Americans, us, and the Cu-
bans on 26 October. He has proposed meet-
ing with us at 4:30 p.m. Eastern Standard
Time; before that he is meeting with
Stevenson, and after us with Garcia-
Inchaustegui. We will agree to this first
meeting with U Thant.

In our talks with U Thant we will trans-
mit Comrade N. S. Khrushchev’s response
to the former’s message, and Khrushchev’s
response to Kennedy and Russell as well.

We understand Comrade N.S.
Khrushchev’s response to U Thant to be
saying that the Soviet Union agrees with U
Thant’s proposal in its goal of holding pre-
liminary negotiations— allowing the inter-
ested parties to meet for a peaceful settle-
ment of the crisis and for a normalization of
the situation in the Caribbean area. This in-
cludes, on the part of the Soviet Union, the
voluntary suspension for 2 to 3 weeks of
arms stockpiling in Cuba, and, on the part
of the USA, the voluntary suspension for
the same period of its “quarantine” activity,
including the inspection of ships bound for
Cuba.

To judge from Kennedy’s response, the
USA is attempting to put forth as the basis
of its negotiations its demand for the re-
moval of “offensive weaponry” from Cuba.

For this reason we should expect that
the Americans will not agree to the suspen-
sion of “quarantine” activity unless this de-
mand of theirs is met.

We of course firmly reject any attempts
by the USA to impose stipulations either on
us or on Cuba. In this matter we will pro-
ceed from the condition that negotiations can
only be conducted on the basis of U Thant’s
proposal, that is on the basis of the point
about suspending arms stockpiling in Cuba,
a proposal which the neutral countries sup-
port.

The possibility cannot be ruled out that
U Thant, under American influence, is at-
tempting to put forth as a primary measure
the proposals made by him in his second
message to Comrade N.S. Khrushchev, es-
pecially the one stipulating that Soviet ves-
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sels bound for Cuba keep away from the
interception area for a certain period of time,
and that the USA for the duration of that
same period avoid immediate encounters
between their ships and Soviet vessels. In
this event we will declare that U Thant’s
proposal, which is the basis on which all the
interested parties have agreed to conduct ne-
gotiations, goes above and beyond the “pri-
mary measures” that he put forth in his sec-
ond message.

Since the forthcoming meeting with U
Thant is a preliminary one and raises the
issue of further negotiations, including a
conclusive normalization of the whole situ-
ation in the Caribbean region, we ask to be
briefed on your decision as to the level,
form, and direction of further negotiations.

If there are supplementary instructions
for the first meeting with U Thant, we ask
you to take into consideration the meeting
time proposed by U Thant.

25.X.62 V. ZORIN

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Telegram from Soviet delegate to the
United Nations V. A. Zorin to USSR
Foreign Ministry, 26 October 1962

26 October 1962

The Cuban delegate, Garcia-
Inchaustegui, met with U Thant on 26 Oc-
tober, at which time U Thant entrusted him
to deliver to Havana a message from him to
Fidel Castro (we are sending this as a sepa-
rate telegram).

In the conversation with Garcia-
Inchaustegui, U Thant, who had informed
him of the correspondence between U Thant
and Comrade N.S. Khrushchev, and Presi-
dent Kennedy as well, expressed his ideas
for using Dorticos’s proposal of 8 October
in the General Assembly as a way to achieve
a lasting normalization of the Caribbean
basin situation. The Cuban reminded U
Thant that Dorticos in his speech had em-
phasized the extenuating circumstance that
the USA had already declared that it did not

intend to attack Cuba, but that now it had
broken their promise.

To this U Thant responded that for this
reason it is necessary to specify what guar-
antees should be made by the USA to as-
sure that it will not take any antagonistic
actions against Cuba, and asked Garcia-
Inchaustegui to explain the views of the
Cuban government on this matter.

2. The head of the Brazilian delegation,
[Alfonso] Arinos [de Melo Franco], has
worked out a draft resolution on the de-
nuclearization of Latin America and Africa
under the observation of a monitoring com-
mittee (we will send this as a separate tele-
gram). In a conversation with Garcia-
Inchaustegui, Arinos expressed his view that
approving this resolution would allow Cuba
to “avoid humiliation” if it is forced to re-
nounce the construction of missile bases.

According to Garcia-Inchaustegui, this
draft resolution has received great currency
among the Latin American countries, and
the delegates from the Latin American con-
tingents who met with U Thant this evening
should discuss the draft with the acting Sec-
retary General.

Garcia-Inchaustegui told the Brazilian
himself that, in his personal opinion, it
would be better that the issue of the elimi-
nation of all foreign military bases in Latin
America be brought up, since then such a
formulation would include the base at
Guantanamo as well.

26.X.62 V. ZORIN

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Telegram from Soviet delegate to the
United Nations V. A. Zorin to USSR
Foreign Ministry, 26 October 1962

26 October 1962

I delivered N.S. Khrushchev’s response
to U Thant’s second message (at 13:00 lo-
cal time).

U Thant expressed satisfaction with the

fact that once again his proposal had been
approved. After this, U Thant told us that
tonight he had received a response to his
second message from Kennedy as well, and
at our insistence he provided us with the text
of that response (after he had submitted this
disclosure to the approval of the USA lega-
tion, and after receiving our consent to his
disclosing to the USA legation the content
of our own response).

We are communicating the text of
Kennedy’s response as a separate telegram.

U Thant presented us with the possi-
bility of his immediate publication of both
his messagees to N.S. Khrushchev and to
Kennedy, and of both responses given to
those messagees by the USSR and the USA.
He led us to understand that a comparison
of both responses would show the world
community that the Soviet Union, unlike the
USA, was continuing to aim for support of
peace and the prevention of war.

We responded to the effect that we were
not yet authorized to agree to the publica-
tion of N.S. Khrushchev’s response, and
would give him an answer later.

We believe it would be expedient to
give our consent to the publication of the
documents mentioned.

Today at 16:00 there will be a meeting
between Stevenson and U Thant. At 18:00
Eastern Standard Time we are once again
meeting with U Thant, and if we do not re-
ceive other instructions by that time, we will
give our consent to the publication of N. S.
Khrushchev’s second response.

26.X.62 V. ZORIN

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Telegram from Soviet delegate to the
United Nations V. A. Zorin to USSR
Foreign Ministry, 26 October 1962

26 October 1962

On the evening of 26 October we
([Platon] Morozov and I) met with U Thant,
in the presence of [UN Under Secretary for
Special Political Affairs Chakravanthi V.]
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Narasiman, [UN official Omar] Loutfi,
[Military Advisor to the UN Secretary-Gen-
eral Brig.-] General [Indar J.] Rikhye, and,
on our request, Comrade [E.D.] Kiselev.
After giving our consent to the publication
of N.S. Khrushchev’s response to U Thant’s
second message, U Thant immediately re-
leased for publication both his message and
the responses to them by the Soviet Union
and the USA. In so doing, U Thant again
emphasized that now the whole world would
be again convinced that the Soviet Union is
positively and constructively working to-
wards the peace initiative that it undertook,
and he also asked to convey his thanks to
the Soviet government and personally to
N.S. Khrushchev for the speedy and posi-
tive response to his second message.

U Thant said furthermore that
Kennedy’s reponse to his second message
was not as clear as N.S. Khrushchev’s re-
sponse. Nevertheless U Thant noted that, as
he sees it, an agreement has been reached at
the present moment between the Soviet
Union and the USA which, although for only
a short period (2 to 5 days, as he put it),
ensures the possibility of avoiding danger-
ous encounters on the open sea. In this way,
a situation will be created in which further
steps can be taken towards the lessening of
tensions.

Stevenson today announced to U Thant
that the USA was prepared to approve U
Thant’s proposal contained in his first mes-
sage (concerning the cessation for 2 to 3
weeks of arms stockpiling in Cuba, and the
USA’s simultaneous suspension of block-
ade activities), on the proviso that measures
would be taken to guarantee that ships ar-
riving in Cuba (Soviet ships, as well as
freight vessels) are not supplying any weap-
onry during this this period.

U Thant explained that the satisfaction
of this demand, either in this way or in some
other fashion, is a very important issue for
American public opinion. It would be pos-
sible to discuss a particular procedure for
maritime traffic, or for particular ports of
call in Cuba, whereby for example UN del-
egates from neutral countries, selected by
agreement, or representatives of the Inter-
national Red Cross might one way or an-
other ascertain that vessels arriving in Cuba
are not carrying arms. He implied that the
Americans would apparently be satisfied
with a simple procedure, and would not de-
mand searches or inspections of vessels

bound for, or in the ports of, their destina-
tions.

We declared to U Thant that the Ameri-
can proposal was at odds with U Thant’s
own proposal, and shows that the USA, un-
like the Soviet Union, is not ready to agree
to that proposal. We remarked that in giv-
ing consent to U Thant’s proposal, the So-
viet Union was taking a highly important
step toward preserving the peace. We
pointed out that the Soviet Union would
stick to its obligations with unconditional
steadfastness if an agreemnt was reached on
the basis of U Thant’s own proposal. No
checks on this are needed, not only because
of what has been put forth, but also because
if the arms provisioning continued, it would
not be hard to detect anyway. For this rea-
son, the Americans’ push for the above-
mentioned proposal proves that they are
looking for a pretext for not fulfilling the
very agreement that would facilitate a con-
clusive settlement.

We also noted that while the USA is
advancing a new proposal that complicates
matters, they themselves are continuing to
prepare intensively for an invasion of Cuba.
If we are to talk about UN observation, then
we must first of all demand an immediate
end to that sort of military preparation
against Cuba, which threatens the general
peace.

We noted as well that we cannot enter
discussions about what actions may be taken
on Cuban territory, since that is a matter for
the Cuban government alone to decide. But
the forms of monitoring proposed would
constitute an obvious interference in the
domestic affairs of Cuba.

U Thant said that he understood all this
personally, and that he firmly believed that
the Soviet Union would keep its word.
Nonetheless it is clear that the USA is act-
ing as it is in order to justify before Ameri-
can public opinion its refusal to take the
appropriate blockade measures that have
been announced.

We told U Thant that the Soviet Union
has already approved two of his proposals,
proceeding in such a way as to frustrate the
American provocation that threatens the
peace, and also that it is now up to U Thant,
in his capacity as acting General Secretary
of the UN, to exert the necessary pressure
on the USA with the aim of reaching a pro-
visional agreement for 2 to 3 weeks, based
on the initial proposal of U Thant himself.

We emphasized that it is necessary to
act quickly, since our ships cannot remain
on the open sea for an indefinite period of
time, and since the situation cannot be al-
lowed to get out of control. U Thant said
that he would do all he could, although he
asks us as well to think of measures that
would be favorably received by the USA.

At the end of the conversation, U Thant
said that today he had presented the Cuban
delegate to the UN with the message, to be
conveyed to Castro, in which he asked that
missile installation work in Cuba, which
according to reports received by him from
the Americans continues day and night, be
suspended for the 2 to 3 week period that is
necessary for negotiations.

In response to our question about what
plans U Thant had concerning the basis upon
which a conclusive settlement would be at-
tainable, U Thant answered that he found
the key to this in Dorticos’s speech to the
General Assembly on 8 October of this year,
in which the latter announced that if the USA
were to give effective guarantees that they
will not undertake a military invasion of
Cuba, and will not aid its invasion by any-
one else, it would not be necessary for Cuba
to take military measures, or even to main-
tain its army.

U Thant said that today he had ex-
plained his point of view to Stevenson, and
that the latter had promised to inform
Kennedy about it.

In conclusion, we arranged with U
Thant that he inform the Americans of our
conversation, and agreed that our forthcom-
ing meeting would be contingent upon how
events unfold.

At the next meeting, if we do not re-
ceive other instructions, we will continue
to push for the provisional agreement on the
2 to 3 week period, based on U Thant’s pro-
posal that was approved in Comrade N. S.
Khrushchev’s response, without the supple-
mentary conditions advanced by the USA.

26.X.62 V. ZORIN

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]
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Cable from Soviet Foreign Minister
Gromyko to USSR Ambassador to
Cuba Alekseev, 27 October 1962

27 October 1962

You should urgently meet comrade Fi-
del Castro and, quoting instructions of the
Soviet government, say the following:

“It is considered in Moscow that com-
rade Fidel Castro should urgently make a
statement in support of the proposals of the
Soviet government listed in the message
from N.S. Khrushchev to President Kennedy
of October 27.

It would be also advisable to give a
quick answer to the appeal from U Thant
and underline in that response that there are
no works in Cuba on construction of mili-
tary units - the issue mentioned in the ap-
peal by U Thant.  In addition, in the letter to
U Thant it should be also advisable to voice
support for the proposals of the Soviet gov-
ernment espoused in the aforementioned
message from N.S. Khrushchev.

Regarding the communication (deliv-
ered by comrades Fidel Castro and Oswaldo
Dorticos to comrade Alekseev) that accord-
ing to the available data an armed Ameri-
can intervention in Cuba is imminent, we
would like to say that our last action of Oc-
tober 27 is intended precisely to interrupt
the past or present USA preparations, if in-
deed your information about the threat of
an invasion was correct.

It is almost impossible for the Ameri-
cans to launch an adventurist invasion of
Cuba, using their armed forces, in response
to our steps, undertaken in connection with
U Thant’s initiative, particularly in reponse
to our last action.  They know very well that
if under present circumstances they were to
start an intervention it would brand them as
aggressors and hold them up to shame as
enemies of peace imitating the worst pat-
terns of Hitlerian perfidy.”8

You should inform comrade Pavlov [a
pseudonym for USSR Gen. Issa A. Pliyev,
commander of Soviet forces in Cuba] about
our advice to the Cuban friends.

Wire the report on the fulfillment of
these instructions.

A. GROMYKO

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-

tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by Vladimir Zaemsky.]

Telegram from Soviet Ambassador to
Cuba A.I. Alekseev to USSR Foreign

Ministry, 27 October 1962

27 October

We have met with Fidel Castro and
Dorticos, and have informed them of what
you communicated in your telegram.

Castro said that the Cuban leaders
would discuss the form and substance of his
statement on the issues broached by you, and
that this would be done in the briefest pos-
sible time.

The letter to U Thant, they said, has
already been sent, and for that reason the
issue you put forth would be explained in
Fidel Castro’s speech.

Castro and Dorticos declared that the
only difficult point would be finding an ap-
propriate form for the declaration of the pro-
hibition on special arms installation projects,
since the Americans are following the
progress of those projects with the help of
reconnaissance flights, and know a lot about
them.

They said that an appropriate form
would nonetheless be found, and that a likely
condition would be a prohibition on similiar
projects in Guantanamo base as well.

Referring to Comrade N.S. Khrush-
chev’s letter to Kennedy of 27 October,
Castro said that it had been composed with
great diplomatic skill, and that it would have
a huge influence on global public opinion.

Moreover it puts the USA government
in a difficult position, and exposes the ille-
gality of its actions.

Castro supposes that the USA will not
agree to the elimination of bases in Turkey,
which will make it easier to justify before
public opinion the presence of special weap-
onry in Cuba.

Castro said, however, that concise in-
formation supplied by the agency and the
evening newspaper on the basic content of
this letter brought about symptoms of a cer-
tain confusion in various sectors of the Cu-
ban population and among some members
of the military. A number of officers have
spoken to him about it, asking whether it
constitutes a rejection by the USSR of its

former obligations.
Castro believes that the publication

tomorrow of the full text of the letter will
disperse these doubts, and he will take the
first opportunity to explain its main content
in a way that is accessible to the public.

After receiving Comrade N.S. Khrush-
chev’s letter and your report, Castro began
to assess the situation more calmly and re-
alistically, believing that the opportunity had
arrived for a peaceful settlement of the Cu-
ban conflict. He nevertheless continues to
believe that the danger of sudden attack still
exists as before.

Castro told how a U-2 airplane had
been shot down from an altitude of 21 kilo-
meters, and that the Cuban military powers
had collected its fragments and the corpse
of its pilot.

Meanwhile it has been announced in
the newspapers that an invading plane of
unkown nationality has been shot down.
According to American press reports, USA
military forces have acknowledged the
plane’s downing, and have brought to a state
of readiness a formation of paratroopers
amounting to 14,000 men, which is alleg-
edly intended to be launched over Cuba.

Castro said that in the event of such an
attack, full fire would be turned against the
aggressor, and that he was sure of success.
During this conversation I informed Castro
and Dorticos in an appropriate way of the
content of your letter, telling him that in the
present circumstances it would not be fit-
ting to aggravate the situation and initiate
provocations.

Castro said that he understood the cru-
cial nature of these actions, but that, con-
sidering the rise in the army’s martial spirit
and the Americans’ warning, our friends
were compelled to take such a step.

27.X.62 ALEKSEEV

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Telegram from Soviet delegate to the
United Nations V. A. Zorin to USSR
Foreign Ministry, 27 October 1962
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27 October 1962

On 27 October I visited U Thant and
gave him Comrade N.S. Khrushchev’s let-
ter of 27 October, as well as a copy of the
message to Kennedy of the same date.

U Thant said that he would study the
documents attentively, and that he hoped
they would prove to be a constructive con-
tribution to the resolution of the problem.

U Thant then informed me that around
noon today Stevenson had visited him and
told him about N.S. Khrushchev’s message
to Kennedy of 26 October of this year.
Stevenson did not leave U Thant the text of
this message, saying that Kennedy had not
authorized him to do so.

It must however be noted that, as
Stevenson told U Thant, Kennedy is exam-
ining this message in a positive and benevo-
lent frame of mind. Stevenson also let a
mistake pass when giving an account of the
26 October message to U Thant, declaring
that this message allegedly says that the
Soviet Union is prepared to remove all its
missiles, missile launch pads, and warheads
from Cuba.

We indicated that the message made
no mention of such points, but we declined
to discuss the matter, pleading our lack of
authorization to do so.

U Thant asked us to convey to him, if
possible, the text of the above-mentioned
message of 26 October in order to take it
into account when he examines N.S.
Khrushchev’s message of 27 October.

Later we asked what U Thant had ac-
complished in the past 24 hours by way of
progress towards the provisional agreement,
for 2 to 3 weeks, based on the proposal ap-
proved by the Soviet Union (whereby the
USSR suspends arms stockpiling in Cuba,
and the USA suspends its blockade activi-
ties).

U Thant responded that he had not yet
discussed that matter with Stevenson again,
and was waiting for Cuba’s response to his
26 October message on the suspension of
missile-base construction. He again reiter-
ated that the USA was very concerned that
work there, including the assembly of bomb-
ers, is proceeding day and night. “After re-
ceiving the Cuban response,” U Thant said,
“I intend to put before Cuba the possibility
of creating some monitoring device (in ports
of call) for ascertaining that ships arriving
in Cuba are not carrying arms.”

We again asserted our negative view
of the USA demands that go beyond the
bounds of U Thant’s proposal, and we in-
sisted that he exert the necessary pressure
on the Americans to make them adopt his
plan. In all respects it was clear that in the
last 24 hours U Thant under American pres-
sure had not taken the necessary measures
in that direction, and that he intended to win
consent, if only from the Cubans, for estab-
lishing a procedure that to some degree at
least could be considered to guarantee that
ships arriving in the next 2 to 3 weeks in
Cuba are not carrying arms. We expressed
our dissatisfaction with that course of af-
fairs, and stressed the importance of imme-
diately winning approval for this procedure
in order to avert the threat of armed encoun-
ter, after which any further negotiations
would be rendered impossible.

U Thant said that he shared our con-
cern, and would take action.

U Thant tried (honoring Stevenson’s
request) to give us the USA legation’s letter
to the Soviet government, which contained
a description of the blockade area around
Cuba, on the pretext that N.S. Khrushchev’s
response to U Thant’s second message al-
legedly contains an agreement to avoid
clashes between Soviet vessels and the
American naval ships carrying out the
blockade, and because they claim that it is
important to know which areas are forbid-
den. We refused to accept this letter on the
grounds that, as is well known, the Soviet
government considers the blockade illegal
(in this we were bearing in mind the fact
that in Moscow similar notes from the USA
were also returned). U Thant said that he
would give the indicated letter back to
Stevenson.

(The letter indicated that the blockade
area includes: the region with its center in
Havana and with a radius of 500 nautical
miles, and the region with its center in Cape
Maisi on the eastern extremity of Cuba and
with a radius of 500 nautical miles as well.)

U Thant gave us the letter in which he
expresses his sincere thanks to N.S.
Khrushchev for his very constructive 26
October response to U Thant’s message of
25 October of this year.

It should be noted that the UN del-
egates from the neutral countries, like the
United Arab Republic and Ghana, have be-
gun to calm down a bit in recent days, since
Soviet efforts were able to avert dangerous

clashes in the very first days after the Ameri-
can provocation. Now they have started to
say that the settlement of the conflict is
mainly a concern for the USSR and the
USA, that smaller countries cannot advise
great powers on what they should do, and
so on.

We will continue to exert pressure on
U Thant and the UN delegates from the neu-
tral countries (in particular, we had a con-
versation today to this effect with the del-
egate from the United Arab Republic in the
Security Council) with the aim of persuad-
ing them to support the Soviet proposals,
and of exerting pressure on the USA and its
allies.

It would be expedient to give U Thant
the text of Comrade N.S. Khrushchev’s
message to Kennedy of 26 October, since
Stevenson has already informed him about
it, albeit in his own interpretation.

We request your consent.

27.X.62 V. ZORIN

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Telegram from USSR Foreign Ministry
to Soviet diplomats in Washington,

Havana, and New York,
28 October 1962

SOVIET EMBASSY WASHINGTON
SOVIET EMBASSY HAVANA
Copy: New York
To Comrades Kuznetsov, Zorin

On 27 October of this year, the USA
consul in Moscow sent a letter to the Minis-
try of Foreign Affairs telling of the proce-
dure introduced by the USA government
with regard to the so-called quarantine, a
procedure that will be carried out abroad by
USA consulate officials, and within the
United States by customs personnel.

In accordance with this procedure, for-
eign ships bound for Cuba or in transit in-
side the interception area are required to
present to the USA customs official a “Tran-
sit Notification” or a “Certificate of the
Completion of Customs Formalities.”
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Samples of the above-mentioned docu-
ments were appended to the letter.

On 28 October of this year, the USA
embassy forwarded to the Ministry of For-
eign Affairs the text of the letter that
Stevenson gave U Thant concerning the in-
terception areas for vessels.

Both documents have been returned to
the American embassy.

This is conveyed for purposes of intel-
ligence and familiarization.

(illegibly signed)

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Telegram from Soviet delegate to the
United Nations Zorin to USSR Foreign
Ministry, 28 October 1962, on meeting
with Cuban delegate to the UN Garcia-

Inchaustegui on  27 October 1962

28 October 1962

1. The UN delegate from Cuba, Garcia-
Inchaustegui, has conveyed the following
information about his meeting with U Thant
on 27 October.

U Thant expressed gratitude for the
invitation to visit Cuba that had been ex-
tended to him; he valued it as a highly im-
portant step, and on 28 October promised
to give a definitive answer.

My visit to Cuba, the presence of UN
representatives there, declared U Thant,
would help avert American aggression
against Cuba, since the USA could not carry
out an attack while he was there.

U Thant said that in the event that he
decides to go, he would intend to take sev-
eral aides and experts along with him.

U Thant also asked whether the gov-
ernment of Cuba (in the event of his group’s
journey to Havana) could, on its own initia-
tive, and not because they were official ob-
servers, invite U Thant to see first hand
whether the construction of missile launch
pads and the assembly of bombers had been
suspended.

Before this, U Thant had told Garcia-
Inchaustegui that Stevenson today had put

a request before U Thant to organize the visit
so that UN representatives could conduct an
on-site inspection on the cessation of the
construction projects mentioned above.

In doing so, said U Thant, Stevenson
emphasized in various ways that if these
projects had not been stopped, then the USA
would take new actions. In response to
Garcia-Inchaustegui’s question as to what
this would mean concretely, Stevenson re-
ferred, said U Thant, to the strengthening
of the blockade and to a USA demand for
the convocation of the Security Council.

According to U Thant, Stevenson also
said that Kennedy is examining with great
earnestness and urgency the idea put forward
by Dorticos in his 8 October speech before
the General Assembly as the basis for a
settlement.

U Thant then put before the Cubans the
matter of the establishing of some proce-
dure that would help ascertain that vessels
arriving in Cuba in the next 2 to 3 weeks
are not supplying arms.

With regard to the issue of Comrade
N.S. Khrushchev’s message of 27 October,
U Thant declared that the formulation con-
tained in it appears to him a positive one.

2. Garcia-Inchaustegui informed us
that at 20:30 Eastern Standard Time he heard
a Cuban radio broadcast from Havana about
the downing by Cuban coastal batteries of
an American plane that had invaded Cuban
air space.

  28.X.62 V. ZORIN

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Cable from Soviet Foreign Minister
Gromyko to USSR Ambassador to
Cuba Alekseev, 28 October 1962

28 October 1962

You should meet comrade Fidel Castro
and tell him the following:

“In Moscow they have received infor-
mation from comrade Zorin regarding U
Thant’s proposal to the Cuban representa-
tive at the UN about the possibility of his

trip to Cuba and granting him [and] accom-
panying aides and experts an opportunity to
see themselves that work on creating launch-
ers, characterized by Americans as offen-
sive weapons, had stopped.

Moscow adheres to the opinion that U
Thant should be given a positive answer to
his appeal.  If the Cuban friends share this
view we shall inform comrade Pavlov
[Pliyev] and give him corresponding instruc-
tions about access to launchers for U Thant
and accompanying persons.

As is generally known, U Thant made
a proposal so that representatives of the In-
ternational Red Cross (IRC) were allowed
to visit Soviet ships going to Cuba in order
to ascertain that there are no weapons, seen
by the American administration as offensive.
We sent instructions to our representatives
to the UN in order to give consent to that
suggestion, bearing in mind that transpor-
tation of the IRC to the Soviet ships will
also be done on Soviet vessels or ships of
neutral countries.

We would like to inform you that ships
going to Cuba right now do not carry any
weapons.”

Telegraph the report on the fulfillment
of these instructions.

A. GROMYKO

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by Vladimir Zaemsky.]

III. THE AFTERMATH:
28 OCTOBER-10 DECEMBER 1962

Cable from USSR Ambassador to Cuba
Alekseev to Soviet Ministry of Foreign

Affairs, 28 October 1962

28 October 1962

Due to F. Castro’s absence from Ha-
vana and according to his instructions, I gave
both letters to President Dorticos.9  In my
presence Dorticos called Castro and in-
formed him in a prearranged form that the
letters had been received.  Castro promised
to meet me on his return.

Upon several statements and Dorticos’
reaction to N.S. Khrushchev’s letter to F.
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Castro and to the latest message to Kennedy
about the dismantling of special weaponry
it became clear that confusion and bewil-
derment are reigning inside the Cuban lead-
ership.

Dorticos said that, unfortunately, Cu-
ban and Latin American peoples would per-
ceive the decision to dismantle the special
weaponry, relying only upon Kennedy’s as-
surances, as a defeat for the Soviet govern-
ment.

He said that whatever assertions
Kennedy made, the Cuban government
could not weaken its vigilance.

We understand, declared Dorticos, that
this decision of the Soviet government is
directed to the preserving of peace and in
the end it will be advantageous for the whole
socialist camp, including Cuba, but under
the present conditions of great patriotic en-
thusiasm of our people this report would be
perceived by infinitely electrified masses as
a cold shower.

He said that for the Cuban leaders the
most important thing right now is to pre-
serve the Soviet Union’s prestige, which had
been raised so high in Cuba.

According to him, the counterrevolu-
tion will immediately seize this opportunity
and direct all its work to revive distrust to-
ward the Soviet Union.

Here, said Dorticos, we must rise to the
occasion in order to explain correctly to our
people the meaning of the adopted decisions.

He declared that under the created cir-
cumstances the Cubans were obliged to pub-
lish a statement, differing in tone from N.S.
Khrushchev’s letter, and there was suggested
a preliminary acceptance by the Americans
of the five [Cuban] conditions, including
evacuation of the Guantanamo base. (trans-
mitted to TASS)

Besides, Dorticos explained, we found
ourselves in a difficult situation insofar as
we had officially declared that we would not
allow any UN observers on our territory.

Until a certain time we will have to
stick to this “maximum program” and seek
ways of achieving an honorable agreement
which could be reached only if we receive
from the USA absolute guarantees of our
security.

According to Dorticos, no Kennedy
statements could be trusted inasmuch as
even now the piratical flights over Cuban
territory were occurring and this was done
not without Kennedy’s knowledge.

Dorticos considers that the Americans,
probably, will not stop at our consent to dis-
mantle bases of special weapons and will
demand additional concessions, in particu-
lar, the withdrawal of all the [Soviet] mili-
tary units.

He also showed concern about possible
solution of the question of the remaining in
Cuba of our military specialists and the de-
fensive weapons at their disposal, attached
for the defense of military objectives.

Dorticos didn’t say it openly, but per-
mitted me to understand that the Cubans
were not happy with our decision [to remove
the missiles under UN inspection] under-
taken without previously consulting them.

I told them that the small delay [in pro-
viding] the letter [from Khrushchev to
Kennedy] was due to merely technical rea-
sons (enciphering, transmission, translation)
and made the assumption that insofar as the
Cuban comrades had several times informed
Moscow about the inevitability of [U.S.]
intervention and bombings, probably, some
quick and operational actions were needed,
so there was no time for coordinations.
Dorticos agreed.

After my visit to Dorticos, Carlos
Rafael Rodriguez came to see me (he was
informed by Dorticos about the content of
the letter from N.S. Khrushchev to Fidel
Castro) and presented a dismal picture of
incomprehension among the Cuban people
and several leaders of our decision to dis-
mantle the special installations.

He said that a lot of people think that
all our specialists and their weapons would
be withdrawn and they were taking it hard.

According to C.R. Rodriguez, F. Castro
has also reacted very painfully regarding this
decision—and not the content of the deci-
sion itself because he considered it to be
advantageous for mankind and the Cuban
people—but the procedure of its adoption—
without a previous consultation.

Particularly, he said, Dorticos had a
presentiment that Castro’s dissatisfaction
would be caused by the phrase that the text
of the response to Kennedy was being trans-
mitted by radio.

C.R. Rodriguez explained that F.
Castro was defending our decision in con-
versations with the Cuban leaders, trying to
convince them that its results would be seen
later, but he had not yet found intelligible
arguments for an electrified people.  But the
most important [thing] is that he skeptically

regards Kennedy’s assurances and is con-
vinced that the Americans will go further
and put forward new demands.

In my conversations with Dorticos and
Rodriguez I said that, in my view, the deci-
sion on dismantling those installations did
not interfere with Cuban defensive interests.
It will not only save universal peace and
ensure its strengthening, but this decision
of the Soviet Government will eliminate the
threat of invasion to Cuba and make it more
difficult in the future.

Regarding the issue of the incompre-
hension of this decision by the politically
literate groups of the population, I said that
this phenomenon had to be very short and
the people itself would understand the wis-
dom of the decision and thus raise its politi-
cal maturity.  We are confident that Dorticos,
Rodriguez, F. Castro and the majority of the
[Cuban] leaders will understand correctly
our decision and we will find a common lan-
guage with them.  Indeed, there are diffi-
culties to explain it to the people, insofar as
it has been excited beyond limits by anti-
American propaganda, but we consider that
there will not be serious consequences and
the nearest future will prove the correctness
of our decision.

28/X/62 A. ALEKSEEV

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by Vladimir Zaemsky.]

Memorandum of Conversation between
Soviet Foreign Ministry A.A. Gromyko
and Cuban Ambassador to the USSR

Carlos Olivares Sanchez,
29 October 1962

29 October 1962

At the request of Olivares Sanchez [I]
received him at 16.00. [4 p.m.]

The Ambassador asked [me] to inform
him about our assessment of the interna-
tional situation created as a result of the na-
val blockade around Cuba, announced by
the USA administration.

[I] Responded to him that we, the So-
viet Government, consider to be a good one
the outcome of the recent events in the Car-
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ibbean.  As a result of the efforts undertaken
by the Soviet and Cuban sides there have
been received guarantees on the part of the
USA administration of non-aggression
against the Republic of Cuba, which will be
officially formalized after the end of nego-
tiations with the participation of Mr. U
Thant, Acting UN Secretary General.  In our
opinion the result is also a further strength-
ening of the international position of the
Republic of Cuba.  Nowadays the Cuban
people is seen even more than before as a
heroic people who has convincingly dem-
onstrated to the whole world its resolute-
ness to defend—arms in hand—the liberty
and independence of its motherland.

Olivares asked about our opinion re-
garding the statement made by Fidel Castro
on October 28 of the current year.

[I] Responded to him that this state-
ment has received the full comprehension
and support of the Soviet Government.

Speaking of time limits for the with-
drawal from Cuba of the “Soviet weapons
for strategic defense” the Ambassador asked
to be informed if those armaments would
be returned to the Soviet Union before the
Americans fulfill the Cuban government’s
demand for liquidation of the USA navy
base in Guantanamo.

[I] Responded to him that, in our opin-
ion, the solution of the question of the liq-
uidation of the Guantanamo base, appar-
ently, will require a long time and therefore
the presence of certain types of Soviet ar-
maments in Cuba during that period will
hardly contribute to solving it positively.

Olivares asked if this meant that the
Soviet armaments would be withdrawn from
Cuba before the USA administration satis-
fies other demands listed by Fidel Castro in
his statement: to end the economic block-
ade, subversive activity, piratical actions,
and incursions of whatever kind into the air
space or territorial waters of Cuba.

[I] Responded to him that when we are
speaking about the return of Soviet arma-
ments from Cuba to the USSR we mean only
a certain kind of armaments, but not arma-
ments in general.  Regarding the fulfillment
of the above-listed demands of the Cuban
government, we see it as a process that re-
quires a certain time to satisfy all the de-
mands mentioned in the cited statement by
Fidel Castro.

Having made a reference to a note re-
ceived from the Embassy of Sudan and other

available data, Olivares informed [me] that
a series of neutral countries accuse Cuba of
violating the Belgrade Declaration, explain-
ing their conclusions by the accepted fact
of the presence of a “Soviet military base”
in Cuba.

[I] Told Olivares that such assumptions
do not have the slightest grounds.  Each
country can use the right not only for indi-
vidual, but also a collective defense against
aggression.  It is clear that being the object
of continuous aggressive provocations on
the part of the USA and even having already
been a victim of invasion, Cuba cannot be-
come like a frog voluntarily jumping into
the boa’s jaws.  Measures undertaken by the
Cuban government to strengthen its national
defenses are in full accordance with inter-
national law and do not contradict a single
commonly accepted international norm.

At the conclusion of the conversation
Olivares expressed his desire to broaden
contacts between officials of the MFA [Min-
istry of Foreign Affairs] of the USSR and
those of the Cuban embassy in such circum-
stances.  He spoke about his interest to re-
ceive from the MFA a more complete infor-
mation [report] about the most important
decisions adopted in Moscow and referring
to Soviet-Cuban relations, for his own ori-
entation and in order to have the possibility
to inform his government personally.

[I] Responded to him that I do under-
stand such an interest, adding that the
Ambassador’s desire would certainly be
taken into account.  [I] Explained that dur-
ing the recent events we were obliged, in
order to save time, to use communication
lines of our Embassy in Havana, which en-
sure an uninterrupted, secure, and quick
transmission of reports to Cuba.  The Am-
bassador said that he entirely understands
this and agrees with this.  He gave me to
understand that from the point of view of
reliability (code) the communication
through our Embassy in Havana is a more
suitable method than through the Cuban
embassy in Moscow.

In parting Olivares expressed deep
gratitude to the peoples of the Soviet Union
and the Soviet Government for continuous
support of the Cuban people’s struggle for
the independence of their motherland.

[I] Thanked Olivares for these senti-
ments.

At the conversation were present: A.
Gonzales, Ambassador’s translator, and V.

Chernyshov, Second Secretary of the
Latinamerican Department.

A. GROMYKO

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by Vladimir Zaemsky.]

Record of Conversation between Soviet
Deputy Foreign Minister Kuznetsov

and U.N. Secretary-General U Thant,
29 October 1962

From the diary of V. V. Kuznetsov

RECORD OF THE CONVERSATION
 WITH ACTING U.N. SECRETARY

GENERAL U THANT
on 29 October 1962

The meeting took place in the UN Sec-
retariat. Present were: on the Soviet side,
V.A. Zorin, P.D. Morozov, L.I. Men-
delevich, and V.N. Zherebtsov; from the UN
Secretariat, U Thant, E.D. Kiselev, O.
Loutfi, Narasimhan, and General Rikhye.

At the beginning of the conversation,
V.V. Kuznetsov conveyed to U Thant the
heartfelt greetings of Comrade N.S.
Khrushchev, and the latter’s great apprecia-
tion for U Thant’s efforts in a noble en-
deavor, the attainment of a speedy settle-
ment of the Cuban crisis.

He said that the government of the
USSR had ordered him to arrive in New
York to aid U Thant in his efforts to elimi-
nate the dangerous situation that has arisen.
Although the USSR’s position with regard
to the crisis in the Caribbean area seems to
be quite familiar to U Thant, V.V. Kuznetsov
would nevertheless like to make use of this
first meeting with U Thant first and fore-
most emphasize to certain basic features of
the Soviet Union’s position, and the steps
taken by the USSR government to assure
the fastest possible settlement of the crisis
through peaceful means, with the goal of
affirming peace and security, and taking into
account the interests of all parties.

V. V. Kuznetsov reminded U Thant that
the government of the Soviet Union has in-
troduced a series of constructive proposals
that received general recognition, and that
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provide a good and fair foundation for re-
solving the whole problem. The Soviet gov-
ernment, bearing in mind U Thant’s recom-
mendation, has undertaken to suspend tem-
porarily the traffic of its ships bound for
Cuba, and to keep them away for a short
period of time from the region declared by
the United States as being under quarantine.

The government of the USSR has also
declared that on board these ships there are
not, and will not be, any arms that President
Kennedy and the USA government see as
“offensive.”

Later the government of the USSR
agreed to dismantle and send back to the
Soviet Union the launchers now in Cuba that
are seen by the United States as “offensive.”

In brief, said V.V. Kuznetsov, the gov-
ernment of the USSR has undertaken to ap-
prove and accept U Thant’s proposal;  at the
same time it has declared and still declares
that for its part it will take any and all mea-
sures to prevent an exacerbation of the situa-
tion, which could lead to a worsening of the
conflict and an unleashing of thermonuclear
war. In its actions the government of the
USSR is bearing in mind the sincere desire
of nations to safeguard peace and calm
throughout the globe.

The Soviet government has stressed
and continues to stress that the actions of
the United States, manifested by the impo-
sition of the blockade, as well as the whole
USA policy towards Cuba, are aggressive,
and aimed at an exacerbation of the situa-
tion rather than a normalization of it. There
is no need at present to provide a detailed
description of American actions during the
past week. That has lucidly been done by
the Soviet government’s statement, as well
as by N.S. Khrushchev’s messages to the
USA President Kennedy and to U Thant.

If it were to asess the situation as it
exists today, V.V. Kuznetsov continued, the
Soviet government would note with satis-
faction, as has already been noted in N.S.
Khrushchev’s message, that the USA at the
present moment has taken a position which
makes it possible to settle the whole Cuban
problem on the basis of the Soviet propos-
als. All this has been the result of the efforts
made by the Soviet government, as well as
by the United Nations Organization and by
U Thant himself. The Soviet Union ac-
knowledges the great efforts that were dis-
played by U Thant.

President Kennedy’s latest response to

N.S. Khrushchev’s message testifies to the
fact that the American government believes
it possible to reach an agreement on the ba-
sis of the USSR’s proposals. This we con-
sider to be a positive factor. With regard to
this it seems to us that the moment has ar-
rived for making a transition from general
statements to concrete matters. The govern-
ment of the USSR is ready to do so.

U Thant has expressed his hope that
the exchange of opinions will be fruitful and
positive, and that it will help eliminate the
threat now present in the Caribbean region.
He has also expressed his thanks to N.S.
Khrushchev for his greetings and his appre-
ciation of his (U Thant’s) efforts to main-
tain peace. U Thant has asked V.V.
Kuznetsov to convey his sincere gratitude
for all the understanding and cooperation he
has received.

After this U Thant said that he recog-
nizes the danger of the existing situation.
That danger intensified late Saturday night
and early Sunday morning. At that time there
were indications that the point of no return
had arrived. U Thant did not sleep that night,
conducting endless consultations with
Narasimhan and Rikhye. Fortunately noth-
ing tragic occurred.

Khrushchev’s response yesterday to
Kennedy’s message represents a very great
commitment to the peaceful resolution of
the Cuban crisis. U Thant emphasized that
this was not just his personal opinion, but
also the opinion of all his colleagues and
the overwhelming majority of the perma-
nent UN delegates with whom he has met.
For this fruitful and positive gesture, said U
Thant, the whole world expressed its grati-
tude to N.S. Khrushchev and to the govern-
ment of the Soviet Union.

U Thant said that he too was concerned
about the continuing blockade of Cuba on
the part of the United States. He recalled
his own proposals for a voluntary suspen-
sion by the Soviet Union of arms stockpil-
ing in Cuba for a short period of time in re-
turn for the United States’ voluntary suspen-
sion of the blockade. After three-day talks
on this issue with the Soviet delegate to the
UN, V.A. Zorin, and the USA delegate to
the UN Stevenson, U Thant put all his ef-
forts, he said, into finding the fastest reso-
lution of this issue.

At the present time, U Thant said, af-
ter his trip to Cuba had been decided, and
after the conversation taking place between

V.A. Zorin and U Thant on 28 October, he
again addressed a request to the United
States to suspend its blockade. In doing so
he emphasized that the Soviet Union had
undertaken to give orders to its ships to tem-
porarily suspend traffic to Cuba, which sig-
nals the acceptance by the Soviet Union of
the preliminary settlement proposed by U
Thant. U Thant said that he had also declared
to the Americans that a continuation of the
blockade is especially undesirable during his
visit to Cuba. U Thant has still not received
a response from the Americans, but hopes
to have one in the near future, possibly even
today.

V.V. Kuznetsov thanked U Thant for
the warm words addressed to the USSR
government and personally to N.S.
Khrushchev, and said that he would imme-
diately convey them to their destination.

V.V. Kuznetsov agreed that the time has
come for turning to concrete problems and
ranking them on the basis of their urgency
and importance. He was happy to note that,
in his outlines as in U Thant’s plans, the
quarantine issue occupies first place. This
suggests that our thoughts and desires are
heading in the same direction.

In connection with this, V.V. Kuznetsov
recalled that the Soviet government, as N.S.
Khrushchev informed U Thant on 25 Octo-
ber, had accepted the first proposal of U
Thant, which stipulated in particular a vol-
untary suspension of all arms transfers to
Cuba for a period of two to three weeks,
and the simultaneous temporary cessation
of the quarantine activity on the part of the
United States.

The most recent declarations of the
USSR government have created even more
favorable conditions for carrying out the
proposal to end the quarantine. Neverthe-
less the quarantine activity still continues.
However, as U Thant knows, ship captains
have received instructions to remain on the
open sea, outside the boundaries of the quar-
antine activity, for a certain period of time.
Such a situation cannot continue for long,
since it is depriving Cuba of peaceful goods
that are necessary to it, it is creating diffi-
culties for the fueling of the ships remain-
ing on the open sea, and it is incurring losses
because of their enforced inactivity. With
regard to this, we welcomed U Thant’s
thoughts on the necessity of resolving this
whole issue in the next one or two days. But
the imposed quarantine has already been
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going on for more than five days, and now
there are no longer any reasons for not sus-
pending the quarantine activity.

The declaration of the quarantine by
the United States is illegal, and is recognized
as such by the whole world. Nevertheless,
proceeding from the situation at hand and
guided by the interests of peace, the gov-
ernment of the USSR at the present moment
is set on the issue of suspending the practi-
cal operations of the quarantine. It is quite
natural that we would like these operations
to cease immediately. In any case we have
every right to expect a response from the
United States in the very near future, per-
haps even before U Thant’s departure for
Cuba.

U Thant again repeated that the day
before he had addressed this question to the
Americans, and was awaiting an answer
from them that day.

V.V. Kuznetsov asked U Thant what the
basic difficulties were in settling this issue.

U Thant answered that the Americans
are fully aware of the instructions given to
Soviet ships to remain for a short period of
time outside the boundaries of the quaran-
tine activity. They are also aware that these
instructions have a definite time limit. Be-
fore this they have been trying to avoid di-
rect contact between Soviet and American
vessels. However, the Americans are afraid
that if they allow Soviet ships to approach
Cuba, those ships may be carrying arms. For
this reason they are insisting that some
mechanism be created for ascertaining
whether or not such ships are conveying
weaponry.

After his talks with V.A. Zorin, U Thant
met with the UN delegate from Cuba,
Garcia-Inchaustegui, to whom he declared
that, since the USSR is not agreeing to the
creation of some verification mechanism for
ships on the open sea, he, U Thant, proposes
to the government of Cuba to examine the
possibility of creating such a mechanism in
ports of call. In doing so he informed the
Cuban delegate of the Soviet views on this
matter.

V.V. Kuznetsov thanked U Thant for
the information, and said that he understood
the latter’s position.

He went on to say that the government
of the USSR has examined in a spirit of co-
operation the ideas expressed by U Thant
on the fastest suspension of the quarantine.
U Thant proposed three possible ways in

which the issue could be resolved:
1) the monitoring of Soviet vessels by

American ships;
2) checks on the vessels by certain neu-

tral countries;
3) sharing these functions with the In-

ternational Red Cross.
The government of the USSR has ex-

amined the issue and has asked to commu-
nicate that, if U Thant is not successful in
reaching an agreement with the Americans
on the temporary suspension of the block-
ade with the observation of our vessels
bound for Cuba, then the Soviet government
is prepared to allow, as a temporary mea-
sure, the boarding of Soviet vessels bound
for Cuba by representatives of the Red Cross
for ascertaining that those ships contain no
sorts of weapons that concern the President
and government of the USA, who refer to
them as “offensive weapons.”

V.V. Kuznetsov emphasized that the
USSR government, in taking this step, is
acting on a sincere desire to resolve this
problem in the interests of peace, taking into
full account the position of the Republic of
Cuba.

U Thant expressed his thanks to the
government of the Soviet Union for this
important decision, made with the purpose
of reducing tension and contributing to set-
tling the Cuban problem through peaceful
means. He promised to convey immediately
the content of this Soviet proposal to the
United States.

V.V. Kuznetsov noted that, in accept-
ing one of U Thant’s ideas, the Soviet gov-
ernment had not yet worked out the details
of the monitoring system, but is raising the
pssibility that Red Cross representatives
could be conveyed onto the Soviet vessels
either by Soviet ships, or by the ships of
neutral countries. As far as possible cargo
checks in the ports of call are concerned,
this issue if for the Cuban government to
decide, since that is its own territory, and
the Soviet government itself cannot make
any decision on this matter without Cuban
consent.

U Thant thanked V.V. Kuznetsov for
his explanation, and said that he would im-
mediately pass this information on to the
government of Cuba.

U Thant noted that in the event that the
Red Cross takes on the execution of these
functions, he himself would determine, ac-
cording to existing practices and rules of

procedure, the national composition of the
inspectors. He asked V. V. Kuznetsov to give
his opinion on this matter.

V. V. Kuznetsov said again that we had
not yet given thought to the details, but that
we would prefer that the groups of Red
Cross inspectors be made up of citizens of
neutral countries. If U Thant has any
thoughts, then they could be discussed, and
the Soviet government’s views on them
could be sought.

 U Thant said that, as practice shows,
in all cases in which the aid of the Red Cross
was requested, the national make-up of its
representatives was 95% Swiss.

V. V. Kuznetsov asked U Thant that on
future considerations of this matter he take
into account our views, as well as the fact
that Switzerland is not a memeber of the UN.

Then he asked U Thant to describe the
goal of his trip to Cuba, and any thoughts
he has in connection with this trip.

U Thant said that the problem most
immediately faced by the Security Council
involves three governments:  those of the
Soviet Union, the USA, and Cuba. For the
USA the most urgent problem is the lifting
of the quarantine. For the USSR, it is the
matter of arms provisioning, the dismantling
of missile launchers, and the shipping of
them back to the Soviet Union. The Soviet
Union has already given its consent to all
this, and has even agreed to the 2 to 3 week
arms provisioning point. The United States
has not fully agreed to U Thant’s proposal.
The quarantine continues even now, and the
United States is demanding the creation of
a mechanism for ascertaining that arms pro-
visioning is not continuing.

The Soviet Union’s decision on the
possible use of Red Cross services will in
many ways contribute to the settling of this
problem.

One of the goals that U Thant is set-
ting for himself on his trip to Cuba is get an
idea of what is being done or has already
been done with regard to the removal of
missile launchers from Cuba. He intends to
give a report on this to the Security Coun-
cil.

U Thant intends moreover to discuss
with Castro measures for the safeguarding
of the security of Cuba, as well as for the
elimination of threats from the USA and
certain other countries of Latin America. U
Thant emphasized that precise and definite
guarantees were equally important both for
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the United States and other Latin American
countries, and for Cuba. For this reason, U
Thant intends to propose that United Na-
tions observers be placed not only on Cu-
ban territory, but also on the territory of the
United States and several Latin American
countries neighboring Cuba.

V. V. Kuznetsov said that we now have
a clearer idea of the task that U Thant is set-
ting for himself during his trip to Cuba. In
connection with this he expressed some of
the Soviet views on this matter. First and
foremost, Kuznetsov stressed, as is already
known from N. S. Khrushchev’s messages,
the missile installations in Cuba are in the
hands of Soviet specialists. The Soviet gov-
ernment has stated that it is dismantling and
removing these launchers from Cuba.

It is evident from the message sent by
N. S. Khrushchev to Kennedy on 27 Octo-
ber and from the later message with which
the American government generally agreed,
that the Soviet government has agreed to the
imposition of on-site checks after the above-
mentioned dismantlings, of course with the
consent of the government of the Republic
of Cuba.

 V. V. Kuznetsov asked whether the
Americans are not moving away from the
position laid out in Kennedy’s message.

V. V. Kuznetsov expressed his agree-
ment with the Soviet Union’s granting of
guarantees on arms provisioning and the
dismantling of missile installations, and so
too the United States should make guaran-
tees to the effect that it will not infringe upon
the security and sovereignty of Cuba either
with its own armed forces, or through sup-
port for other countries, and that it will not
permit or aid the activity on its own terri-
tory of subversive sabotage groups. These
pledges must be firm.

We have made note of Kennedy’s state-
ment that the USA will guarantee that no
aggression against Cuba will take place.
However, on one hand Kennedy declares
that the Soviet Union’s statements are reas-
suring, while on the other hand the USA is
making new demands that place the two
parties in unfairly different positions.

V. V. Kuznetsov concluded that his idea
comes down to the point that the statements
existing at the present time are sufficient to
lift the quarantine without having to take any
measures related to the speedy establishment
of checks on the dismantling of missile sites
in Cuba.

With regard to this he recalled N. S.
Khrushchev’s message to Kennedy of 28
October, which said that the Soviet Union
was prepared to reach an agreement with
the United States on the possibility of UN
representatives monitoring this dismantling
process. In doing so, Khrushchev referred
to his earlier message of 27 October, which
said that agents of the UN Security Council
could conduct on-site inspections on the ful-
fillment of the obligations that have been
taken on. Of course it will be necessary to
receive the permission of the government
of the Republic of Cuba to allow these au-
thorized officials to enter the country.

U Thant declared that he now under-
stands better the problem connected with
establishing on-site inspections on the dis-
mantling and removal of the missile launch-
ers from Cuba. Now, after N. S.
Khrushchev’s messages of 27 and 28 Octo-
ber, and the explanations offered by V. V.
Kuznetsov, he has a clear idea of the Soviet
government’s position.

During his stay in Cuba he, U Thant,
intends to raise the issue of the dismantling
and removal of missile materials from Cuba
in his talks with Prime Minister Fidel Castro,
and it is possible that the latter will have
something to say on this matter.

Returning to the question of guaran-
tees, U Thant said that such guarantees
should be bilateral. On his own initiative he
decided to raise the issue of the presence of
UN representatives in all the countries of
this region. If the government of Cuba
agrees to some UN presence, said U Thant,
then he intends to propose to the Organiza-
tion of American States and the United
States to admit UN representatives onto the
territory of the USA and the Latin Ameri-
can countries, in the interests of removing
the threat to peace in this area. In its general
outlines, U Thant has informed the Ameri-
cans of this idea.

V. V. Kuznetsov declared that the So-
viet Union has formulated its duties clearly
and concisely, and that there should be no
doubt in anyone’s mind about the fulfillment
of these duties. As far as the USA guaran-
tees to Cuba are concerned, they have al-
ready been generally laid out in outline form.
With regard to this, V. V. Kuznetsov has di-
rected U Thant’s attention to the passage
from N. S. Khrushchev’s message of 27
October which refers to what the USA
should do about making guarantees to Cuba,

and especially: the USA government will
declare in the Security Council that the USA
will respect the inviolability of Cuba’s bor-
ders, its sovereignty, and that it pledges not
to interfere in its domestic affairs, not to
invade it or let its territory serve as a base
for any invasion of Cuba, and that it will
also restrain those who wish to take aggres-
sive action against Cuba either from within
USA territory, or from the territory of the
countries that neighbor Cuba.

V. V. Kuznetsov remarked that, as can
be inferred from the Soviet Union’s propos-
als, the duties of all parties should be for-
mulated and represented in the form of joint
or individual declarations to the Security
Council that express their positions. In this
way such obligations will have a more defi-
nite character. This can be inferred as well
from the proposals of U Thant himself.

According to the Soviet Union, in ex-
amining the issue of guarantees it is neces-
sary to take into consideration the views that
have been expressed on this matter by Prime
Minister Castro of Cuba.

V. V. Kuznetsov again asked about the
desirability of receiving an answer regard-
ing the temporary suspension of the quar-
antine before U Thant’s departure for Cuba.
In doing so he emphasized that the Soviet
Union for its part has made many concilia-
tory gestures, and that now it is necessary
to persuade the other side to make similar
ones.

U Thant said that he would immedi-
ately communicate information about the
Soviet Union’s favorable reaction to his pro-
posal about possibly making use of the ser-
vices of the Red Cross, and with regard to
this he wanted to clarify certain details. First,
in the event that the Red Cross agrees, the
personnel of the inspection groups can be
appointed only by that organization. The UN
cannot make recommendations to it on that
matter. Second, as U Thant understands it,
vessels carrying the inspection groups will
be supplied by the Soviet Union or neutral
countries. Third, the Americans in their talks
with U Thant have asked about the vessels
chartered by the Soviet Union for carrying
its own cargo.

V. V. Kuznetsov said that he was au-
thorized, naturally, to speak only about So-
viet vessels.

V. A. Zorin added that the Americans
can be sure that Lebanese or Swedish ves-
sels, say, are not carrying arms, as these
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governments have officially declared.
V. V. Kuznetsov noted that if the USA

wanted an agreement, they would have
quickly resolved this matter. If they have no
such desire, they can find a million pretexts
and ask a million questions. V. A. Zorin said
that such an agreement could indeed be
reached today, since the positions of all the
interested parties have in general been
clearly presented.

At the conclusion of the meeting it was
agreed that during U Thant’s stay in Cuba,
contact with him would be sustained through
Narasimhan.

The conversation was recorded by V.
Zherebtsov.

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Telegram from Soviet Deputy Foreign
Minister Kuznetsov to USSR Foreign

Ministry, 29 October 1962

29 October 1962

On 29 October we met with U Thant.
We conveyed greetings to U Thant

from Comrade N.S. Khrushchev, as well as
the latter’s wishes for U Thant’s success in
averting a war, strengthening the peace, and
safeguarding the seccurity of all nations. U
Thant was told that I had been entrusted by
the Soviet government to aid him, U Thant,
in his efforts to eliminate the current dan-
gerous situation. We then laid out the basic
points of the USSR’s position in the Cuban
affair, as they were defined in Comrade N.S.
Khrushchev’s messages to Kennedy of 26,
27, and 28 October 1962. We noted that the
USA had declared the Soviet proposals to
be generally practicable, which allows the
Cuban problem to be resolved on the basis
of those Soviet proposals. We emphasized
that in view of this, the moment had arrived
for moving away from general statements
about the positions of the parties, and to-
wards an agreement on concrete steps to be
taken. We declared that the Soviet govern-
ment is ready to take on this practical work.

U Thant asked us to convey to Com-
rade N.S. Khrushchev his sincere gratitude

and best wishes. He remarked that the situ-
ation had been extraordinarily serious, es-
pecially towards the end of 27 October, al-
though Comrade N.S. Khrushchev’s mes-
sage of 28 October had relieved the situa-
tion. U Thant called that message “a most
considerable contribution to peace” and
emphasized that this was the general opin-
ion in the UN.

U Thant said furthermore that he also
considered it expedient to move towards the
working out of an agreement on concrete
measures for the settlement of the Cuban
situation, and precisely for this purpose he
had addressed a request the day before (on
28 October) to the Americans to lift the
blockade of Cuba immediately (U Thant
used the word “blockade”) for a period of 2
to 3 weeks, as had been stipulated in U
Thant’s first message of 25 October. In do-
ing so, U Thant emphasized that the USSR
had already done what U Thant had re-
quested in that message, suspending arms
provisioning in Cuba, while the USA had
not yet lifted the blockade. It still cannot be
said that the Americans have done so, U
Thant continued. For him (U Thant) a very
strange situation could arise if he is in Cuba
(he will fly to Havana tomorrow to meet
with Fidel Castro), and the American navy
is still continuing the blockade at that time.

We asked U Thant how the Americans
are explaining their delay in accepting the
decision about lifting the so-called quaran-
tine, even though it is obvious that such a
lifting is absolutely necessary both politi-
cally and practically. With regard to this, we
pointed out the urgency of lifting the quar-
antine first and foremost because of the ne-
cessity of laying a foundation, as U Thant
himself suggested, for negotiating a settle-
ment of the Cuban problem. Moreover, be-
cause of the continuing blockade, ships car-
rying exclusively peace-time goods cannot
get these goods to Cuba, where they are
needed, and furthermore the ships are ex-
periencing fueling difficulties, and their idle-
ness is bringing losses. We emphasized that
the Soviet Union has agreed to U Thant’s
proposal to hold back these vessels bound
for Cuba for several days, but that the
Americans keep prolonging the period.

U Thant answered that the Americans
are demanding checks on the Soviet vessels
carrying cargo to Cuba, as one of the condi-
tions on their lifting the quarantine. With
regard to this he said that the situation would

be relieved if the Soviet Union agreed to
the carrying out of these checks through
some “independent agency.”

In accordance with your instructions,
we informed U Thant that the Soviet gov-
ernment is prepared to give its consent to
checks on Soviet vessels bound for Cuba,
as U Thant proposed in one of his earlier
talks with Comrade Zorin, by representa-
tive of the International Red Cross, if the
USA refuses to lift the blockade unless such
checks are instituted. I emphasized that this
is of course a temporary measure, for 2 to 3
weeks until the settlement of the Cuban
problem.

U Thant received this information with
very great interest, and expressed gratitude
to the Soviet government for this new and
important step towards settling the Cuban
conflict. He said that he would meet today
with the Americans, and would secure the
lifting of the “quarantine.” With regard to
the practical issues connected with our pro-
posal for carrying out checks on vessels by
representatives of the International Red
Cross, we explained to U Thant in accor-
dance with your instructions that the main
issue here concerns the checks at sea, in
which Red Cross representatives would be
conveyed on board Soviet ships by USSR
vessels or by those belonging to neutral
countries. As far as checks in the ports are
concerned, we noted that this falls not within
our own jurisdiction, but that of the Cuban
government. U Thant came back to this point
several times, and it was clear that he pre-
fers instituting checks in the Cuban ports.
For our part we consider it feasible to agree
with this, as long as our Cuban friends do
not object. It is technically possible to carry
out checks in ports much faster than on the
open sea, and this would keep the Ameri-
cans from delaying any longer the lifting of
the “quarantine.”

U Thant then asked how we feel about
the fact that the Red Cross will use mainly
Swiss personnel to carry out the checks. In
doing so he emphasized that, as he knows
from past experience, the International Red
Cross does not accept any recommendations
on the make-up of its personnel, and its own
personnel is 95% Swiss. I said that we would
prefer that the personnel of the inspection
groups consisted of citizens from neutral
countries that are represented in the UN.

U Thant also asked whether we agreed
to the Red Cross checks on Soviet ships
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only, or also on vessels chartered by the
Soviet Union. We said that we cannot speak
of any vessels other than Soviet ones, but
that it would be absurd if the Americans
started suspecting the Soviet Union of con-
veying arms that it calls “offensive” on char-
tered vessels belonging, for example, to
Sweden or Lebanon. U Thant agreed that
this would be an absurdity.

We asked U Thant what his intentions
were with regard to the forthcoming nego-
tiations in Cuba. U Thant said that he wanted
to exchange views with Fidel Castro prima-
rily on how the dismantling of war sites,
which is referred to in Comrade N.S.
Khrushchev’s message of 28 October, would
be carried out.

We told U Thant that the military sites
mentioned there were in the hands of So-
viet officers. U Thant answered that he knew
this, and of course would consult with the
Soviet Union on this matter.

With regard to this, we reminded U
Thant that, as noted in Comrade N.S.
Khrushchev’s letter of 27 October, the
checks should be carried out after the arms
are removed from Cuba. What will have to
be checked is not the weaponry, but the fact
that it is no longer in Cuba. U Thant declined
to spell out his own point of view on this
matter. It can be supposed that the Ameri-
cans will insist that inspections be carried
out even during the process of dismantling.

U Thant said that he meant to exchange
views with Fidel Castro as well on the mat-
ters connected with the checks on vessels
bound for Cuba.

The goal of his trip to Cuba, U Thant
said, would also be a discussion with Fidel
Castro on obtaining guarantees for Cuban
security, and guarantees for the security of
other countries which maintain that Cuba
represents a threat to them. He said that he
wanted to propose to Castro a formulation
that would stipulate a “UN presence” in
Cuba on the model of the “UN presence” in
the United Arab Republic (Gaza and Aqaba)
as a guarantee that nobody will invade Cuba,
and that Cuba will not take actions against
anybody else.

We told U Thant that really the point
about guarantees for Cuban security ought
to constitute the most important part of the
final settling of the whole problem.
Kennedy’s statements on this matter are
positive, but they seem to have a provisional
character, and refer to Cuba’s inviolability

from attack in only a very general way. It is
necessary to concretize these statements,
and to confirm the whole settlement of the
Cuban issue, including guarantees for
Cuba’s security, through the Security Coun-
cil. With regard to this we referred to the
relevant point about guarantees on Cuban
security contained in Comrade N. S.
Khrushchev’s message of 27 October. We
also recalled the guarantees that Fidel Castro
demanded in his statement of 28 October.

U Thant did not show any reaction to
any of this, although he did not object of
any of it, but rather returned again to the
question of a “UN presence” in Cuba. He
said that if Fidel Castro approves this pro-
posal, he will then address a similar
proposeal to the other party regarding the
“UN presence” in the USA and certain Latin
American countries. We were given to un-
derstand that the goal of this “UN presence”
would be to avert attacks on Cuba by coun-
terrevolutionary Cuban emigres now living
in the USA and certain countries of Latin
America.

We did not meanwhile express to U
Thant our attitude to this proposal of his.
We assume that it could be viewed positively
when one takes into account that U Thant
has in mind a “UN presence” on the territo-
ries of both parties—of Cuba as well as of
the USA and certain Latin American coun-
tries. This would mean that with regard to
this issue the UN would be keeping the same
watch over Cuba as over the USA, which is
certainly advantageous.

In their relations to us, the Americans
are remaining passive, and decline to meet.
Intending to initiate contact with Stevenson,
we suggested to U Thant through Kiselev
that he arrange a breakfast today and invite
the Americans and us. U Thant liked this
idea, and he contacted Stevenson. Steven-
son, however, refused to accept his invita-
tion, referring to the fact that he had no in-
structions from the State Department, and
that without such authorization he could not
meet with Soviet representatives.

29.X.62   V. KUZNETSOV

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-

sity.]

Telegram from Soviet Deputy Foreign
Minister V. V. Kuznetsov to USSR
Foreign Ministry, 30 October 1962

30 October 1962

On 29 October I received the perma-
nent UN delegate from Cuba, Garcia-
Inchaustegui. I welcomed him as represen-
tative of the courageous Cuban nation,
which is self-sacrificingly standing up for
its freedom and independence in its struggle
with a powerful and dangerous enemy—
American imperialism.

I said that I considered it necessary to
meet first of all with the Cuban delegate,
and I expressed the hope that, in carrying
out the task that stands before us both, we
would work in close contact with our Cu-
ban comrades, keeping each other informed
and consulting with each other.

Garcia-Inchaustegui gratefully ac-
knowledged the constant support offered to
the Cuban nation by the Soviet Union, and
said that the Cuban delegates in New York
also constantly feel support from their So-
viet comrades in their joint work in the
United Nations Organization.

Garcia-Inchaustegui said that he had
had a meeting with U Thant during which
they discussed the latter’s trip to Cuba. U
Thant intends, after the negotiations in Ha-
vana, to leave General Rikhye behind in
Cuba as his representative, along with a
group of workers supposedly for continu-
ing the negotiations with the Cuban govern-
ment and for sustaining relations with the
UN. The issue of leaving General Rikhye
in Cuba will in Garcia-Inchaustegui’s opin-
ion be the subject of negotiations between
U Thant and the Cuban government in Ha-
vana.

On the question of the most urgent
matters to which, in his view, U Thant’s at-
tention should be given, Garcia-Inchaust-
egui said that the task of primary importance
is the safeguarding of unhindered passage
for vessels bound for Cuba and the lifting
of the blockade. He has already spoken to
U Thant about this, as well as with the del-
egates from other countries, especially the
Afro-Asian countries.

Garcia-Inchaustegui said that the min-
ister of foreign affairs Raul Roa would ar-
rive in New York at the end of this week.
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30.X.62 V. KUZNETSOV

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Telegram from Deputy Foreign
Minister V. V. Kuznetsov to the Soviet

Foreign Ministry, 30 October 1962

30 October 1962

On 29 October a second meeting with
U Thant was held at his initiative.

1. U Thant informed me that the Ameri-
cans have favorably received our agreement
to the inspection of Soviet vessels bound for
Cuba by representatives of the International
Red Cross.

U Thant also informed us that he had
contacted the Red Cross and received a pre-
liminary response that the Red Cross was
ready to undertake the inspection of vessels
both on the open sea, and in ports of disem-
barkation. U Thant intends to negotiate with
Fidel Castro on carrying out the inspection
in ports.

In the Red Cross’s preliminary reponse
received by U Thant, it is indicated that all
personnel carrying out the inspection of the
vessels will consist of Swiss citizens.

2. U Thant explained to Stevenson our
position on the inspection of the
dismantlings and the removal of the so-
called “offensive” weaponry from Cuba.
The Americans asked U Thant to clarify how
long the dismantling would take. On his own
initiative U Thant put this question to us.
We told U Thant that we would ask our gov-
ernment, but provisionally the dismantling
will be expected to take 2 to 3 weeks. (In
provisionally specifying this time frame, we
were proceeding from the relevant points
made in Comrade N.S. Khrushchev’s mes-
sage to Kennedy of 27 October.)

We request to be informed about the
duration of the dismantling processes in or-
der to give an answer to U Thant.

3. According to U Thant, the Ameri-
cans are insisting that the monitoring of the
dismantling be carried out during the very
process of dismantling, and not after its

completion, especially if the dismantling is
to take a long time. With regard to this it is
advantageous to accelerate the dismantlings,
in order not to show the installations to the
inspectors. The Americans prefer that the
inspection be carried out by the UN, and for
the composition of the inspection groups
they propose two variants: representatives
of neutral countries, or representatives of the
immediately interested parties—the USA,
the USSR, and Cuba. The Americans, how-
ever, according to U Thant, have started in-
sisting less strongly lately on UN inspec-
tion during the dismantling process. They
are said to declare that if it is not possible to
reach an agreement about UN inspections,
they will carry out the inspections them-
selves, and that they have the necessary
means to do so.

General Rikhye (U Thant’s military
advisor) who was present at the conversa-
tion explained that with inspections by their
own forces, the Americans have in mind
flights over Cuba by their own planes car-
rying photographic equipment, and at low
altitudes.

U Thant told Stevenson that the UN
can carry out dismantling inspections in
Cuba only in the event that the Soviet Union
and Cuba agree to it. He asked that there be
notification of the Soviet government’s po-
sition on inspection by UN forces during the
dismantling process.

It appears to us expedient to insist on
our present position, in accordance with
which the appointees of the Security Coun-
cil should carry out inspections not of the
process of dismantling, but of the Soviet
Union’s fulfillment of its promise to dis-
mantle the installations of weapons which
the Americans refer to as “offensive.” This
would mean that the inspectors would be
admitted to sites where there are installa-
tions when they have not yet been fully dis-
mantled, and the arms not yet removed. In
regard to this, it is expedient to speed up the
dismantling of the installations and the re-
moval of the arms. If the dismantling is car-
ried out in a short time, then the issue of
inspection during the dismantling process
will not arise at all.

We request that you consider this.
4. During the talks with U Thant, his

aides delivered reports to him on Kennedy’s
statement concerning the suspension of the
“quarantine” of vessels bound for Cuba dur-
ing the period of U Thant’s stay in Cuba on

30 and 31 October. U Thant asked how we
felt about this. We said that such a period
was too short for even the vessels located
near the blockade zone to make it to the ports
of disembarkation.

U Thant noted in regard to this that he
gave very great significance to the require-
ment that during his stay in Cuba his people,
like Rikhye, be shown at least from a dis-
tance that the installations are being dis-
mantled. In this case, U Thant said, on his
return from New York he would issue a
statement that his people have been con-
vinced of the Soviet Union’s fulfillment of
its dismantling obligation, and that for this
reason the “quarantine” should not be re-
imposed. U Thant asked whether the Soviet
government could agree to this.

We propose that it would be appropri-
ate to show U Thant himself the disman-
tling of certain installations during his stay
in Cuba on 30 and 31 October. In such an
event he would take a firmer stance, and it
would be more difficult for the Americans
to renew their “quarantine” of Cuba.

If this is recognized as expedient, I re-
quest urgently to give corresponding instruc-
tions to Havana.

30.X.62   V. KUZNETSOV

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Telegram from Soviet Deputy Foreign
Minister Kuznetsov and Ambassador to

the UN Zorin to USSR Foreign
Ministry, 30 October 1962

30 October 1962
On 30 October Comrade Zorin, in his

capacity as chairman of the Security Coun-
cil, the term of which expires tomorrow, held
the traditional breakfast for members of the
Council. Present were the heads of the del-
egations of all the countries represented by
the Security Council, including Stevenson.
From the talks during the breakfast, the fol-
lowing is worthy of attention:

1. Stevenson said that the government
of the USA agrees to our proposal for checks
on vessels carried out by representatives of
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the International Red Cross, and prefers that
such checks be carried out not on the open
sea, but in Cuban ports.

Stevenson said furthermore that now
the USA attributes primary importance to
reaching an agreement on the inspection of
the dismantling of the Soviet military em-
placements in Cuba, insisting that such in-
spection be carried out during the disman-
tling process. The Americans imagine in-
spections, as Stevenson said, in the form of
planes flying over Cuba with inspection
groups on board.

2. The Irish delegate [Frederick H.]
Boland voiced a proposal, clearly not with-
out American consent, for convening the
Security Council immediately after U
Thant’s return from Cuba, and, without dis-
cussing in detail any other matters at this
meeting, to hear U Thant’s report and make
a decision about authorizing U Thant to cre-
ate an inspection mechanism for the
dismantlings in Cuba. As far as the other
matters in the Cuban settlement are con-
cerned, including the matter of guarantees
for Cuban security, Boland believes that
those matters can be raised in speeches at
the above-mentioned meeting of the Secu-
rity Council, but that approving resolutions
on them should be left for a later date.

The delegates from the United Arab
Republic (Riad) and Ghana (Quaison-
Sackey) voiced objections to Boland’s pro-
posal (Riad more firmly, Quaison-Sackey
somewhat evasively). They believe that the
first priority is resolving the matter of guar-
antees for Cuban security.

3. The Ghanaian delegate Quaison-
Sackey made several remarks about the
Congo. The substance of these remarks
comes down to the fact that the situation in
the Congo is bad, is becoming worse all the
time, and that the recourse at present is the
use of UN forces against [Moise]
Tshombe.10

4. Our thoughts on our position and on
tactical matters will be sent by separate tele-
gram.

30.X.62  V. KUZNETSOV  V. ZORIN

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-

sity.]

Telegram from Soviet Deputy Foreign
Minister Kuznetsov and Ambassador to

the UN Zorin to USSR Foreign
Ministry, 30 October 1962

30 October 1962

We are communicating several
thoughts on the situation that has arisen
around the Cuban issue, and on our possible
position and tactics in the course of future
negotiations with U Thant and the Ameri-
cans.

First. From talks with U Thant, con-
versations at the UN, and information from
the American press, we have received the
impression that the strategy of the USA gov-
ernment is at present directed towards the
carrying out of our decision to dismantle
military sites in Cuba, rejecting at the same
time the necessity of giving clear and firm
guarantees of Cuban security, restricted in
this regard by the statements issued earlier
by Kennedy in his messages to Comrade
N.S. Khrushchev of 27 and 28 October, or
in the last resort by the Security Council’s
approval of those statements.

In this regard it is significant that the
Americans, as is evident from available in-
formation, want the future role of the Secu-
rity Council and especially of U Thant to
come down basically to organizing and car-
rying out inspections on the dismantling of
our missile installations in Cuba.

As far as guarantees of Cuban security
are concerned, the Americans understand
that a clear and concrete resolution of the
Security Council could in this respect tie
their hands and keep them from proceeding
with their aggressive policy toward Cuba,
which it seems they do not intend to re-
nounce. On 29 October a UPI press bulletin
said that Rusk “had assured the Latin Ameri-
can envoys that any Soviet-American agree-
ment would pursue the goal of the removal
of missiles from Cuba, and in no way would
exclude the possibility of new collective
measures against Castro.”

In light of this, there is reason to ex-
pect that Kennedy’s statement about the
USA government’s readiness to “give assur-
ances that there will be no invasion of Cuba”
will be interpreted by the Americans in the
narrow sense, as saying that the USA and
the Latin American countries will not attack

Cuba with their own armed forces. At the
same time they are trying to keep their hands
free not only in relation to the economic
blockade of Cuba and subversive operations
against it, but also in their support, perhaps
somewhat more disguised than earlier, for
the preparation by counterrevolutionary
Cuban emigres of military activities against
Cuba.

Second. As far as U Thant’s line is con-
cerned, he intends, as he told us, to exchange
views with Fidel Castro primarily on the
issue of the verficiation of the dismantling
of Soviet military sites, and also to ascer-
tain that this dismantling is actually going
on. On his return he intends to present a re-
port to the Security Council precisely on
these issues, after which the Council will
face the practical issue of creating a moni-
toring apparatus.

It is true that U Thant, taking into ac-
count how we put before him the issue of
guarantees for Cuba, is preparing at the same
time to put before Castro the issue of the
so-called “UN presence” in Cuba as a guar-
antee of its security and a guarantee against
any Cuban actions against the other Latin-
American countries. In the event of the Cu-
ban government’s consenting to this sort of
“UN presence” in Cuba, U Thant intends to
pose the same question about a “UN pres-
ence” on the territory of the USA and cer-
tain Latin-American countries. It is however
evident that the Americans will try to ar-
range the Security Council affair in such a
way as to give priority to the issue of the
mechanism for inspections on the war-site
dismantling, and not to the issue of guaran-
tees for Cuba. Moreover, U Thant’s plans
with regard to the guarantees for Cuba are
not yet fully clear.

Third.  It appears to us that in these
conditions it would be expedient, in the in-
terests of safeguarding guarantees for Cu-
ban security, to try to bring together into one
knot the main issues that must be resolved
for a peaceful settlement of the Cuban cri-
sis, most importantly the issues of control
on the dismantling inspections and of guar-
antees for Cuba, and to reach a simultaneous
settlement of these issues through the Se-
curity Council. We intend to suggest that
such a resolution be given the form of a joint
declaration made in the Security Council by
the governments of the USSR and the USA
(or by these two separately) concerning a
peaceful settlement of the Cuban crisis, the
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Cuban government’s input on this issue, and
the Council’s resolution approving all these
declarations and entrusting the acting Sec-
retary General of the UN, under the super-
vision of the Security Council, to carry out
the necessary measures according to the pro-
cedures of the UN apparatus.

We will propose in the framework of
these declarations to stipulate, as a guaran-
tee of Cuban security, the final end to all
blockade activity against Cuba, and the du-
ties of the USA in the capacity proposed by
Comrade N.S. Khrushchev’s message to
Kennedy of 27 October, and taking into ac-
count Fidel Castro’s statement of 28 Octo-
ber.

If the Americans insist, we will con-
sider the possibility of approving the explicit
mention in the declaration of the Soviet
government’s obligation to dismantle the
Soviet military sites in Cuba which the
Americans call offensive, and of the Soviet
government’s approval of the inspection
system that has been worked out.

The Americans will obviously demand
a declaration from the Cuban government
that contains an expression of consent to the
elaborated guarantees of security and of the
inspection system, as well as a formulation
of Cuba’s non-attack obligations with regard
to its neighbors, in accordance with the goals
of the UN Charter. We will consult with the
Cuban delegation on this issue.

As far as the inspection system on the
dismantling is concerned, we propose that
our primary position should be to agree to
the implementation of the inspections after
the completion of the dismantling process.
If the Americans insist on carrying out in-
spections during the dismantling process,  it
might be possible to agree to this as long as
we had guarantees for a monitoring proce-
dure that would of course keep hidden from
the inspectors anything we did not want to
reveal. The monitoring process should take
only a short time to be carried out— only a
period necessary for ascertaining that the
dismantling has been completed.

With regard to the composition of the
inspection apparatus, there are now several
variants being advanced in UN circles.

According to facts released by the UN
secretariat, U Thant wants to create a moni-
toring apparatus composed of representa-
tives from a selection of neutral countries
belonging to the UN—Sweden, Ethiopia,
the United Arab Republic, Mexico, Brazil,

[and] Yugoslavia, and also Switzerland.
There is also an idea about delegating the
monitoring process to eight neutral coun-
tries represented in the Committee on Dis-
armament (India, Burma, the United Arab
Republic, Nigeria, Ethiopia, Mexico, Bra-
zil, Sweden), possibly, with the goal of set-
ting a precedent for resolving questions in-
volving inspections on full and general dis-
armament. The Americans, U Thant has in-
formed us, are putting forth a variant in
which the monitoring groups consist of rep-
resentatives from the USA, the USSR, and
Cuba.

We propose that it would be appropri-
ate to stipulate that the monitoring groups
include representatives from countries like
Indonesia, Ceylon, the United Arab Repub-
lic, and Ghana. In the course of negotiations
it would be possible to agree on a variant in
which the groups are composed of repre-
sentatives from eight neutral countries be-
longing to the 18th Committee on Disarma-
ment.

Furthermore a question arises about
future UN measures on strengthening peace
in the Caribbean region after the comple-
tion of the inspections of dismantling, and
also on the inspection (by International Red
Cross forces) of Soviet vessels bound for
Cuba.

In our opinion, it would be possible to
agree to the presence in Havana (or in sev-
eral Cuban commercial ports) of small
groups of UN representatives (of the same
composition as the groups verifying mili-
tary-site dismantling) with the right to carry
out selective inspections on the vessels of
various countries arriving in Cuba, with the
purpose of determining whether or not they
are carrying so-called “offensive” sorts of
armaments. [One could] make this condi-
tional upon the requirement that the same
groups of UN representatives be placed in
the USA and the Latin-American countries
neighboring Cuba with the right to make
periodic inspections of certain regions of
these countries with the purpose of deter-
mining whether preparations are being made
for the invasion of Cuba, either by these
countries themselves or by Cuban emigres.

It would be possible to propose that this
system of observation operate for the dura-
tion, for example, of one year, after which
the Security Council would again examine
the issue of whether a continuation of the
observation is needed.

Fourth. Taking into account President
Kennedy’s desire, communicated through
Robert Kennedy in his conversation with
Comrade Dobrynin on 27 October (your
#1255), we will not raise the issue of the
American bases in Turkey in our negotia-
tions with U Thant and the Americans in
New York. At the same time it seems to us
possible and expedient to reach an agree-
ment with the USA that in the joint Soviet-
American declaration in the Security Coun-
cil, there be a record of both sides’ inten-
tion to enter in the near future negotiations
for normalizing relations between the NATO
countries and the countries of the Warsaw
Pact, as has already been outlined in the cor-
respondence between Comrade N.S.
Khrushchev and President Kennedy. In do-
ing so it might be possible to include in such
a declaration a reference both to Comrade
N.S. Khrushchev’s message of 28 October
and Kennedy’s messages of 27 and 28 Oc-
tober, as well as to Comrade N.S.
Khrushchev’s message of 27 October, in
which the question about Turkey is raised.

Fifth. Until now, in our official docu-
ments and during negotiations here in New
York, our weaponry now being dismantled
in Cuba has been referred to as “weaponry
considered offensive by the Americans.” In
the course of future negotiations, and espe-
cially during the preparation of the texts of
the Security Council documents, we will
have to oppose our own concrete formula-
tion to the American formulation “offensive
weaponry.” It might be possible in our opin-
ion to use, say, the formula “means for con-
veying nuclear arms at an operational dis-
tance a certain number of kilometers.”

All the issues laid out here will be the
subject of discussions immediately after U
Thant’s return from Cuba, i.e., after 1 No-
vember.

We request your examination.

30.X.62 V. KUZNETSOV
 V. ZORIN

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Telegram from Soviet Ambassador to



304  COLD WAR INTERNATIONAL HISTORY PROJECT BULLETIN

the USA A.F. Dobrynin to the USSR
Foreign Ministry, 30 October 1962

30 October 1962

Today Robert Kennedy invited me to
meet with him. He said that he would like
to talk about N.S. Khrushchev’s letter to the
President yesterday.11

The President, Robert Kennedy said,
confirms the understanding [dogovorion-
nost] with N.S. Khrushchev on the elimina-
tion of the American missile bases in Tur-
key (Robert Kennedy confirmed that one
speaks of an understanding). Correspond-
ing measures will be taken towards fulfill-
ing this understanding within the period of
time indicated earlier, in confidential obser-
vance of NATO guidelines, but of course
without any mention that this is connected
to the Cuban events.

We, however, said Robert Kennedy, are
not prepared to formulate such an under-
standing in the form of letters, even the most
confidential letters, between the President
and the head of the Soviet government when
it concerns such a highly delicate issue.
Speaking in all candor, I myself, for ex-
ample, do not want to risk getting involved
in the transmission of this sort of letter, since
who knows where and when such letters can
surface or be somehow published—not now,
but in the future—and any changes in the
course of events are possible. The appear-
ance of such a document could cause irrepa-
rable harm to my political career in the fu-
ture. This is why we request that you take
this letter back.

It is possible, Robert Kennedy contin-
ued, that you do not believe us and through
letters you want to put the understanding in
writing. The issue of Soviet missile bases
in Cuba has unfortunately introduced a real
element of uncertainty and suspicion even
into confidential channels of contact. We
will however live up to our promise, even if
it is given in this oral form. As you know, it
was in precisely the same oral form that the
President made his promise to N.S.
Khrushchev regarding the removal of a cer-
tain number of American soldiers from Thai-
land.12 That promise was kept. So too will
this promise be kept.

As a guarantee, Robert Kennedy
added, I can only give you my word. More-
over I can tell you that two other people
besides the President know about the exist-

ing understanding:  they are [Secretary of
State Dean] Rusk and [advisor on Soviet
affairs Llewellyn] Thompson. If you do not
believe me, discuss it with them, and they
will tell you the same thing. But it is better
not to transfer this understanding into a for-
mal, albeit confidential, exchange of letters
(as can be noted, the greatest suspicion in
the two Kennedy brothers was elicited by
the part of Khrushchev’s letter which speaks
directly of a link between the Cuban events
and the bases in Turkey). We hope that N.S.
Khrushchev will understand us correctly. In
regard to this Robert Kennedy insistently
asked to take the letter back without delay.

I told Robert Kennedy that everything
said above I would report to N.S.
Khrushchev, emphasizing in doing so that
even the President and he, Robert Kennedy,
could be sure of the fact that the Soviet gov-
ernment is regarding the understanding that
has been reached as strictly secret and not
for publication. At the same time, in order
to confirm Robert Kennedy’s statement
about the understanding, I asked him again
about whether the President really confirms
the understanding with N.S. Khrushchev on
the elimination of American missile bases
in Turkey. Robert Kennedy said once again
that he confirmed it, and again that he hoped
that their motivations would be properly
understood in Moscow. Taking what they
explained into account, I believed it condi-
tionally possible—before receiving any in-
structions from Moscow—to take this let-
ter [back], since a categorical refusal to do
so would, in my opinion, only weaken Rob-
ert Kennedy’s firm statements on the under-
standing that has been reached. Moreover,
leaving the letter with him, after he had
clearly expressed the President’s desire not
to exchange letters, could scarcely be in the
interests of doing business [in the future].

In conclusion Robert Kennedy said
that, in his opinion, the events connected
with the Cuban issue have been developing
quite favorably, and that he hoped that
everthing would eventually be settled. He
added that, on the Turkish issue and other
highly confidential issues he was prepared
to maintain a direct contact with me as ear-
lier, emphasizing in doing so that the point
was the the possible oral considerations of
the President and the head of the Soviet gov-
ernment N.S. Khrushchev on the exchange
of letters on such delicate issues as missile
bases in Turkey, or issues which need to be

handled more by the State Department than
by him personally, taking into account the
delicacy of his situation as the President’s
brother and as Attorney General of the
United States. I do not want, Robert
Kennedy added, to claim for myself the
function of the State Department, but my
“solitary diplomacy” may be needed sev-
eral more times, and we will meeting with
each other periodically.

I answered to Robert Kennedy that I
was prepared to maintain contact with him
on highly important issues in the future,
passing over the heads, as he himself sug-
gested, of all intermediaries. Robert
Kennedy confirmed this. From what Rob-
ert Kennedy said it was clear that the Presi-
dent is trying now to avoid exchanging any
documents on issues of a highly delicate
nature like Turkey which could leave a trace
anywhere, but that he favors the continua-
tion of a confidential exchange of opinions
between the heads of the two governments.

We believe it expedient to visit Robert
Kennedy once again and to issue a state-
ment, in referring to our mission, that the
Soviet government and N.S. Khrushchev
personally are prepared to take into account
the President’s desire for maintaining the
secrecy of the oral understanding on the re-
moval of the American missile bases from
Turkey. It is also expedient to tell of our
willingness, if the President is also prepared
for this, to continue the confidential ex-
change of opinions between the heads of the
governments on many important unresolved
issues, on whose resolution the lessing of
international tension, and of the tension be-
tween our two countries in particular, is to a
very great degree dependent.

I request instructions.

30.X.62  A.DOBRYNIN

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Telegram from USSR Foreign Ministry
to Soviet Deputy Foreign Minister V.V.
Kuznetsov, New York, 31 October 1962

In the negotiations between the del-
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egates of the USSR, the USA, and Cuba with
the participation of the acting Secretary
General of the UN on the normalization of
the situation that has arisen around Cuba,
you should follow the messages of N.S.
Khrushchev to President John Kennedy and
U Thant, and also by the instructions given
in our dispatches #1254 and #1267.

In the negotiations you should try to
record the agreement deriving from the ex-
change of messages between N.S.
Khrushchev and John Kennedy in the form
of a protocol statement that would be pre-
sented to the Security Council for all mea-
sures taken in accordance with the UN Char-
ter. As a basis for negotiations, after receiv-
ing the consent of our Cuban friends, con-
vey to the Americans and to U Thant the
statement of protocol, and declare that this
statement is being introduced jointly by the
governments of the USSR and Cuba. (The
text of the statement of protocol is being
communicated by separate telegram.)

Since Fidel Castro’s statement of 28
October contains a demand concerning the
evacuation of the USA naval base in
Guantanamo, the protocol statement in-
cludes a point concerning the negotiations
of the USA and the Republic of Cuba on
this matter. If however the USA objects to
the inclusion of this point, and this impedes
the reaching of an agreement according to
the whole protocol statement, then with the
consent of the Cuban representative you
may not insist on a separate mention of the
Guantanamo base in the protocol statement.
In this we proceed from the fact that the pro-
tocol statement contains Article 16, which
stipulates the necessity of carrying out ne-
gotiations on other issues, including issues
raised in Fidel Castro’s statement of 28 Oc-
tober, i.e. in other words, the issue of the
military base in Guantanamo.

As far as a possible Security Council
resolution with regard to the protocol state-
ment is concerned, in negotiations you
should aim for the Council’s approving a
resolution that would generally contain the
following basic points:

“1. The Security Council welcomes
with satisfaction and expresses its approval
of the agreement reached by the govern-
ments of the USSR, the USA, and Cuba with
the participation of the acting Secretary
General of the UN U Thant, on measures to
be taken for normalizing the Caribbean situ-
ation, which facilitates the lessening of the

tension that had had arisen in the relations
among the countries.

2. The Security Council takes into con-
sideration the obligations of the govern-
ments of the USSR, the USA, and the Re-
public of Cuba recorded in the protocol pre-
sented to the Security Council, including
precisely:

(Here the text of all 17 articles of the
protocol statement is given.)

3. The Security Council is proceeding
from the stipulation that the governments
of the countries participating in the proto-
col statement will strictly carry out the ob-
ligations they have taken on, which will
contribute to the strengthening of trust
among the countries and to affirming peace
generally.

4. In accordance with articles 10 and
13 of the protocol statement, the Security
Council requests the governments of [gap
in text] countries to share their own del-
egates as agents for ascertaining the carry-
ing out of the obligations to dismantle and
remove the weaponry indicated in articles
9 and 12 of the protocol statement.

5. The Security Council asks acting UN
Secretary General U Thant to grant the
group of agents the necessary means and
cooperation for carrying out the functions
with which they have been entrusted.”

The text of the protocol statement is
now being submitted to the approval of Fi-
del Castro.

On receiving the approval of Fidel
Castro, we will notify you of the possibility
of forwarding this text to the Americans and
U Thant on behalf of the Soviet Union and
Cuba.

If you have any thoughts pertaining to
the local situation, communicate them.

Confirm reception of this telegram.

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Cable from Soviet Foreign Minister
Gromyko to USSR Ambassador to

Cuba A.I. Alekseev, 31 October 1962

You should visit F. Castro and, after
reference to these instructions, tell him the

following.
Currently there is a lessening in mili-

tary tension created around Cuba.  But on
the diplomatic field we have to accomplish
a crucial stage in order to consolidate the
achieved success and to bind the Amerians
by commitments ensuing from the exchange
of messages between N.S. Khrushchev and
Kennedy and F. Castro’s statement of 28
October.

We consider that under current condi-
tions we and you should display self-re-
straint in our official declarations and state-
ments and also in the press, in order to not
to give the aggressors a pretext to blame our
side for irreconciliability and intractability.
We must hold to a firm, but constructive
stand.  We would like it to be taken into ac-
count in your statements, too.  It would be
good if you in your appearances underline
Cuba’s readiness to normalize diplomatic
and economic relations with the USA and
countries of Latin America.  It should also
be repeated what you have declared more
than once about Cuba’s devotion to the cause
of peace, to the UN principles, among them
non-interference of states into the internal
affairs of each other.

All of this is needed, of course, not for
the aggressors’ ears, but for international
public opinion.

Telegraph the implementation of these
instructions.

31.X.62 A. GROMYKO

{Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by Vladimir Zaemsky.]

Cable from Soviet Foreign Minister
Gromyko to USSR Ambassador to

Cuba A.I. Alekseev, 31 October 1962

Visit Fidel Castro and tell him the fol-
lowing:

1. Say, that in Moscow we consider it
necessary to satisfy U Thant’s desire that
the launchers, which are being dismantled,
be shown to him and persons accompany-
ing him, among them General Rikhye, even
in the course of dismantling.  It is advanta-
geous for us, especially taking into account
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that U Thant has promised to make a state-
ment immediately on his return to the USA,
that the Soviet Union had fulfilled its com-
mitments.

Inform [Castro] also about our consent
to permit U Thant’s representatives, if he
raises such a question, to be allowed to visit
sites of dismantling even after U Thant’s
departure from Cuba, in order to check that
the dismantling has been carried out and to
be sure about the launchers’ withdrawal
from Cuba.

Immediately inform about these in-
structions Pavlov [Pliyev], who has to ful-
fill them without delay.

2. Inform Fidel Castro that in Moscow
it is considered advantageous U Thant’s pro-
posal about creating UN posts on the terri-
tory of Cuba, corresponding countries of
Latin America, and in the USA territory in
order to observe compliance with the com-
mitments; this proposal corresponds to both
the interests of Cuba and our common in-
terests. Implementation of this proposal for
a “UN presence,” made by U Thant, would
mean that the UN equally regard Cuba and
the USA on this issue.  That is advantageous
for the party which does not intend to at-
tack, i.e. for Cuba, and it is not advantageous
for the party with aggressive intentions, i.e.
for the USA and their assistants from the
Latin American countries.

Immediately inform Pavlov [Pliyev]
about these instructions too.

Express confidence that Fidel Castro
and his friends would also accept U Thant’s
proposal, which is very important for us.

We proceed from the assumption that
the Cuban government and comrade Pavlov
[Pliyev] would undertake all the necessary
measures on site.

Cable report on the execution of these
instructions.

A. GROMYKO

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by Vladimir Zaemsky.]

Telegram from Soviet ambassador to
Cuba A. I. Alekseev to USSR Foreign

Ministry, 31 October 1962

31 October

After we learned that the Cubans will
not permit U Thant and his advisors to visit
the dismantling of military sites, and hon-
oring Rikhye’s request to meet with the So-
viet general, Comrade Pavlov [Pliyev] and
I made the decision to engage U Thant in
talks with myself and General [Igor D.]
Statsenko,13 who would offer him and
Rikhye detailed information on the issues
raised by them yesterday.

Preliminary to our decision to visit U
Thant, I informed President Dorticos, who
supported this step.

In our talks with U Thant and Rikhye
we provided the following information:

The dismantling of the weaponry was
begun on the evening of 28 October, and in
a general way has practically already been
completed by today. By the end of 1 No-
vember or at the latest 2 November all weap-
onry will have been sent to ports for load-
ing onto ships. The arrival times of the ships
may be known only by Moscow, and we
requested that the answer to U Thant on this
issue be sent to New York.

U Thant and Rikhye expressed thanks
for the information, saying that for them it
was the chief result of the trip to Cuba, and
probably the most significant one after Com-
rade N.S. Khrushchev’s letter of 28 Octo-
ber.

U Thant asked General Statsenko
whether he could refer to the latter in his
report and mention his family name.

We gave a positive response, saying
that Comrade Statsenko had been entrusted
with the dismantling of the weaponry, and
he answered these questions responsibly.

U Thant said nothing about his talks
with Fidel Castro. Your instructions were
received after the talks with U Thant.

31.X.62   ALEKSEEV

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Cable from Soviet Ambassador to Cuba
Alekseev to USSR Foreign Ministry,

31 October 1962

Met Fidel Castro and gave to him let-
ter from N.S. Khrushchev.14

Castro read it attentively and, while
doing so, made two remarks.

1. There are not [merely] some Cuban
comrades who do not understand the deci-
sion regarding the removal of the special
weapons, but the whole Cuban people.

2. Apparently, N.S. Khrushchev did not
understand me or the translation was not
correct since in the cable of 27 [26?] Octo-
ber I did not suggest to be the first in deliv-
ering a blow against the adversary territory
during the crisis, but in the case if there were
an aggression against Cuba and Soviet
people would be perishing together with the
Cubans.15

I told Castro that the translation had
been made correctly and, I suppose, the
sense of his cable had been understood cor-
rectly in Moscow since it was clearly said
there about the condition of an aggression
against Cuba, but even in this case it is
hardly possible to approach merely me-
chanically such an important issue and to
use nuclear arms without looking for other
means.

Castro didn’t make any additional com-
ment on the letter and said that it was nec-
essary to read it once more and to think.

Today Castro was more composed and
said that Da’Cunha, a Brazilian general, had
come to see him with a personal message
from [Brazilian President Joao] Goulart and
suggested the good offices of Brazil in set-
tling the conflict with the USA upon receiv-
ing from them non-aggression guarantees.
Da’Cunha said that Brazil would not break
relations with Cuba and would continue to
trade.

He suggested to begin gradual disar-
mament upon receiving guarantees and to
come forward with a statement about Cuba’s
non-interference into affairs of the Latin
American countries.

Castro said that such an approach is the
most correct one and therefore the Cubans
had told Da’Cunha that they had been ac-
cepting such a mediation and were ready for
the suggested measures under the condition
that the USA accept the 5 points of the Cu-
ban statement including that of eliminating
the Guantanamo base.  Castro asked what
have we spoken about with U Thant and
himself informed [me] about their conver-
sation, what has already been recounted to
me by Dorticos.
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31/X/62   ALEKSEEV

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by Vladimir Zaemsky.]

Telegram from Soviet Foreign Ministry
to A.A. Soboleva and A.F. Dobrynin at

the Soviet Embassy in Washington,
 31 October 1962

31 October 1962

1. On 28 October the Ministry sent to
the USA embassy a note of protest from the
Soviet government to the American govern-
ment concerning the flights around the So-
viet ship “Simferopol” by American planes
on 24 October of this year, and also con-
cerning the cannon-fire during these flights.

On 31 October the embassy in a
reponse note declares that no artillery shots
at the “Simferopol” or near it had been car-
ried out, and that the command of the
“Simferopol” could have mistaken for gun-
fire the use by the plane’s pilot of several
magnetic photo-illuminating cartridges.

2. On 30 October the embassy sent to
the Ministry of Foreign Affairs a note of
protest concerning the “obvious inability or
refusal of the Soviet powers responsible for
upholding the social order to take measures
in recent days to defend the personnel and
the property of the embassy.”16

The embassy raises the issue of the re-
pair of or compensation for damages in-
curred by embassy property and personnel,
and also “expects appropriate measures to
be taken for averting a repetition of such
cases.” This has been conveyed for infor-
mational purposes.

[Source: Archive of Foreign Policy, Russian
Federation (AVP RF), Moscow; copy ob-
tained by NHK (Japanese Television), pro-
vided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Telegram from Soviet Deputy Foreign
Minister V.V. Kuznetsov to USSR

Foreign Ministry, 1 November 1962

1 November 1962

On 31 October U Thant, after his re-
turn from Cuba, informed us of the results
of his trip.

1. According to U Thant, his main task
was to ask whether Fidel Castro would give
his consent to the establishment in Cuba of
UN groups monitoring the dismantling of
Soviet military installations. Castro’s re-
sponse was negative. Castro said that Cuba
was a sovereign, independent state, and that
if it allowed UN monitoring on its territory,
it would be a humiliation for the Republic.
If the Soviet government gives its consent
to the monitoring, then such monitoring
should be carried out outside the borders of
Cuba’s territorial waters.

2. U Thant then asked Castro whether
he could leave his own representatives be-
hind in Havana for contact with the Cuban
government. Castro said that it would be
better to maintain such contact in New York
through the new Cuban delegate to the UN,
C[arlos]. Lechuga (who arrived from Cuba
with U Thant) and through the minister of
foreign affairs, Roa, who would soon arrive
in New York.

3. U Thant met in Cuba with the So-
viet ambassador and a Soviet general, who
informed him that the dismantling of mili-
tary installations had begun on 28 October
and would be finished by 1 or 2 November.

On his return to New York, U Thant
informed Stevenson of the dismantling, and
appealed to him to cease the “quarantine,”
for which there seems, even from the Ameri-
can point of view, to be no need. Prolong-
ing the “quarantine” will put the Cuban
people in a difficult situation.

4. U Thant addressed a request to
Castro to return to the USA the pilot of the
U-2 ariplane that had been shot down over
Cuba, if that pilot was still alive. Castro said
that the pilot was dead, but that he would
send his body back to the USA, if the UN
would take care of the transportation mat-
ters. Castro also said that the Cuban gov-
ernment would be continuing to act as it had
been up to this point with regard to Ameri-
can planes violating the air space of Cuba.
U Thant has communicated this to
Stevenson.

5. U Thant asked Castro what he imag-
ined the future role of the UN to be in the
Cuban affair. Castro answered that the Cu-

ban government would carry on negotiations
within the framework of the UN only on the
basis of the five principles laid out in
Castro’s statement of 28 October, and on no
other basis. U Thant has communicated this
to Stevenson.

Stevenson told U Thant that he would
pass all this on to President Kennedy today.

6. We asked U Thant what further steps
he intended to take. U Thant said that on
the next day, 1 November, he would inform
the members of the Security Council, each
one separately, of the results of his visit to
Cuba, but that he was not prepared to call a
meeting of the Council before 6 November
(the day on which the national elections will
be held in the USA).

U Thant said as well that he consid-
ered it expedient to begin the next day to
work out the details of the monitoring of
Soviet vessels bound for Cuba by represen-
tatives of the International Red Cross. He
asked to select a representative from among
ourselves. In response to our question as to
how U Thant envisaged, after his visit to
Cuba, the monitoring of these vessels, he
said that such monitoring would have to be
carried out not in Cuban ports, but on the
open sea.

1.XI.62   V. KUZNETSOV

[Source: AVP RF, Moscow; copy obtained
by NHK, provided to CWIHP, and on file at
National Security Archive, Washington,
D.C.; translation by John Henriksen,
Harvard University.]

Telegram from Soviet Ambassador to
the USA A. Dobrynin to USSR Foreign
Ministry, forwarding telegram from G.

A. Zhukov, 1 November 1962

We relay a telegram from Comrade
Zhukov:

“On 31 October I met successively
with [White House spokesman Pierre]
Salinger, Thompson, [Assistant Secretary of
State for Far Eastern Affairs and Averell]
Harriman, and Lippmann. The welcome was
decidedly cordial, and all communicated
their warm greetings to N.S. Khrushchev,
and expressed gratitude for his wise actions
that have opened up the way toward a settle-
ment of the Cuban problem.

At the same time all the participants
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emphasized the necessity of confirming as
quickly as possible, by way of inspection
through any means (through the Red Cross,
neutral observers, or aerial photos), that the
Soviet bases are being dismantled and the
missiles are being removed. They referred
to the growing campaign of right-wing fig-
ures who assert that “Kennedy has once
again become the victim of Soviet decep-
tion.” This is especially dangerous for
Kennedy on the eve of the national elections.
For this reason it is extremely urgent for him
to receive any available evidence that the
agreement with N.S. Khrushchev has been
carried out.

All participants said that settling the
Cuban crisis would open the way to resolu-
tions of other emerging problems: a prohi-
bition on nuclear testing, an agreement on
the non-proliferation of nuclear weapons, an
agreement between NATO and the Warsaw
Pact members on a series of issues, and so
on.

They still consider the prospect of a
meeting between N.S. Khrushchev and
Kennedy to be a distant one, but they assert
that it will become a necessity when the
Cuban problem is settled, and when appro-
priate preparations are made on the level of
the staff for guaranteeing that constructive
decisions will be made.

I will relay details from New York.
Zhukov.”

1.XI.62  A. DOBRYNIN

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Cable from Soviet ambassador to the
USA A. F. Dobrynin to Soviet Foreign

Ministry, 1 November 1962

1 November 1962

At one of the receptions I had a con-
versation with W. Lippmann.  He confirmed,
half in jest, that he “caught it hot” for hav-
ing published [in a column published on 25
October—ed.], in the middle of the Cuban
crisis, an article about the possibility of ex-
changing Soviet missile bases in Cuba for
American missile bases in Turkey, insofar
as “a lot of people” here considered that his

article had suggested to N.S. Khrushchev
the idea of raising such a question.
Lippmann said that he had been writing the
article taking into consideration data which
had previously received from high-ranking
officers of the U.S. Agency for disarma-
ment.17  Several officers of this Agency
believe that the question of bases has be-
come rather obsolete and it must be solved.

Lippmann himself proceeds from the
assumption that the issues of American
bases in Turkey and Italy can be solved in
the relatively near future.  There is a certain
progress of mood regarding this issue in
Washington.  Nevertheless, by no means can
it be related to the Cuban events.  For a num-
ber of reasons, Kennedy’s administration
can’t do that.  A corresponding decision can
be formalized as one of the first, partial ac-
tions in the framework of disarmament, but
necessarily waiting for a final agreement
upon a plan of general and complete disar-
mament.

Lippmann also said that during the
Cuban crisis Thompson played a certain
positive deterrent role at the White House.
But in general in the course of the last year,
according to Lippmann, Thompson has con-
siderably evolved and become closer to [So-
viet expert Charles] Bohlen’s point of view,
i.e., there is no hope of reaching an agree-
ment with the Soviet Union on principal is-
sues due to its extreme obstinacy.  With such
a pessemistic mood Thompson has returned
from the Soviet Union.

Lippmann confirmed that during the
Cuban conflict the USA had been very close
to war.  Even dates for the bombing of the
Soviet missile bases in Cuba had been
planned — October 29 or 30, but N.S.
Khrushchev’s response of October 28 to
Kennedy’s “great relief” drastically altered
the subsequent course of events.

01/XI/62 A. DOBRYNIN

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by Vladimir Zaemsky.]

Telegram from USSR Foreign Minister
A. Gromyko to Deputy Foreign

Minister V.V. Kuznetsov at the Soviet
Mission in New York, 1 November 1962

1 November 1962

It is necessary that you meet with [U.S.
negotiator John J.] McCloy. Inform him that
you have delivered a report on the content
of the conversation with him, as well as on
the statement that the government of the
USA, in an expression of its goodwill, has
agreed that there be no monitoring of So-
viet vessels bound for Cuba until the Inter-
national Red Cross is involved in such moni-
toring. In reponse to this, you have been in-
structed by Moscow to inform McCloy that
our view of this goodwill gesture is a sym-
pathetic one. It will allow the speedy arrival
of Soviet ships into Cuban ports, and will
facilitate the removal of the dismantled in-
stallations from Cuba.

The question of whether to allow ob-
servers onto Cuban territory is, of course,
an issue that must be decided by Cuba, in
its capacity as a sovereign state. The Cu-
bans, and only the Cubans, can make deci-
sions on questions of that sort.

We would like, however, to reach an
agreement with the Americans that will keep
this whole affair under control.

In the next few days, until 7 or 8 or at
the very latest 10 November, we intend to
load the dismantled materials onto ships and
remove them from Cuba. We have no ob-
jections to disclosing photographs of the
dismantled and disabled launch pads, as well
as of the loaded missiles, which the Presi-
dent and the government of the USA have
called offensive weaponry.

We also would have no objections to
your ships being shown, at close distance,
the missiles loaded on the Soviet ships. But
we think that there will scarcely be any
doubts in your minds as to the certainty that,
once we have announced the dismantling of
the military installations and the removal of
the missiles, we will carry out these actions
within the period indicated by us.

I have been entrusted with the task of
emphasizing that the Soviet party is trying
to settle this whole issue quickly on the ba-
sis of compromise, mutual concessions, and
on the conditions put forth in statements by
the Chair of the Council of Ministers of the
USSR [Khrushchev] and by the President
of the USA.

As far as the flights by American planes
over Cuban territory are concerned, the
Cubans’ categorical objections are fully
understood and are believed to be justifi-
able, since such flights represent a blatant
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violation of the sovereignty of the Republic
of Cuba. The Americans should take into
account that such actions affect the national
feelings of the Cuban people, which can
only complicate the settlement of the diffi-
cult issues before us. The Americans would
have acted reasonably if they had already
ceased this sort of flight, as they should have
done given that the condition expressed in
the above-mentioned statements stipulating
the dismantling of missile installations has
been fulfilled, and given that the dismantled
materials are being brought together for
loading onto ships.

In conclusion, tell McCloy that we ex-
pect the Americans to lift the quarantine
immediately and completely.

AG

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Telegram from Soviet Ambassador to
the USA A. Dobrynin to USSR Foreign

Ministry, 1 November 1962

[first page of two-page document is miss-
ing from copy obtained by CWIHP—ed.]

[...Dobrynin] expressed the hope, in accor-
dance with the letter sent by N.S.
Khrushchev, that the USA would renounce
the quarantine without waiting for the in-
troduction of a supplementary procedure for
inspecting ships, and so on.

Robert Kennedy has said that this is-
sue does not represent any difficulties. The
important thing for us now (he implied that
he was talking about public opinion, rather
than the thoughts of the President himself),
is to have some confirmation, from the UN
for example, that the Soviet bases are being
dismantled, and that the corresponding mis-
sile weaponry is being removed.

We and the USA government have es-
sentially two possible courses of actions in
this matter:  first, to carry out reconnaissance
flights over Cuba. But this entails the dan-
ger that the Cubans (he emphasized the
Cubans, and not the Russians) may shoot
down an American plane, and thus a pos-
sible new and highly undesirable chain re-
action of events in the Cuban affair would

be unleashed.
The second course of action is to get

from the UN some information on the dis-
mantling of the bases. The government of
the USA could then be satisfied with this as
a prerequisite for lifting the quarantine.
Robert Kennedy emphasized that he was not
yet prepared to talk about the details of this
whole affair, since the President did not yet
have any information on the results of U
Thant’s trip. Within an hour, said Robert
Kennedy, a government meeting would take
place in which this issue would be exam-
ined. He promised in the event of an emer-
gency to get in touch with me directly, or, if
this occurs during my trip to New York to
meet with [CPSU CC Politburo member]
A.I. Mikoyan, through Stevenson and
Kuznetsov.

Robert Kennedy emphasized that the
point was not that they do not trust our in-
formation on this account, but rather the
question of how to present this whole affair
to the public opinion of the USA in connec-
tion with the earlier statements offered by
the President. It was felt that he had been
somewhat worried by how Fidel Castro
might hinder the carrying out of the agree-
ment that had been reached.

1.XI.62   A. DOBRYNIN

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Telegram from USSR Foreign Minister
A. Gromyko to Soviet Ambassador in

Havana, with a copy sent to Kuznetsov
in New York, 1 November 1962

1 November 1962

The date for the removal of the dis-
mantled special materials from Cuba has
been set for 7 or 8 November, but not later
than 10 November. This has become pos-
sible as a result of the fact that the necessity
of observing strict secrecy in the transfer of
the special materials has fallen away. For
the removal of these materials it is now pos-
sible and advisable to use our usual ships
located in Cuban ports or arriving there in
the coming days, and there is no need to hide
such materials in the ship holds.

It is necessary that you and Comrade
Pavlov [Pliyev] to be guided by this infor-
mation. Similar instructions to Comrade
Pavlov are being given though the Ministry
of Defense.

Confirm reception of this telegram.

A.G.

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen.]

Telegram from USSR Foreign Minister
A. A. Gromyko to the Soviet Mission in

New York, 1 November 1962

To the SOVIET MISSION— COMRADES
KUZNETSOV, ZORIN

First. Judging by your reports [several
words deleted—ed.], the USA and several
other states belonging to the Security Coun-
cil may try to complicate the negotiations
underway now in New York among the rep-
resentatives of the USSR, Cuba, and the
USA, by submitting all the issues being dis-
cussed in the course of the negotiations to
the consideration of the Security Council.
This is visible in the proposal by the Irish
delegate, Boland, that the Security Council
hear U Thant’s report and pass a resolution
for delegating to U Thant the task of creat-
ing a special UN mechanism for monitor-
ing the dismantling of the special installa-
tions in Cuba. Besides this, his proposal also
stipulates that the other issues of the “Cu-
ban settlement” may also be discussed in
the Security Council, although the decision
on it may be postponed somewhat. All this
means that the USA, along with other coun-
tries that support its policy, wants to take
all these issues into its own hands in order
to drag out the resolution of the issues con-
cerning the security guarantees for Cuba, as
well as the securing, by way of agreements,
of the USA duties that have emerged from
the exchange of messages between Comrade
N.S. Khrushchev and Kennedy.

You should firmly object to such an
attempt to replace the trilateral negotiations,
in which U Thant is participating, with a
submission of all the issues to the consider-
ation of the Security Council, in which it
would be impossible, given its present com-
position, to reach resolutions that are advan-
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tageous for us. Make a statement about this
in categorical form to U Thant, Stevenson,
as well as to the UN delegates of the other
nations that will deal with this issue along
with you. Insist on the necessity of prolong-
ing the trilateral negoatiations with U
Thant’s participation, and on their speedy
completion by securing the results of the
negotiations in a corresponding written
agreement (a protocol statement).

Second. 1. On the monitoring of the
dismantling and the removal of the special
installations. Concerning the issue of moni-
toring the performance of work towards dis-
mantling the special installations in Cuba,
you should operate on the assumption that
the dismantling process will be completed
by 2 November, and that the dismantled
materials will be removed from Cuba by 7
or 8 November, or at the very latest 10 No-
vember, if our ships arrive without hindrance
in Cuban ports.

2. On the composition of the group of
Security Council agents. Proceed on the as-
sumption that for us it is acceptable that the
group monitoring the fulfillment of duties
to dismantle and remove the special missile
installations from Cuba contain representa-
tives from the neutral states proposed by U
Thant (Sweden, Ethiopia, the United Arab
Republic, Mexico, Brazil, Yugoslavia, Swit-
zerland). Also you may not object to the
proposal that this group consist of eight rep-
resentatives of the neutral nations belong-
ing to the Disarmament Committee (India,
Burma, the United Arab Republic, Nigeria,
Ethiopia, Mexico, Brazil, Sweden), if such
a proposal is introduced. There are also no
objections to including in the group the rep-
resentatives of Indonesia, Ceylon, the
United Arab Republic, and Ghana, as you
propose.

We consider unacceptable the Ameri-
cans’ proposal for the creation of monitor-
ing groups composed of the USA, the
USSR, and Cuba.

3. On the monitoring of vessels bound
for Cuba, after the lifting of the blockade.
You should proceed from the fact that we
have given our consent to the monitoring of
Soviet vessels bound for Cuba by the Inter-
national Red Cross. It is envisaged that this
monitoring will be carried out until the end
of the so-called “quarantine.” From this it
follows that the monitoring will be short-
term. Your proposal that the system for
monitoring the vessels be operative for the

duration, for example, of a year, is not ap-
propriate.

4. On UN posts. In connection with the
issue you proposed of monitoring certain
regions of the USA and several Latin Ameri-
can countries with the goal of determining
whether preparations for the invasion of
Cuba are underway, follow the instructions
in which we expressed our positive view of
U Thant’s proposal concerning the “UN
presence” in these countries and in Cuba.

You may approve the proposal that the
composition of the UN posts for carrying
out the indicated functions be similar to the
composition of the groups of agents for
monitoring the dismantling and removal of
special missile materials from the territory
of Cuba.

5. On American bases in Turkey.  We
agree with your opinion. You should not in
any circumstance touch on this issue in your
negotiations with U Thant and the USA rep-
resentatives in New York, since it is the sub-
ject of direct negotiations between Moscow
and Washington. On this point we are keep-
ing you informed only for your personal
edification.

6. On the concept of “offensive weap-
onry.”  We consider it inexpedient to change
the formula that was used in Comrade N.S.
Khrushchev’s messages and in the protocol
draft communicated by you, namely: “weap-
onry which the USA government has called
offensive.”

Your proposal to call this weaponry
“means for launching nuclear arms at an
operational distance greater than (so many)
kilometers” could allow the discussion of
this issue to acquire an undesirable charac-
ter for us, since the Americans will natu-
rally be trying to broaden the scope of the
weaponry prohibited from installations in
Cuba.

Third. Concerning all the main issues
relevant to the duties of the parties— the
USA, the USSR, and Cuba— and the se-
curing of their corresponding pledges, fol-
low the text of the protocol statement and
the instructions contained in our memo-
randa. Bear in mind, however, that as we
have already informed you, you will be car-
rying out these instructions, as well as the
instructions contained in the “second” point
of the present telegram, only on receiving
reports from us that our Cuban friends have
agreed to these proposals.

A.G.

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen.]

Telegram from USSR Foreign Minister
Gromyko to Soviet Mission in New

York, for A. I. Mikoyan,
 1 November 1962

1 November 1962

Comrade N.S. Khrushchev has en-
trusted me with the task of relaying the fol-
lowing to you:

1. We have specified here that our in-
stallations now being dismantled can be
shipped out of Cuba by 7 or 8 or at the lat-
est 10 November. This must be your point
of departure in your talks with U Thant,
McCloy, and our Cuban friends. Of course
this is only on the condition that our ships
will be granted safe passage into Cuban
ports.

2. In the talks with Fidel Castro, de-
pending on how these talks unfold, you
should make use of the following points in
your argumentation:

Emphasize that it is the necessity of a
speedy lifting of the so-called quarantine
that, in our opinion, our Cuban friends are
most interested in. They know better than
anyone else whether Cuba needs the ship-
ments of goods presently on Soviet ships
on the open sea. These cargoes cannot re-
main on the open sea for long. Among them
are perishable cargoes. Moreover, it must
be taken into account that there is also an
economic aspect to this issue: we are suf-
fering great expenses because the vessels are
being detained on their courses. A further
detainment will only increase these finan-
cial losses. Cuba is not concealing these
losses from us. Of course it may be that Cuba
is ready to bear the burden of these doubled
expenses, in which case it is a different story.
We see that you and we have different ap-
proaches to how this issue must be resolved.

If our Cuban friends are for some rea-
son not willing to facilitate the resolution
of this issue, we will be placed in a situa-
tion in which we will have to recall the ships.
For at present we are suffering unjustified
expenses.

It is impossible not to take into account
the damages being inflicted on our prestige
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because of the present situation in which our
vessels remain immobilized on the open sea.
This cannot continue endlessly.

We believe that the missiles have
achieved their effect, and achieved it well.
You say that you do not believe the Ameri-
cans. We too do not believe them. But we
are operating on the assumption that the
socialist states should take the necessary
steps to ensure their security, and to coexist
with the USA. It is possible that I am sim-
ply repeating here what I was saying to you
before your trip, but I think that these con-
cerns should be borne in mind when you
are presenting our case to Castro. This does
not mean, of course, that they should be
expressed literally and explicitly. But you
must make him clearly understand that we
are worried by the unreasonable position that
our Cuban comrades have been forced to
take.

1.XI.62  A. GROMYKO

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Cable of V.V. Kuznetsov on 1 November
1962 Conversation between CPSU CC
Politburo Member A.I. Mikoyan and

Acting UN Secretary General U Thant,
2 November 1962

Ciphered telegram
Top Secret

No copying is allowed
 Copy no. 1

2 November 1962

CC CPSU

Transmitting the record of conversa-
tion of com. A.I. Mikoyan

The conversation took place with U
Thant on 1 November 1962 in the U.N. mis-
sion [of the USSR - trans.].

At the start com. Mikoyan passed to U
Thant regard from com. N.S. Khrushchev
as well as on his own behalf. He told U Thant
that N.S. Khrushchev recalls with warmth
the conversations that he had with the act-
ing Secretary General. Personally N.S.
Khrushchev and his colleagues believe that

U Thant took a good initiative with the aim
of resolving the Cuban crisis and that in this
regard we are ackowledging his large con-
tribution. This raises the authority of U
Thant himself as well as of the United Na-
tions that could express itself in such a dan-
gerous situation.

He remarked then that although the
immediate danger of war has ebbed, never-
theless there are political and diplomatic
difficulties and they should be resolved ac-
cording to the ideas and proposals advanced
in the letters of N.S. Khrushchev [and]
Kennedy and in the declaration of Castro.
He stressed that for its part the Soviet Union
was ready to continue its efforts to achieve
final resolution of the Cuban issue. He re-
marked that the acting Secretary General
could exercise a certain influence, using his
authority, in the process of ultimate settle-
ment of the conflict.

He informed that he was heading for
Cuba to meet with the Cuban friends, and
decided to stop in New York in order to see
U Thant and hear his considerations with
regard to his recent trip to Cuba.

U Thant welcomed com. Mikoyan. He
reminded him of  their meetings in Yalta in
November 1955 when U Thant accompa-
nied [Burmese leader] U Nu, and then in
Burma. U Thant recalled with warmth his
meetings with N.S. Khrushchev in 1955 in
Yalta as well as during the trip of N.S.
Khrushchev to Burma, and also in the
United Nations in 1960 and again this year
in the Soviet Union. U Thant expressed his
sincere gratitude to N.S. Khrushchev for his
encouraging words passed to him in his let-
ters to U Thant and also through our repre-
sentatives in the UN. He values highly and
rejoices at the assessment that the Soviet
Union gives to his efforts in the resolution
of the Cuban issue.

U Thant stressed that the position of
the Soviet government and its head N.S.
Khrushchev in the Cuban crisis was grate-
fully received by the vast majority of  the
peoples of all the world and met with grati-
tude by the whole mankind. He remarked
that the people now see much more clearly
the sincere desire of the Soviet Union to
have the UN as an efficacious instrument
for maintaining peace and for preventing
war.

After that U Thant turned to his trip to
Cuba and said the following.

The trip was taken in connection with

the exchange of letters between him and
Fidel Castro. In his first appeal to Castro, U
Thant called on him to cooperate with the
UN in the name of securing peace. In his
reply, Castro invited U Thant to visit Cuba
personally in his capacity of acting UN Sec-
retary General and to discuss with him the
issues concerning the attitude of the gov-
ernment of Cuba on the question under con-
sideration of the Security Council.

U Thant accepted this invitation and
visited Cuba, staying there on 30 and 31
October. He held two meetings with Prime
Minister Castro, when the Cuban issue was
discussed. In Havana he met some diplo-
mats accredited by the government of
Castro. The most useful conversations were
ones with the Ambassadors of Brazil, Yu-
goslavia, the UAR [United Arab Republic],
and the USSR.

One of the issues on U Thant’s agenda
during the trip was to clarify the reaction of
the Cuban government concerning the
agreement of the Soviet Union to allow U.N.
observers to check on the fulfillment of the
commitment to dismantle Soviet missile
launchers in Cuba and to return them to the
USSR.

Castro said in categorical form that
Cuba is a sovereign and independent state
and it would not allow any external organi-
zation - be it the UN or anything else - to
interfere in the internal affairs of Cuba. Im-
position of inspection on the part of the UN
would be considered by the Cuban people
as an infringement on its sovereign rights
and would be considered as a humiliation
of the people of Cuba. Such a step cannot
be accepted by the Cuban government. If
the USSR wants to meet the announced
goals of sending the groups of inspectors,
then Castro believes that such inspections
might be carried out outside of the territo-
rial waters of Cuba.

Castro informed U Thant that on Thurs-
day, 1 November, he was going to speak on
radio and television with a speech where he
intends to mention this issue. U Thant re-
portedly advised Castro to postpone this
speech, since it is very delicate and would
be assessed as a declaration of policy with
all consequences that flow out of it. Castro
responded to U Thant that he had already
put off making of this speech with regard to
[U Thant’s] visit in Cuba. If the speech were
delayed one more time, then people would
not understand it. Therefore Castro could not
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once again postpone his speech.
The U Thant asked Castro not to men-

tion in his speech the position of the gov-
ernment of Cuba regarding the [issue of] UN
inspection, to which he gladly agreed, say-
ing that he would remove this paragraph
from the text he had already prepared.

U Thant asked com. Mikoyan, having
in mind the confidential character of his
conversations with Castro, not to raise this
issue on his own initiative.

As Castro pointed out, in his speech
he planned to lay out the entire foreign
policy of Cuba and in particularly to em-
phasize the five points on the settlement of
the Cuban crisis he had advanced on 28
October. To this U Thant responded that in
view of the deliberations on the Cuban is-
sue in the Security Council and his own
speech he could not do it. The Security
Council did not authorize him to discuss
with the sides issues of permanent or long-
term character of settlement of the conflict
in the Caribbean sea.

To this Castro responded that a tempo-
rary resolution of  immediate problems did
not resolve the Cuban issue as a whole. The
resolution of these immediate questions, in
the opinion of the government of Cuba, had
to be linked to resolution of the longer-term
problems. The Security Council had to dis-
cuss also and resolve the issue about a last-
ing peace in the area of the Caribbean sea.
If the Security Council were preoccupied
with resolution of only immediate problems,
then similar problems would emerge in the
foreseeable future again, and they could cre-
ate a situation similar to the current one.
Therefore the government of Cuba is con-
vinced that to ensure lasting and secure
peace in the whole world it is necessary that
the Security Council should preoccupy it-
self with the issue of ensuring lasting peace
in the Caribbean region. In case the Secu-
rity Council would be convened, Castro in-
tends to send to the UN Minister of Foreign
Affairs Raul Roa so that he would present
the viewpoint of his government on the en-
tire Cuban issue. The delegation of Cuba
would address the Security Council with a
request to find a lasting and final solution
to this issue. The government of Cuba is
firmly convinced that such a solution can
be found only on the basis of 5 points ad-
vanced on 28 October by Premier Castro.

U Thant told Castro that at that point
he was not competent to discuss this issue,

although he received with understanding the
viewpoint of the Prime Minister of Cuba.

Then in the conversations U Thant and
Castro touched on the issue about “the UN
presence” in the region of the Caribbean sea
during the period of the crisis.

U Thant told Castro that in the inter-
ests of the government of Cuba and the Cu-
ban people themselves it would be useful to
have in Havana UN representatives, and, if
Castro agrees, he was ready to leave 2 to 3
of his officials to establish contacts and to
follow-up on their dialogue.

Castro responded that had the govern-
ment of Cuba agreed at the present moment
to the presence of UN representatives in
Cuba, it could have been interpreted by
people as consent to the presence of inspect-
ing groups of the United Nations. While
saying so, he referred to American radio
broadcasts which affirm on an hourly basis
that the U Thant mission had exactly the
inspection goals in mind. Under such terms
people might have misperceived such a step.
Castro asked U Thant not to insist on this
proposal.

He then declared that, if the Security
Council accepted some kind of formula to
resolve the Cuban issue on a permanent ba-
sis, then he, Castro, would be glad to have
some kind of UN presence on the recipro-
cal basis. However, this cannot be done in
the present phase.

In conversations with Castro, U Thant
raised the question about the return to the
USA on humanitarian grounds of an Ameri-
can pilot who, according to press publica-
tions, had vanished without a trace in the
area of Cuba. Castro told him that the USA
aircraft of the type U-2 had indeed violated
the aerial space over Cuba in violation of
international legislation and the UN Char-
ter. It was shot down by the Cubans, the pi-
lot died, since he could not bail out. Castro
would have been ready to return the pilot,
and alive, but he is dead, therefore he is
ready to return the body under auspices of
the UN. (This information U Thant passed
to the Americans).

Castro also said that any further viola-
tion of the aerial borders of Cuba would be
dealt with in a similar way.

The next question that was discussed
between U Thant and Castro was about a
voluntary suspension by the Soviet Union
of its supplies of weapons for Cuba for a
period of 2 to 3 weeks and the simultaneous

voluntary suspension of the quarantine on
the part of the USA.

U Thant informed Castro about the
acceptance on the part of the Soviet Union
of such a voluntary commitment, and also
that the USA would have also agreed to sus-
pend the quarantine for 2-3 weeks, on the
condition that there would be a mechanism
for checking if Soviet ships heading for
Cuba were not carrying arms.

U Thant informed Castro also that the
Soviet Union had agreed that the Red Cross
should deal with inspection of vessels out-
side of the boundaries of the territorial wa-
ters of Cuba. He said that for the Red Cross
it would have been more convenient to in-
spect ships in the ports of arrival, and not in
the open sea, if, of course, the government
of Cuba agreed to that.

Castro said to this, that his government
would not allow groups of the Red Cross to
inspect Soviet ships on Cuban territory, but
if the USSR agreed to the inspection, then
the UN should start organizing this business
on the open sea.

Responding to the question of U Thant
about a possible time of convocation of a
next session of the Security Council on the
Cuban issue, Castro said that he would have
preferred that the Council convene no
sooner than next Wednesday, i.e. after the
elections in the United States.

Com. Mikoyan thanked U Thant for
interesting and useful information, stress-
ing that this would facilitate his talks with
Prime Minister Fidel Castro.

He observed that the Americans were
now trying to focus all attention on the dis-
mantling and withdrawal of missile equip-
ment, doing nothing on their part concern-
ing the guarantees of Cuba’s security.

Therefore Castro is right when he
speaks about the need to solve the Cuban
issue on a permanent basis. Now it is im-
portant to move from general declarations
to concrete steps for cardinal solution of the
entire issue on the basis of  the letters of
N.S. Khrushchev [and] Kennedy, and also
the just and constructive proposals of Fidel
Castro. Naturally, the Americans will object
to some proposals of Castro, but his pro-
posals face in the right direction.

On the time of convening the Security
Council, com. Mikoyan remarked that we
understand the considerations of Fidel on
this score. We also would like to say that
since general principles of complete liqui-



COLD WAR INTERNATIONAL HISTORY PROJECT BULLETIN  313

dation of the conflict has been adopted and
declared by the interested sides, and also by
the UN, since the acting Secretary General
is taking active part in this, then, in our opin-
ion, the Security Council should be con-
vened at the moment when the current ne-
gotiations would approach the phase of an
agreed-upon document finalizing this crisis.
Until then convening of the Security Coun-
cil would hardly assist in this matter.

Com. Mikoyan voiced the idea that
after the end of talks of the sides, some kind
of document might be passed for approval
to the Security Council and on its basis and
in following up on it the Council might take
a decision on subsequent practical steps.
Such a document might have the character
of a protocol which would describe talks that
would have taken place between the sides
with participation of U Thant on the basis
of the letters of N.S. Khrushchev and
Kennedy, and also the declarations of Fidel
Castro, and that would inform about the
achieved agreement that, thereby, would
have been sealed by the Security Council.

[Mikoyan] said to U Thant that we
learned with great interest about his initia-
tive concerning the practicality of having
observers in Cuba, in the USA, and in other
countries neighboring Cuba for a duration
of some period. He informed [U Thant] that
N.S. Khrushchev was delighted to see this
initiative of U Thant and considered it to be
interesting and useful. It is good that Fidel
Castro took it in a positive way. This pro-
posal contains in itself the principle of reci-
procity, and the USSR is ready to support
such a proposal. It could be included into a
draft protocol.

He asked U Thant if he had spoken to
the Americans on this subject and if so what
was their attitude toward this idea.

U Thant said that in conversation with
Soviet representatives he advanced several
formulas for solution of the issue in its en-
tirety, and the problem of guarantees in par-
ticular. At one of these meetings with com.
Zorin he indeed proposed that, provided the
agreement of the sides, the presence of the
UN in the Western hemisphere, in the
flashpoints, would be useful. Were it to
prove acceptable, then, in the opinion of U
Thant, such a measure would have facili-
tated a settlement of the situation in the Car-
ibbean region on the permanent basis.

U Thant discussed this idea with heads
of missions of Latin American [countries]

in the UN even before his trip to Cuba and
they seemed interested. Some Latin Ameri-
can delegates not only were interested in this
idea but also let U Thant understand that
such a measure would be desirable.

The USA so far does not want to openly
express its attitude towards this proposal of
U Thant. Its reaction was reduced to the ar-
gument that, well, since this arrangement
concerns all the countries of  Western hemi-
sphere, this issue should be discussed in the
Organization of American States.

Com. Mikoyan asked U Thant about
his opinion regarding a possible form of the
document stating the reached agreement.

U Thant said that if  the sides agree in
general, then the goal will be reached
through any such document in the form of
protocol, joint declaration, separate decla-
ration of the sides, agreement and even in
the form of  summing-up declaration of the
chairman of the Security Council.

Com. Mikoyan asked U Thant also to
express his personal considerations on the
time of  convocation of the Security Coun-
cil.

U Thant said that it should be done af-
ter the elections in the USA, but everything
depends on the sides’ agreement. If the sides
come to agreement, the Council can be con-
vened at any time.

Then U Thant passed his wish to thank
the Soviet Ambassador in Cuba for his genu-
ine and wholehearted cooperation during the
trip of U Thant. In particular, U Thant noted
that our Ambassador in Havana and the So-
viet officer informed him without delay
about the time when dismantling of the mis-
sile units began, about the time when work
will be finished, and about the fact that ships
are commissioned for withdrawal of these
units. In this regard U Thant asked as a mat-
ter of personal interest about the time of ar-
rival of ships to Cuba to pick up the men-
tioned materiel.

Com. Mikoyan confirmed what our
Ambassador in Havana had told U Thant
about the time-frame of dismantling. Con-
cerning the time-frame of withdrawal he
said that those ships that are now in Cuba
will not suffice. However, with regard to the
continuing quarantine Soviet ships cannot
sail to Cuba. Therefore it is necessary to lift
the quarantine, so that Soviet ships could
enter Cuban ports, unload their cargoes and
load on them the dismantled units
[ustanovki]. If one does it in speedily, then

perhaps 10-15 days will be required. He
promised to raise this issue in the forthcom-
ing conversation with McCloy.

U Thant said that he addresses the
Americans every day with appeals to sus-
pend the blockade. And yesterday, having
returned from Cuba, he did the same, mak-
ing the Americans aware that he was con-
vinced that the dismantling had begun and
was under way as it had been promised, and
that it would be finished by the announced
date.

Com. Mikoyan thanked U Thant for his
useful and exhaustive information. They
agreed that for the press they will announce
about useful exchange of opinions and the
friendly atmosphere of the conversation.

At the end of the conversation U Thant
said that if A.I. Mikoyan would come back
via New York, he (U Thant) would be glad
to meet again and learn about the results of
the trip. He would like that time to be a more
generous host than now and to invite A.I.
Mikoyan for lunch and breakfast.

The conversation was recorded by
com. Zherebtsov V.N.

         2.XI.62   V. KUZNETSOV

[Source: AVPRF; obtained by NHK, pro-
vided to CWIHP, copy on file at National
Security Archive; translation by Vladislav
M. Zubok (National Security Archive).]

Telegram from Soviet envoy G. Zhukov
to CC CPSU, 2 November 1962

2 November 1962

Yesterday, on 1 November (before din-
ner with A.I. Mikoyan), McCloy invited me
to his residence and said the following:

1. The Americans express their grati-
tude for the fact that the American plane
making aerial photos of Cuba today was not
subjected to gunfire. The photos are still
being developed, but the Americans hope
that they will confirm the correctness of the
statement made by the Soviet general in
Cuba, to the effect that the missile disman-
tling process has already been started.

2. McCloy offered a detailed account
of how U Thant had informed him of his
talks with Castro (the account coincides with
what U Thant told our delegation). He said
that he understood the difficulties arising
from Castro’s refusal of ground-based in-
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spections, and that now it was necessary to
find new methods of monitoring that would
confirm that the dismantling and removal
of the missiles had begun (in McCloy’s opin-
ion, the best solution would be aerial pho-
tos along with a check on the ships remov-
ing the cargoes from Cuba on the open sea.
McCloy underscored that this monitoring
should be formal— without inquiring into
the details of the missiles, which are secret).

3. McCloy spoke a lot about the future
prospects of an American-Soviet collabora-
tion which would open up as a result of the
settling of the Cuban crisis. In his view, it is
necessary in the first place to reach an agree-
ment on the cessation of nuclear testing,
which would make a huge impression on
public opinion. It would be good if this
agreement could be signed by Kennedy and
Khrushchev. Such a meeting would
strengthen public faith that their personal
contacts can be fruitful.

McCloy also believes it expedient to
conclude an agreement concerning a renun-
ciation of the military use of outer space,
and to sign a treaty on at least one bilateral
agreement concerning the colonizing of
outer space (for example, the launching of
a Soviet-American rocket aimed at Venus).

McCloy also reiterated several ideas
expressed earlier by Salinger and Thomp-
son (concerning in particular the issue of
bases in Turkey—it may be possible, in his
view, to eliminate them in the course of “the
first stage of disarmament”—by way of “re-
distr ibution”).

4. McCloy implied that he would play
the role of an unofficial intermediary in the
preparation of a meeting between Kennedy
and Khrushchev, which in his view could
take place within a few months, if resolu-
tions of the issues enumerated above have
been completed by that time.

5. McCloy asked us to pass on his
warm greetings to N. S. Khrushchev and the
members of his family, from himself and his
own family.

2.XI.62  G. ZHUKOV

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen.]

A.I. Mikoyan to CC CPSU re 1
November 1962 Meeting with

Stevenson, 2 November 1962

[...] We raised the question that it was
necessary to write down in the form of a
protocol the important provisions that are
contained in the exchange of messages be-
tween N.S. Khrushchev and Kennedy tak-
ing into account the statement by Fidel
Castro.  The Americans by all means were
evading discussion of this question and try-
ing to bring the whole matter to the organi-
zation of control over the dismantling and
withdrawal from Cuba of the Soviet mis-
siles.  Nevertheless, in the course of con-
versation they were obliged to answer our
questions relating to the settlement of the
Cuban problem in general and disclosed
some of their positions that seem interest-
ing for further negotiations.  To save space
in this cable we omit our remarks during
the conversation.  You may learn them from
the transcript of the conversation which is
being sent separately.

1. Though reluctantly, the Americans
agreed with the need to fix in documents
the corresponding commitments, including
the non-aggression commitment against
Cuba.  In their opinion, these documents
must include: a statement by the Soviet
Union on the completion of the missiles’
evacuation; a USA statement saying they are
convinced of the withdrawal and giving cor-
responding non-aggression guarantees to
Cuba; possibly also a statement by U Thant.

The statement by the Soviet govern-
ment must be the first.

The texts of these statements will be
coordinated in advance.

It is foreseen that a corresponding state-
ment will be made by the Government of
Cuba. All these statements must be pre-
sented to the Security Council.

The unwillingness of the Americans to
sign a protocol, apparently, can be explained
in addition by the following thing: they do
not want to put their signature side by side
with the Cubans’.

The Americans underlined their readi-
ness to include in their statement provisions
based on corresponding wording from
Kennedy’s messages regarding the issue of
non-aggression guarantees for Cuba.

When we mentioned that in the Ameri-
can press there has appeared a statement by
D. Rusk to the effect that Kennedy’s state-
ment is not a non-aggression guarantee to
Cuba, Stevenson assured us that D. Rusk

had not said it, but that the press gave an
erroneous interpretation of his speech.

Stevenson and McCloy confirmed that
the USA are [is] ready to give a non-aggres-
sion guarantee to Cuba as it was mentioned
in Kennedy’s letter, if an inspection in some
form confirms that the Soviet “offensive”
armament is really removed from Cuba.

Stevenson and McCloy affirmed that
the encampments where the Cuban exiles
had been training for an invasion of Cuba
were currently closed.

2. During the conversation we reso-
lutely demanded the removal of the so-
called “quarantine,” underlining that its con-
tinuation in no way can help to create a suit-
able atmosphere for the solution of the Cu-
ban problem and may only complicate the
situation. In this regard we noted that the
Soviet Union had complied with the request
from U Thant for a temporary suspension
of armaments’ supplies to Cuba, but that the
USA had not stopped their “quarantine” for
at least some time, as it had been suggested
by U Thant.

McCloy and Stevenson evaded a clear
answer to the question of ending the “quar-
antine,” having limited themselves to a ref-
erence that to the Soviet vessels going to
Cuba would be applied the same procedure
as it was on October 25 regarding the tanker
“Bucharest,” without an inspection on
board, but with the help of a hailing-request
by radio.

It is illustrative that in response to our
statement that in the event of dropping the
practice of “quarantine” and giving our ves-
sels the possibility to visit Cuba without any
obstacles some 10-15 days will be needed
to dispatch [from Cuba] all the armaments
called offensive by the Americans, McCloy
and Stevenson said that in their opinion it is
hardly possible from the technical stand-
point to carry out the mentioned volume of
work in such a short period of time. Accord-
ing to McCloy, at least a month would be
needed for that.

3. There has been a detailed discussion
of methods for control of the dismantling
and removal of missiles.

Apparently, feeling the weakness of
their position and taking into account ob-
jections on the part of Fidel Castro to per-
mit verification on Cuban territory, McCloy
and Stevenson declared in the course of dis-
cussion that the American side would be
ready not to insist on verification methods
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foreseen in the message to N.S. Khrushchev
and was ready to look for some new meth-
ods that would in essence give the Ameri-
cans the possibility to be certain of the
implementation of our commitment to with-
draw the weapons.

To our specific question what new
methods was he referring to, McCloy said:
the USA could limit [itself] to the continua-
tion of their flights which give them confi-
dence that there has not resumed in Cuba
an installation of the dangerous for them
types of armaments.

If Castro is against a ground verifica-
tion, continued McCloy, another thing could
be done - a transfer of the lists of armaments
withdrawn from Cuba, when they would be
removed, and of the corresponding informa-
tion, which however would not disclose
Soviet technological secrets. We do know
roughly how many missiles currently are
situated in Cuba. In this case we could man-
age without ground verification. We are
glad, - said McCloy, - that today our plane
had not come under fire when it had been
flying over Cuba. As far as we know the
anti-aircraft missiles in Cuba are in the hands
of your people, not the Cubans, although it’s
possible that there are some Cuban person-
nel.

McCloy received a very firm response
that the USA [has] no right to overfly Cuba
and nobody can guarantee the security of
such illegal flights.

4. We raised the question of normaliz-
ing relations between the USA [and] their
Latin American allies, and Cuba. We also
asked what is their attitude to U Thant’s plan
for a UN presence in the Caribbean. The
Americans flatly rejected any inspection of
their territory whatsoever and declared:
“You will have to trust our word.”

At the same time, Stevenson said that
the USA aspires to normalize the situation
in the Caribbean, but under the condition of
Castro’s cooperation. We could in some
form elaborate mutual guarantees, accept-
able to Castro and his neighbors. If Castro
is afraid of them, they are afraid of him, too.
I consider, said Stevenson, that after the
Cuban crisis is settled the tension in this re-
gion would be lessened.

In this regard we put the question in
this way:

“Castro may ask me if the USA [is]
going to re-establish diplomatic and eco-
nomic relations with Cuba? Maybe you in-

tend to do so not immediately, but some time
later?”

Stevenson said that he was not able to
give an answer to that question insofar as it
is part of the competence of the OAS [Or-
ganization of American States]. But perhaps
we can consider the possibility of organiz-
ing corresponding regional arrangements,
giving the necessary confidence to the coun-
tries of the Caribbean. I hope that steadily
we will succeed in eliminating antagonism
between Cuba and its neighbors.

At the same time Stevenson made the
observation that currently the “antagonism”
between Cuba and its neighbors is instigated
by “subversive actions in this region, per-
haps undertaken mutually.” McCloy noted
that “Cuba is the breeding ground of infec-
tion and Venezuela an example.”

It was clear that in the immediate fu-
ture the USA [is] not going to re-establish
diplomatic and economic ties with Cuba.

5. Stevenson and McCloy stated that
the USA refuse[s] point-blank to discuss the
question of liquidating the American base
at Guantanamo.

6. In the course of the conversation
McCloy attempted to broach the subject of
an eventual evacuation from Cuba of the
Soviet “ground-air” anti-aircraft missiles.
We have resolutely warded off this probing,
declaring that such a question could not be
raised and that we had sold these weapons
to a number of countries, including the
United Arab Republic and Indonesia.
McCloy made the observation that “they are
good machines against attacks from air-
space.”

7. McCloy and Stevenson agreed that
it would be good for Soviet and American
delegations to try to reach preliminary agree-
ments over the issues to be discussed by the
Security Council.

8. McCloy and Stevenson expressed
satisfaction over the exchange of opinions
and Stevenson underlined that the USSR and
USA positions “are not so far from each
other.” Both of them were inquiring whether
I would stop on my way back [from Cuba].

I said in response that for the moment
I had no plans to do so but if necessary I
assumed it would be possible.

2.XI.62    A. MIKOYAN

[Source: AVPRF; trans. V. Zaemsky; copy
on file at National Security Archive.]

Soviet Record of 1 November 1962
Dinner Conversation between CPSU
CC Politburo Member A.I. Mikoyan

and White House envoy John McCloy
and U.S. Ambassador to the United

Nations Adlai Stevenson

Secret. Copy no. 24

RECORD OF CONVERSATION OF
com. A.I. MIKOYAN

WITH JOHN MCCLOY AND ADLAI
STEVENSON AT A DINNER IN THE

SOVIET MISSION AT THE U.N.
1 November 1962

At the outset of the conversation A.I.
Mikoyan poses a question about the lifting
of the American blockade on the surround-
ings of Cuba for the period of negotiations,
as it was proposed by U Thant in his first
missive to com. N.S. Khrushchev and to
President Kennedy on 24 October this year.

A.I. Mikoyan says that the USSR ac-
cepted recommendation of the acting Gen-
eral Secretary of the U.N., and the United
States did not. On 24 October U Thant pro-
posed that the Soviet Union would stop de-
livery of weapons to Cuba for the duration
of talks (2 to 3 weeks), and the United States
during the same period would suspend the
blockade. The Soviet Union fulfilled the rec-
ommendations of U Thant, but the United
States did not.

McCloy remarks that U Thant seeks to
start as soon as possible to check up Soviet
vessels sailing to Cuba, by the forces of the
International Red Cross.

Stevenson says that the United States
hoped that by the end of next week observ-
ers of the International Red Cross would be
able to begin their work in Cuba. Here ap-
parently some sort of misunderstanding
emerges. It was understood that the suspen-
sion of the “quarantine” would be condi-
tioned on the simultaneous introduction of
inspection.

A.I. Mikoyan objects that no such un-
derstanding took place.

McCloy remarks that perhaps U Thant
did introduce the proposal mentioned by A.I.
Mikoyan, but the United States accepted not
his proposal, but the proposal of  Chairman
Khrushchev in his letter to President
Kennedy.
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Stevenson says that in fact the issue
about immediate suspension of the “quar-
antine” is purely academic. Soviet ships will
probably not reach Cuba until next week,
and meanwhile he hopes that the inspection
of the Red Cross will be already in force,
and then, naturally, there will be no need
for the “quarantine.”

A.I. Mikoyan reiterates that N.S.
Khrushchev accepted the proposal of U
Thant and the Americans did not accept it.

Stevenson. We believe that a certain
understanding was achieved in the letters of
N.S. Khrushchev and J. Kennedy.

A.I. Mikoyan. This is correct. What
was envisaged in the letters must be imple-
mented and will be implemented. However,
had the United States adopted the same rea-
sonable approach, permeated with good
will, as was adopted by the Soviet Union,
then they would have accepted the proposal
of U Thant and would have lifted the block-
ade immediately.

McCloy. Would you make a stop on
the way back [from Cuba] in New York?

A.I. Mikoyan. I have no definite plans
on this score, but I would not exclude such
a stop-over.

McCloy (in a jocular tone). But would
Castro let you out?

A.I. Mikoyan. He and I are special
friends and will work it out somehow

Stevenson. Perhaps you will bring him
along over here?

A.I. Mikoyan. You showed such a poor
hospitality to him, that he can hardly be con-
vinced to come to New York again. Such a
great power as the United States should be
ashamed to mistreat such a small country.
When Stevenson had not yet been the USA
representative [in the United Nations -
trans.], he had good understanding of ev-
erything, but now apparently his official
position makes him speak and act in a dif-
ferent way.

Stevenson. We learn in government
office, but we forget nothing. We immedi-
ately accepted the proposal on inspection by
the Red Cross. I do not know how many
Soviet ships are approaching Cuba, but I
would prefer that there will be more of them,
so that they would sooner take away your
missiles. I must tell you that we were very
favorably impressed by the speed with
which Soviet officers dismantle the missiles.

McCloy. I am struck by the speed of
assembling as well as disassembling [of the

missiles - trans.].
A.I. Mikoyan. Those who can assemble

fast, can also disassemble fast. Our military
are men of discipline, they punctually ful-
fill the order of N.S. Khrushchev. But there
are not enough ships around Cuba to carry
away the equipment which is the subject of
the understanding, so in addition other ships
will be necessary. And your blockade stands
in their way to Cuba and, consequently,
hampers the withdrawal of missiles. In other
words, the “quarantine” turns itself against
your own interests.

McCloy. We would gladly let your
ships pass in both directions, if they carry
all your missiles away. I would like to be on
the ship that would transport the last mis-
siles from Cuba, added McCloy in jest.

A.I. Mikoyan (in a jocular way). So lift
the “quarantine” and then everything will
be in order. Stevenson will become the one
he had used to be before he was nominated
[to his position] in the UN.

Stevenson. When do your ships arrive
in Cuba?

A.I. Mikoyan. But you have not yet
lifted the blockade. Our ships are now in
the open sea, about 4-5 days away from
Cuba. They should reach Cuba, disembark
their load, then load themselves and leave.
This would, of course, require a certain time,
no less than 10-15 days.

Stevenson. We could agree on a sched-
ule. Next week one might agree on an in-
spection of the Red Cross; then  the “quar-
antine” might be lifted.

A.I. Mikoyan. I would like to know if
[the leadership of] the United States think[s]
that we should work out an agreement that
would seal what has been said in the ex-
change of letters between Kennedy and
Khrushchev? Or you are interested only in
the dismantling and withdrawal of missiles?
Would you think that we should agree on
other issues touched upon in the exchange
of missives, and confirm the achieved un-
derstanding in a written document?

Stevenson. First of all we want to reach
understanding on the withdrawal of missile
equipment from Cuba and we do not want
to tolerate that until the establishment of
inspection by the Red Cross there would be
an uncontrolled flow of armaments into
Cuba.

McCloy. There is already too much
armament there. We cannot tolerate its build-
up.

A.I.Mikoyan. It is correct that there is
sufficient amount of armament in Cuba, but
we already stopped sending it there.

McCloy. Yes, but we cannot risk, when
it may happen that some arms are being
withdrawn and other arms are being shipped
in. When the missile equipment will be
shipped off, the political atmosphere will
ameliorate and it will be easier to agree. You
preferred U.N. inspections to an inspection
of the Red Cross. We agreed to that. We are
interested in your ships reaching Cuba soon,
and we will not obstruct their way.

A.I. Mikoyan. Arms were not provided
to Cuba to attack the United States, but as a
means of containment [sderzhivaiyuchego],
so that there was no aggression against
Cuba. But since in his answer to the letter
of N.S. Khrushchev  J. Kennedy gave the
assurance that neither the United States, nor
its Latin American allies would attack Cuba,
we declared our readiness to pull out some
types of armaments from Cuba.

Stevenson. I do not think there is any
disagreement on the issue that Soviet ships
should enter the ports of Cuba. It is only
that the “quarantine” should be preserved
until the establishment of  the Red Cross
inspection. We are interested to see that there
will be no new shipments of arms, and we
hope you will understand us.

A.I. Mikoyan. We agreed with the pro-
posals of U Thant and declared that we
would not bring armaments to Cuba pend-
ing the talks. Those ships that are now at
sea carrying no weapons at all. I must say
that Stevenson is a good diplomat: I am
pushing him in one direction of the talk, but
he veers off.

Then for some time the conversation
was focused on the issues of protocol na-
ture.

In the second half of the conversation
the discussion of business resumes.

A.I. Mikoyan. Yet I would like to pose
the following question. Would the USA gov-
ernment think to come to an agreement
where all that was said in the exchange of
well-known letters would be fixed? I have
in mind the kind of document that would
formulate the settlement of the crisis. We
think it is preferable to work out such a docu-
ment.

V.V. Kuznetsov. The need in working
out such a document stems from the under-
standing achieved between the sides about
the settlement of the crisis.
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Stevenson. In our opinion, the sole
problem that confronts us - it is to work out
conditions for inspection that should be car-
ried out by representatives of the Red Circle.
This is relatively easy task. One could set
up two check-points at the approaches to
Cuba’s ports, in the South and in the North,
where two ships of the Red Cross could be
located. These might be ships of neutral
countries or any other ships, perhaps even
sailing hospitals. On board there could be
Red Cross inspectors who could check on
ships going for Cuba, so that the character
of this check-up would be via radio - inquir-
ing on the ship’s origins, where it goes and
with what cargo. Inspectors would not board
ships. I think that such [a form of] inspec-
tion should not create problems. We would
be glad to hear from you which ships, in
your opinion, must be utilized for these
aims. I would like to repeat that one could
easily reach understanding on this issue.

There is, however, one problem: mea-
sures to check the fulfillment of obligations
on dismantling and withdrawal of missile
equipment from Cuba. As I understood from
U Thant, Castro did not agree to UN inspec-
tions stipulated in the exchange of letters
between J. Kennedy and N.S. Khrushchev.
We hope that you will discuss this issue once
again in Havana.

McCloy. I must emphasize that we do
not accept the 5 conditions of Castro as the
conditions for fulfillment of  what had been
said in the letter of Mr. Khrushchev.

Stevenson. The problem that concerns
us most is that an inspection should be car-
ried out before you report to the Security
Council about the completion of withdrawal
of missile equipment. Naturally, there
should be a check-up of how this undertak-
ing is implemented. I think that such a
check-up need not be difficult to carry out.

In addition to that, of course, there is
the issue of the form of USA assurance that
Cuba will not be subjected to invasion. This
also need not present any difficulties.

McCloy. And to a certain extent this is
an answer to the question previously posed
by Mr. Mikoyan.

A.I. Mikoyan. You keep focusing all
attention only on the issue of withdrawal of
armaments from Cuba and on inspection.
However, the first-order question is to grant
to Cuba guarantees of non-intervention
against it on the part of other countries of
the Western hemisphere, recognition of the

sovereignty and territorial integrity of the
Cuban Republic, observation of its territo-
rial inviolability, non-interference into its
domestic affairs. Castro demands it, and you
apparently do not want to give such assur-
ances.

Castro puts forward also a demand to
liquidate the U.S. base in Guantanamo. Why
are you refusing to discuss this issue? While
pressing your demands, you do not want to
hear the legitimate demands of the other
side. Of course, this is an issue of Ameri-
can-Cuban relations, but in any case this is-
sue must be discussed with Castro.

The exchange of letters between N.S.
Khrushchev and Kennedy - this is in essence
already an agreement. But by itself the ex-
change of letters cannot be considered as a
final document. One must carry out nego-
tiations to work out such a final document
on the basis of the exchange of letters, since
this issue has acquired a bilateral interna-
tional character.

We suggest to conduct negotiations on
this basis and believe that the United States,
the Soviet Union, and Cuba should sign a
protocol, with participation of U Thant. Such
a protocol might fix all the basic premises
contained in the letters of N.S. Khrushchev
and J. Kennedy.

I repeat, we think that you should con-
sider the proposals advanced by Castro.
They are legitimate ones. You should also
consider the issue of the base in
Guantanamo. I see that you disagree with
Castro’s demand, but it does not mean that
you should turn down any discussion of his
demands. One cannot turn such a discussion
down, when one wants to normalize the situ-
ation.

I would touch on an interesting plan
advanced by U Thant; after an agreement
among the parties involved, which could be
approved by the Security Council, one might
agree on the presence of UN inspectors in
the area of the Caribbean Sea, including
Cuba, and on the South-East coast of the
United States and the neighboring Latin
American countries. These inspectors could
watch over implementation of the under-
standing on mutual non-interference be-
tween the United States and Cuba. This is a
very important proposal and its implemen-
tation would give a change to fully settle
the conflict. One should take into account
that Cuba is an independent state. It is im-
possible to demand that some kind of in-

spection would cover only its territory, if
there were no analogous inspection cover-
ing the territory of the other side, on the basis
of reciprocity.

I must emphasize that if the letter of J.
Kennedy had not told of guarantees of non-
intervention against Cuba, we would not
have agreed to dismantle and withdraw mis-
sile equipment from Cuba. But now it comes
out as follows: we are withdrawing weap-
ons, and you are back-pedaling on your
commitments. Castro does not have trust in
your word and he has a right [not to], since
the territory of Cuba has already been in-
vaded. It would be a different matter if there
would be an official document enforced,
containing appropriate guarantees for Cuba
and approved by the Security Castro.

I would like to know your opinion
about the guarantees. What can I tell Castro
when I meet him? We stem from the fact
that the letter from Kennedy already con-
tains a basis for an agreement on granting
to Cuba the guarantees of non-intervention.
This is a bilateral problem and both sides
must resolve it and fix it in an agreement.

McCloy. In our opinion, the most im-
portant [thing] is to withdraw appropriate
[offensive - trans.] types of armaments from
Cuba as soon as possible. If it is not done,
the situation will worsen very much. One
can speak about the assurances of Kennedy
concerning non-intervention against Cuba,
but Castro must not set new conditions on
withdrawal of missile equipment. Mean-
while, Castro told U Thant that he would
not tolerate UN inspections. The Soviet
Union and Cuba must agree between each
other on what would be the form of inspec-
tion. It is a matter of your relationship. We
have only one interest: that the armaments
on which we have achieved the understand-
ing would be shipped away and that we
would be convinced that they are really
shipped away.

I do not think that there would be any
problems on the question of the access of
ships and on the withdrawal of missile
equipment from Cuba. The main thing is to
remove missile equipment.

As to the question on granting the guar-
antees of non-intervention to Cuba, if you
think that what the President said is not
enough, one could talk about some kind of
appropriate commitment [obiazatelstve].

You are posing a question about the
possible presence of UN observers on USA
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territory, so that there would be no invasion
of Cuba. I must say that if you keep insist-
ing on that, there will be additional compli-
cations.

A.I. Mikoyan. U Thant expressed this
idea.

McCloy. No, he did not suggest it. I
repeat: nothing will come out of it.

A.I. Mikoyan. Today in conversation
with me U Thant reiterated this idea and said
that this issue should be discussed at the
Organization of American States.

Stevenson. We believe that the ex-
change of letters between Kennedy and
Khrushchev contains concrete and clear for-
mulas. I think that there is no need for any
new understanding, except for resolution of
the issue about the inspection method. If we
fail to carry out ground inspection, let us
seek other means which would assure us that
the armaments are withdrawn. Otherwise the
danger of conflict will be reborn. I hope that,
when the atmosphere will clear up and the
missile equipment will be withdrawn from
Cuba, it will be easier to agree on other is-
sues. Kennedy has already given appropri-
ate assurances concerning non-intervention
against Cuba, and we can confirm it.

We would like to say clearly that any
discussion of the issue about liquidation of
our base in Guantanamo is out of question.
It was given up [ustuplena] to us by the gov-
ernment of Cuba on a legal basis, and the
American people will under no circum-
stances renounce it.

A.I.Mikoyan. But the government of
Cuba puts forward this question, so it should
be discussed.

V.V.Kuznetsov. The government of
Cuba has put this question even earlier.

McCloy. We will not concede on this.
The position of Castro represents an obstacle
on the way to fulfilling commitments for-
mulated in the letter of Mr. Khrushchev.

A.I.Mikoyan. Castro is not and will not
be an obstacle to fulfillment of these com-
mitments. The armaments we are talking
about is Soviet weaponry and it will be
evacuated. As for Castro, he has declared
that he would assist the evacuation of these
armaments.

McCloy. But he has 145 thousand sol-
diers against 10 thousand Russians. He can
obstruct the dismantling [of missiles--
trans.]. Moreover, I think he is already ob-
structing it.

A.I.Mikoyan. The government of Cuba

has the right of sovereignty and one must
seek its agreement on any kind of inspec-
tion on Cuban territory. It put forward five
conditions, including the demand about liq-
uidation of the American base in
Guantanamo. However, beside the issue of
the base, there are four more points in
Castro’s program, and these points are in full
agreement with what Kennedy wrote in his
letter to Khrushchev. Why don’t you want
to accept them?

 Stevenson. There is only one issue
between the Soviet Union and the USA:
about full withdrawal from Cuba of certain
types of armaments under conditions of in-
spection and in the presence of  the under-
standing that the supplies of this weaponry
will not be resumed. Under these conditions
the guarantees of Cuba’s security on the part
of the United States will be ensured.

Castro raised a number of other issues,
but they have nothing to do with Soviet-
American relations. In our negotiations we
should begin to consider the issues that are
within the realm of Soviet-American rela-
tions, in the framework of the understand-
ing between Khrushchev and Kennedy.

A.I.Mikoyan. Speaking about the ex-
change of letters between N.S. Khrushchev
and J. Kennedy, you blow up only one as-
pect and maintain silence on the other. You
dodge such issues as lifting of the block-
ade, granting the guarantees of indepen-
dence to Cuba. We believe that all this
should be fixed [zafiksirovano] in the docu-
ment where certain formulas should be re-
iterated and specified. We believe that our
negotiations should result in a document
registered in the United Nations and ap-
proved by the Security Council. Otherwise,
what is happening? The ink has not yet dried
up on the letter, but Rusk is already declar-
ing that the United States has not guaran-
teed the independence of Cuba. It was pub-
lished in your newspapers, and I read about
it on my way to New York.

Stevenson. Rusk said nothing  to dis-
avow the guarantees that have been granted
in Kennedy’s letter. The press gave a wrong
interpretation to his declaration.

A.I.Mikoyan. We are proposing to you
to prepare jointly an appropriate document
and introduce it jointly to the Security Coun-
cil, then there will be no other interpreta-
tions.

Stevenson. I would like to say a few
words about the procedure. U Thant believes

that the operation could be finalized in two
statements: the Soviet Union could make
announcement about the end of withdrawal
of the certain types of weapons from Cuba,
and the United States would make an an-
nouncement that we made sure that these
weapons are withdrawn from Cuba. Earlier
it was supposed that the appropriate check-
up should be done by the forces of the UN,
but after Castro’s refusal to let UN repre-
sentatives into Cuba, the question emerged
about the method of inspection.

After the withdrawal of the certain
types of weapons from Cuba will be con-
firmed, the USA will declare the abolition
of the “quarantine” and that it guarantees
non-intervention of Cuba. I see no reason
for any other treaties and documents. If the
Soviet side has some draft proposals, it is
desirable to obtain them, and the American
side then will do the same thing.

A.I. Mikoyan. There is no time to con-
sider this issue in detail. It seems to me we
should think how to continue the talks.

V.V.Kuznetsov. If the American side
agrees, we will discuss this issue.

A.I.Mikoyan. On our side we prefer to
have a protocol.

Stevenson. The Soviet Union can and
must ensure the withdrawal of the certain
types of armaments and a verification that
would satisfy the USA and Latin American
countries.

The question, however, emerges on
what form of inspection is feasible under
current circumstances. Four days have al-
ready elapsed, and there is no inspection in
sight. Therefore, now we should discuss
possible forms of  inspection. We do not
want to constrain you by those formulas that
were advanced concerning international in-
spection. If Castro does not want such an
inspection, one can think of different forms
of control.

McCloy. We should look at what is
acceptable and feasible, but in any case the
inspection should be introduced. Therefore
we should adapt ourselves to the new situa-
tion.

In the first order, of course, we should,
as they say, remove the pistol from the ne-
gotiating table, in other words to dismantle
and withdraw the missiles.

Stevenson. I do not think that some
kind of protocol will be necessary, besides
the declarations that will be made in the
Security Council.



COLD WAR INTERNATIONAL HISTORY PROJECT BULLETIN  319

A.I.Mikoyan. Normalization would be
complete if the Soviet Union, the USA and
Cuba signed a joint document together with
the UN Secretary General on the basis of
the exchange of letters between N.S.
Khrushchev and J. Kennedy. In any case,
this issue cannot be resolved without Cuba.
A decision in which Cuba is not a party will
not be binding for her. Cuba must have guar-
antees of non-intervention.

I would like to know: do you have any
ideas about forms of control? If you have
them - discuss them in the next few days
with V.V. Kuznetsov.

Stevenson. As to the territorial integ-
rity of Cuba, the formulas in the letter of
Kennedy are simple and clear: after certain
types of weapons will be removed from
Cuba, the USA will make an announcement
about the guarantee against any kind of in-
vasion of Cuba.

McCloy. As to the forms of verifica-
tion, the ideal form in my mind would be
regular overflights by planes doing aerial
photo-reconnaissance, and ground inspec-
tion. I hope that the Soviet Union would bear
on Castro so that he will agree to the con-
duct of such inspection as was stipulated in
the letter of N.S.Khrushchev. However, if
Castro refuses to accept such inspection, we
should look for another form. The USA
might continue overflights by its planes giv-
ing us confidence that one does not resume
in Cuba assembly of types of weapons that
represent danger for us. But in this case we
would like to have assurances that our plans
will not be downed. One could also consider
yet another possibility. Could you pass to
us the lists of armament that is being with-
drawn from Cuba? We know approximately
how many missiles you now have in Cuba.
If you could pass to us the lists of what you
will transport on your ships (of course, I
understand that these documents will not
contain specifications of these armaments),
then through comparison of this data with
the data about the presence of armaments
in Cuba, that is in our disposal, we would
follow the process of evacuation of arma-
ments that are of  danger for us. I believe
that this would be enough. In this case we
would get on along ground inspection.

The system of passing of the lists of
cargo removed from Cuba would not touch
on your security interests. As to overflights,
you, as we understand, cannot guarantee that
the Cubans would not shoot at our planes.

But we are glad that when today our plane
flew over Cuba, it was not shot at. As far as
we know, the anti-aircraft missiles deployed
in Cuba are not in the hands of the Cubans,
but in the hands of your people. Today we
intercepted radio-commands and conversa-
tions of the anti-aircraft units deployed in
Cuba and that confirmed us again in our
conclusion. I must say that we are glad that
these anti-aircraft missiles are in the hands
of the Russians whose hands are not itching
like the hands of the Cubans.

In passing, I would like to say that al-
though we do not include anti-aircraft mis-
siles into the category of offensive weap-
ons, we would very much like that you with-
draw these missiles as well.

A.I.Mikoyan. As I see, your sense of
humor has completely disappeared.

Stevenson. In your conversations in
Havana you could cite good arguments in
favor of ground inspection: on one side, it
would assure us that you are fulfilling your
obligations, on the other hand, Castro would
obtain confidence that no invasion of Cuba
would take place: since U.N. observers
would be around.

A.I.Mikoyan. I believe that in the
course of today’s conversation we laid the
ground for upcoming negotiations. I think
that we should not now go into detail. You
should reflect on what we have spoken about
here. We will prepare our drafts as well. It
seems to me that until the election day it
would be hard for you to take any decisions,
but, on the other hand, one should not pro-
crastinate with liquidation of the Cuban cri-
sis.

Stevenson. We could agree even tomor-
row in all details with a plan of inspection
of ships by the forces of the Red Cross if
both sides approve of the proposal of U
Thant. We should not put off resolution of
this issue. What flag would be on these two
inspection ships is of no significance to us.

As to the oversight of the territory of
Cuba, if Castro refuses to agree on ground
inspection, we could limit ourselves to uni-
lateral conduct of  aerial reconnaissance. For
this we would only need your assurance that
our planes will not be shot at.

McCloy. It seems that it would take not
10-15 days, but probably a month for re-
moval of your missiles.

A.I.Mikoyan. All these are [mere] de-
tails. We brought with us military experts -
a general and colonel, who could discuss all

these technical issues with you. I would like
to speak on another, more important ques-
tion. It is out of question that we agree with
you now on overflights of your plans over
Cuba: it is sovereign Cuban territory. But if
the USA agreed to the inspection over the
area of Miami, it would be a good thing.
Then, possibly. the Cubans would agree to
such inspection over their territory. One can-
not not carry out unilateral inspection - no
matter which, ground or aerial. The Cubans
would have full reason to be offended, if
you were granted the right of regular and
permanent overflight over their territory, in
a unilateral way.

As for inspections which must ensure
a verification of the dismantling and with-
drawal of our missiles, here we stand on the
same position that was expressed in the let-
ters of N.S. Khrushchev.

Stevenson. As to ground inspection, it
was U Thant, not us, who came up with a
proposal about the presence of UN inspec-
tors during the dismantling and withdrawal
of the missiles. Incidentally, he had in mind
permanent inspection till the end of disman-
tling of the missiles. This would serve the
interests of both sides. I understand that
Cuba is an independent country, but if it
agrees with this, then there would be no need
to seek other forms of check-up.

A.I.Mikoyan. We agree to conduct
ground inspection, as the letter of N.S.
Khrushchev stated, but it is necessary to
have some kind of element of reciprocity
so that this understanding does not affect
the national feelings of the Cubans. This also
flows from my conversation with U Thant.

I would like to know if McCloy and
Stevenson consider today’s exchange of
opinion useful?

Stevenson. The conversation was use-
ful and I became persuaded that our posi-
tions stay not too far apart.

A.I.Mikoyan. There is misunderstand-
ing [nedoponimaniie] as far as the issue of
reciprocity of inspections is concerned. U
Thant said that Castro is concerned with the
presence on the USA of camps where Cu-
ban emigres prepare themselves for inva-
sion similar to one that took place last year.

McCloy. I must assure you that these
camps no longer exist, they are closed ev-
erywhere.

A.I.Mikoyan. You mean that they do
not exist in Latin American countries as
well?
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THE MIKOYAN-CASTRO
TALKS, 4-5 NOVEMBER 1962:

THE CUBAN VERSION

[Editor’s Note: While a large, al-
beit incomplete, complex of Russian
documents on the Cuban Missile Crisis
has become available to researchers
since 1991—as exemplified by the
selction of translated materials in this
and past Bulletins—documents on the
events of the fall of 1962 are still only
beginning to trickle out of Cuban ar-
chives.  The two documents below,
translated from Spanish, represent a rare
and encouraging sign (as does Piero
Gleijeses’ article on Cuban policy in
Africa elsewhere in this issue) that pros-
pects for historical research in Cuban
archives may improve.

The Cuban records concern the
tense conversations between Fidel
Castro (and other members of the Cu-
ban leadership) and senior Soviet en-
voy Anastas I. Mikoyan on 4-5 Novem-
ber 1962, in the immediate aftermath
of USSR Premier Nikita Khrushchev’s
acceptance on October 28 of U.S. Presi-
dent John F. Kennedy’s demand that he
withdraw Soviet nuclear missiles from
Cuba.  They were apparently released

in response to the publication in the
Bulletin in 1995 of lengthy Soviet
records of the same conversations.1  The
materials were obtained from the Insti-
tute of History in Cuba by Prof. Philip
Brenner (American University), who
provided them to CWIHP, and trans-
lated from Spanish by Carlos Osorio
(National Security Archive).

While the Cuban documents them-
selves do not offer any startling infor-
mation or insights not present in the far
more detailed Soviet records of the
same conversations—a quick compari-
son of the two versions of the identical
conversations finds them broadly com-
patible—they are presented as a sym-
bol of what historians can hope will be
a thorough process of eventually recon-
structing Soviet-Cuban relations on the
basis of solid archival evidence from
both sides, which can then be compared
and cross-checked.  Given the amount
of passion and controversy that has sur-
rounded this question during the Cold
War, and which continues to infuse
U.S.-Cuban relations (as Fidel Castro
remains in charge nearly four decades
after the revolution that brought him to
power), the availability of scholarly per-
spectives and contemporaneous docu-

mentary evidence from Cuban, Russian,
and American sources, as well as a con-
tinuation of the oral history process that
has begun to involve senior Cuban of-
ficials in international explorations of
such key events as the Bay of Pigs and
Cuban Missile Crisis,2 is clearly a pre-
condition for a serious and comprehen-
sive analysis.

Unfortunately, little information is
available at present on the provenance
of the Cuban documents provided be-
low, including their precise archival lo-
cation or who took the notes that are
presented; the Bulletin hopes to supply
additional information, as well as fur-
ther evidence from Cuban archives
should it emerge, in future issues.]

[Translator’s Note:  The transla-
tions at times read awkwardly, for the
Spanish documents themselves are oc-
casionally confusing, mixing tenses,
subjects and objects in the same phrase.
Mikoyan, a Soviet national, appears to
be speaking a Castillian Spanish, as he
often uses the auxiliary “haber” for the
past tense. The note-taker is presumably
a Cuban national, so he sometimes skips
transcribing the past tense as was used

continued on page 339

McCloy. The camps are closed every-
where. Perhaps there is something some-
where, but in any case the USA does not
support this business.

A.I.Mikoyan. But you count Cuban
emigres among your own military forces?

McCloy. We are not training them for
invasion of Cuba. We allow volunteers of
any nationality to be enlisted in our mili-
tary forces, even Russians can do it. In any
case, I assure you that there are no more
camps in the USA where Cuban emigres are
trained, prepared for invasion of Cuba.

However I would like to tell you
frankly, that any inspection on USA terri-
tory is out of question. You have to trust in
our word.

Stevenson. I want to say that the USA
is trying to normalize the situation in the
area of the Caribbean sea, but on condition
of Castro’s cooperation. We might work out
some form of mutual guarantees acceptable
for Castro and his neighbors. If Castro is
afraid of them, they, too, are afraid of him. I
believe that after the settlement of the Cu-
ban crisis the situation in this region will

become more relaxed.
A.I.Mikoyan. It is very important what

you are saying. Castro might ask me: is the
USA going to restore diplomatic and eco-
nomic relations with Cuba or this question
is not on the agenda? Perhaps you have in
mind not to do it right away, but after some
time? I would like to know what I can tell
Castro.

Stevenson. You understand that I can-
not answer this question. It is within the
competence of the Organization of Ameri-
can States. We cannot conduct business with
Castro without its involvement. But one
could think of  certain regional arrangements
providing confidence to the countries of the
Caribbean sea. I hope that we would be able
gradually to liquidate the antagonism be-
tween Cuba and her neighbors. Now this
antagonism is being heated by subversive
activities which, perhaps, reciprocate each
other in this region.

McCloy. I would say that Cuba is the
source of infection, and the recent events in
Venezuela provide an example. But I would
not like to dwell now on this issue. I am

satisfied with today’s exchange of opinions.
I would be glad to meet you and follow up
on this conversation, on your way back from
Cuba.

The conversation lasted for 3 hours 40
minutes. Those present were com. V.V. Kuz-
netsov,  A.F. Dobrynin, M.A. Menshikov,
G.A. Zhukov; from the American side par-
ticipated J. McCloy, A. Stevenson, A.
Akalovsky.

Note-takers:
G.Zhukov
Yu.Vinogradov.

[Source: AVP RF; obtained by NHK, pro-
vided to CWIHP, copy on file at National
Security Archive; translation by Vladislav
M. Zubok (National Security Archive).]

Telegram from Soviet Ambassador to
Cuba A.I. Alekseev to USSR Foreign

Ministry, 2 November 1962

2 November 1962
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We will inform Fidel Castro of the con-
tent of the documents [not further identified-
-ed.]. He has entrusted me to convey a trans-
lation of the draft to President Dorticos, and
to reach an agreement with him on all points.

Dorticos, having read through the
document, said that in principle the docu-
ment serves the interests of Cuba, and that
it would be approved.

Separate remarks will be introduced
after the discussion of our proposals with
Fidel Castro and the other leaders, and also
after their talks with Comrade A. I. Mikoyan,
which are slated for today.

2.XI.62 ALEKSEEV

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen.]

Telegram from A.I. Mikoyan in New
York to CC CPSU, 2 November 1962

2 November 1962

From the following telegram you will
learn the details of the important statement
made by McCloy in the talks on monitoring
the dismantling of the “offensive weaponry.”
He declared that in view of Castro’s refusal
to agree to a ground-based monitoring, the
Americans were willing not to insist [on
that], knowing the forms and methods of
monitoring put forth in Khrushchev’s mes-
sage, [but] that it was necessary to find other
methods for convincing the Americans that
the dismantling process had been completed
and that everything had been removed.

In response to my question about
whether there was some concrete proposal
as to how this should be done, he said the
following: to allow them the possibility of
flights over Cuba for inspections from the
air, without ground-based monitoring; this
was the first point. The second was that the
Soviets provide the Americans with infor-
mation about how much of the weaponry
has been dismantled and removed, and
when. The important part of this is not to
impart secret military information that re-
veals the nature and capacities of this weap-
onry.

I rejected here the possibility of flights
over Cuba, since that would affect the sov-
ereignty of Cuba itself. The proposal about

information from our side, I said, should be
discussed with our military specialists, who
arrived with me to aid Kuznetsov.

McCloy reported with great satisfac-
tion that on 1 November their plane had
flown over Cuba without being fired at, and
had made photos. He attributed this to the
presence of Soviet specialists at the anti-air-
craft missile installations.

I conclude that if our agreement with
Castro not to shoot down American planes
retains its force, then when they fly one or
two more times it will mean that inspections
on the dismantling have been carried out.
There remains the issue of inspections on
the removal of the dismantled weaponry,
which could be resolved through means sug-
gested by McCloy.

In view of this, Castro’s position, which
rejects the possibility of on-site inspections,
will cease to be an obstacle to settling with
the Americans the issue of monitoring the
dismantling and removal of the weaponry.

I consider all this to be expedient.
In my talks with Castro I will fully ex-

plain our position on the issue of monitor-
ing in accordance with Khrushchev’s mes-
sage, I will show him its correctness and
acceptability, from our point of view, for
Cuba.

In connection with the Americans’ pro-
posal laid out earlier, and taking into account
the Cubans’ arrogance, I consider it expedi-
ent not to insist or ensure that they reject
their position on not allowing observers onto
their territory to check on the dismantling
and removal process, the position which
they have made clear to U Thant and have
published several times in the press.

In truth, in Castro’s speech yesterday
this position was made to seem somewhat
more flexible.

I await instructions concerning this
matter in Havana.

2.XI.62  A. MIKOYAN

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen.]

Telegram from A.I Mikoyan in New
York to CC CPSU, 2 November 1962

2 November 1962

Yesterday in the hour-long discussion
with McCloy and Stevenson, the positions
of the parties on all issues connected with
the Cuban conflict were explained, as well
as the American position in the form in
which the Americans consider it necessary
to define it.

We will be sending to you a short ex-
position of the most important points of the
discussion within 2 or 3 hours, and today, 2
November and 1:00 in the afternoon I will
be flying to Cuba. Our comrades will com-
pose a detailed record of the conversation,
and will send it after I am gone. The con-
versation was important, and you should
become familiarized with that detailed
record of it.

McCloy has declared that with the aim
of speeding up the removal of the missiles,
before the fine-tuning of the observation
system by the Red Cross has been reached,
they agree to and are interested in allowing
Soviet vessels bound for Cuba entry into
Cuban ports without inspection, by way of
a hail like the one that was given to the
tanker “Bucharest.”

We are introducing a proposal to give
instructions to all our vessels bound for
Cuba to proceed to their destinations.

2.XI.62  A. MIKOYAN

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen.]

Telegram from USSR Foreign Minister
A. Gromyko to unidentified recipient, 2

November 1962

2 November 1962

The head of the American delegation
at the negotiations in New York, McCloy,
has informed Comrade Kuznetsov on 31
October that Washington has decided that
until the Red Cross has begun its monitor-
ing of the vessels bound for Cuba, it would
not carry out inspections on these vessels,
but to apply to them the same procedure that
was applied to the tanker “Bucharest.” Dur-
ing this time the “quarantine” will be offi-
cially continued.

As is well known, the tanker
“Bucharest” passed through a region under
American “quarantine” without hindrance.
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Six Soviet vessels now on the open sea be-
yond the announced limits of the “quaran-
tine” have received orders to proceed into
the Cuban ports, and at present they are now
on their way toward Cuba.

  A. G.

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen.]

Telegram from Soviet Deputy Foreign
Minister V. V. Kuznetsov and Ambassa-

dor to the UN V.A. Zorin to USSR
Foreign Ministry, 3 November 1962

3 November 1962

On 3 November Morozov, Mendel-
evich, and Timerbaev had a meeting with
Narasimhan and Loutfi (replacing U Thant)
for the examination of technical issues con-
nected with the sending of observers from
the International Red Cross Committee to
ascertain that on the Soviet vessels bound
for Cuba there is no weaponry considered
offensive by the USA.

Narasimhan said that the the secretariat
of the UN in New York had not yet received
the definitive consent of the International
Red Cross to its participation in the organi-
zation of the monitoring. An answer from
the Red Cross could be received today, 3
November.

Narasimhan also laid out the thoughts
of the Americans, as he understood them,
regarding the Red Cross’s monitoring pro-
cedure.

The USA considers it expedient to de-
ploy two vessels with observers from the
International Red Cross on the open sea near
the Cuban coast—one 8 to 10 miles off Ha-
vana, and another in the strait between Cuba
and Haiti. The vessels should have radio
contact with the UN. On each vessel there
should be two groups of International Red
Cross observers. Each group should contain
eight observers. In this way, 32 observers
will be needed in all.

In response to our question about how
to manage such a large number of observ-
ers, especially when bearing in mind that
Stevenson in his talks with us on 1 Novem-
ber of this year had expressed his view that
the International Red Cross inspections

could be reduced to radio interrogations of
passing ships, Narasimhan answered that in
many cases it will be precisely that, but that
the International Red Cross observers should
have the right to carry out inspections (to
check documents, to inspect ship holds, and
so on), if such a necessity should arise.

Our representatives remarked that such
a proposal from Narasimhan concerning the
conferral to the International Red Cross
groups of inspection rights contradicts the
views expressed earlier by Stevenson. We
will continue to insist that the inspections
be limited to interrogations by radio.

The USA, Narasimhan continued, is
prepared to provide its own transportation
for the International Red Cross inspectors.
This may be ordinary transportation for the
conveyance of troops, even though they
would be unarmed and would contain on
board civilian passengers.

We told Narasimhan that the Soviet
Union, as had already been declared to U
Thant, had given its consent to the convey-
ance of the International Red Cross observ-
ers either by Soviet or by neutral vessels.
Narasimhan responded that he knew about
this, but all the same considered it possible
to inform the Soviet Union of this proposal
by the USA, which, Narasimhan said, works
towards the interests of a speedy organiza-
tion of the inspections. The USA, in his
words, has no objections to the use of So-
viet ships. Narasimhan asked us to explain,
if possible by 5 November, how soon the
Soviet Union could prepare its ships for the
International Red Cross observers. For his
part, Narasimhan will make inquiries by this
time about the possibility of chartering neu-
tral vessels located near Cuba.

Narasimhan raised the issue of reim-
bursing the costs of chartering the vessels
and constituting the International Red Cross
groups. In response to the question of how
the USA imagines covering the costs asso-
ciated with the carrying out of inspections
by the International Red Cross, Narasimhan
said that it was proposing two possible vari-
ants—either through the UN (that is, accord-
ing to their pay scale), or to divide the costs
equally between the USSR and the USA.

Our representatives answered that the
USA had illegally imposed the so-called
“quarantine,” that they were now pushing
for inspections on vessels bound for Cuba,
and that it was completely clear that it is
they who should covers the expenses for the

carrying out of such inspections. In future
negotiations we should proceed from the
assumption that the Soviet Union will as-
sume expenses only for the maintenance of
Soviet vessels. As far as the maintenance of
the International Red Cross vessels is con-
cerned, we will push for the USA or the UN
bearing the burden of these expenses. (It is
not out of the question that the International
Red Cross will itself pay the expenses for
the upkeep of the groups.)

On the issue of how long the inspec-
tion procedure by the International Red
Cross would be continued, Narasimhan said
that it should be carried out for a period of
three to four weeks. But it is possible that
the duration could be shorter. Everything de-
pends on how long the removal of weap-
onry from Cuba would continue. As soon
as all the weaponry is removed, the inspec-
tions, it seems, should cease.

We emphasized that the inspections on
vessels by the International Red Cross
should be of a short-term nature, as was
declared by U Thant in his provisional pro-
posal concerning this issue, which was ap-
proved by the Soviet Union. In the future,
with regard to time limits we will proceed
with aim of imposing the shortest possible
limits. We will aim for ceasing the inspec-
tions immediately after the removal of the
dismantled installations, and the approval
by the Security Council of corresponding
resolutions for the conclusive settlement of
the Cuban crisis.

If our approval of the conveyance of
the International Red Cross representatives
on Soviet ships is still valid, we ask that you
inform us immediately of which vessels in
particular are being selected for this purpose,
and when they can arrive in the Caribbean
Sea area.

Since the Cubans will evidently not
agree to admit the International Red Cross
observers onto the territory of Cuba in or-
der to then admit them onto Soviet ships,
we ask that you inform us what would the
most appropriate port in the Caribbean Sea
area in which to take on board these Inter-
national Red Cross observers.

The next meeting with Narasimhan is
slated for the morning of 5 November.

3.XI.62 V. KUZNETSOV
  V. ZORIN

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
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provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Telegram from Soviet Ambassador to
Cuba A.I. Alekseev to USSR Foreign

Ministry, 4 November 196218

4 November 1962

Today talks were conducted between
A.I. Mikoyan and Comrades Fidel Castro,
O. Dorticos, R. Castro, E. Guevara, E.
Aragonez, and C.R. Rodriguez, as well as
myself.

Comrade Mikoyan conveyed warm,
fraternal greetings from the Presidium of the
CC CPSU and N.S. Khrushchev to the Cu-
ban leaders. He expressed a lofty apprecia-
tion of the Cuban revolution, and support
for the rebuff to the interventionists; he
spoke about our support for Cuba; and he
remarked that the Central Committee of the
Communist Party of the Soviet Union was
delighted by the courage and fearlessness
displayed by the leaders of Cuba’s revolu-
tion in these perilous days, and the readi-
ness of the Cuban people to hold firm. Then
Comrade Mikoyan said that when the Cen-
tral Committee learned of the misunder-
standing arising in Cuba of several issues
and decisions made by us, they came to the
conclusion that it would be impossible to
clarify these issues by way of mere corre-
spondence. The Central Committee made
the decision to send Comrade Mikoyan to
Cuba to clarify to our friends our position,
and to inform them of issues that are of in-
terest to them. Comrade Mikoyan remarked
that he naturally did not have any intention
of exerting pressure;  his task was simply to
explain our position.

Knowing our Cuban friends, A.I.
Mikoyan said, I am sure that they too will
agree with this. It could of course turn out
such that even after the explanations there
will be certain points on which our points
of view will remain different.

 Fidel Castro declared that he has al-
ready informed the Cuban comrades present
at the talks of the issues raised by him yes-
terday before Comrade Mikoyan, and made
a short resume of these issues.

A.I. Mikoyan remarked that Fidel
Castro spoke yesterday in detail and with
sincerity, and asked whether the other com-

rades wanted to add anything to this,
whether they had other remarks to make.

O. Dorticos asked for an explanation
of why N.S. Khrushchev approved the pro-
posal made by Kennedy to declare that there
would be no attack on Cuba on the condi-
tion of the removal of Soviet missiles from
Cuba, even though the Cuban government
had not yet at this time expressed its own
opinion on this proposal.

C.R. Rodriguez put a question to Com-
rade Mikoyan— where does the Soviet lead-
ership see the essence of victory, does it
consist in military success or in diplomatic
success? We believed, Rodriguez noted, that
we could not yet talk about victory, since
the guarantees from the USA were ephem-
eral.

Then A.I. Mikoyan, developing argu-
ments made in N.S. Khrushchev’s letters to
Fidel Castro, and also from the discussion
of the issue in the Central Committee of the
Communist Party of the Soviet Union, of-
fered additional arguments with the aim of
driving away any doubts from the minds of
our Cuban comrades. He spoke moreover
of the main points of his talks with U Thant,
McCloy, and Stevenson.

We will send a full record of the con-
versation to Moscow via diplomatic mail.
Further information on certain new points
touched on in Mikoyan’s explanations will
be provided by separate telegram.

The talks lasted seven hours, more than
five hours of which were taken up by Com-
rade Mikoyan’s explanations. Our Cuban
comrades listened with attentiveness to A.I.
Mikoyan, were interested in details, and
sustained the general feeling of cordiality
and trust.

We agreed to continue the talks in the
same composition tomorrow, on 5 Novem-
ber, at 2:00 in the afternoon local time.

4.XI.62  ALEKSEEV

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen.]

Telegram from USSR Foreign Minister
Gromyko to Deputy Foreign Minister
Kuznetsov and Ambassador to the UN
Zorin in New York, 4 November 1962

4 November 1962

Your thoughts on the statement that
Stevenson should make in connection with
his letter and memorandum do not provoke
any objections.

In addition it is necessary for you to
say the following:

Since when have the planes named by
Stevenson [IL-28 bombers—ed.] become
offensive weaponry[?] After all, these planes
are of a type considered outmoded both in
its altitude ceilings and in its speed. The
putting forth of such a demand constitutes
an intentional seeking out of issues that en-
courage discord and a continuation of the
tense state of our relations.

The planes mentioned by Stevenson
are associated with coastal defense weap-
onry. Such a plane cannot appear in condi-
tions of war over enemy territory, since it
does not possess the capacity for attaining
the necessary altitude and speed. It can ap-
pear over such territory only with an air es-
cort. Virtually any military expert would
recognize that these planes cannot be placed
in the category of offensive weaponry at the
present time.

If the USA honestly gave assurances
that it would not invade Cuba, then the pos-
session of these planes by the Cubans should
not elicit any concern.

We understood the concerns of the
Americans when talk began to turn to a defi-
nite sort of missile weaponry. Missiles are
indeed an uninterceptable and instanta-
neously effective sort of weapon. There is
no reason to put outdated weaponry in the
offensive category. Such weaponry will
have a defensive, auxiliary function.

As far as photo reconnaissance and re-
connaissance in general are concerned, used
as they are by all countries, experience
shows that it does not always reflect the ac-
tual situation.

All this provides the grounds for con-
cluding that the most important issues here
must be talked about. We must mutually
fulfill the obligations assumed by all par-
ties, and then the issue will be exhausted.

A. Gromyko

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]
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Telegram (No.4448) from the Minister
of the USSR Merchant Fleet to Captain
of Ship “Amata” via Soviet ambassador
in Havana (Alekseev), 5 November 1962

5 November 1962

I ask that you transmit information on
the location of the ship “Amata.” Your ship
has been selected for use by the Organiza-
tion of the United Nations for the convey-
ance of a group of representatives from the
International Red Cross consisting of 16
people. Your location, after you take this
group on board, should be near the port of
Havana, but beyond the 12-mile zone of
Cuba’s territorial waters. The vessel chosen
for these operations should arrive in Havana
on 6 November. If you have cargo in your
holds leave it in the holds, since the deck
should be free. Your ship’s number has al-
ready been communicated to the UN, as well
as the fact that you will be operating at a
frequency of 500 kilohertz;  beginning on 6
November they will be able to contact you
from the UN radio station. On your arrival
in Havana, immediately contact our envoy.
Bring the vessel into complete order, tem-
porarily move your equipment and crew into
tighter quarters, and prepare room for the
comfortable accommodation of the repre-
sentatives of the Red Cross. It is assumed
that this group will be with you until 12
November of this year. You will have to
come to an agreement with the head of this
group concerning food-related matters. You
should have ready for operation the ship’s
motor boat, on which the representatives
will be able to travel out onto the arriving
vessels. You should follow all the instruc-
tions of the group. Report on your carrying
out of these instructions, and keep us regu-
larly informed, through closed communica-
tion, of your operations.

BAKAEV

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Telegram from USSR Foreign Minister
Gromyko to Deputy Foreign Minister
Kuznetsov and Ambassador to the UN

Zorin in New York, 5 November 1962

You must adhere to the following po-
sition in your negotiations on the lifting of
the blockade, elimination of tension, and
normalization of the situation in the Carib-
bean Sea.

The negotiations are being conducted
with the aim of eliminating the tense situa-
tion which has been threatening to explode
into thermonuclear war.

The basis of these negotiations is the
agreement reached through an exchange of
messages between Comrade N.S.
Khrushchev and President Kennedy. The
essence of this agreement is as follows.

The USA is giving assurances that no
invasion will be inflicted on Cuba, not only
on the part of the United States, but also on
the part of their allies— the other countries
of the Western hemisphere. The Soviet
Union for its part will remove from the Cuba
the missile weaponry that the President of
the USA has called offensive, and will not
install such types of weaponry in Cuba
again.

Such is the basis of the agreement, and
we are adhering to it, because it is the only
possible basis now for eliminating the tense
situation that has been created. The agree-
ment is the result of a compromise reached
through mutual concessions, and it satisfied
both parties.

In accordance with this agreement the
Soviets undertook on 28 October the dis-
mantling of the missiles. The dismantling
was completed on 2 November, and the dis-
mantled missiles have been transported to
ports for shipping. As you have already been
informed, these missiles will be removed
from Cuba on 7 or 8 or at the latest 10 No-
vember of this year.

Tell the Americans that if they wish to
raise other issues, then they will find many
such issues on our side as well, issues which
really affect the vital interests of our coun-
try and which create concerns about our se-
curity. But we are not raising any of these
issues at present, because they are too broad,
and their resolution will take a great amount
of time;  moreover, these issues affect not
only our two states, but the large circle of
states, i. e. they belong to the category of
global problems.

If the USA representatives say that
President Kennedy, in his speech on 22 Oc-
tober speaking about offensive weaponry,

mentioned bombers in this category, then
say the following:

In Cuba there are none of our bombers
which could be put in the category of offen-
sive weaponry. They do so with the IL-28
bomber. But this machine is 15 years old.
The American military figures surely know
very well that this was the first Soviet plane
with a turboreactive engine. Fifteen years
ago they indeed were rather cutting-edge
machines. But now technology has made so
many steps ahead that we have not only re-
moved these machines from the arsenal of
our army, but have even refused to use them
as targets for the training of anti-aircraft
units in the Soviet Union. These machines
are soon going to be scrapped, and if we
sold them to some country, it would only be
for using them as training machines for pi-
lot instruction, and to some extent as defen-
sive means— for the coastal defense of a
territory with the escort of anti-aircraft ma-
chines, and nothing more. These planes are
so far from answering the currents needs for
speed and altitude that their use for other
purposes would mean sending people to
certain death. We are sure that the Ameri-
can military and USA intelligence under-
stands this well.

Indicate that if the representatives of
the USA insist on their demand concerning
the IL-28 planes, then by doing so they will
only put the USA in a position in which the
whole world will see that the United States
is not keeping its word, and is imposing
unacceptable conditions that create the pos-
sibility of a prolongation of the conflict. At
that time the whole world will understand
that this is precisely the purpose behind the
imposition of such conditions.

In Stevenson’s letter of 3 November,
another issue is raised—it asserts that ac-
cording to the reports of American intelli-
gence in Cuba, the assembling of IL-28
bombers is still going on. In response to this,
say that such assertions are an invention of
American intelligence, because it is impos-
sible to see what is not there. Moreover,
American photos do not corroborate this. It
is clear that this false information is pursu-
ing the aim of avoiding a settlement of the
conflict and a normalization of our relations,
and indeed a tightening of tensions.

As far as other sorts of weaponry are
concerned which the American representa-
tives are now trying to put in the offensive
category, tell the Americans that it is neces-
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sary to rigorously proceed from the agree-
ment reached through the exchange of let-
ters, that it is necessary for the Americans
to hold to the statement of their own Presi-
dent. He said that he was against offensive
weaponry, but in favor of the right of each
side to possess defensive weaponry.

Say that in general we are not presently
authorized to carry on negotiations on points
that directly concern the defense interests
of the Republic of Cuba. We have not been
authorized by Cuba to carry on such nego-
tiations. For this reason, if the Americans
insist on this, it will only complicate the
settlement.

If the Americans take as their goal a
return to an incendiary situation, it will
scarcely be in the interests of either the USA
or the USSR, or in the interests of the world.
We propose to choose reasonable positions,
and to proceed in the negotiations from the
agreement that has been reached. We have
already fulfilled our obligations, have dis-
mantled our missiles, have loaded them onto
ships, and in the coming days, that is, not
later than 10 November, all these materials
will be removed from Cuba. The other side,
the United States, should also carry out its
obligations, and lift the blockade that has
been called a “quarantine.” Let us formal-
ize this in documents with the aim that each
side affirm its statements in documents, that
is, let us formalize this agreement on the
basis of which this dangerous moment in
the history of our countries, which really
could erupt in a catastrophic thermonuclear
war, can be eliminated.

Say that we believe that the elimina-
tion of this especially difficult situation, and
the formalization of this in documents,
would serve as a good beginning in the reso-
lution of issues that our states and indeed
the whole world faces. This is the issue of
disarmament, the issue of the elimination
of bases, the prohibition of thermonuclear
arms testing, the signing of agreements on
non-agression between Warsaw Pact and
NATO countries.

Emphasize that if the USA intends to
insist on discussing the issues it has raised,
because the President spoke about them and
because they allegedly also relate to the con-
ditions of the agreement, then it is fitting to
remind them that N.S. Khrushchev also
raised other issues in his messages. Both we
and the Americans know that USA missile
bases are distributed throughout many coun-

tries around the Soviet Union.
For this reason, if the parties talk about

what was mentioned in the course of the
polemic, and it was indeed a polemic, and
if each side insists on having things its own
way, then it will render impossible an agree-
ment and the elimination of the tense situa-
tion— in other words, we will return to the
same incendiary situation that existed be-
fore, and that was escaped with such diffi-
culty.

For this reason it is necessary to show
understanding and respect for the sover-
eignty of each state, and to recognize the
equal rights of all countries to self-defense.

5.XI          A. G.

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen.]

Telegram from Soviet Ambassador to
Cuba A.I. Alekseev to USSR Foreign

Ministry, 5 November 1962

5 November

In connection with our explanations to
Fidel Castro of how the decisive moment
for us did not allow time for consultation
with him on the issue of dismantling, he
drew his own conclusions from the ex-
change of messages betwen N.S.
Khrushchev and Kennedy, and doubts crept
into his mind as to whether we had famil-
iarized him with all the letters.

In particular, he says that it follows
from Kennedy’s open message of 27 Octo-
ber that our decision regarding the disman-
tling had been communicated to Kennedy
even before that date.

Before 27 October, I passed on to
Castro two confidential letters from N.S.
Khrushchev to President Kennedy: of 23 and
26 October.

On the basis of the correspondence I
have come to the opinion that Kennedy did
not yet have a basis in the message of 27
October for drawing the conclusion that we
gave our consent for the dismantling before
that date, and it is necessary somehow to
explain this to Castro. Comrade Mikoyan
has entrusted me with the task of looking
into the issue raised by Castro.

In view of the necessity of sending this

telegram immediately, I have not had time
to submit it to the approval of Comrade
Mikoyan. The talks with Castro will take
place on 5 November at 14:00 local time.

5.XI.62  ALEKSEEV

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by J. Henriksen.]

Telegram from USSR Foreign Minister
Gromyko to Mikoyan and Alekseev in

Havana, 5 November 1962

5 November 1962

In response to the telegram from Com-
rade Alekseev. In the event that it is neces-
sary, you should explain to Fidel Castro that
the readiness to dismantle the installations
of the so-called “offensive weaponry” was
first mentioned only in N.S. Khrushchev’s
message to Kennedy of 27 October.

It is obvious that some misunderstand-
ing could arise from the fact that Kennedy’s
message to N.S. Khrushchev of 27 October
spoke (with reference to N.S. Khrushchev’s
message of 26 October) of the “removal”
of the weaponry from Cuba;  but that was
his, Kennedy’s, interpretation of the issue.
As N.S. Khrushchev’s message of 26 Octo-
ber makes clearly evident, it made abso-
lutely no reference to an agreement about
the “removal” of our weaponry from Cuba.

Since N.S. Khrushchev and Kennedy
did not exchange any other messages or
statements in those days, besides the ones
familiar to our Cuban friends, Fidel Castro’s
doubts about whether we might have given
our consent to the dismantling of the weap-
onry and its removal from Cuba before 27
October should disappear completely.

A. G.

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK ,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Telegram from Soviet Ambassador to
the USA Dobrynin to USSR Foreign

Ministry, 5 November 1962
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5 November 1962

Today the “Washington Post” pub-
lished an article by [columnist Joseph] Alsop
under the title “The Soviet Plan for Decep-
tion.” The article talks about Robert
Kennedy’s connection with [Georgi]
Bolshakov19 (the latter was not named di-
rectly), and also declared in dramatic tones
how that connection was used “for the de-
ception” of the President in the issue of the
Soviet missile bases in Cuba. It mentions in
particular Bolshakov’s reception by N. S.
Khrushchev in the summer of this year, and
the oral message for the President conveyed
through him.

This and several other details are
known in Washington only by Robert
Kennedy, whom Bolshakov met with after
his return from vacation (the article also
mentions this meeting). For this reason it is
clearly obvious that the article was prepared
with the knowledge of, or even by orders
from, Robert Kennedy, who is a close friend,
as is the President, of Alsop.

After his first meeting with Robert
Kennedy, immediately after his return from
vacation, Bolshakov no longer met with
him. Robert Kennedy promised him to set
up a meeting with the President for passing
on to him the oral message, but yet did not
organize such a meeting.

5.XI.62  A. DOBRYNIN

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen.]

Telegram from Soviet Ambassador to
the USA Dobrynin to USSR Foreign

Ministry, 5 November 1962

Having familiarized himself with the
text of N.S. Khrushchev’s confidential let-
ter,20 Robert Kennedy said that he would
pass it on to the President immediately.

Then, assuming a somewhat suprised
air, he tried to represent the affair as if the
Soviets, having given their consent in prin-
ciple to withdraw from Cuba the arms that
the Americans call offensive, thereby alleg-
edly came close to adopting the American
point of view that had been laid out in the
form of the list of weaponry mentioned by
the American statement about the “quaran-

tine.” This, he said, was how Stevenson had
“understood” V.V. Kuznetsov during their
first meeting.

I answered that this interpretation of
the Soviet position did not correspond to
reality. A reference to the declaration can-
not have for us the force of an obligation,
since it is a document publicized by the USA
government in a highly unilateral fashion.
It is well known that the Soviets have re-
fused to recognize this document, and thus
also the list of weaponry it contains, and to
which R. Kennedy is referring. For the So-
viet Union, only the written agreement
reached between N.S. Khrushchev and the
President has the force of law, and we will
fulfill the terms of that agreement if the
Americans also fulfill their own obligations.

V.V. Kuznetsov also spoken about this
to Stevenson. And A.I. Mikoyan spoke about
it to Stevenson and McCloy during his re-
cent talks with them, at which I was present
myself.

R. Kennedy did not go any further into
the details of the list itself, saying, however,
that besides the missiles being removed by
us, the Americans place great importance
as well on the removal from Cuba of the
Soviet IL-28 bombers. “We are not insist-
ing on the recall of fighter planes, but bomb-
ers with a significant radius of action are
another matter entirely.” He refused to make
any further statements on this subject, say-
ing only that he would immediately pass on
N.S. Khrushchev’s letter to the President,
who was supposed to be flying soon to the
city of Boston, where he will vote in the
USA congressional elections.

R. Kennedy answered that any addi-
tional demands, like the list of weaponry
indicated above, render the lessening of the
tensions arising around Cuba significantly
more difficult to attain, and could only seri-
ously complicate the situation.

Before R. Kennedy’s departure, he ex-
pressed concern about the Cubans’ firing at
American planes carrying out observational
flights over Cuba on the dismantling of the
Soviet missiles. Such gunfire can elicit
highly serious consequences, he added.

R. Kennedy was told that the flights
by the American planes are a direct viola-
tion of the sovereignty of Cuba, and that this
whole issue should, in all fairness, be raised
not by the Americans but by the Cubans.
Every sovereign state has every legal right
to defend the inviolability of its borders. And

we are not authorized to carry on the dis-
cussion of this sort of issue on behalf of
Cuba. Let us rather fulfill the agreement
reached in the exchange of messages be-
tween the government leaders of both coun-
tries, said I to R. Kennedy. Then the situa-
tion around Cuba may be normalized. We
are keeping our promise, and hope that the
USA too does not renege on its own prom-
ises and impose unacceptable conditions that
create the possibility of a continuation of
the conflict.

R. Kennedy limited himself to the re-
mark that they were really seriously wor-
ried by the possible consequences of the fir-
ing at American planes, and that he person-
ally considered it necessary to say so. We
then once again laid out for him our posi-
tion with regard to the flights of American
planes over Cuba.

With this the talks were ended, since
R. Kennedy was hurrying to the White
House to meet with the President.

5.XI.62  A. DOBRYNIN

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen.]

Telegram from V.V. Kuznetsov to USSR
Foreign Ministry, 6 November 1962

First. On 5 November we met with U
Thant. We informed him of the exchange of
views which had been taking place in re-
cent days with the Americans. We informed
him in particular of our proposals, commu-
nicated yesterday to McCloy, regarding the
monitoring of the weaponry being removed
from Cuba (the numerical data on the quan-
tity of launch pads and missiles which was
communicated to McCloy was not passed
on to U Thant). We lingered in detail over
the fact that the USA is asking questions
which can only complicate the resolution of
the whole problem, such as, for example,
their attempts the broaden their definition
of the weapons considered offensive by the
Americans (the IL-28 bombers, and so on).
We noted as well the USA refusal with re-
gard to guarantees of the security of Cuba,
explaining meanwhile, on the basis of our
protocol draft, how we approximately imag-
ine the USA obligations in this matter. We
noted the negative reaction of the USA rep-
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resentatives to U Thant’s proposal for a “UN
presence” in the area of the Caribbean Sea,
including on USA territory, as a measure
seeking to guarantee a lasting peace in this
region. We emphasized that the stubborn
refusal of the USA to lift the “quarantine”
does not at all contribute to the creation of a
positive atmosphere for the resolution of the
Cuban problem.

Second. U Thant asked a fine-tuning
question with regard to our information on
the USA attempts to broaden their demands
for the removal of our weaponry from Cuba.
He asked in whose hands—ours or the Cu-
bans’—the IL-28 bombers can presently be
found, as well as the torpedo cutters of the
“Mosquito” class and the missiles on board
them, missiles of the “air-surface” class, and
missiles of the “surface-surface” class, of a
small operational radius.

We answered U Thant that we cannot
now provide information on this issue. U
Thant asked us to make inquiries to Mos-
cow, and to give him an answer “for his own
personal information.”

We ask that you provide us with infor-
mation on this issue.

We assume that in examining this is-
sue it would be appropriate to bear in mind
that Fidel Castro, in his speech of 1 Novem-
ber, declared not only that Cuba possessed
the “strategic weaponry” which now “the
Soviet Union had decided to seize,” but also
that all other weaponry “is our property.”

Third. U Thant asked whether there
could be a disclosure, through first-hand
observation, of the missiles on the vessels
that will remove them from Cuba, or
whether instead they would be kept in con-
tainers. General Rikhye, who was present
at the talks, said, not waiting for our answer,
that he had proposed that they be packed in
a way appropriate for long-distance over-
seas shipping, with a view for the preven-
tion of corrosion, but that they could be
viewed in their outline forms from beneath
the packing.

U Thant was also interested in whether
all the missiles would be removed by one
trip of each of the ships used for this pur-
pose, or whether the ships would instead
remove only a part of the missiles at once,
returning them to Soviet ports and then sail-
ing back to retrieve the rest. We said that all
the missiles would be loaded onto the ships
and ready for shipping no later than 10 No-
vember, and that consequently the issue of

a gradual removal through several trips
would not arise.

Fourth. U Thant, emphasizing that he
was speaking for himself personally and
would not contact the Americans with re-
gard to this issue, asked whether it would
not be possible—unless, after we approve
the American proposal for monitoring com-
municated yesterday by McCloy, the Ameri-
cans accept the agreement—to entrust the
monitoring to representatives of the Inter-
national Red Cross, the same ones who will
be conducting inspections, as is now pro-
posed, on the Soviet vessels bound for Cuba.

We told U Thant that we would pro-
vide information on his proposal to Mos-
cow, but that we supposed that the Soviet
government had already introduced to the
Americans such liberal proposals on the in-
spection process that they are offering the
full possibility for settling the whole issue,
if the other side earnestly wants such a settle-
ment.

It appears to us that it is expedient to
seek an agreement on the basis of the con-
sent we have already given to the American
proposals on the inspection process. If it is
not possible to reach an agreement on this
basis, examine U Thant’s proposal. In such
a case it may be possible, in our opinion, to
agree that the International Red Cross rep-
resentatives carry out inspections on vessels
leaving Cuba with missiles in the same way
that it has been proposed that they conduct
inspections on the vessels bound for Cuba.

Fifth. U Thant stated that at each meet-
ing with the Americans (his last meeting
with them took place on 2 November) he
has asked them questions about guarantees
for Cuba’s security and about the lifting of
the “quarantine,” and that he intends to con-
tinue to do so.

U Thant reacted with great interest to
our information on the exchange of views
with the Americans on the subject of the
“UN presence” in the Caribbean Sea area.
It was clear that this issue is important to
him, and that he wants to reach a positive
settlement of it. He asked us in particular
whether we considered McCloy’s negative
response with regard to UN posts on USA
territory to be “conclusive,” or whether it
was just an “initial reaction.” We said that it
was difficult for us to make judgments on
this, but that it seemed that it was only an
“initial reaction.”

U Thant informed us that on 2 Novem-

ber he discussed the issue of the “UN pres-
ence” with delegates from Venezuela and
Chile, as well as with representatives from
the United Arab Republic, and that their re-
action was generally positive.

Sixth. U Thant told us, evidently hav-
ing in mind information published in today’s
American newspapers on a seemingly im-
minent meeting of the Security Council, that
he considered it necessary and possible to
convene the Council only after all issues
have been resolved at the negotiations be-
ing conducted now.

We fully agreed with U Thant’s point
of view, and emphasized the inexpediency
and even undesirability of convening the Se-
curity Council before the conclusion of the
negotiations.

Seventh. U Thant asked whether Com-
rade A.I. Mikoyan intended to stop for a time
in New York on his way back from Cuba,
and agreed that if so he would like to meet
with Comrade Mikoyan to get information
on the results of his negotiations with Fidel
Castro.

We answered that it was not yet clear
to us whether Comrade Mikoyan would stop
by New York on his way back from Cuba.

6.XI.62  V. KUZNETSOV

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK ,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen.]

Telegram from Soviet envoys in New
York V.V. Kuznetsov and V.A. Zorin to

USSR Foreign Ministry,
6 November 1962

6 November 1962
TOP SECRET

On 5 November we had a meeting with
Stevenson and McCloy at the American ini-
tiative. The Americans came to the meeting
with the clear intention of exerting pressure
to get further concessions from the Soviets.
Throughout the duration of the whole dis-
cussion, which lasted more than three hours,
they tried to represent the affair as if the
Soviets had still not displayed any willing-
ness to fulfill the obligations stipulated in
the correspondence between Comrade N.S.
Khrushchev and President Kennedy, nota-
bly with regard to IL-28 planes and nuclear
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warheads and bombs. At the same time the
Americans kept shying away from a discus-
sion of the issues concerning the Americans’
fulfillment of their own obligations. The
discussion at times became pointed, and this
was an effect created largely by Stevenson
and McCloy.

1. More than half the discussion was
devoted to an exchange of opinions on the
issue of the IL-28 planes located in Cuba.
Stevenson and McCloy stated that the agree-
ment between Comrade N.S. Khrushchev
and Kennedy stipulated the removal of all
these planes from Cuba, and their return to
the Soviet Union. The essence of
Stevenson’s and McCloy’s argument on this
issue can be reduced to the following:

Kennedy’s statement of 22 October and
his proclamation of 23 October placed jet
bombers in the category of the so-called
“offensive” Soviet weaponry in Cuba.
Kennedy’s message of 27 October referred
to the “offensive missile bases,” as well as
to “all armament systems that can be used
for offensive purposes,” apparently includ-
ing jet bombers  in this category. Comrade
N.S. Khrushchev indicated in his message
of 28 October that the Soviet government
had issued instructions to dismantle and re-
turn to the Soviet Union the arms that “you
call offensive.” The Americans call both
missiles as well as jet bombers offensive
weaponry.

McCloy and Stevenson came back
many times in the course of the talks to these
arguments, interpreting them in such a way
as to make it seem as though the Soviet
Union had committed itself to dismantle and
return to the Soviet Union from Cuba not
only missiles, but also bombers.

We explained our position in detail to
McCloy and Stevenson, in accordance with
your instructions. We emphasized in particu-
lar that at the present time there is only one
basis for an agreement, the one established
by the exchange of messages between Com-
rades N.S. Khrushchev and Kennedy. As far
as Soviet obligations are concerned, that
agreement stipulates that the Soviet Union
will remove from Cuba the missile weap-
onry that the President of the USA has called
“offensive,” and that it will never in the fu-
ture supply such weaponry to Cuba. The
USA in its turn committed itself not to in-
vade Cuba, and not to allow any invasion
by the other states of the Western hemi-
sphere. The Soviets are fulfilling to the let-

ter this agreement, which is the result of
compromise and mutual concessions. On 28
October the dismantling of the missiles was
begun, this dismantling was completed on
2 November, and the dismantled missiles
have been broughts to the ports for shipping,
and will be removed no later than 10 No-
vember.

We directed the attention of the Ameri-
cans to the fact that, if they want to raise
new issues, then we have many issues that
we will want to raise too, for example con-
cerning the American military bases on for-
eign territories, but that we are not doing
this because we do not want to complicate
the negotiations.

We adduced concrete facts concerning
the IL-28 bombers, showing that this
bomber is a purely defensive weapon, long
ago outmoded, and that it can be used only
for coastal defense when escorted by anti-
aircraft units. We said with regard to this
that if the USA representatives insist on their
own demands concerning the IL-28 planes,
then in doing so they will only place the
USA in a position in which the whole world
will see that the United States are reneging
on their promise, and imposing unaccept-
able conditions that create the possibility of
a continuation of the conflict.

We said that Stevenson’s assertion in
his letter of 3 November, that according to
the reports of American intelligence there
was evidence that IL-28 bombers are still
being assembled in Cuba, is a fabrication
by American intelligence that clearly aims
to avoid the settlement of the conflict and
the normalization of our relations, and that
indeed tightens the tensions. If the United
States take as their goal a return to the in-
cendiary situation of earlier, then this is
scarcely in the interests of the USA or the
USSR, or in the interests of peace. We pro-
pose to select reasonable positions, and to
proceed in our negotiations from the agree-
ment that has already been reached.

The Americans contested our views of
the purely defensive character of the IL-28
bombers. McCloy and Stevenson asserted
that “in Castro’s hands” these bombers could
be offensive weapons, and that for the Latin
American region they represent a threaten-
ing weapon which the other Latin Ameri-
can countries do not possess.

In response to our statement, in accor-
dance with your instructions, that one can-
not always rely on the facts produced by

intelligence reconnaissance and that, with
regard to the IL-28 bombers, the American
intelligence information on the continuing
assembly in Cuba of these planes is incor-
rect, McCloy asserted that in the photos
taken by an American reconnaissance plane
over the area where IL-28 planes were be-
ing stored, it was obvious that there were
more of them in recent days, and that new
containers of parts for these planes were
being unpacked. In a half-joking tone
McCloy stated that once Soviet representa-
tives had also denied even the American
intelligence photos of missile bases in Cuba.
McCloy said that he himself had seen the
photos of recent days in which IL-28 bomb-
ers were visible, and that he believed these
photos.

We answered McCloy and Stevenson
by saying that their formulation of the issue
of IL-28 bombers, which were outmoded
and which have been removed from the ar-
senal of our army, is clearly aimed at com-
plicating the whole affair, at slowing the
completion of the negotiation work, and at
putting into doubt everything positive that
had already been achieved at these negotia-
tions. We returned to these opinions many
times in the course of the talks. Stevenson
and McCloy stated that without resolving
the issue of removing the IL-28 bombers
from Cuba, it would be impossible to reach
any agreement.

At the end of this part of the talks,
Stevenson asked whether it should be un-
derstood that the Soviets are refusing to re-
move the IL-28 planes from Cuba. If so, he
said, then our position in the negotiations
has reached “a very serious impasse.” We
repeated that these planes are not offensive,
and that the Soviets will proceed from this
fact in their actions. Isn’t Mr. Stevenson al-
ready thinking of presenting us with an ul-
timatum on this issue and blaming the So-
viets for the situation created at these nego-
tiations?, we asked in response. He imme-
diately said no, there was no ultimatum at
all.

Stevenson said that perhaps the Sovi-
ets would think over this issue again, and
that the next day or the day after that they
could discuss it again. We said that we were
willing to discuss any issue in these nego-
tiations, but that as far as the issue of the
IL-28 bombers was concerned, it is the
Americans who should think it over, since
their position on it was complicating the
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negotiations.
2. Then Stevenson and McCloy asked

one more question— about the nuclear war-
heads on the missiles, and about nuclear
bombs. They asked how we proposed to give
the Americans the possibility of ascertain-
ing that our nuclear warheads and bombs
had been removed from Cuba in conditions
in which ground-based inspection in Cuba
was impossible. We stated that the Ameri-
cans’ formulation of still another issue could
only complicate the situation. We empha-
sized that the Soviets would fulfill to the
letter all the obligations, stipulated in Com-
rade N.S. Khrushchev’s messages, for re-
turning from Cuba to the Soviet Union the
whole complex of weaponry that the Ameri-
cans have called “offensive.” McCloy stated
in response to this that the USA did not want
to allow “nuclear warheads to be found in
Castro’s hands,” and wanted to be sure that
there was no such weaponry in Cuba.

McCloy said moreover that, since
ground-based inspection in Cuba was im-
possible, the Americans would want to be
allowed the same possibility for checking
on the removal from Cuba of the nuclear
warheads that they had been allowed for
checking on the removal of the missiles.
“Tell us how many nuclear warheads you
have in Cuba,” McCloy said, “and allow us
the possibility to ascertain that they have all
been loaded onto your vessels.”

We repeated that none of this was be-
ing put forth by the Americans in order suc-
cessfully to complete the negotiations, and
that the Soviets would fully and precisely
fulfill their obligation to remove from Cuba
the “offensive” missiles, along with every-
thing associated with them. We have every
right to expect a similarly sincere fulfillment
of the American’s obligations, instead of the
advancement of more and more issues that
complicate and delay the resolution of this
urgent problem.

3. We have informed the Americans
with regard to your instruction No. 2389 on
the schedule of departures from Cuba of the
ships carrying the missiles on 6 and 7 No-
vember. They have made no comment on
this information, and have asked no ques-
tions.

4. We informed Stevenson and McCloy
of our progress with regard to the establish-
ing of inspections on the Soviet vessels
bound for Cuba by representatives of the
International Red Cross, about which we

also informed Narasimhan today. In spite
of the fact that McCloy, in talks at his coun-
try house yesterday, was still talking about
the USA’s lack of objections to the use of
Soviet ships for the Red Cross inspections,
he stated today that he had doubts about the
acceptability for the USA government of our
proposal to use the Soviet freight vessel
“Amata” for carrying out this inspection by
the Red Cross representatives.

At this time McCloy asserted that,
since the Soviets had refused to approve the
use of American ships for this purpose, the
Americans could scarcely agree to the use
of a Soviet ship, and that it would be better
to charter vessels from neutral states, such
as Sweden, for example, for this purpose.
Answering our questions, McCloy said that
this still did not constitute a definitive re-
sponse from the Americans, and that he
would inform his government of our pro-
posal.

We expressed our surprise with regard
to such a change of the USA position on the
issue of using Soviet vessels for the Red
Cross inspections. McCloy was somewhat
embarrassed by this, and repeated several
times that yesterday, in talking about the
likelihood of American approval for that
proposal, he had been expressing only his
own personal assumptions.

5. In the course of the talks, we tried
several times to lead the Americans toward
the issues of guarantees of Cuban security
and the lifting of the “quarantine.” McCloy
and Stevenson did not enter into any real
discussion of these issues, even less than
they had before at the earlier meetings.

6. At the end of the talks, Stevenson
said, as if summing things up, that for them
there were still several questions, in his view,
which remained either undecided or open-
ended;  these included questions about the
removal from Cuba of the IL-28 bombers,
about the granting of the possibility for the
USA to be sure of the removal from Cuba
of nuclear warheads and nuclear bombs, and
about the search for vessels of neutral coun-
tries that would be acceptable to both par-
ties for the Red Cross inspection of Soviet
ships bound for Cuba.

McCloy told me that the day before he
had told President Kennedy by telephone
about our talks at McCloy’s country house,
that the President had given a positive evalu-
ation of the results of the talks, and that this
evaluation had been confirmed the next

morning by a telegram from Washington.
In McCloy’s words, President Kennedy was
counting on continued progress at the ne-
gotiating table. And he added that they
hoped that the Soviets would make an at-
tentive examination of the issues that had
been put forth at today’s talks.

In response to McCloy and Stevenson,
we said that we did not think that the ques-
tions referred to by Stevenson were open-
ended any longer. Those issues are perfectly
clear, and it is only the USA position that is
hindering forward movement. We appealed
to the Americans to operate in future nego-
tiations on the basis of the spirit of compro-
mise and the desire to guarantee the
strengthening of peace that was displayed
in the correspondence between N. S.
Khrushchev and Kennedy, and to be guided
by precisely that spirit when attentively re-
viewing the considerations we had ex-
pressed.

We ask that you inform us on the issue
of the warheads.

6.XI.62  V. KUZNETSOV
  V. ZORIN

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK ,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen.]

Telegram from Soviet envoy in New
York V. Kuznetsov to USSR Foreign

Ministry, 7 November 1962

On 6 November we had a meeting with
the Americans, with the participation on
their side of Stevenson, the Deputy Minis-
ter [Secretary] of Defense [Roswell]
Gilpatrick, and Ambassador [Charles] Yost
(Stevenson’s deputy).

The Americans asked a series of ques-
tions connected with the procedure govern-
ing the first-hand observation from their
ships of our ships’ removal of the missiles.
They proposed the following procedure for
that observation activity:

The American ships will come up close
to the Soviet vessels in order to see and pho-
tograph the missiles being shipped. If con-
ditions at sea do not permit their ships to
approach so close to the Soviet vessels, then
unarmed helicopters will be sent from the
American ships, and the photographing will
be done from them.
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In order to be convinced that it is pre-
cisely missiles that are being shipped out,
rather than something else, the Americans
are requesting that the covers or casings be
removed from certain missiles during the
observation. The desire was expressed that
the missiles be shipped on the decks of the
ships. Gilpatrick emphasized that they did
not have in mind the sort of unveiling of the
missiles that would allow a disclosure of
their technical characteristics.

The Americans emphasized that they
considered it important to become con-
vinced that the entire quantity of missiles
that they had been informed of was being
removed from Cuba.

The question was raised as to how and
where a meeting could be arranged between
the American ships with the Soviet vessels
carrying the missiles. The Americans pro-
posed that we inform them of the ship’s
numbers of all our vessels which are headed
out of Cuba bearing missiles, so that the
captains of the American ships from which
the observations will be conducted can be
able to make contact with the captains of
our ships, and arrange a meeting-place with
them without disturbing the itineraries of the
Soviet vessels. We said that in that case it
would be necessary for the captains of our
vessels to have the ship’s numbers of the
American ships as well, in order to find out
whether they should get in contact with
those particular ships. Gilpatrick agreed, and
proposed that the ship’s numbers of the So-
viet and American vessels be exchanged.

The Americans also requested to be
informed of the departure schedules of the
other ships carrying missiles out of Cuba
after 7 November.

We believe that the American propos-
als for carrying out an observation of the
removal of Soviet missiles from Cuba are
acceptable. In the event that they are ap-
proved, we ask to be immediately informed
of the ship’s numbers of the Soviet vessels,
and of the departure schedules of the ships
carrying missiles out of Cuba after 7 No-
vember, unless all the missiles will have
been removed by 6 or 7 November.

7.XI.62  V. KUZNETSOV

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive; translation by John
Henriksen.]

From the Journal of V.V. Kuznetsov:
Record of Conversation with the Cuban
Representative to the UN, C. Lechuga,

7 November 1962

On 7 November 1962 a meeting took
place with the permanent Cuban represen-
tative to the UN, Lechuga.

V. V. Kuznetsov informed him that in
recent days we had been discussing with the
Americans a series of problems deriving
from the exchange of letters between the
Chairman of the Council of Ministers of the
USSR, N.S. Khrushchev, and President
Kennedy, including the issue of assurances
and guarantees that Cuba would not be at-
tacked by the USA or by the other countries
neighboring Cuba.

At the present stage of the discussion,
we have not yet gone so far as to work out
any documents or the details of the agree-
ment. The Americans are now trying to find
pretexts for avoiding definite and concrete
statements. All in all, they have not been
displaying any spirit of cooperation at the
negotiating table.

In the American press there are fre-
quent statements about how the USA has
apparently won a triumph in the Cuban cri-
sis. But it is clear to anyone who is able so-
berly to assess the events that, thanks to the
firm and peaceful policies of the Soviet
Union and the peace-loving actions it has
taken in the crisis period, what has really
triumphed is the cause of peace, what has
triumphed is reason.

Now that the first stage is over and the
missiles are being shipped out of Cuba, we
consider it necessary to take the following
steps in the negotiations with the Americans,
steps that should show whether or not the
Americans really want to put an end to the
crisis and to prevent a repetition of this dan-
gerous military situation. We intend to put
before the Americans the issue of how they
will fulfill their obligations regarding the
guarantee against an attack on Cuba.

Lechuga said that Cuba supports the
Soviet Union’s peace-loving policies, and
that the misunderstanding which had arisen
in Cuba after the first steps taken by the
Soviet Union had now been completely
eradicated. We knew, Lechuga said, that the
Soviet government was defending the inter-
ests of peace, we were in full agreement with
the goals it was pursuing, but we were not

in agreement on the formulations that had
been used to do so. It must be borne in mind
that the Cubans are a young nation, passion-
ate in character. When the crisis began, the
Cubans were full of determination to fight,
and for this reason when the events took a
different turn, the feeling arose in them that
they had experienced a failure. At the same
time that this crisis represented a global
problem, for Cuba it was also her own prob-
lem, one which roused the whole nation, and
from that communal feeling came the fa-
mous five points appearing in Fidel Castro’s
statement. Now, however, the Soviet gov-
ernment can be sure that the uncertainty
which arose in the first moments of the cri-
sis has been dispelled, and that the Cuban
nation is delighted by the firmness and
peace-loving actions of the Soviet Union.

Lechuga also said that he had had a
meeting with the Red Cross representatives,
who had raised the issue of their inspection
on the open sea of the vessels entering and
sailing from Cuba. They made no mention
of the establishing of an inspection proce-
dure in Cuban territory. Lechuga said that
he had answered the Red Cross representa-
tives, in provisional fashion, that it did not
seem that the Cuban government would of-
fer any objections to that, since the issue at
hand did not concern Cuban territory, but
rather the open sea, and since this whole
affair more directly concerns the USSR and
the USA.

The Red Cross representatives said that
they intended to carry out their inspection
operations under the aegis of the UN, and
to select the inspection personnel from the
citizenry of neutral countries rather than
from those of the interested countries.

Lechuga stated that in the talks with
the Deputy Secretary General of the UN
Loutfi, the latter had told him that the pe-
riod of five days, proposed by the Soviet
Union as the maximum period in which the
inspection of vessels could be conducted,
was insufficient, since within this period the
Red Cross representatives would not even
be able to prepare their ships or send them
into the inspection zone. Loutfi also men-
tioned that the USA had raised the question
of the IL-28 bombers located in Cuba, and
that he was interested in whether these
bombers were manned by Soviet or Cuban
pilots.

V.V. Kuznetsov said that our position
with regard to the Red Cross inspections was
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based on the correspondence between N.S.
Khrushchev and Kennedy. We are generally
opposed to the carrying out of any inspec-
tions at all. The Soviet Union agreed to the
possibility of using Red Cross observers for
the duration of a very short time only to give
assurances that the missiles had been re-
moved from Cuba. Since the USA maintains
that the reason for the current crisis is the
existence of missiles in Cuba, then it fol-
lows that with the removal of these missiles,
the reasons adduced by the USA for their
actions against Cuba are also removed.

In the negotiations with the UN Secre-
tary General, we said that it was clear that
we consider all the actions taken by the USA
and leading to the current crisis to be un-
lawful. It is from precisely that same point
of view that we are now conducting nego-
tiations. With the resolution of this problem,
there should not be any infringement at all
on the sovereignty of Cuba or its legal rights.

In response to the question as to
whether vessels could now proceed unhin-
dered to Cuba, Lechuga answered in the af-
firmative.

With regard to the “IL-28” bombers,
V.V. Kuznetsov told Lechuga that the Ameri-
cans had asked this question during the ne-
gotiations with us, but that we had answered
that it goes beyond the negotiation param-
eters defined in N.S. Khrushchev’s and
Kennedy’s letters.

The Americans also raised the issue of
the continuation of reconnaissance flights
over Cuba, to which we responded that we
considered such flights to be a blatant vio-
lation of the sovereignty of Cuba, the norms
of international law, and the principles of
the UN Charter. The continuation of such
flights would lead to a prolongation of ten-
sions, and any measures taken by the Cu-
ban government in connection with this will
be justified, and all responsibility for any
consequences will lie on the shoulders of
the United States.

At the upcoming conference we intend
to exert pressure on them with regard to the
guarantees of non-aggression against Cuba.
And as far as the five points put forth in Fi-
del Castro’s statement are concerned, we
support them, including the point about
Guantanamo, and we are taking this into
account in the negotiations with the Ameri-
cans.

In conclusion V.V. Kuznetsov said that
an analysis of the events and of the steps

that we took in the crisis period shows that
definite positive results have been attained,
that we have definite assurances of non-
agression against Cuba, and that the issue
now is how the USA will fulfill its obliga-
tions. It is impossible to forget that the whole
world is currently watching how the events
connected with the Cuban crisis are unfold-
ing.

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK ,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Telegram from USSR Foreign Minister
A. Gromyko to A.I. Mikoyan via the

Soviet Embassy in Havana,
10 November 1962

First. Inform our Cuban friends that
Moscow agrees with their remarks on the
Protocol draft on the elimination of tensions
associated with Cuba. The text of the Pro-
tocol statement, including the remarks by
our Cuban comrades contained in it, has
been sent by us to Comrade Kuznetsov in
New York for him to relay to the Cuban
representative, the USA representatives, and
U Thant.

Second. We agree with the thoughts
you expressed to our Cuban comrades re-
garding the inexpediency of making a spe-
cial statement on the refusal of inspections
in Cuban territory of the dismantling and
removal of “offensive weaponry.” We are
also in agreement on your explanations con-
cerning the Cubans’ second proposal—on
the UN presence in the countries of the Car-
ibbean.

We understand that our Cuban com-
rades have agreed with these ideas of yours.

Third. With regard to the fact that
McCloy and Stevenson, in the talks with you
in New York, referred to possible difficul-
ties they might have in signing the Protocol
statement, and that they expressed support
for fixing the obligations that have been
undertaken in the form of separate state-
ments, the following instructions are given
to Comrade Kuznetsov:

“If the Americans declare that the sign-
ing of the protocol statement is difficult for
them because of the fact that the USA and
Cuba are supposed to be signing the same
document, then you may tell the Americans

that we allow the possibility that the the pro-
tocol statement be not formally signed, but
affirmed by special separate statements by
the governments of the three countries—the
USSR, the USA, and Cuba. All these docu-
ments in their collectivity will constitute an
agreement.

As a last resort you may even go so far
as to propose that the document not be for-
mally called a protocol statement, but rather
a declaration, which would be affirmed by
special separate statements from the three
governments.

We will inform you of final instructions
concerning the form of the document after
this issue has been submitted to the approval
of our Cuban friends. Meanwhile, you and
the Cuban representative will introcuce it
as a protocol draft.”

In the next meeting with our Cuban
comrades, you should clarify their views on
this proposal of ours. We request that you
inform us immediately of what you find out,
so that we can give corresponding instruc-
tions to Comrade Kuznetsov.

10.XI    A. G.

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive; translation by John
Henriksen.]

Telegram from Soviet Ambassador to
the USA A. F. Dobrynin to USSR

Foreign Ministry, 12 November 1962

Your instructions have been carried
out. Robert Kennedy has familiarized him-
self attentively with the content of N.S.
Khrushchev’s confidential oral message to
the President. When he got to the place that
spoke of Nixon’s defeat in the elections,21

he immediately grinned, saying: “Your
chairman is a real master of colorful expres-
sion that expressed the true essence of the
issue. Yes, we are quite satisfied with
Nixon’s defeat, and in general we are not
complaining about the results of the elec-
tion.” It was felt that this portion of the mes-
sage was received with definite satisfaction.

When Robert Kennedy had familiar-
ized himself with the whole message, he said
that for the President, for domestic policy
considerations, it was very important to re-
ceive the Soviet Union’s firm agreement to
the removal of the IL-28 planes, especially
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now that there were essentially no inspec-
tions being conducted in Cuba itself. The
correspondence between N.S. Khrushchev
and President Kennedy of 27 and 28 Octo-
ber implied that an agreement between our
countries had been reached. But we under-
stand the difficulties in this area that have
now arisen because of Premier Fidel
Castro’s position, and we are not insisting
on this as an unalterable and fundamental
condition. But the removal of the IL-28
planes—in an atmosphere of growing criti-
cism within the USA—is a matter of great
concern to the President. Let us reach an
agreement, continued Robert Kennedy, on
the following points:  that the Soviet Union
will remove its IL-28 planes by a definite
date announced in advance, and that on that
same day the USA will officially lift its quar-
antine. All this may be announced immedi-
ately.

I answered Robert Kennedy that his
proposal is entirely unacceptable for the
Soviet side. I then demonstrated the
unacceptability of of this proposal by using
the argument contained in N.S.
Khrushchev’s oral message that had been
passed on to him. In conclusion I expressed
my certainty that conveying his proposal to
Moscow would prove fruitless.

Thinking a moment, Robert Kennedy
said that he would like to confer with his
brother the President, after which he would
again contact me later the same day. I
agreed.

After an hour and a half (all this hap-
pened in the evening), Robert Kennedy
came to my residence. He said that now,
after speaking with the President, he could
formulate the American proposal in the fol-
lowing way:

N.S. Khrushchev and the President
would reach an essential agreement that the
IL-28 planes would be removed by a defi-
nite date. After such an agreement has been
reached, the USA would, as early as the next
day, lift any quarantine even before the re-
moval of the planes had been completed.
The Americans would of course prefer that
the date agreed upon for the removal of the
IL-28 planes be publicized. However, if the
Soviets have any objections to the public
disclosure of that date, then the President
would not insist on it. For him a promise
from N.S. Khrushchev would be entirely
sufficient. As far as the date is concerned, it
would be good if the planes were removed,

let us say, within 30 days. We ask that N.S.
Khrushchev be informed of this whole pro-
posal.

Robert Kennedy was told that the
President’s proposal would of course be
communicated to N.S. Khrushchev. As a
personal opinion, however, I noted that it
was unlikely that such an imminent date
could be acceptable to us, all the more so
since the fundamental USA obligations—
guarantees of non-aggression against Cuba,
and other obligations—remain, as before,
unfulfilled; moreover, they themselves are
pushing everything later and later. And this
is happening in circumstances in which the
Soviet government is sincerely fulfilling,
and essentially has already fulfilled, its own
obligations for the removal of the missiles.
It is now the Americans’ turn.

Robert Kennedy said that the time-
frame he had referred to—30 days—is not
in any way definitive. That time-frame had
been “given to him,” but he though that there
was room for negotiation here as long as
the period was not too great, and as long as
N. S. Khrushchev generally found the
President’s proposal acceptable. I want now
to make note of one more condition, Robert
Kennedy continued. After such an agree-
ment has been reached, especially if it is not
publicized, it would be important for us that,
even if the end of the agreed-upon period
for the removal of the IL-28 planes has not
yet been reached, at least some planes will
have been disassembled by this time, or if
they have just been taken out of containers,
that a portion of them be returned to their
containers. We need all of this, Robert
Kennedy remarked, so that we can satisfy
our domestic public opinion by reporting
that there has been some progress in the re-
moval of the IL-28 planes. This is neces-
sary, since even [West German Chancellor
Konrad] Adenauer is starting now to criti-
cize us publicly for trusting the word of the
Soviet Union without inspections in Cuban
territory—not to mention the Cuban emi-
gres in certain republics [states—ed.] who
are making similar accusations. But the
President, Robert Kennedy emphasized, has
faith in N. S. Khrushchev’s word, and is
willing to lift the quarantine immediately if
the agreement mentioned above can be
reached, even though we really do not have
any guarantees with regard to inspections
in Cuban territory.

I answered Robert Kennedy that it

would be much better if Adenauer kept his
nose out of everyone else’s business, and if
the USA government told him so directly
(here Robert Kennedy energetically nodded
his head in a gesture of agreement). I then
said that in the proposal that he had ad-
vanced, the issue is once again raised of a
full elimination of all the tension that has
existed, that is, beyond the immediate lift-
ing of the blockade, the obligations of all
the parties should be fixed in appropriate
UN documents, and non-aggression against
Cuba and a strict observation of its sover-
eignty should be guaranteed; there would
also be UN posts established in the coun-
tries of the Caribbean region as guarantees
against unexpected actions harming another
state.

Robert Kennedy said that he believed
that an agreement could be reached on all
this points. It is important, from the point of
view of American public opinion, to have
some inspection conducted in Cuba, even
in the form of several UN posts. Castro will
scarcely go for this unless a similar proce-
dure is imposed on the other countries of
the Caribbean basin. But is possible to re-
solve this too. Robert Kennedy mentioned,
as an alternative to this, the plan put forth
by Brazil, but then he immediately said that
this aspect of the issue was being studied
by Stevenson, and that he, Robert Kennedy,
could not go into details with regard to it. I
can however repeat the firm assurances of
the President not to invade Cuba. He autho-
rized me once again to say this now. He was
grateful to N.S. Khrushchev for the latter’s
clarification that the IL-28 planes are
manned by Soviet rather than Cuban pilots,
but nevertheless the issue of the removal of
these planes remains a very important one
for the President, and he asks that we con-
sider his proposal.

Further discussion came down to a re-
iteration of the positions of the parties. Rob-
ert Kennedy said in conclusion that he was
flying now to New York on personal busi-
ness, and that he would be willing to meet
with me at any time.

When he left, he glimpsed a crowd of
dancing couples in the embassy’s parlor.
Realizing that this was a friendly welcome
party arranged by the embassy community
for the Bolshoi Theater troupe that had just
arrived in Washington, he said that he would
like to meet with the troupe. Mingling with
and greeting almost all the members of the
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troupe, he delivered a welcome speech in
which he said that the President was pre-
paring to attend their premier the following
evening. At the end, he kissed Maya
Plisetskaya when he found out that he and
she had been born in the same year, month,
and day, and said they would celebrate their
birthdays in a week. None of this needs to
be mentioned especially, but all in all the
behavior of Robert Kennedy, who is ordi-
narily quite a reserved and glum man, re-
flects to some degree the calmer and more
normal mood in the White House after the
tense days that shook Washington, even
though this fact is concealed in various ways
by American propaganda.

12.XI.62  A. DOBRYNIN

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive; trans. J. Henriksen.]

Telegram from Soviet Ambassador to
the USA A.F. Dobrynin to USSR

Foreign Ministry, 14 November 1962

Having familiarized himself with our
response, Robert Kennedy said that he
would pass it on to the President today.
Then, saying that he would like to express a
little of his own views provisionally, Rob-
ert Kennedy stated the following.

The President—he, Robert Kennedy,
expects—will be disappointed by the answer
when he receives it. The President’s pro-
posal was very simple: the USA would im-
mediately and officially lift the blockade in
exchange for assurances—public or not—
that before some definite date the IL-28
planes would be removed. The President
believes that this proposal of his serves the
interests of both countries, and opens the
way towards a resolution of the remaining
aspects of the Cuban problem, creating a
significantly less tense situation than the one
that would arise if his proposal was ap-
proved by the Soviets. The President intends
to fulfill his obligations, which were stipu-
lated by the correspondence between the
heads of the two governments. But for this
there must be a certain time in which all the
details of the future agreement can be
worked out. The President’s proposal re-
ferred to above could be carried out imme-
diately, without any delay. The insistence
of the USA government in this matter of the

IL-28 planes has been provoked by the
growing pressure that has been brought to
bear on the President by representatives of
Congress, the press, and so on. It is impor-
tant that this aspect be properly understood
in Moscow, since the President himself has
great difficulties in dealing with this issue
(Robert Kennedy twice emphasized the “dif-
ficulties for the President”).

I carried on the discussion with Rob-
ert Kennedy of these difficulties using the
arguments advanced by N.S. Khrushchev’s
response. It was especially emphasized that
we have removed from Cuba the missiles
and warheads, in other words that we have
fulfilled the obligations we assumed, while
the USA is not fulfilling its own obligations;
for this reason, in order to conduct assur-
ance inspections after the missiles and war-
heads have been removed, the quarantine
should have already been lifted by now, the
flights by American planes over the terri-
tory of Cuba should have already ceased,
and the mutual obligations assumed by the
parties should have been formalized in ap-
propriate documents under the auspices of
the UN.

Robert Kennedy stated that the USA
government would not cease its flights over
Cuba in circumstances in which he had no
other guarantees that the government of
Cuba would carry out its end of the agree-
ment. Mr. Mikoyan’s long stay in Cuba
shows—or at least this conviction has been
created in us—that Premier Castro does not
want to approve the agreement reached be-
tween the President and the head of the So-
viet government on such guarantees. We
understand the circumstances that have been
created, but this does not relieve the diffi-
culties of our position, said Robert Kennedy.
The issue of UN guarantees, in the form of
UN posts or something like them, would
require a significant amount of time before
concrete approval of the agreement could
be reached. Let us take for example the is-
sue of UN posts in the area of the Carib-
bean basin. Here Robert Kennedy asked,
would the Soviet Union itself really agree
to some foreign posts on its own territory?
As far as we know, in every such case it has
categorically rejected, and still rejects, the
idea of observational posts within its bor-
ders.

Robert Kennedy was immediately told
that evidently he had not been sufficiently
familiarized with N.S. Khrushchev’s re-

sponse, which spoke, as did his preceding
message to the President, of how it seems
that our countries must in the first place
come back in their disarmament negotia-
tions to the Soviet proposals that stipulated
posts in airports, in the major ports, at rail-
road hubs, and on motorways in order to
guarantee for all countries of the world that
no country can assemble troops and prepare
for attack on or invasion of another coun-
try.

Robert Kennedy corrected himself,
confirming that such a proposal was indeed
to be found in N.S. Khrushchev’s responses.
By the way, the remark I made has no direct
connection to the subject presently under
discussion, the subject from which I di-
gressed, he continued. As far as I am aware,
there are no unsurmountable obstacles on
this point, although for us it seems a highly
complicated issue to organize UN posts in
the parts of the USA bordering the Carib-
bean Sea, if that agreement with Cuba is
indeed reached. However, just yesterday at
a White House meeting I heard that far from
all the countries of this area would agree to
participate in such an agreement. Thus if you
insist on all the countries of the Caribbean
area, the whole affair might be delayed even
longer. I am saying all this, Robert Kennedy
concluded, not in order to discuss the de-
tails of this issues—I do not know them
myself, since they are the responsibility of
Stevenson and Kuznetsov—but rather to
show that time is needed for all this, and
that it would scarcely be expedient or rea-
sonable to wait for it before lifting the quar-
antine and removing the IL-28 planes. The
President has put forth a proposal that he
believes serves the interests of both parties,
but that proposal is being rejected now by
the Soviets, which can lead only to an ex-
tension, or perhaps even a complication, of
the present situation which clearly does not
satisfy us or, we believe, you. Both parties
are equally uninterested in that. We hope
nonetheless that Chairman N.S. Khrushchev
will be able to approve the proposal put forth
by the President, who himself had great con-
fidence in it when he sent it to Khrushchev.

I told Robert Kennedy that the posi-
tion of the Soviet government has been
clearly laid out in today’s response by N.S.
Khrushchev. The Soviet Union has fulfilled
its obligations. Now it is simply the USA
government’s turn to do the same, so that
the situation of tension that has been cre-
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ated in the Caribbean Sea can be eased. For
this it is necessary: to lift the quarantine
without delay, to cease all flights by USA
planes over Cuba, and to fix the mutual ob-
ligations deriving from the correspondence
between the heads of both governments on
27 and 28 October. If corresponding instruc-
tions were given by the President to McCloy
and Stevenson on the issue of UN posts in
the Caribbean Sea area and the parts of the
USA that border it— and the Soviet repre-
sentatives already have such instructions—
and if they could reach an agreement, then
of course the issue of the time-frame for the
removal of the IL-28 planes would not be
any complex problem.

Since Robert Kennedy, who often re-
fers to the President’s opinion, has been
stubbornly continuing to assert the neces-
sity of first resolving the issue of the IL-28
planes’ removal, connecting the lifting of the
quarantine with that removal, he was di-
rectly asked, after mutually reiterating our
arguments to each other, whether this meant
that the President had already authorized
him to give an answer, and that such an an-
swer should be communicated to Moscow?

Robert Kennedy immediately an-
swered that the views he had been express-
ing, although based on the opinions of the
President, with whom he had just that
evening discussed all these issues, are none-
theless exclusively his own, Robert
Kennedy’s, personal thoughts, and that there
would be an answer to N.S. Khrushchev’s
address today from the President himself.
Robert Kennedy promised to provide infor-
mation on that answer immediately.

Towards the end, the conversation
started to have a formalized and official air
connected with the President’s invitation,
passed on to me via Robert Kennedy, to visit
the White House on the following day along
with the Bolshoi Theater troupe.

14.XI.62 A. DOBRYNIN

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive; translation by John
Henriksen.]

Telegram from Soviet Foreign Minister
A. Gromyko to A.I. Mikoyan,

15 November 1962

In connection with the last paragraph

of Comrade Kuznetsov’s telegram (relayed
by you separately), which says that the
Americans are insisting that their guaran-
tees of non-aggression against Cuba be
made simultaneously with the Soviet
Union’s promise not to bring any more “of-
fensive” weaponry into Cuba, we have sent
the following instructions to Comrade
Kuznetsov:

In your memorandum you said that that
the Americans are persistently pushing for
the simultaneous granting of USA guaran-
tees for non-aggression against Cuba and of
Soviet guarantees not to bring “offensive”
weaponry into Cuba any longer.

From such a formulation of this issue
on the part of the USA it can be deduced
that they are trying to impose on the Soviet
Union and Cuba additional obligations
which would basically mean that, besides
the sorts of weaponry agreed upon by the
correspondence between Comrade N. S.
Khrushchev and President Kennedy, Cuba
would be deprived of the right to possess
any other sorts of weaponry that the USA
might call “offensive.” The acceptance of
such obligations would discriminate against
Cuba, since in that case it would be singled
out from among the other countries of Latin
America that do not bear such obligations.
This cannot be acceptable.

Another matter concerns the talk of
concluding the agreement through the UN,
for example by way of the approval of an
appropriate UN resolution stipulating that
the territory of all Latin American countries
be declared a zone that is free from nuclear
arms. Of course the design behind this is to
put Cuba on equal footing with the other
countries of Latin America; and also the
USA, as far as Guantanamo and its other
bases in Latin America are concerned, would
take onto its shoulders the obligation not to
allow any provisioning of nuclear weapons
onto the territories of any Latin American
country. This would establish an equitable
basis for an agreement, and would be ac-
ceptable.

With such a formulation of this issue,
there would be no discrimination with re-
gard to any participants in the agreement,
in this case with regard to Cuba;  that is, the
issue would be resolved differently than as
proposed in the draft resolution put before
the UN General Assembly by Brazil, Bo-
livia, and Chile.

If the Americans continue to insist that

there be simultaneous guarantees by them
for non-aggression against Cuba, referred
to in Kennedy’s messages of 27 and 28 Oc-
tober, and guarantees by us no longer to
bring “offensive” weaponry into Cuba, you
must proceed from the point that we are
willing to make a guarantee not to bring into
Cuba the sort of weapons that we agreed to
remove from Cuba following the agreement
reached by correspondence between the
heads of our two governments. In accor-
dance with this, Article 8 of the draft Proto-
col may be supplemented with the follow-
ing paragraph:

“At the same time the Soviet govern-
ment states that it will not bring such weap-
onry onto the territory of the Republic of
Cuba.”

This formulation, which refers to “such
weaponry,”does not give the Americans the
chance to broadly and arbitrarily interpret
the term “offensive” weaponry to include
other sorts of weaponry (including nuclear
arms) that the Americans might classify as
offensive.

You must submit the position laid out
above to the approval of the UN delegate
from Cuba. In this we are proceeding from
the assumption that out point of view will
be acceptable for Cuba, since it derives from
the position jointly held by the Soviet Union
and Cuba on this matter.

 Telegraph upon completion.

A.G.

[Source: AVP RF, Moscow; copy obtained
by NHK, provided to CWIHP, and on file at
National Security Archive, Washington,
D.C.; translation by John Henriksen,
Harvard University.]

Telegram from Soviet Foreign Minister
A.A. Gromyko to A.I. Mikoyan,

18 November 1962

I am transmitting instructions from the
Authorities.

If our Cuban friends address you in
reference to their decision on firing at
American planes, then they should be told
the following:

In view of the fact that decision on fir-
ing at American planes was not submitted
to our approval, we do not consider it pos-
sible to take part in this. For this reason, we
have given instructions to our military men
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not to open fire on American planes.

A. GROMYKO

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by John Henriksen, Harvard Univer-
sity.]

Memorandum from the Head of the
USSR Merchant Fleet to the CC CPSU,

20 November 1962

I am reporting on the situation on the
USSR-Cuban sea lanes.

At the present time, there are 20 dry-
cargo ships and 4 oil-carriers on their way
to Cuba from Soviet ports on the Baltic, the
Black Sea, and in the Far East, carrying in-
dustrial and agricultural equipment, automo-
biles, metal, grain, flour, conserves, sulfates,
oil, gas, ammonia, and other loads. Besides
this, the tanker the “Tukmus” is nearing
Cuba, sailing out of the Canadian port of
Montreal with a cargo of animal fat. Four
of the vessels mentioned are passing through
the zone of the blockade imposed by the
USA. The others will reach this zone be-
tween 20 and 30 November.

There are 13 dry-cargo vessels and 7
tankers en route from Cuba to Soviet ports.
They have all successfully passed through
the blockade zone.

The Soviet vessels bound for Cuba are
being subjected to overhead flights by USA
Navy airplanes during their whole passage
across the Atlantic Ocean. Within the block-
ade zone these flights occur more frequently,
aerial photos are taken, American ships
come up close to them, inquiring what cargo
is being carried and where, and then they
follow close behind the Soviet ships until
they reach the territorial waters of Cuba.
Demands concerning the stopping of the
ships or the carrying out of inspections by
American naval ships are not forthcoming.

The Minister of the Merchant Fleet
(V. BAKAEV)

[Source: Center for the Storage of Contem-
porary Documentation (TsKhSD), Moscow;
copy provided to CWIHP by R. Pikhoia and
on file at National Security Archive, Wash-
ington, D.C.; translation by John Henriksen,
Harvard University.]

Cable from Mikoyan to CC CPSU,
23 November 1962

CC CPSU

During yesterday’s conversation with
Fidel Castro and others, when I spoke of the
significance of the new success in liquidat-
ing the crisis and of the cancellation of both
our and the American measures of extraor-
dinary preparedness, Fidel Castro said, that
they are, moreover, also preparing to carry
out demobilization.

23.XI.62    A. MIKOYAN

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive, Washington, D.C.; trans-
lation by David Wolff, CWIHP.]

A.I. Mikoyan, Memorandum of
Conversation with Robert F. Kennedy,

30 November 1962

[...] On the evening of 30 November,
A.I. Mikoyan was present at a dinner in
honor of the American Secretary of the In-
terior [Stewart] Udall.  The guests included
R. Kennedy, Deputy Secretary of State
[George] Ball, the chairman of the
President’s Council of Economic Advisors
[Walter] Heller, the chairman of the Board
of Directors of the “New York Times”
[Orville] Dryfoos, and the Soviet Ambas-
sador Dobrynin.

All the American guests were with their
wives, except for Robert Kennedy who
came with his eldest daughter, age 13. He
has seven children in all. He said that his
wife, together with the other six [children],
who had the flu, had gone to Florida to bring
them up to [good] condition.

Before dinner, Robert Kennedy, after
conversations of a protocol-like nature in the
presence of all, asked A.I. Mikoyan to step
into another room, where one on one
(Dobrynin) [they] first touched on the mat-
ter of one Zaslavskii (a Soviet citizen), who
married an American tourist, but our court
annulled the marriage. He [Kennedy] said
that he is embarrassed to present this matter
officially, since it has no bearing on the re-
lations between our governments. But for
the Minister of Justice [Attorney General]
the resolution of this question is important.

The question is small, but delicate, and its
resolution would be greeted with satisfac-
tion.

Then he touched on the major ques-
tions for which they had left the company -
the significance of yesterday’s conversations
with President Kennedy and the need for
contacts between Khrushchev and Kennedy
and mutual actions.

The President, said R. Kennedy, con-
siders yesterday’s conversation extremely
useful, promoting further mutual compre-
hension between our governments and their
heads. In this respect, this meeting can be
characterized as definite progress. Such is
the opinion of the president himself.

What is most important now?, contin-
ued R. Kennedy. The most important, even
more important than the fates of my chil-
dren and your grandchildren, although they,
of course, are the nearest and dearest to us,
is the question of mutual understanding be-
tween Chairman Khrushchev and President
Kennedy. Indeed, it now decides the fate of
the world. One must admit that in the course
of the recent crisis, their personal relations
and mutual trust underwent serious trials,
as a result of which, frankly speaking, dam-
age was sustained. Therefore, it is very im-
portant to do everything to restore fully the
trust on which so much depends. We our-
selves understand the need for this, for we
must look ahead. We, concluded R.
Kennedy, sincerely hope that the develop-
ment of our relations can follow a happier
course than in the past.

A.I. Mikoyan replied to R. Kennedy
that he fully agrees with the idea of the im-
portance for preserving peace and for the
basic improvement of relations between our
countries of good personal relations between
N.S. Khrushchev and president Kennedy,
their mutual understanding and trust of one
another. As one of N.S. Khrushchev’s com-
rades-in-arms [soratnik], said A.I. Mikoyan,
I can assure you that exactly these thoughts
define his approach to his relations with the
USA president. N.S. Khrushchev values the
personal quality of these relations. The So-
viet government renders its due to the self-
possession [otdaet dolzhnoe vyderzhke] ex-
hibited by the president in the most danger-
ous moment, when the world stood at the
edge of thermonuclear war, but by mutual
concessions and compromises, succeeded in
averting this war.

Moscow, continued A.I. Mikoyan, no-
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ticed the positive role you, the president’s
brother, played during the confidential ne-
gotiations between the president and the
head of the Soviet state. Of course, we un-
derstand, that you did this, as did we, in the
interests of one’s own country, one’s own
people. It was important, however, that you
understood correctly, in the critical moment,
what those interests were. Let us now com-
plete the outlined resolution to the Cuban
question, without complicating it with trivial
formal cavils [melochnaia pridirka], or even
worse, some deviation from the agreement
on the final settlement of this question. In-
deed, if one speaks the truth, there’s not
much left to do; it is only necessary to put
in writing or to finalize, without excessive
procrastination that which the American side
obligated itself to do during the exchange
of messages between N.S. Khrushchev and
the president.

R. Kennedy noted that he agreed that
little of essence remained to be done - in-
deed, “it’s 90 percent done,” although there
are still difficulties that must be overcome.
But he, R. Kennedy, did not intend to ana-
lyze these difficulties. They were the sub-
ject of detailed discussion in New York. He
only wanted to emphasize briefly that with
which he began: the importance of further
developing mutual understanding between
the president and N.S. Khrushchev. This will
determine to a large extent the success and
solution of other questions that still await
settlement.

A.I. Mikoyan agreed with this. Return-
ing to his conversation with the president,
A.I. Mikoyan said, that although in its course
there were a few sharp [ostryi] moments,
on the whole he agrees with R. Kennedy’s
evaluation of the conversation with the
president.

To all appearances, this was reflected
in the ensuing conversation with Rusk,
which took place in a business-like and
friendly atmosphere, clearly, not without the
influence of the president. R. Kennedy
smiled, but he didn’t say anything.

In concluding the conversation, R.
Kennedy asked [Mikoyan] to give greetings
to N.S. Khrushchev. In his turn A.I. Mikoyan
sent greetings to the president.

Robert Kennedy showed interest in
visiting the Soviet Union and expressed this
desire.

A.I. Mikoyan said that this was a good
idea and completely realizable. If the de-

crease in tension between [our] countries
continues further and the political atmo-
sphere warms up, then this trip would not
only be interesting but useful for him.

After our return to the other room,
Udall made the first toast to the leaders of
the two great nations - N.S. Khrushchev and
J. Kennedy - “people of strength and peace.”
One theme of the toasts and remarks of the
American representatives during the meal
was to express satisfaction over the fact that
our two countries have succeeded in avoid-
ing a clash in the Cuban crisis and [to sup-
port] the need to search for ways of avoid-
ing the repetition of similar crises in the fu-
ture. Note the following pronouncements.

Udall emphasized the pleasant impres-
sions from his trip to the Soviet Union and
from his meeting with N.S. Khrushchev and
other Soviet leaders. He said that his feel-
ings of sympathy for the Soviet people grew
stronger, and he said so despite criticism of
these statements in the USA, still in Sep-
tember. He asked [me] to transmit his invi-
tation to visit the United States to the Chair-
man of the Council of Ministers, Comrade
Novikov, and to the Energy and Electrifica-
tion Minister, Comrade Neporozhnyi, not-
ing in jest that he was ready to show “some
secrets,” as was done during his visit to the
Soviet side.

A.I. Mikoyan pronounced a toast to the
host, Secretary Udall, his wife and children,
who were presented to A.I. Mikoyan by their
parents. Udall has 6 children.

A.I. Mikoyan joked that although
Khrushchev’s acquaintance with Udall was
brief, and Mikoyan’s acquaintance with
Udall at the time even briefer, Udall imme-
diately won over Khrushchev and then
Mikoyan. Khrushchev said to Mikoyan:
What a simpatico [simpatichnyi] and good
man is Mr. Udall!

When I met him at dinner, said
Mikoyan, he made such an impression on
me. There are some people, whom you know
for years, but actually don’t know, and sud-
denly after decades you see the real face of
the man. And there are also those, who after
several hours, you can tell what kind of man
they are. Udall belongs to this category.
When he returned to his homeland after vis-
iting the Soviet Union he landed in an at-
mosphere of anti-Soviet hysteria. The agents
of monopolies, the press and radio tried to
get anti-Soviet statements out of him,
counter to those he had made in the Soviet

Union. Udall’s conscientiousness [dobros-
ovestnost’] was confirmed and he did not
give in to this pressure and said what he
thought, that is, he repeated in the USA what
he had said in the Soviet Union.

A.I. Mikoyan transmitted greetings
from N.S. Khrushchev and offered a toast
to [Khrushchev’s] health.

Ball underlined that the necessary con-
dition for greater trust between the USSR
and USA was our renunciation of “the prac-
tices [of] a closed society,” stating, in par-
ticular, that this should be demonstrated
concretely by the broadening of exchanges
and in our agreement to the sale of bourgois
newspapers on the streets of Moscow.

Replying to Ball, A.I. Mikoyan said,
that so long as the arms race continues, it is
impossible and unrealistic to demand the
open society of which Ball spoke. You also
do not have an open society. You have more
advertising [reklam], but society is closed,
but in its own way. When the arms race is
eliminated and disarmament takes place, we
will then open many places in which the
presence today of foreigners is forbidden.
Then we will have open exchanges and con-
tacts.

Wishing to draw Heller, the Chairman
of the President’s Council of Economic
Advisers, into the conversation (he appears
pleasant, a relatively young professor, for
the most part silent), A.I. Mikoyan asked
Heller how he would explain the fact that,
in particular, the USA has more steel pro-
ducing potential than the USSR, but the
USSR in the third quarter of this year pro-
duced more steel than the USA. “If you did
not need so much steel, why build so many
factories and remove huge amounts of capi-
tal from circulation, including the living
work force [that has become] unemployed.
In general, what measures are you taking to
remove such disproportions and are they
removable at all in a free enterprise system?”

Heller avoided answering by changing
the topic of conversation, not wishing to
enter an argument where he felt himself
weak. A.I. Mikoyan in the context of the
dinner did not insist on an answer.

Heller promptly supported Mikoyan’s
statement on the appropriateness of trans-
ferring power and means freed up by the
end of the arms race toward raising the stan-
dard of living of the people from underde-
veloped countries and of the people of the
states participating in the arms race.
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A.I. Mikoyan invited Heller to visit the
Soviet Union.

Those present asked Mikoyan if, in his
opinion, Castro is interested in normalizing
relations and about Castro himself as the
ruler of Cuba.

A.I. Mikoyan in his statements about
his trip to Cuba underlined Cuba’s intrest in
having the chance to build a [word illeg-
ible] life in a peaceful setting, and the lack
of any serious signs of readiness on the part
of the USA to normalize [relations] with
Cuba.

Dobrynin and Bubnov transcribed the
conversation.

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK,
provided to CWIHP, and on file at National
Security Archive; translated by David Wolff,
CWIHP.]

Memorandum from the Head of the
USSR Merchant Fleet to the CC CPSU,

7 December 1962

I am reporting on the removal of 42
IL-28 planes from Cuba.

1. The ship “Okhotsk,” carrying 12 IL-
28 airplanes, left the port at Nuevita on 4
December at 23:00 Moscow time.

After the departure of the “Okhotsk”
from the port, American planes began fly-
ing back and forth over the ship, taking pho-
tos. We recorded the identification numbers
of the planes.

On 6 December at 9:00, the USA war-
ship number 943 appeared near the stern of
the “Okhotsk,” and informed the captain of
our vessel that it would be following the
“Okhotsk” all night, and asked that the boxes
containing the IL-28 planes be opened for
photographing. The captain gave his con-
sent, and towards dawn on 7 December the
USA destroyer carried out an inspection of
the Soviet ship.

2. The “Kasimov” left the port of
Mariel at 14:45 on 5 December, carrying on
board 15 IL-28 planes.

The “Kasimov” was also subjected to
constant overhead flights by USA war
planes whose identification numbers we re-
corded.

A bomber of the “Neptune” class, with
the number 6-145922, asked us to open the
packing of our deck cargo for photograph-
ing. This request was fulfilled by the cap-
tain of the “Kasimov.” After this, the plane

circled over the vessel six times and then
flew away.

3. The ship “Krasnograd” left from the
port of Mariel on 6 December at 7:30, car-
rying on board 15 IL-28 planes.

This vessels was also constantly sub-
jected to overhead flights by American
planes whose numbers were recorded by us.
One plane of the “Orion” class, number
5605-BF-505, and two planes of the “Nep-
tune” class, numbers LK-131499 and JP-22,
asked the captain how many IL-28 planes
he was carrying. The captain answered that
there were 15 “IL-28” planes on board.

The flights over vessels carrying IL-
28’s continue. The vessels are proceeding
normally.

All the planes, 42 units, have been re-
moved. According to the Ministry of De-
fense, a forty-third plane (an instructional
model) was wrongly registered, and had
never been received by Cuba.

The Minister of the Merchant Fleet
V. BAKAEV

[Source: Russian State Economic Archives,
Moscow; copy provided to CWIHP by R.
Pikhoia and on file at National Security
Archive, Washington, D.C.; translation by
John Henriksen, Harvard University.]

Official note from the US embassy in
Moscow to USSR Foreign Ministry,

10 December 1962

Received by mail
10 December 1962

Translated from the English
No. 478

The Embassy of the United States of
America is expressing its respect to the Min-
ister of Foreign Affairs of the Union of So-
viet Socialist Republics, and has the honor
of quoting from the Embassy’s note No. 348
of 24 October 1962. The Embassy has been
entrusted by its government hereby to bring
to the attention of the Ministry the opera-
tional portion of the Proclamation, issued
by the President of the United States of
America on 21 November 1962, on the lift-
ing of the quarantine announced on 23 Oc-
tober 1962.

“I, John F. Kennedy, President of the
United States of America, acting with the

authority given to me by the Constitution
and the laws of the United States, hereby
declare that at 23 hours 00 minutes Green-
wich time on 20 November 1962, I re-
scinded the powers given to the Defense
Department by Proclamation No. 3504 of
23 October 1962, and cancelled the orders
it contained to the armed forces under my
command.”

The Embassy of the United States of
America

Moscow, 10 December 1962
Translated by Ju. Sokolikov

[Source: AVP RF; copy obtained by NHK
(Japanese Television), provided to CWIHP,
and on file at National Security Archive,
Washington, D.C.; translation by John
Henriksen, Harvard University.]

EDITOR’S NOTES

1 Gromyko here evidently refers to Dorticos’

speech to the U.N. General Assembly of 8 Octo-

ber 1962. Dorticos stated: “Were the Untied States

able to give us proof, by word and deed, that it

would not carry out aggression against our coun-

try, then, we declare solemnly before you here

and now, our weapons would be unnecessary and

our army redundant.”  New York Times, 9 Octo-

ber 1962.
2 Kennedy had asked Congress to approve the

call-up of 150,000 reservists on 7 September

1962.
3 Not further identified.
4 An obvious allusion to the failed attack on Cuba

in April 1961 at the Bay of Pigs by CIA-supported

anti-Castro Cuban exiles.
5 The date of this conversation is not specified in

the text, but Kennedy appears to be referring to

the meeting between Robert Kennedy and Soviet

Ambassador Anatoly F. Dobrynin on the same

day as the 4 September 1962 statement to under-

line the President’s concerns about Soviet mili-

tary aid to Cuba.
6 The Russian text is unclear as to whether it re-

fers to a “bar-man” (barkeeper) or a last name

such as “Berman,” “Barman,” or “Burman.”
7 Possibly a reference to journalist Robert J.

Donovan.
8 It is noteworthy that the Soviet message strongly

implies that a U.S. invasion of Cuba would not

trigger a military response from the USSR, but

only political condemnation.  This hinted at a

brewing disagreement between Moscow and Ha-
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vana, for Castro’s message to Khrushchev on 26

October 1962—in which he called on the Soviet

leader to authorize a “harsh and terrible” attack

on the United States should it invade Cuba—

clearly reflected the Cuban’s belief that Moscow

was (or should be) willing to go to war on Cuba’s

behalf.  For an English translation of Castro’s let-

ter, which first appeared in the Cuban newspaper

Granma in November 1990, see James G. Blight,

Bruce J. Allyn, and David A. Welch, Cuba on the

Brink: Castro, the Missile Crisis, and the Soviet

Collapse (New York: Pantheon, 1993),  481-482.
9 Presumably a reference to Khrushchev’s letters

on that day to both Kennedy (accepting his pro-

posal to resolve the crisis) and Castro (explain-

ing his decision); for the texts of both letters, see

Laurence Chang and Peter Kornbluh, eds., The

Cuban Missile Crisis, 1962: A National Security

Archive Documents Reader (New York: The New

Press, 1993), 226-229, 239.
10 A seccessionist rebel leader from Katanga

(later Shaba) Province in the Congo (later Zaire)

against whom the UN was considering the use of

military force, which it later used to quash the

resistance.
11 For an English translation of the letter, which

emerged publicly only three decades later when

it was released by Soviet officials, see Problems

of Communism—Special Edition (Spring 1992),

60-62; also U.S. State Department, Foreign Re-

lations of the United States, 1961-1963, vol. VI:

Kennedy-Khrushchev Exchanges (Washington,

D.C.: Government Printing Office, 1996), 189-

90.
12 A reference to Kennedy’s agreement to with-

draw the approximately 5,000 U.S. troops sent to

Thailand in May 1962 in response to an attack by

the pro-communist Pathet Lao in Laos.

Kennedy’s decision followed a private appeal in

Khrushchev’s name conveyed through Robert

Kennedy in mid-June by Bolshakov.  See Memo-

randum from Attorney General Kennedy to

President’s Special Assistant for National Secu-

rity Affairs (Bundy), 11 July 1962 (regarding

meetings apparently held on 18 and 19 June

1962), in U.S. State Department, Foreign Rela-

tions of the United States, 1961-1963, vol. XXIII:

Southeast Asia (Washington, D.C.: Government

Printing Office, 1994), 950.
13 Igor D. Statsenko was the commander of a

Soviet missile division deployed to western Cuba.
14 Alekseev evidently refers to Khrushchev’s let-

ter to Castro dated 30 October 1962; an English

translation can be found in an appendix to Blight,

Allyn, and Welch, Cuba on the Brink, 485-488.
15 Castro here refers to his message to

Khrushchev dated 26 October 1962, an English

translation of which appears in an appendix to

Blight, Allyn, and Welch, Cuba on the Brink,  481-

482.
16 A reference to anti-U.S. protests held outside

the embassy in Moscow during the crisis.
17 Evidently a reference to the U.S. Arms Con-

trol and Disarmament Agency, which Kennedy

created.
18 For English translations of the Russian records

of conversations in Havana between Mikoyan and

Castro and the Cuban leadership on 3-5 Novem-

ber 1962, see Vladislav Zubok, “`Dismayed by

the Actions of the Soviet Union’: Mikoyan’s talks

with Fidel Castro and the Cuban leadership, No-

vember 1962" (plus accompanying documents),

CWIHP Bulletin 5 (Spring 1995), 59, 89-92 and

109, 159.
19 Until the missile crisis, Georgi Bolshakov, a

Soviet official based at the USSR Embassy in

Washington, had been used as a back-channel go-

beteen to deliver messages between Khrushchev

and the Kennedys, meeting frequently with Rob-

ert Kennedy.  As the document indicates, this

channel ended after the Kennedys concluded that

Bolshakov had been used to mislead them by

transmitting false reassurances in the summer and

early autumn of 1962 that Khrushchev would not

send offensive weapons to Cuba or take any dis-

ruptive action prior to the Congressional elections

in November.  Instead, beginning with the mis-

sile crisis, a new channel was set up between

Robert Kennedy and Ambassador Dobrynin.
20 For Khrushchev’s 4 November 1962 letter to

Kennedy, see Chang and Kornbluh, eds., The

Cuban Missile Crisis, 1962, 264.
21 Nixon had been defeated by his Democratic

rival in the California gubernatorial elections,

upon which he announced his retirement from

politics.  The relevant passage in Khrushchev’s

12 November 1962 message read: “Now the elec-

tions in your country, Mr. President, are over.  You

made a statement that you were very pleased with

the results of these elections.  They, the elections,

indeed, were in your favor.  The success does not

upset us either—though that is of course your

internal affair.  You managed to pin your politi-

cal rival, Mr. Nixon, to the mat.  This did not draw

tears from our eyes either....”  See James A.

Nathan, ed., The Cuban Missile Crisis Revisted

(New York: St. Martin’s Press, 1993), 290.

STATE DEPARTMENT, RUSSIAN
ARCHIVES COOPERATE ON

KHRUSHCHEV-KENNEDY
FRUS VOLUME

    In an unprecedented example of cooperation

between the State Department Historian’s Office

and the Russian Foreign Ministry archives, a vol-

ume of Foreign Relations of the United States,

the official published record of U.S. foreign

policy, has appeared with Russian archival docu-

ments.

    Foreign Relations of the United States, 1961-

1963, Volume VI: Kennedy-Khrushchev Ex-

changes (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government

Printing Office, 1996), contains several Russian

documents among the correspondence, oral mes-

sages, back-channel exchanges, and other records

concerning direct communications between U.S.

President John F. Kennedy and Soviet leader

Nikita S. Khrushchev, including exchanges be-

tween the two concerning the Cuban Missile Cri-

sis in Oct.-Nov. 1962 that were declassified by

Russian authorities five years ago and published

in Spring 1992 in Problems of Communism.

    One newly-available document from the Rus-

sian archives contained in the volume is a trans-

lation of a long (approximately 25 type-written

pages) 1 April 1963 “talking paper” from

Khrushchev to Kennedy.  Upon reading through

the message when it was presented to him by So-

viet Ambassador Anatoly F. Dobrynin, the

president’s brother, Attorney General Robert F.

Kennedy, handed it back on the grounds that it

was “so insulting and rude to the President and to

the United States that I would neither accept it

nor transmit its message.” Robert Kennedy told

his brother that he had informed an “obviously

embarrassed” Dobrynin that a message of that

sort, if Khrushchev insisted on sending it, should

go through normal State Department channels

rather than the confidential back-channel

Dobrynin and Robert Kennedy had established

during the Cuban Missile Crisis.  Thus, no copy

of the communication reached the U.S. archives.

    FRUS editors called the cooperation with the

archives of an ex-Cold War adversary “without

precedent in the history of the Foreign Relations

series,” and expressed thanks to Igor V. Lebedev,

Director of the Department of History and

Records, Russian Foreign Ministry. The

Kennedy-Khrushchev volume (320 pp.), prepared

by the Office of the Historian, Department of

State, is ISBN 0-16-04018-0 and can be ordered

from the U.S. Government Printing Office, Su-

perintendent of Documents, Mail Stop: SSOP,

Washington, DC 20402-9328.
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MIKOYAN-CASTRO TALKS
continued from page 320

 by the Russian and transcribes the
meaning of the phrase into the simple
past tense.  Both documents are evi-
dently transcriptions of memo notes
taken during a speech and do not seem
to have been corrected. Their overall
tone is colloquial.  When the meaning
was clear enough, I changed the punc-
tuation and divided very long sentences
into shorter ones. I did not shorten the
phrases whose meaning was unclear. In
this latter case, I tried to be as literal
as possible; translating word by word.
Editor’s and translator’s insertions ap-
pear in brackets, as opposed to paren-
thetical phrases in the original docu-
ment. The translation preserves some
apparent errors in the originals regard-
ing parentheses and quotation marks,
where the punctuation marks are not
closed. In general, however, the sense
of both documents is understandable
even to a reader who is unfamiliar with
the events.—Carlos Osorio (National
Security Archive).]

Document I:
Cuban Record of Conversation,

Mikoyan and Cuban Leadership,
Havana, 4 November 1962

MEETING OF THE SECRETARIAT OF
THE CRI WITH MIKOYAN AT THE

NATIONAL PALACE,
SUNDAY, 4 NOVEMBER 1962.

Preamble by Mikoyan:
He says he has come to Cuba to dis-

cuss their differences with the Cuban
Companeros [comrades] and not to [discuss]
what has been stated by the imperialists.
They trust us as much as they trust them-
selves. He is willing to discuss for as long
as it takes to solve the differences. The in-
terests of the Soviet Union are common to
ours in the defense of the principles of Marx-
ism-Leninism and in all the other interests.

FIDEL: Summarizes our differences in
terms of the procedures used to deal with
this crisis.

DORTICOS: Asks whether Mikoyan con-
siders that they have obtained the guaran-
tees that president Kennedy offered.

CARLOS: Asks whether the victory men-
tioned by the Soviets has been attained.

MIKOYAN: Says he will respond to the
questions, and asks to be excused for he will
speak for a long time. He says he will start
with the doubts expressed by Fidel in order
to explain them.

He thinks that the main problem con-
sists in explaining why they have sent troops
and strategic weapons. If this is not under-
stood, it is very difficult to understand the
whole situation. He did not think we had
doubts about this. He said that “the fate of
the Cuban revolution is a permanent preoc-
cupation of ours, especially since its social-
ist character was declared. When the impe-
rialists were defeated in Giron [Beach at the
Bay of Pigs—ed.], we congratulated our-
selves, but we also worried. The yanquis
[Yankees, i.e., North Americans—ed.] did
a stupid thing but we knew they would con-
tinue harassing because Cuba is an example
that they could not tolerate. Our assessment
was that they had two parallel plans; the first
one consisted of the economic strangulation
of Cuba in order to bring down the regime
without a military intervention. The second
one consisted of an intervention organized
by Latin American governments and their
support, as an alternative to the other plan.

We consider the victory of the Cuban
revolution as an enormous contribution to
Marxism-Leninism. Its defeat would be an
irreparable damage to Marxism and to other
revolutionary movements in other countries.
Such a defeat would mean the preponder-
ance of imperialism over socialism in the
world. Such a defeat would mean a terrible
blow against the world revolution. It would
break the correlation of forces. It is our duty
to do everything possible to defend Cuba.

“Our comrades told us that the eco-
nomic situation in Cuba had worsened due
to the yanquis’ pressure and the enormous
military expenses. This worried us for it
coincided with the plans of the yanquis. We
had a discussion about the economic decline
and we have helped without you requesting
it. You are very modest in your requests and
we try to help you. We decided to give you
weapons for free and donated equipment for
100,000 men. In addition, in our commer-
cial negotiations, we have looked at all the
possibilities and we have tried to provide
everything you needed without payments in

kind. We have given you 180 million roubles
in order to help you. This is a second phase
of help because before that there were com-
mercial and credit agreements but these last
deliveries have been in aid.

When Khrushchev visited Bulgaria [on
14-20 May 1962—ed.] he expressed many
things to us, he said “although I was in Bul-
garia, I was always thinking of Cuba. I fear
the yanquis will attack Cuba, directly or in-
directly, and imagine of the effect on us of
the defeat of the Cuban revolution. We can-
not allow this to happen. Although the plan
is very risky for us, it is a big responsibility
for it exposes us to a war. Cuba must be
saved[.] “They thought it over for three days
and later all the members of the Central
Committee expressed their opinions. We
have to think a lot about this action in order
to save Cuba and not to provoke a nuclear
war. He ordered the military to develop the
Plan and to consult with the Cubans. He told
us that the main condition was to carry out
the Plan secretly. Our military told us that
four months were needed for the prepara-
tions. We thought the enemy would learn
about it right in the middle of the plan and
we anticipated what to do. We thought the
plan would not be carried out to the end,
but this was an advantage, for the troops
would already be in the Island. We foresaw
that, in order not to provoke a war, we could
use the UNO [United Nations Organization]
and the public opinion. We thought the Plan
would not provoke a war but a blockade
against weapons and fuel instead. How to
solve this - your lack of fuel? Considering
the geographic situation of the Island, it has
been very difficult to avoid the blockade. If
you were closer we could have used our Air
Force and our Fleet, but we could not. The
yanquis do have bases surrounding us in
Turkey and blocking the Black Sea. Given
the situation, we cannot strike back.
Okinawa is too far away too. The only pos-
sibility was to cut the communications with
West Berlin. In Berlin this is possible.

We have not thought of building a So-
viet Base on the Island to operate against
the North Americans. In general, we con-
sider that the policy of bases is not a correct
one. We only have bases in [East] Germany,
first because of the right we have as an in-
vading country, and after that due to the
Warsaw Treaty. (Stalin did have bases
abroad). In the past, we have had them in
Finland and in China too (Port Arthur) -
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those bases we have abandoned. We only
have troops in Hungary and Poland, to pro-
tect the troops in Germany and the commu-
nications with Austria.

We do not need bases to destroy the
United States because we can attack with
the missiles deployed in our territory. We
do not have a plan to conquer North
America. The only thing we need to do is to
launch a counter strike, but that will serve
to destroy them without having to send in
our troops.

We have sent the troops and strategic
missiles only to protect the Island’s defense.
It was a plan of containment [contension]
so that the yanquis could not provoke an
explosion in Cuba. If the missiles are well
camouflaged and the yanquis do not know
where they are deployed, then they can help
to contain them. The military told us that
they could be well hidden in the palm for-
ests of Cuba. The yanquis were not going
to locate them. They could not destroy them.
During July and August, they did not find
anything, it was not until October that they
have been found. We were surprised that
Kennedy only made reference to technicians
and not to our troops. At first, it seems that
that is what he thought. Later we learned
that he knew more than he was saying, but
he was not revealing it not to hinder the elec-
toral campaign. We let the yanquis know that
we were going to solve the Berlin problem,
in order to distract their attention from the
other problem. We did not intend to act on
Berlin. I can explain this later.

It was known through diplomatic chan-
nels that Kennedy did not want to make
matters more serious and asked us not to
move on the issue of Berlin before the elec-
tions. We told him that we agreed to this.
We would please him and we would solve
it later. We thought it was convenient to
please him. In addition, we had not thought
of bringing up this problem. When the North
Americans learned about the transports to
Cuba, they also concentrated their campaign
on Berlin. Both sides had their principal in-
terest in Cuba, but appeared as if concen-
trated on Berlin. In the middle of October,
they [the North Americans—ed.] learned
about it through Cuba, via the West Ger-
many information service who passed it to
the CIA,3 they first learned about the mis-
siles. They took aerial pictures and located
them. Khrushchev ordered that the missiles
be laid down during the day and that they

be raised only during the night. Evidently,
this order was never carried out. Kennedy
did not want to talk about the missiles until
the end of the elections. But two Republi-
can Senators learned the news and they had
no alternative but to act. We did not know
what Kennedy would do and we worried
about the preparations or maneuvers of Vieti
- an operation named after Castro but back-
wards.4  When Kennedy talked about the
blockade, we did not have data showing
whether it was a maneuver or a preparation
for aggression. On the morning of the 28th
we received the news confirming that it was
an aggression. Although it was announced
that the maneuvers were suspended due to
a storm, the storm was over and the maneu-
vers were not carried out. In the meantime,
the concentration continued. Khrushchev
has strongly criticized Kennedy’s words
about the blockade. They did not
approve of the kind of weapons that Cuba
should own and thus they organized a di-
rect aggression. Their plan consisted of two
parts: using missiles with conventional loads
to destroy the nuclear missiles and then land-
ing and destroying the resistance.

In case of the latter, we would be forced
to respond because it is an attack against
Cuba and against us too - because our troops
were here and this was the unleashing of
the World War. We would destroy North
America. They would inflict huge loses on
us; but they would make every effort to de-
stroy Cuba completely. All the measures we
took were taken to protect Cuba. What
would have been the result if the plan of the
yanquis was carried out? Lose Cuba, inflict
enormous damages upon the Socialist coun-
tries with a nuclear war? While we were in
the midst of our discussions, we received a
cable from Fidel that coincided with other
information in the same vein. After that, ten
to twelve hours were left. Given that such a
short time was left, we used diplomatic
channels. Because when policy-makers
want to avoid a war, they have to use diplo-
matic means. It’s important to underscore
that Kennedy says now that he was not
against the presence of troops here and that
he accepts ground-to-air missiles. But once
known, the strategic weapons, were not use-
ful anymore...(paragraph missing) [notation
in original—ed.]

The withdrawal of the missiles, was a
concession on our part. But Kennedy also
makes a concession by permitting the So-

viet weapons [to remain in Cuba], in addi-
tion, declaring that they will not attack Cuba
nor permit that it be attacked. In assessing
the outcome, we have gained, because they
will not attack Cuba and there will be no
war.

In normal conditions, it would be natu-
ral that we send you a project [draft—ed.]
for you to study and you could then publish
it. But that can be done only in normal con-
ditions. An invasion was expected within the
next 24 hours. When Fidel sent his cable,
there were only ten to twelve hours left. If a
cable was sent it had to been crypted, that
would take more than 10 to 12 hours. Con-
sultations would have been appropriate, but
Cuba would not exist and the world would
be enveloped in a war. After the attack, they
would have never accepted a truce, due to
the warmongers of the Pentagon. Our atti-
tude has produced difficulties, but in mak-
ing an overall evaluation, in spite of the psy-
chological defects, we can see that the ad-
vantages are undeniable.

Com[panero]. Dorticos asks: What
guarantees offered by Kennedy have really
been obtained? We consider that all agree-
ments cannot be rejected in a nihilistic fash-
ion. Although agreements can be breached,
they are important for they are useful for a
certain period of time.

In addition, a problem arose with the
Turkey issue. [Mikoyan said:] Why did we
include the problem of Turkey and the
bases? We did not have in our plans to dis-
cuss Turkey; but while we were discussing
that issue, we received an article from [U.S.
journalist Walter] Lip[p]man[n] saying that
the Russians will discuss that, [and] that is
why we included it. The bases in Turkey are
of no importance because in case of war they
would be destroyed. There are also bases in
England that could damage all the bases
anywhere in the world.

Fidel asks whether there were in fact
two letters [from Khrushchev to Kennedy],
one that mentioned the issue of Turkey,
which was broadcast on Radio Moscow, and
another in which the issue was not men-
tioned. [Mikoyan replied:] We sent two let-
ters, one on the 26th that was not published,
and another one on the 27th. The issue of
Turkey was not included at the beginning,
we included it later. But we can describe all
that in more detail through a reviewing of
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the documents. We have had discussions
about your question whether the dismantling
of the base at Guantanamo is better. That
would be better for Cuba, but from a mili-
tary point of view of the interest of Cuba, it
is not possible. If we decided to withdraw
all the weapons from Cuba, then we could
demand the withdrawal from Guantanamo,
Guantanamo has no importance in military
terms. That would be more dangerous, and
that is important from a political perspec-
tive. Concerning the inspection: if we said
we reject any inspection, the enemy could
interpret that as an attempt to trick them.
All it is about is seeing the sites, where the
weapons were and their shipping for a few
days. Cuba is in the hands of the Cubans.
But because we were the owners of those
weapons... (paragraph missing). [notation in
original-ed.] We thought that you, after the
consultations, you would accept the inspec-
tion. But we never thought of deciding any-
thing for you. Why did we think that we
could accept a verification of the disman-
tling by neutrals, without infringement of
the Cuban sovereignty? It was understood
that no State would accept an infringement
of your sovereignty. In very particular cases,
a State can... [ellipsis in document—ed.] its
acts, by agreement and not due to pressures
from abroad - the territory of the Embassy
within a sovereign State for example. When
discussing the problem of Indochina and
Vietnam in Geneva [in 1954], an agreement
was reached to create an International Con-
trol Commission.

————

We spoke about the problem of dis-
mantling with [U.S. negotiator John J.]
McCloy in New York. He said that “given
that Cuba is opposed to the North Ameri-
can inspection, he did not insist on this for-
mula - for them to verify that the weapons
will not be kept hidden in the forest. [no
close quotation marks in original—ed.]

I talked to them about the aerial pho-
tographic inspection, but I responded that
Cuba has the right to its air space. I told them
that their planes have flown over Cuba and
they were convinced that the dismantling is
been carried out. They admitted that, but
pointed that not everything is finished. We
told them that this is nearly completed and
he did not talk further about it. [McCloy
said:] We have to be sure that they are not

going to hide them in the forest. We do not
want data pertaining to your military secrets;
but we need assurances that the missiles will
go.

We can provide the pictures of the dis-
mantled weapons and how they are loaded.
Nor we will oppose that you observe the
ships on the high seas, at a particular dis-
tance. They (or you) will see something on
the decks. I did not tell them that, but that is
our opinion and we will provide them with
the materials to convince them that we have
withdrawn the missiles. So we will not con-
tradict your [Cuban] declaration, against the
inspection or the aerial verification. They
feared that the Cubans would not allow us
to withdraw the missiles, given that they
have 140,000 and you only have 10,000
men. I did not talk about these numbers. He
said that the U-2 that was shot down here,
was shot at with Russian missiles and prob-
ably operated by Russians. Although they
think there may be Cubans who are able to
operate those weapons. We kept on insist-
ing that they lift the quarantine immediately.
I told them that if they wanted the missiles
withdrawn faster, they should lift the block-
ade. Because the ships that are now in Cuba
are not able to take those missiles out. [un-
derlined in original]. I told them they should
issue instructions so that the inspection of
the ships be carried out without anybody
boarding the ships. It would rather be car-
ried out in a symbolic manner, asking by
radio, as it was done with the tanker
Bucharest.

Stevenson said they will accept the pro-
posals of U Thant. We reproached him that
he proposed not to bring weapons to Cuba
and to lift the blockade. We have complied
with this and they continue.

We have loses because the ships wait
on the high seas. The losses are consider-
able, that is why we have allowed the con-
trol of the Red Cross. The Red Cross is bet-
ter because it is not a political institution,
nor a governmental institution. U Thant pro-
posed two inspections, one at the shipping
harbors and another on the high seas. Not
wanting to hurt his feelings, we responded
that we accept the inspection on the high
seas and not at the shipping harbors.

U Thant, when returning from Cuba,
told me that you did not agree, although this
verification is easier at the harbors. U Thant
is ready, he is choosing the personnel and
has already two ships. I do not know more

about it, for it is [Soviet Deputy Foreign
Minister V.V.] Kuznetsov who deals with
this issue.

In this situation, Thant has played a
good role. You cannot ask more, given his
situation, he even seems to have a little sym-
pathy for our position. While in Moscow,
we received a plan of guarantees. We
thought this plan seemed interesting and
useful for Cuba.

Why: If the inspection of Cuba, the south-
ern coast of the U.S. and other countries in
the Caribbean will be approved (Central
America[)] because this way you deprive the
aggressor of the possibility to carry out its
goals. Of course, this can be circumvented,
however. I have been interested in this vari-
ant from another point of view. There is an
OAS [Organization of American States], and
it is the U.S. who profits from it instead of
using the UN. But if this plan is approved,
it is the UNO that will deal with this part of
the American Continent, this constitutes a
blow to the Monroe Doctrine. U Thant said
that the representatives from Latin Ameri-
can countries agree with this plan, the North
Americans avoid responding to it. I asked
Mc Cloy and he said at the beginning (as
did Stevenson) that the U Thant Plan does
not exist. But afterward they discarded the
U.S. inspection and they said they can give
their word that in Latin America all the
camps [of anti-Castro Cuban exiles—ed.]
are liquidated. I asked him if all were, and
he avoided the question. They said that Cuba
was a revolutionary infection, he said that
the Latin American countries fear Cuba. A
formula can be searched in which Cuba will
abandon the clandestine work in exchange
for their not attacking.

Fidel was right when he said that it’s
easier for the USSR  to maneuver and main-
tain a flexible policy than it is for Cuba, all
the more as the yanqui radio reaches Cuba
easily. It is not just to say that we are more
liberal. The Cuban revolution cannot be lost.
You have to maneuver to save the Revolu-
tion by being flexible.

In retrospect the question that arises is
whether it was a mistake to send the mis-
siles and then withdraw them from the Is-
land. Our Central Committee says that this
is not a mistake. We consider that the mis-
siles did their job by making Cuba the fo-
cus of the world diplomacy. After they were
captured in photos, they cannot accomplish
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their role of containment.
In Latin America no country has the

power that Cuba has. No Latin American
bloc can defeat Cuba.

In order to understand on what victory
rests, you may compare the situation of
Cuba now and four months ago (in July).
The first advantage is that the North Ameri-
cans stopped talking about the Monroe Doc-
trine and before, the whole basis for their
policy toward Latin America was that doc-
trine.

Before, they declared they would not
tolerate the existence of a Marxist-Leninist
regime in Latin America, now they declare
that they will not attack Cuba. Before they
did not tolerate a country from abroad in
the Caribbean and now they know of the
existence of Soviet specialists and do not
say a thing.

Before, you could not have any action
of the UN in favor of Cuba and now it is
working in that sense, all the peoples are
mobilized.

The prestige of the Socialist Camp has
grown because it defended peace. Although
the United States brought the world to the
brink of a war, the USSR, by pacific means,
was able to save Cuba and the [world] peace.

Peace has been secured for several
years and Cuba must be consolidated for it
to continue building socialism and continue
being the Light-house for Latin America.

The prestige of Cuba has grown as a
consequence of these events.

_________________****________________

Fidel asks whether he [Mikoyan] will
speak about the Soviet policy in Berlin.
Mikoyan agrees to do so in a later interview.

Document II:
Mikoyan and Cuban leadership,

Havana, 5 November 1962

CONVERSATION BETWEEN THE
SECRETARIAT AND MIKOYAN ON
MONDAY, 5 NOVEMBER AT THREE

IN THE AFTERNOON.

After hearing Mikoyan, Fidel says:

We consider that the intentions of the So-
viet Government cannot be determined only
by the analysis of what happened in face of

an unforeseen situation. Instead, they should
be analyzed taking into account the set of
agreements we have reached - the weapons
were brought under those precepts. One of
them is the military agreement that was to
be published once all the weapons were
brought in and once the Elections were held
in the United States. These agreements rep-
resent a firm desire of the Soviet Union.5

That is why this has to be analyzed
under the light of what we intended to do
and not under the light of what happened.

If all the steps were carried out, we
have no doubt that they would have served
as a containment to the plans of the North
Americans to attack our country. And the
objectives of the Soviet Government and
Cuba would have been attained.

At the same time, we knew that the
deployment of missiles in Cuba had in sight
the defense of the Socialist Camp. They
were important not only in military terms,
but also from a psychological and political
point of view. Besides serving the interests
of Cuba, they served the interests of the
Socialist Camp as a whole, and we evidently
agreed with that. That is how we have un-
derstood the step taken, and we also under-
stand it was a step in the right direction. We
also agree with the need that a war be
avoided and we do not oppose that. In this
case, all the measures oriented to attain the
two objectives were undertaken. We are in
absolute agreement with the goals sought
by the Soviet Union, the misunderstandings
arise as a result of the way they were at-
tained. We also understand that the circum-
stances were compelling. They were not one
hundred percent normal.

In assessing how the events occurred,
we think they could have been dealt with
differently. For instance, one thing discussed
is the impact that my letter had on the So-
viet Government’s decision of the [October]
28th. And it is evident that my letter had
nothing to do with the course of the events -
given the messages that were exchanged be-
tween the Soviet and North American Gov-
ernments on the 26 and 27. My letter’s only
goal was to inform the Soviet Government
of the imminent attack, and it did not con-
tain any hesitation on our part. Furthermore,
we expressed that we did not expect an in-
vasion. We expressed that the invasion was
possible, but we understood that it was the
least probable variant. The most probable
event was an aerial attack to destroy the stra-

tegic weapons.
The Soviet Government’s decision on

the 28, is based on the letter to Kennedy and
the response on the 27. The real basis for
the 28 decision lies within these two docu-
ments. Kennedy’s letter on the 28 was an
agreement to the proposals Khrushchev sent
on the 26 - in the sense that he [Krushchev]
was willing to resolve the issue of all the
weapons if the U.S. ceased the aggression.
The aggression was the only reason for the
military strengthening of Cuba.

Once Kennedy accepted this proposal
- which we did not know of - the conditions
were set to carry it out starting with a decla-
ration by the Soviets stating that their side
was on board and that they would proceed
to discuss it with the Cuban Government.

I think that such a declaration, instead
of communicating an order to withdraw the
Strategic Weapons, would have decreased
the tension and would have allowed to carry
the discussions in better terms.

But this is a mere analysis of what hap-
pened, it does not matter now. What mat-
ters now is simply to know what to do and
how to attain the main goals that are to stop
the aggression and to secure the peace at
the same time.  If a true and effective peace
are attained in the near future, then - under
the light of the recent events - we will be
able to judge better the steps taken. The fu-
ture outcome - for which we need to struggle
- will either credit or discredit the value of
the acts of the present. It is evident that at-
taining that outcome does not depend so
much on us. We are very grateful for all the
explanations given  and of the effort made
for us to understand the things that occurred.
We know they happened in abnormal cir-
cumstances. There is no question in our
minds about the respect of the Soviet Union
toward us, the respect of the Soviet Union
for our sovereignty, and, the help of the So-
viet Union. That is why what is important
to discuss is what are the steps to take in the
future. We want to reaffirm our trust in the
Soviet Union.

COMMENTS OF MIKOYAN (transcribed
by Dorticos)

Carlos Rafael: It is my understanding that
companero Mikoyan talked about the in-
spection of the Soviet ships as a Minimum
Minimorum. But that inspection would take
place in a Cuban harbor. They could well
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then request the inspection of other sites in
Cuba - the forests for instance. They can
claim that the missiles could have been di-
verted from their route between the base and
the ships.

FIDEL: How would the inspection they pro-
pose take place?

Mikoyan: (transcribed by Dorticos)

FIDEL: Couldn’t they do the same on the
high seas? What is the difference?

Mikoyan: (transcribed by Dorticos)

FIDEL: Tell companero Mikoyan that I un-
derstand very well the interest of keeping U
Thant on our side, but for us, that is a criti-
cal issue. It would have a disastrous effect
on our people. The North Americans say that
the inspection is inferred from the letter from
Khrushchev to Kennedy on the 28 (Fidel is
making reference to the letter of Khrushchev
on the 27 where he accepts the inspection
of the Missiles Bases by officials of the
UNO Security Council, but making refer-
ence to Cuba and Turkey agreeing to it).
[note in original—ed.]

Just because of this phrase of
Khrushchev, they cannot take this as a con-
cession of the Soviet Union. Companero
Mikoyan says to hell with imperialists if
they demand more. But on the 23 we re-
ceived a letter [from Khrushchev] saying,
to hell with the imperialists...(he reads para-
graphs from the letter). Besides, on one oc-
casion we heard of the proposal of U Thant
about the inspection in Cuba, the United
States, Guatemala, etc., we understand, that
concessions should be made, but we have
already made too many. The [U.S.] airplanes
are taking pictures because the Soviet Union
asked so. We have to find a way to provide
evidence without inspection. WE DO NOT
THINK OF ALLOWING THE INSPEC-
TION, BUT WE DO NOT WANT TO EN-
DANGER WORLD PEACE, NOR THE
SOVIET FORCES THAT ARE IN CUBA.
WE WOULD RATHER FREE THE SO-
VIET UNION OF THE COMMITMENTS
IT HAS [MADE] WITH US AND RESIST
WITH OUR OWN FORCES WHATEVER
THE FUTURE BRINGS. WE HAVE NO
RIGHT TO ENDANGER THE PEACE OF
THE WORLD, BUT WE HAVE THE
RIGHT TO RESIST AGGRESSION. [capi-

tals in original-ed.]

DORTICOS: What has been expressed by
companero Fidel does not require a later dis-
cussion among us, for we all agree on this
criteria (the companeros respond affirma-
tively)

MIKOYAN (Transcribed by Dorticos)

FIDEL: From our conversation yesterday,
we had concluded that the Soviet Govern-
ment understood the reasons we had to re-
ject the inspection. That was a fundamental
issue. That should have been the common
ground to talk about common actions. If we
do not agree on this, it is difficult to talk
about future plans. That is the fundamental
political issue. The North Americans per-
sist in obtaining a political victory. The is-
sue of the inspection is to affront the Cuban
Revolution. They know there are no mis-
siles. The verification on the high seas has
the same effect as in the harbors. The only
difference is the humiliating imposition that
the U.S. Government wants to carry out for
political reasons.

MIKOYAN: (transcribed by Dorticos)

[Source: Institute of History, Cuba, obtained
and provided by Philip Brenner (American
University); translation from Spanish by
Carlos Osorio (National Security Archive).]

EDITOR’S NOTES

1 See Vladislav M. Zubok, “`Dismayed by the

Actions of the Soviet Union’: Mikoyan’s talks

with Fidel Castro and the Cuban leadership, No-

vember 1962,” CWIHP Bulletin 5 (Spring 1995),

59, 89-92, and “Mikoyan’s Mission to Havana:

Cuban-Soviet Negotiations, November 1962,”

ibid., 93-109, 159; for the November 4 conversa-

tion, see 94-101, and for the November 5 (after-

noon) conversation, see 101-4.
2 Cuban officials took part in several oral history

conferences on the Cuban Missile Crisis which

also involved former U.S. and Soviet

policymakers, including a conference in Moscow

in January 1989 and a gathering in Havana ex-

actly three years later in which Fidel Castro played

an active role.  The principal organizer of the con-

ferences was James G. Blight, Thomas J. Watson

Institute of International Studies, Brown Univer-

sity.  For more on Cuban participation in such

gatherings, see James G. Blight, Bruce J. Allyn,

and David A. Welch, Cuba on the Brink: Castro,

the Missile Crisis, and the Soviet Collapse (New

York: Pantheon, 1993), passim. Blight and the

Watson Institute, in cooperation with the National

Security Archive, a non-governmental research

institute and declassified documents repository

based at George Washington University in Wash-

ington, D.C., are also involved in organizing oral

history conferences on the Bay of Pigs events of

1961, as well as efforts to obtain Cuban sources

on such events as the U.S.-Cuban negotiations

on normalization of 1975 and Cuban interven-

tions in Africa in the 1970s.
3 The reference to the West German role in re-

vealing the existence of the missiles to the U.S.

administration is obscure, as no such link is

present in most historical accounts of the Ameri-

can discovery.  Soviet officials may have been

inferring a West German role from the presence

in Washington on October 16-17 of the Federal

Republic of Germany’s foreign minister, Dr.

Gerhard Schroeder, for meetings with senior

American officials, though there is no indication

that he brought any intelligence data concerning

Soviet missiles in Cuba.  See, e.g., Dino A.

Brugioni, Eyeball to Eyeball: The Inside Story of

the Cuban Missile Crisis (New York: Random

House, rev. ed. [1992?]), 206, 252.
4 A reference to U.S. Marine exercises, code-

named PHIBRIGLEX-62, scheduled to begin on

15 October 1962, practicing amphibious landings

of 7,500 Marines on the Caribbean island of

Viecques to overthrow a mythical dictator known

as “Ortsac”—a fact which was leaked to the press

in an obvious psychological warfare tactic.  The

exercises themselves were also planned to mask

preparations for a possible U.S. Navy blockade

of Cuba.  See citations in James G. Hershberg,

“Before ̀ The Missiles of October’: Did Kennedy

Plan a Military Strike Against Cuba?” in James

A. Nathan, ed., The Cuban Missile Crisis Revis-

ited (New York: St. Martin’s, 1992), 254-5, 275-

6 (fns 87, 88).
5 For the text of the draft agreement, translated

from a copy in the Russian archives, see Gen.

Anatoli I. Gribkov and Gen. William Y. Smith,

Operation ANADYR: U.S. and Soviet Generals

Recount the Cuban Missile Crisis (Chicago: edi-

tion q, inc., 1994), 185-8.

FOR IMPORTANT
SUBSCRIBER

INFORMATION,
SEE PAGE 421



344  COLD WAR INTERNATIONAL HISTORY PROJECT BULLETIN

BOBBY AND THE CRISIS
continued from page 274

shine through clearly, obviously also
representing that of his brother.  “The
President felt himself deceived, and
deceived intentionally,” Dobrynin
quoted Robert Kennedy as saying, not-
ing that he had arrived at the Russian
Embassy in “in an obviously excited
condition” (although he later “cooled
down a bit and spoke in calmer tones”).
In general, while Dobrynin resolutely
defended Moscow against Robert
Kennedy’s accusations, the lengthy ac-
count of the meeting that he transmit-
ted to the Foreign Ministry must cer-
tainly have alerted the Kremlin leader-
ship to just how personally affronted the
Kennedy brothers were, and to their
apparent determination to confront So-
viet ships heading for the blockade line
around Cuba.4

Quite aside from the substance of
the meeting, in terms of subsequent
developments it is worth noting
Dobrynin’s own astute bureaucratic re-
flex in promoting his own stature in the
negotiations—forging this new direct
path to the president via his brother
(side-stepping normal State Department

channels), the Soviet envoy concluded
by recommending that he could meet
again with Robert Kennedy to pass “in
confidential form N.S. Khrushchev’s
thoughts on this matter, concerning not
only the issues which R. Kennedy had
touched on, but a wider circle of issues
in light of the events which are going
on now.”  Dobrynin may have sensed
an opening in the fact that the previous
Soviet Embassy official who had served
as Khrushchev’s back-channel to Rob-
ert Kennedy and thence his brother,
Georgi Bolshakov (ostensibly a press
attache, presumably an intelligence of-
ficer), was evidently in acute disfavor
in the White House for having been
used to deliver a personal assurance
from the Soviet leader that only defen-
sive weapons were being shipped to
Cuba.  (And, in fact, Dobrynin would
report shortly after the crisis that a Jo-
seph Alsop column in the Washington
Post exposing Bolshakov’s role in de-
ceiving the president must have been
instigated by Robert Kennedy, for it
contained details known “only” by him:
“For this reason it is clearly obvious that
the article was prepared with the knowl-
edge of, or even by orders from, Rob-
ert Kennedy, who is a close friend, as is

the President, of Alsop.”5)
Before stepping more deeply into

Bolshakov’s shoes with his October 27
meeting with Robert Kennedy,
Dobrynin hinted at his view of the
president’s brother in a cable of Octo-
ber 25 lumping him, along with Secre-
tary of Defense Robert S. McNamara,
National Security Adviser McGeorge
Bundy, and “military men” as taking the
“most militant line” in discussions at the
White House in favor of attacking Cuba,
not only destroying the Soviet missile
sites but also invading the island.  (Sup-
posedly taking a more moderate line,
the envoy reported, were Secretary of
State Dean Rusk and Treasury Secre-
tary Douglas C. Dillon.)  While Robert
Kennedy at the very outset of the crisis
had made some belligerent statements
(even floating the idea of staging a
provocation at Guantanamo to justify
U.S. military action6), and would later
join those harshly criticizing U.S. Am-
bassador to the U.N. Adlai Stevenson
for suggesting the idea of giving up
American bases in Turkey and
Guantanamo to convince the Soviets to
remove their missiles, for most of the
crisis he consistently, and at times pas-
sionately, argued against precipitous
military action: “Robert Kennedy was
a dove from the start,” wrote Arthur M.
Schlesinger, Jr., citing in particular the
notes of the October 18 ExComm meet-
ing, which paraphrase RFK’s use of the
Pearl Harbor analogy: “...He thought it
would be very, very difficult indeed for
the President if the decision were to be
for an air strike, with all the memory of
Pearl Harbor and with all the implica-
tions this would have for us in what-
ever world there would be afterward.
For 175 years we had not been that kind
of country.  A sneak attack was not in
our traditions.  Thousands of Cubans
would be killed without warning, and a
lot of Russians too....” Robert Kennedy
advocated “action,” but also leaving
Moscow “some room for maneuver to
pull back from their overextended po-
sition in Cuba.”7  As of October 25,
however, Dobrynin not only grouped
Robert Kennedy with the hawks on the
ExComm, he judged that the president,
“vacillating right now” and “heeding
the [militant] group, particularly, his

JFK LIBRARY RELEASES
REMAINING TAPES FROM
CUBAN MISSILE CRISIS

     The John F. Kennedy Library in Bos-
ton announced in October 1996 that it
had completed the declassification of,
and was releasing, the remaining tapes
of the White House “Excomm” (Execu-
tive Committee) discussions that took
place in the Oval Office and Cabinet
Room during the Cuban Missile Crisis
between 18 and 29 October 1962.
While extracts of ExComm discussions
on the first and last days of the crisis
(16 and 27 October 1962) had been de-
classified and released in the mid-late
1980s, the bulk of the tapes had re-
mained inaccessible until now, although
some limited releases of other tape-re-
corded Excomm materials related to the
crisis took place in 1994.
     The newly-released tapes total 15
hours and 19 minutes (27 minutes re-
mained classified), making it the larg-

est single release of tape-recorded ma-
terials from the Kennedy Administra-
tion.  In most cases, the Library released
only tapes rather than transcripts of the
discussions; however, a project is un-
derway at Harvard University to pro-
duce transcripts of the tape recordings,
after sound enhancement, leading to the
publication of a collection (entitled The
Kennedy Tapes), to be co-edited by
Profs. Ernest R. May and Philip
Zelikow.
     In addition, the Library simulta-
neously announced the release of
20,000 declassified pages of Cuba-re-
lated documents from the National Se-
curity Files of the Kennedy Adminis-
tration.  For further information of all
the above materials, contact Stephanie
Fawcett, Kennedy Library, Columbia
Point, Boston, MA 02125; (617) 929-
4500 (tel.); (617) 929-4538 (fax);
stfawcet@kennedy.nara.gov (e-mail).
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brother,” might “undertake such an
adventurist step as an invasion of
Cuba.”

Dobrynin’s rather negative view of
Robert Kennedy—even in retrospect,
the jaunty Soviet diplomat recalled him
as as “far from being a sociable person
and lack[ing] a proper senes of
humor...[m]oreover, he was impulsive
and excitable”8—make all the more re-
markable the meeting of minds that
managed to take place on the evening
of October 27.  It is not necessary to
dwell on that conversation given the
scrutiny it has received (and the publi-
cation of Dobrynin’s record in a previ-
ous Bulletin), other than to note that
Kennedy’s own contemporaneous draft
memorandum of the meeting, printed
below, offers additional evidence as to
how sensitive the agreement on the
Turkish Jupiters was considered.  Even
in this “top secret” memo to Secretary
of State Rusk, Kennedy appears to have
penciled out a sentence noting that “per
[Rusk’s] instructions” he had told
Dobrynin that the Turkish missile issue
“could be resolved satisfactorily” in
“four or five months.”  Instead, in a bla-
tant falsification of the historical record,
the revised memo would leave unmodi-
fied the assertion that RFK had affirmed
that it was “completely impossible for
NATO to take such a step under the
present threatening position of the So-
viet Union” and “there could be no deal
of any kind” regarding the Jupiters.

Robert Kennedy’s abhorrence of
the idea of leaving a written trace of the
under-the-table “understanding” on the
Turkish missiles emerges even more
clearly from Dobrynin’s account,
printed in this Bulletin, of his 30 Octo-
ber 1962 meeting at which the Attor-
ney General insisted on handing back
to Dobrynin a letter from Khrushchev
to Kennedy which had explicitly af-
firmed the private deal.9 Robert
Kennedy, for his part, had no compunc-
tions about confirming, repeatedly, that
a private oral “understanding” existed
between the Soviet and U.S. leaderships
on the dismantling of the Jupiter mis-
siles in Turkey “within the period of
time indicated earlier,” i.e., 4-5 months.
However, he added, such a sensitive
understanding could not be put down

on paper, even in confidential corre-
spondence between heads of state:
“Speaking in all candor, I myself, for
example, do not want to risk getting
involved in the transmission of this sort
of letter, since who knows where and
when such letters can surface or be
somehow published—not now, but in
the future—and any changes in the
course of events are possible. The ap-
pearance of such a document could
cause irreparable harm to my political
career in the future. This is why we re-
quest that you take this letter back.”
(Sensing how crucial the matter was to
the Americans, Dobrynin accepted the
letter back, even without orders from
Moscow.)

Dobrynin’s cable lends contempo-
raneous corroboration to the assertion
in his 1995 memoirs that Robert
Kennedy, even in 1962, had linked his
actions in the missile crisis to his own
political future in keeping secret the
arrangement on the Jupiters.10  (Of
course, after the assassination of his
brother in 1963, Robert F. Kennedy
would indeed run for president, chal-
lenging incumbent President Lyndon B.
Johnson (and then Vice-President
Hubert Humphrey) for the Democratic
nomination in 1968, but he, too, would
fall victim to an assassin, killed that
June on the night of his victory in the
California primary.)

Several additional Dobrynin re-
ports of conversations with Robert
Kennedy after the crisis appear in this
Bulletin, mostly dealing with disagree-
ments and details concerning the terms
of the final settlement: which Soviet
weapons would have to be withdrawn,
the timetable for the lifting of the U.S.
blockade, disputes over inspection and
U.S. overlights, etc.  But a few human
touches also lighten the diplomatic dis-
course, and hint at the developing rap-
port between these two men who prob-
ably felt that they had had the fate of
the world in their hands.

A meeting at the Russian Embassy
on the evening of November 12, for
example, began with Dobrynin’s hand-
ing over a confidential oral message
from Khrushchev to President Kennedy
that included a congratulatory note on
the results of the Congressional elec-

tions, with special reference to the de-
feat of Kennedy’s erstwhile presiden-
tial rival, former Vice-President Rich-
ard M. Nixon, in the California guber-
natorial contest.11  “When [Robert
Kennedy] got to the place that spoke of
Nixon’s defeat in the elections,”
Dobrynin reported, “he immediately
grinned, saying: `Your chairman is a
real master of colorful expression that
expressed the true essence of the issue.
Yes, we are quite satisfied with Nixon’s
defeat, and in general we are not com-
plaining about the results of the elec-
tion.’ It was felt that this portion of the
message was received with definite sat-
isfaction.”

As Kennedy was leaving the Em-
bassy after a tough hour-and-a-half dis-
cussion, mostly consumed by haggling
over the U.S. demand that the Soviets
take their IL-28 bombers out of Cuba,

he glimpsed a crowd of dancing couples
in the embassy’s parlor. Realizing that
this was a friendly welcome party ar-
ranged by the embassy community for
the Bolshoi Theater troupe that had just
arrived in Washington, he said that he
would like to meet with the troupe. Min-
gling with and greeting almost all the
members of the troupe, he delivered a
welcome speech in which he said that
the President was preparing to attend
their premier the following evening. At
the end, he kissed Maya Plisetskaya
when he found out that he and she had
been born in the same year, month, and
day, and said they would celebrate their
birthdays in a week. None of this needs
to be mentioned especially, but all in all
the behavior of Robert Kennedy, who
is ordinarily quite a reserved and glum
man, reflects to some degree the calmer
and more normal mood in the White
House after the tense days that shook
Washington, even though this fact is
concealed in various ways by American
propaganda.12

That an appreciation of the new
prominence of the president’s brother
extended to Dobrynin’s bosses in the
Kremlin became evident in a private
conversation between Robert Kennedy
and special Soviet envoy Anastas I.
Mikoyan, a veteran member of the
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CPSU Central Committee, at a dinner
party at the home of Interior Secretary
Stewart Udall on the evening of No-
vember 30—an occasion one American
present described as a “strange, seem-
ingly unreal evening” as enemies who
had nearly engaged in thermonuclear
war only weeks war wiled away the
hours in drinking, toasts, and (some-
times forced) convivial conversation.13

A wily diplomatic trouble-shooter since
the Stalin era, Mikoyan was passing
through Washington after three weeks
of difficult negotiations in Cuba with
Fidel Castro over the outcome of the
crisis and a day before the Udall affair
had met with President Kennedy at the
White House.

Before the meal was served (as
Mikoyan related in a cable printed in
this Bulletin), Robert Kennedy invited
Mikoyan into a separate room for a tete-
a-tete in which he underlined the im-
portance above all (“even more impor-
tant than the fates of my children and
your grandchildren”) of restoring per-
sonal trust between his brother and
Khrushchev.  Mikoyan not only agreed
and assured Robert Kennedy that
Khrushchev felt the same way, but said
that the Soviet government applauded
the president’s “self-possession” and
willingness to compromise at “the most
dangerous moment, when the world
stood at the edge of thermonuclear war.”

Moscow, moreover, Mikoyan
added, had “noticed the positive role
that you, the president’s brother, played
during the confidential negotiations”
between the U.S. and Soviet leaderships
during the crisis.  Robert Kennedy ex-
pressed an interest in visiting the USSR,
an idea which Mikoyan warmly en-
dorsed, especially should relations be-
tween the two rivals improve after sur-
viving (and resolving) the rough Cuban
passage.

Those relations did in fact improve
somewhat in the succeeding months,
leading to, among other events, John F.
Kennedy’s conciliatory American Uni-
versity speech in April 1963 and the
signing of U.S.-Soviet pacts on a lim-
ited nuclear test ban and a hot line be-
tween Washington and Moscow.  But
the post-Cuban Missile Crisis opening
for a continued rapprochement between

both Kennedy brothers and
Khrushchev—a prospect the Americans
thought would last through a second
Kennedy Administration—ended with
the U.S. president’s assassination in
Dallas in November 1963 and
Khrushchev’s toppling less than a year
later.

*****

Robert F. Kennedy, Memorandum
for Dean Rusk on Meeting with

Anatoly F. Dobrynin on
27 October 1962

TOP SECRET
Office of the Attorney General
Washington, D.C.
October 30, 1962

MEMORANDUM FOR THE
SECRETARY OF STATE FROM
THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

At the request of Secretary Rusk, I
telephoned Ambassador Dobrynin at
approximately 7:15 p.m. on Saturday,
October 27th.  I asked him if he would
come to the Justice Department at a
quarter of eight.

We met in my office.  I told him
first that we understood that the work
was continuing on the Soviet missile
bases in Cuba.  Further, I explained to
him that in the last two hours we had
found that our planes flying over Cuba
had been fired upon and that one of our
U-2’s had been shot down and the pilot
killed.  I said these men were flying un-
armed planes.

I told him that this was an ex-
tremely serious turn in events.  We
would have to make certain decisions
within the next 12 or possibly 24 hours.
There was a very little time left. If the
Cubans were shooting at our planes,
then we were going to shoot back.  This
could not help but bring on further in-
cidents and that he had better under-
stand the full implications of this mat-
ter.

He raised the point that the argu-
ment the Cubans were making was that
we were violating Cuban air space.  I
replied that if we had not been violat-
ing Cuban air space then we would still

be believing what he and Khrushchev
had said—that there were no long-range
missiles in Cuba.  In any case I said that
this matter was far more serious than
the air space over Cuba and involved
peoples all over the world.

I said that he had better understand
the situation and he had better commu-
nicate that understanding to Mr.
Khrushchev.  Mr. Khrushchev and he
had misled us.  The Soviet Union had
secretly established missile bases in
Cuba while at the same time proclaim-
ing, privately and publicly, that this
would never be done.  I said those mis-
sile bases had to go and they had to go
right away.  We had to have a commit-
ment by at least tomorrow that those
bases would be removed.  This was not
an ultimatum, I said, but just a state-
ment of fact.  He should understand that
if they did not remove those bases then
we would remove them.  His country
might take retaliatory actions but he
should understand that before this was
over, while there might be dead Ameri-
cans there would also be dead Russians.

He then asked me what offer we
were making.  I said a letter had just
been transmitted to the Soviet Embassy
which stated in substance that the mis-
sile bases should be dismantled and all
offensive weapons should be removed
from Cuba.  In return, if Cuba and
Castro and the Communists ended their
subversive activities in other Central
and Latin-American countries, we
would agree to keep peace in the Car-
ibbean and not permit an invasion from
American soil.

He then asked me about
Khrushchev’s other proposal dealing
with the removal of the missiles from
Turkey.  I replied that there could be no
quid pro quo — no deal of this kind
could be made.  This was a matter that
had to be considered by NATO and that
it was up to NATO to make the deci-
sion.  I said it was completely impos-
sible for NATO to take such a step un-
der the present threatening position of
the Soviet Union.  If some time elapsed
— and per your instructions, I men-
tioned four or five months — I said I
was sure that these matters could be
resolved satisfactorily. [crossed out by
hand—ed.]
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Per your instructions I repeated that
there could be no deal of any kind and
that any steps toward easing tensions
in other parts of the world largely de-
pended on the Soviet Union and Mr.
Khrushchev taking action in Cuba and
taking it immediately.

I repeated to him that this matter
could not wait and that he had better
contact Mr. Khrushchev and have a
commitment from him by the next day
to withdraw the missile bases under
United Nations supervision for other-
wise, I said, there would be drastic con-
sequences.

RFK: amn

[Source: John F. Kennedy Library, Bos-
ton, MA; provided to CWIHP by Prof.
Peter Roman, Duquesne University,
Pittsburgh, PA.]
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by Mark Kramer

The role of the Warsaw Pact in the
Cuban missile crisis was negligible.  All
evidence suggests that the Soviet Union
neither consulted nor even informed its
East European allies about the installa-
tion of medium-range and tactical
nuclear missiles in Cuba before the de-
ployment of the former was revealed by
the U.S. government.1  Nor did the So-
viet leadership consult its Warsaw Pact
allies about the removal of the missiles.
Although the Pact declared a joint mili-
tary alert on 23 October 1962 (the day
after President John F. Kennedy’s tele-
vised revelation of the Soviet missile
deployments), the alert had no more
than a symbolic impact and was carried
out solely at Moscow’s behest.2  The
joint alert was formally cancelled on 21
November 1962, the same day that the
Soviet Union ended its own unilateral
alert (and a day after the U.S. naval
blockade of Cuba was lifted).3  So pe-
ripheral was the alliance to the Soviet
Union’s handling of the crisis that it was
not until long after the matter had been
resolved that the Soviet Prime Minis-
ter, Anastas Mikoyan, bothered to in-
form the East European governments
about the Soviet Union’s motives for de-
ploying and withdrawing the missiles.4

The marginal significance of the
Warsaw Pact during the Cuban missile
crisis hardly comes as a great surprise.
In 1962 the Pact was still little more
than a paper organization and had not
yet acquired a meaningful role in So-
viet military strategy.5  Moreover, the
crisis was far outside the European the-
ater, and East European leaders had re-
sisted Soviet efforts to extend the
alliance’s purview beyond the conti-
nent.  Despite fears that the showdown
over Cuba might spark a NATO-War-
saw Pact confrontation in Berlin, the
situation in Germany remained calm
throughout the crisis.6  Hence, the
standoff in the Caribbean was a matter

for the Soviet Union to handle on its
own, not a matter for the Warsaw Pact.

Despite the near-irrelevance of the
Warsaw Pact during the crisis, the
events of October 1962 did have im-
portant effects on the alliance, particu-
larly on the nuclear command-and-con-
trol arrangements that were established
in the mid-1960s.  This article will draw
on recent disclosures from the East Ger-
man, Czechoslovak, Polish, and Hun-
garian archives to show how the Cuban
missile crisis influenced Warsaw Pact
nuclear operations.  No definitive judg-
ments about this matter are yet possible
because the most crucial documents are
all in Moscow, and the archival situa-
tion in Russia is still highly unsatisfac-
tory.7  Nevertheless, enough evidence
has emerged from East-Central Europe
to permit several tentative conclusions.

The article will begin by briefly re-
viewing the “lessons” that the Cuban
missile crisis offered for Soviet nuclear
weapons deployments abroad.  It will
then delineate the command-and-con-
trol arrangements that were set up in the
mid-1960s for Warsaw Pact nuclear
operations, and examine the East Eu-
ropean states’ unsuccessful efforts to
alter those arrangements.  The article
will conclude with some observations
about the legacy of the Cuban missile
crisis for Warsaw Pact nuclear opera-
tions, a legacy that endured until the
Pact itself collapsed in 1990-91.

“Lessons” from the Missile Crisis

Several features of the Cuban mis-
sile crisis were of direct relevance to
Soviet nuclear deployments in Eastern
Europe later on.  The “lessons” that
Soviet officials derived from the crisis
were of course not the only factor (or
even the most important factor) shap-
ing the Warsaw Pact’s nuclear com-
mand structure, but they seem to have
been of considerable influence, at least
implicitly.  Although Soviet leaders had

been concerned well before the Cuban
missile crisis about the difficulty of re-
taining secure control over nuclear
weapons and about the danger of unau-
thorized actions, the crisis put these
risks into a whole new light.8  By un-
derscoring how easily control could be
lost, the crisis inevitably bolstered
Moscow’s determination to ensure strict
centralized command over all nuclear
operations, including nuclear operations
conducted by the Warsaw Pact.

One of the most disconcerting les-
sons of the Cuban missile crisis from
the Soviet perspective was the poten-
tial for nuclear weapons to be misused
if the aims of local actors were not iden-
tical to Soviet goals.  It is now known
that at the height of the crisis Fidel
Castro sent a top-secret cable to Mos-
cow urging the Soviet Union to launch
a nuclear strike against the United States
if U.S. forces invaded Cuba.9  Castro
apparently had been led to believe that
the Soviet Union would be willing to
go to war—and risk its own destruc-
tion—in defense of Cuba.  Nikita
Khrushchev’s response to Castro’s plea
indicates that the Soviet leader had no
intention of ordering the use of nuclear
weapons, regardless of what happened
to Cuba.10

For Khrushchev, this episode was
especially unnerving because he ini-
tially had given serious consideration
to providing Castro with direct com-
mand over Soviet forces in Cuba, in-
cluding the nuclear-capable Frog
(“Luna”) missiles and Il-28 aircraft.11

(Only the medium-range SS-4 and SS-
5 missiles would have been left under
Moscow’s command.)  As it turned out,
Khrushchev decided not to give Castro
any direct jurisdiction over Soviet tac-
tical nuclear forces; indeed, the draft
treaty on military cooperation between
the Soviet Union and Cuba, which was
due to take effect once the presence of
the Soviet missiles in Cuba was pub-
licly announced by Moscow and Ha-

“Lessons” of the Cuban Missile Crisis for
Warsaw Pact Nuclear Operations
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vana later that fall, would have left the
“military units of the two states under
the command of their respective gov-
ernments.”12  Even so, the Cuban
leader’s message on 26 October still
struck a raw nerve in Moscow.13  It was
a vivid reminder of the dangers that
might have resulted if the Soviet Union
had delegated any responsibility for
nuclear operations.

A related lesson about the dangers
posed by local actors pertained to the
role of the commander of Soviet forces
in Cuba, Army-General Issa Pliev, who
was chosen for the post because of his
long-standing and very close friendship
with both Khrushchev and the Soviet
Defense Minister, Marshal Rodion
Malinovskii.14  At no time during the
crisis did Pliev have authority to order
the use of either medium-range or tac-
tical nuclear missiles, but it is now
known that several weeks before the
crisis—in the late summer of 1962—
Malinovskii had considered the possi-
bility of giving Pliev pre-delegated au-
thority to order the use of tactical mis-
siles against invading U.S. troops if
Pliev’s lines of communication with
Moscow were severed and all other
means of defense against an invasion
had proven insufficient.  A written or-
der to this effect was prepared on 8 Sep-
tember 1962, but in the end Malinovskii
declined to sign it.15  Thus, at the time
of the crisis Pliev had no independent
authority to order the use of nuclear
weapons or even to order that nuclear
warheads, which were stored separately
from the missiles, be released for pos-
sible employment.  The limitations on
Pliev’s scope of action during the crisis
were reinforced by two cables transmit-
ted by Malinovskii on 22 and 25 Octo-
ber, which “categorically” prohibited
any use of nuclear weapons under any
circumstances without explicit autho-
rization from Moscow.16

The strictures imposed by the So-
viet leadership held up well during the
crisis, as the procedural safeguards for
nuclear operations proved sufficient to
forestall any untoward incidents.17  For
the most part, Khrushchev’s and
Malinovskii’s faith in Pliev was well-
founded.  Nevertheless, it is clear that
Pliev wanted to ease some of the pro-

cedural restrictions—at least for tacti-
cal missiles—even after he received the
two telegrams that “categorically” for-
bade him to order the issuance or use
of nuclear weapons without express au-
thorization.  On 26 October he sent a
cable to Moscow in which he apparently
mentioned that Castro wanted him to
prepare for a nuclear strike and that, as
a result, he had decided it was time to
move nuclear warheads closer to the
missiles (though without actually issu-
ing them to the missile units).  Pliev then
requested that his decision be approved
and that he be given due authority to
order the preparation of tactical missiles
for launch if, as appeared imminent,
U.S. troops invaded the island.18  So-
viet leaders immediately turned down
both of his requests and reemphasized
that no actions involving nuclear weap-
ons were to be undertaken without di-
rect authorization from Moscow.19

Still, the very fact that Pliev sought
to have the restrictions lifted, and his
seeming willingness to use tactical
nuclear weapons if necessary, provided
a sobering indication of the risks en-
tailed in giving discretion to local com-
manders.  The risks would have been
especially acute in this instance because
there were no technical safeguards on
the nuclear weapons in Cuba to serve
as a fallback in case Pliev (or someone
else) attempted to circumvent the pro-
cedural safeguards.20  This is not to say
that it would have been easy for Pliev
to evade the procedural limits—to do
so he would have had to obtain coop-
eration from troops all along the chain
of command—but there was no techni-
cal barrier per se to unauthorized ac-
tions.

Thus, one of the clear lessons of
the crisis was the need not only to main-
tain stringent procedural safeguards for
all Soviet nuclear forces, but also to
equip those forces with elaborate tech-
nical devices that would prevent un-
authorized or accidental launches.  This
applied above all to nuclear weapons
deployed abroad, where the lines of
communication were more vulnerable
to being severed or disrupted.21

One further lesson from the Cuban
missile crisis, which reinforced the per-
ceived need for strict, centralized con-

trol over all nuclear operations, was the
role that accidents played.  The most
conspicuous instance came on 27 Oc-
tober when an American U-2 reconnais-
sance aircraft was shot down over
Cuba.22  The rules of engagement for
Soviet troops in Cuba did not permit the
downing of American planes except
those carrying out an attack.23  When
the U-2 was shot down, no one in Mos-
cow was quite sure what had hap-
pened—Khrushchev and most others
mistakenly thought that Castro had or-
dered Soviet troops to fire at the plane—
but everyone was certain that further
incidents of this sort might cause the
crisis to spin out of control.24  The risks
posed by accidents would have been
especially great if the local commander
(i.e., Pliev) had been given independent
authority to order the use of nuclear
weapons.  After all, Pliev and other of-
ficers based in Cuba, whose lives were
directly at risk during the crisis, were
naturally inclined to overreact to unin-
tended “provocations” from the oppos-
ing side.  To the extent that such over-
reactions could not be avoided in fu-
ture crises, it was essential that the con-
sequences be minimized and that fur-
ther escalation be prevented.  Obvi-
ously, it would be vastly more difficult
to regain any semblance of control if
local actors “accidentally” resorted to
the use of nuclear weapons.

Hence, the accidents that occurred
during the Cuban missile crisis under-
scored the need for rigid safeguards,
both procedural and technical, to pre-
clude the use of Soviet nuclear weap-
ons except in the most dire emergency.
This lesson, like the others that
Khrushchev and his colleagues derived
from the crisis, survived the change of
leadership in Moscow in October 1964.
Although Leonid Brezhnev altered
many aspects of Khrushchev’s military
policies, he was just as determined as
his predecessor to retain stringent po-
litical control over Soviet nuclear
forces.

Nuclear Operations and
the Warsaw Pact

Nuclear weapons first became an
issue for the Warsaw Pact in mid-1958
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when, allegedly in response to deploy-
ments by NATO, Khrushchev warned
that the Pact would be “compelled by
force of circumstance to consider sta-
tioning [tactical nuclear] missiles in the
German Democratic Republic, Poland,
and Czechoslovakia.”25  Shortly there-
after, the Czechoslovak, East German,
and Polish armed forces began receiv-
ing nuclear-capable aircraft and surface-
to-surface missiles from the Soviet
Union.26  The Bulgarian and Hungar-
ian armies also soon obtained nuclear-
capable aircraft and missiles from Mos-
cow; and even the Romanian military
was eventually supplied with nuclear-
capable Frog-7 and Scud-B missiles.  In
all cases, the deployment of these de-
livery vehicles was well under way by
the time of the Cuban missile crisis.

The wartime command-and-con-
trol arrangements for the new East Eu-
ropean weapons were still in flux in
1962, and a variety of options were un-
der consideration.  One such option had
been alluded to in 1959 by the East
German government, which announced
that it would “request its allies to place
[nuclear] missile weapons at its dis-
posal” if the West German government
gained a role in NATO’s nuclear opera-
tions.27  At the time, Soviet officials
had reacted warily to this proposal, but
had not dismissed it out of hand.
Moscow’s stance changed, however, in
the aftermath of the Cuban missile cri-
sis.  From then on, all wartime com-
mand-and-control arrangements for al-
lied nuclear operations were made to fit
a single pattern.  The East European
countries’ weapons were still officially
described as components of the “War-
saw Pact’s joint nuclear forces” and
were used for simulated nuclear strikes
during Pact exercises, but all nuclear
warheads for the delivery systems re-
mained under exclusive Soviet control,
and the delivery vehicles themselves
would have come under direct Soviet
command if they had ever been
equipped with nuclear warheads during
a crisis.  Moreover, the thousands of
tactical nuclear weapons deployed by
Soviet forces on East European terri-
tory were not subject to any sort of
“dual-key” arrangement along the lines
that NATO established in the mid-

1960s.  Whenever Warsaw Pact exer-
cises included combat techniques for
nuclear warfare (as they routinely did
from early 1962 on), the decision on
when to “go nuclear” was left entirely
to the Soviet High Command and po-
litical leadership.28  In every respect,
then, the East European governments
were denied any say in the use of the
Pact’s “joint” nuclear arsenal.

The exclusivity of Soviet com-
mand was reinforced by secret agree-
ments that the Soviet Union concluded
in the early to mid-1960s with Czecho-
slovakia, East Germany, Hungary, and
Poland regarding the storage of nuclear
warheads in those countries.  Although
all the agreements were bilateral, they
were described as coming “within the
framework of the Warsaw Pact.”  The
first such agreements were signed with
East Germany and Czechoslovakia be-
fore the Cuban missile crisis.  The So-
viet-East German agreements, signed at
various intervals in the early 1960s,
covered some 16 storage sites, all of
which were controlled exclusively by
special troops assigned to the Group of
Soviet Forces in Germany.29  The East
German authorities had no say at all in
the location or maintenance of these
facilities, not to mention the use of the
munitions stored there.

Soviet agreements with Czechoslo-
vakia were somewhat more compli-
cated because no Soviet troops had been
present on Czechoslovak territory since
the end of 1945.  Two preliminary
agreements were signed in August 1961
and February 1962 entitling the Soviet
Union to dispatch nuclear warheads
immediately to Czechoslovakia in the
event of an emergency.30  After the
Cuban missile crisis, those two agree-
ments were supplanted by a much more
far-reaching “Treaty Between the Gov-
ernments of the USSR and CSSR on
Measures to Increase the Combat
Readiness of Missile Forces,” which
was signed by Malinovskii and his
Czechoslovak counterpart, Army-Gen-
eral Bohumir Lomsky, in December
1965.31  The treaty provided for the
permanent stationing of Soviet nuclear
warheads at three sites in western
Czechoslovakia.

This third agreement with Czecho-

slovakia was concluded just after the
Soviet Union had worked out a similar
arrangement with Hungary.32  The So-
viet-Hungarian agreement was signed
by Brezhnev and the Hungarian leader,
Janos Kadar, and was kept secret from
almost all other Hungarian officials.
Much the same was true of an agree-
ment that the Soviet Union concluded
with Poland in early 1967.33  Only a
few top Polish officials were permitted
to find out about the document.

The Soviet agreements with all
four countries covered nuclear war-
heads slated for use on delivery vehicles
belonging to Soviet troops stationed in
those countries.  Some of the warheads
were also intended for weapons de-
ployed by the local armies, but in that
case the delivery vehicles would have
been transferred to direct Soviet com-
mand.  Under the new agreements East
European officials had no role in the use
of the Pact’s “joint” nuclear arsenal, nor
any control over the reinforced storage
bunkers for nuclear warheads (or even
the housing for elite units assigned to
guard the bunkers).  A senior East Eu-
ropean military official later confirmed
that “the procedures for the defense and
protection of these special-purpose stor-
age centers for nuclear warheads were
such that no one from our side had per-
mission to enter, and even Soviet offi-
cials who were not directly responsible
for guarding and operating the build-
ings were not allowed in.”34

Thus, by the late 1960s the Soviet
and East European governments had
forged a nuclear command-and-control
structure for the Warsaw Pact that gave
exclusive say to the Soviet Union.  Even
before the Cuban missile crisis, Soviet
leaders had been inclined to move in
this direction, but the crisis greatly ac-
celerated the trend and effectively ruled
out anything less than complete control
in Moscow.

Intra-Pact Debate on Nuclear
“Sharing”

The effects of the Cuban missile
crisis could also be felt, if only implic-
itly, when the Soviet Union had to deal
with complaints from its allies about the
Warsaw Pact’s nuclear arrangements.



COLD WAR INTERNATIONAL HISTORY PROJECT BULLETIN  351

The lack of East European input proved
unsatisfactory to several of the allied
governments, who urged that they be
given some kind of role in nuclear-re-
lease authorization.  Their concerns
were prompted in part by changes in
Soviet military doctrine in the mid-
1960s, which seemed to open the way
for a nuclear or conventional war con-
fined to Europe.  Under Khrushchev,
Soviet military doctrine had long been
predicated on the assumption that any
war in Europe would rapidly escalate
to an all-out nuclear exchange between
the superpowers; but by the time
Khrushchev was ousted in October
1964, Soviet military theorists had al-
ready begun to imply that a European
conflict need not escalate to the level
of strategic nuclear war.35  Under
Brezhnev, Soviet military analyses of
limited warfare in Europe, including the
selective use of tactical nuclear weap-
ons, grew far more explicit and elabo-
rate.36  Although this doctrinal shift
made sense from the Soviet perspective,
it stirred unease among East European
leaders, who feared that their countries
might be used as tactical nuclear battle-
grounds without their having the slight-
est say in it.

The issue became a source of con-
tention at the January 1965 meeting of
the Warsaw Pact’s Political Consulta-
tive Committee (PCC), where the as-
sembled leaders discussed NATO’s
plans to create a Multi-Lateral Force
(MLF) that would supposedly give West
Germany access to nuclear-armed mis-
siles.  The PCC warned that if an MLF
were formed and the West Germans
were included, the Warsaw Pact would
have to resort to “defensive measures
and corresponding steps.”37  The na-
ture of these “corresponding steps” was
never specified, but Romanian and
Czechoslovak officials at the meeting
maintained that the obvious solution
was for the Soviet Union to grant its
Warsaw Pact allies a direct say in the
use of nuclear weapons stationed on
East European soil.38  The Romanians
were especially insistent on having re-
sponsibility shared for all Warsaw Pact
nuclear systems, including those de-
ployed with the various Groups of So-
viet Forces.  Brezhnev and his col-

leagues, however, were averse to any
steps that would even marginally erode
the Soviet Union’s exclusive authority
to order nuclear strikes, and it soon be-
came clear during the meeting that So-
viet views on such matters would pre-
vail.  As a result, the PCC communique
simply called for both German states to
forswear nuclear weapons, proposed the
creation of a nuclear-free zone in cen-
tral Europe, and advocated a freeze on
all nuclear stockpiles.39  The implica-
tion was that arrangements within the
Warsaw Pact were best left unchanged.

That stance was reaffirmed over the
next few months in a series of conspicu-
ous Soviet declarations that “the War-
saw Pact is dependent on the Soviet stra-
tegic missile forces” and that “the se-
curity of all socialist countries is reli-
ably guaranteed by the nuclear missile
strength of the Soviet Union.”40 (Ital-
ics added by the author.)  The same
message was conveyed later in the year
by the joint “October Storm” military
exercises in East Germany, which fea-
tured simulated nuclear strikes autho-
rized solely by the USSR.41  In the
meantime, the Soviet monopoly over
allied nuclear weapons procedures was
being reinforced by the series of agree-
ments signed with Czechoslovakia, East
Germany, Hungary, and Poland, as dis-
cussed above.  The codification of ex-
clusive Soviet control over nuclear
weapons deployed in the other Warsaw
Pact countries all but eliminated any
basis for the East European govern-
ments to seek a role in the alliance’s
nuclear command structure.

Yet even after the Soviet Union
tried to put the matter to rest, contro-
versy persisted within the Warsaw Pact
about the allocation of responsibility for
tactical nuclear weapons.  At a closed
meeting of Pact leaders in East Berlin
in February 1966, Romania again
pressed for greater East European par-
ticipation in all aspects of allied mili-
tary planning, and was again re-
buffed.42  A few months later, the
Czechoslovak Defense Minister, Army-
General Bohumir Lomsky, publicly
declared that the East European states
should be given increased responsibil-
ity for the full range of issues confront-
ing the Warsaw Pact.43  That same

week, a detailed Romanian proposal for
modifications to the alliance was leaked
to the French Communist newspaper,
L’Humanite; the document called for,
among other things, an East European
role in any decisions involving the po-
tential use of nuclear weapons.44  Sub-
sequently, at the July 1966 session of
the PCC in Bucharest, officials from
Romania, Czechoslovakia, and Hun-
gary renewed their bid for “greater
rights of co-determination in planning
and implementing common coalition
matters,” including (by implication) the
use of nuclear weapons.45

As on previous occasions, how-
ever, the Soviet Union resisted what-
ever pressure was exerted for the shar-
ing of nuclear-release authority.  In Sep-
tember 1966, a few months after the
Bucharest conference, the Warsaw Pact
conducted huge “Vltava” exercises,
which included simulated nuclear
strikes under exclusive Soviet con-
trol.46  The same arrangement was pre-
served in all subsequent Pact maneu-
vers involving simulated nuclear ex-
changes.  Thus, well before the signing
of the 1968 Non-Proliferation Treaty
put a symbolic end to the whole nuclear-
sharing debate, the Soviet Union had
firmly established its exclusive, central-
ized control over the Warsaw Pact’s
“joint” nuclear forces and operations.

The Lessons of the Crisis and
Allied Nuclear Arrangements

The legacy of the Cuban missile
crisis helped ensure that the intra-War-
saw Pact debate in the mid-1960s did
not bring about any change in the
alliance’s nuclear command-and-con-
trol structure.  Had it not been for the
dangers that were so clearly revealed
by the events of October 1962, Soviet
leaders might have been willing to con-
sider an arrangement for the Warsaw
Pact similar to the “dual-key” system
that NATO adopted.  When Operation
“Anadyr” was first being planned in the
late spring of 1962, Khrushchev had
flirted with the idea of giving Fidel
Castro broad command over Soviet tac-
tical nuclear weapons in Cuba as well
as over all non-nuclear forces on the
island.  Ultimately, Khrushchev decided
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not to share or delegate any responsi-
bility for the nuclear-capable weapons
based in Cuba, but the very fact that the
issue was considered at all suggests that
if the Cuban missile crisis had not in-
tervened, the Soviet Union might have
been receptive to some form of nuclear
“sharing” with its East European allies.
Indeed, a “dual-key” arrangement for
the Warsaw Pact, which would not have
provided any independent authority to
the East European countries, could eas-
ily have been justified as a response to
NATO’s policy and as a useful means
of strengthening allied cohesion.  But
after October 1962, when Soviet lead-
ers evidently drew a number of lessons
about the risks of even sharing, much
less delegating, nuclear authority, the
prospects of adopting a “dual-key” sys-
tem for the Warsaw Pact essentially
vanished.

Although Moscow’s willingness to
share control over the Warsaw Pact’s
“joint” nuclear arsenal would have been
sharply constrained even before Octo-
ber 1962 by the lack of permissive-ac-
tion links (PALs) and other use-denial
mechanisms on Soviet nuclear weap-
ons, that factor alone would not have
been decisive if the Cuban missile cri-
sis had not occurred.  After all, when
Soviet officials seriously contemplated
allotting partial nuclear authority to
Castro in 1962, that was long before
Soviet tactical weapons were equipped
with PALs.  The physical separation of
warheads from delivery vehicles, as had
been planned for the missiles based in
Cuba, was regarded at the time as a suf-
ficient (if cumbersome) barrier against
unauthorized actions.  That approach
had long been used for tactical weap-
ons deployed by Soviet forces in East-
ern Europe, and it would have been just
as efficacious if a “dual-key” system
had been adopted—that is, if the East
European armies had been given con-
trol over the Pact’s nuclear-capable de-
livery vehicles.  After the Cuban mis-
sile crisis, however, the option of rely-
ing solely on the physical separation of
warheads and delivery vehicles was
deemed inadequate.  In the latter half
of the 1960s, the Soviet Union began
incorporating electronic use-denial fea-
tures into its strategic missiles, and the

same was true of Soviet tactical weap-
ons by the early to mid-1970s.47  Con-
cerns in Moscow about the physical
security of nuclear weapons were hardly
negligible before October 1962—in part
because of the possibility that requisite
procedures might not be followed—but
it was not until after the Cuban missile
crisis that Soviet leaders fully appreci-
ated the magnitude of this risk.

The Cuban missile crisis also
heightened Soviet concerns about the
particular dangers posed by crises.  To
be sure, Soviet leaders were hardly
complacent before October 1962 about
the need to maintain tight political con-
trol over nuclear operations; indeed, the
stringent centralization of nuclear com-
mand was a consistent theme in Soviet
military planning.48  Even so, it was
not until after the Cuban missile crisis—
and especially in light of the unexpected
interventions by Fidel Castro—that this
factor became a paramount reason to
deny any share of nuclear-release au-
thorization to the East European gov-
ernments.  Although East European of-
ficials could not have ordered the use
of nuclear weapons on their own, they
might have inadvertently (or deliber-
ately) taken steps in a crisis that would
have caused NATO governments to be-
lieve that a Warsaw Pact nuclear strike
was forthcoming, regardless of what
actual Soviet intentions were.  That, in
turn, might have triggered a preemptive
nuclear attack by NATO.  Only by ex-
cluding the East European states alto-
gether from the nuclear-release process
could the Soviet Union avoid the unin-
tended escalation of a crisis.

The risks posed by a “dual-key”
arrangement could have been mitigated
if the Soviet Union had built in extra
procedural and technical safeguards, but
this in turn would have created opera-
tional problems for Soviet troops who
might one day have been ordered to use
the weapons.  If a future conflict had
become so dire that Soviet leaders had
decided to authorize the employment of
tactical nuclear weapons, they would
have wanted their orders to be carried
out as fast as possible, before the situa-
tion on the battlefield had changed.49

By contrast, East European political and
military officials might have been hesi-

tant about ordering the nuclear destruc-
tion of a site in Western Europe, not
least because the launch of nuclear
weapons against West European targets
might well have provoked retaliatory
strikes by NATO against East European
sites.  The problem would have been
especially salient in the case of East
German officials who would have been
asked to go along with nuclear strikes
against targets in West Germany.  Thus,
even though Soviet officials could have
developed a hedge against the risks that
emerged during the Cuban missile cri-
sis, the safeguards needed for this pur-
pose would have been extremely bur-
densome, depriving the Pact of the abil-
ity to respond in a timely manner.  From
the Soviet perspective, it made far more
sense to circumvent the problem en-
tirely by eschewing any form of shared
authority.

It is ironic that the Cuban missile
crisis, which barely involved the War-
saw Pact at all, would have had such an
important long-term effect on the alli-
ance.  It is also ironic that the actions of
a third party, Fidel Castro, posed one
of the greatest dangers during an event
that has traditionally been depicted as a
bilateral U.S.-Soviet confrontation.  Not
only must the Cuban missile crisis be
thought of as a “triangular” showdown;
its repercussions can now be seen to
have been at least as great for Soviet
allies, notably Cuba and Eastern Eu-
rope, as for the Soviet Union itself.
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